
Health and Wellbeing Board

Date Monday 27 November 2017
Time 1.00 pm
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 

agreement

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Substitute Members  

3. Declarations of Interest  

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2017  (Pages 5 - 12)

5. Membership of Health and Wellbeing Board - Report of Strategic 
Manager Policy, Planning and Partnerships, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council  (Pages 13 - 16)

6. Sustainability and Transformation Plans Update - Northumberland, 
Tyne and Wear and North Durham and Durham, Darlington, Tees, 
Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby Draft Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans - Verbal Update of Chief Operating Officer, North 
Durham and Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and Chief Clinical Officer, Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group  

7. Children and Young People's Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and 
Resilience Local Transformation Plan - Report of Chief Operating 
Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief Clinical Officer, Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group  
(Pages 17 - 74)



8. Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 Performance Report - 
Report of Corporate Scrutiny & Performance Manager, Durham County 
Council  (Pages 75 - 106)

9. Draft Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018 - Consultation 
Document - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 107 - 260)

10. Public Health England Child Health and Health Profiles 2017 for 
County Durham - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 261 - 272)

11. County Durham Prevention of Unintentional Injuries Framework (0-19 
years) 2017-2020 - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 273 - 298)

12. eXtreme Group - Children's and Young People's SEND 'Promise' for 
County Durham - Report of Strategic Manager SEND and Inclusion, 
Children and Young People's Services, Durham County Council  
(Pages 299 - 312)

13. Oral Health Update - Report of Director of Public Health County 
Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 
313 - 328)

14. Integration Update - Report of Director of Integration, North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham County Council  
(Pages 329 - 344)

15. Refreshing Durham's Mental Health and the Work of the Mental Health 
Partnership Board - Report of Director of Public Health County 
Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council  (Pages 
345 - 354)

16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

17. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information  



Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

18. Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services Regulations 2013 - 
Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council,  (Pages 355 - 364)

19. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
17 November 2017

Councillors L Hovvels, O Gunn and J Allen

J Robinson Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council

M Whellans Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services, Durham County Council

A Healy Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council

N Bailey North Durham and Durham Dales Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups

Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust

A Foster North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust

C Martin Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

C Harries City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust

B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham

To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board,
 Durham County Council



S Lamb Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 
Trust

L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and Durham County Council

A Reiss Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, 
Durham on Monday 25 September 2017 at 1.00 pm 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor L Hovvels (Chairman) 

 

Members of the Board: 

J Carling, J Chandy, A Foster, A Healy, B Jackson, S Jacques, L Jeavons, S Lamb, 
Councillor M McKeon, Dr N O’Brien G O’Neill and J Robinson. 
 

 
1 Apologies for Absence  

 
Apologies for absence were received from N Bailey, Dr S Findlay, Councillor 
O Gunn, C Harries, C Martin, A Reiss, Dr D Smart, Dr J Smith and M Whellans. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Councillor M McKeon for Councillor O Gunn, Dr N O’Brien for Dr D Smart and Dr J 
Smith, J Carling for A Reiss and G O’Neill for M Whellans. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2017 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman. 
 

5 Sustainability and Transformation Plans Update Report: Northumberland, 
Tyne and Wear and North Durham and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plans - 
Report of Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales 
Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief Clinical 
Officer,  Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group  
 
The Board considered a joint report of the Chief Operating Officer, North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group (NDCCG) and Chief Clinical Officer, Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group which provided an update 
on the two Sustainability and Transformation Plans: Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear and North Durham Draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan and the 
Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby Draft 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (for copy see file of Minutes). 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
Dr Neil O’Brien, Chief Clinical Officer, NDCCG presented the report to the Board.  
Work was ongoing to consider ways of bringing the work streams of the two STP’s 
together and their governance arrangements.  Alan Foster, Chief Executive, North 
Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust informed the Board that he expected 
there would be some communication towards the end of the week which would 
provide details of where STP’s may be brought together in areas where it made 
sense to do more at a strategic level.  Local working and integration was the key to 
success. 
 
Brian Jackson of Healthwatch County Durham asked whether Healthwatch would 
have any representative’s on STP Boards and work streams.  Mr Foster replied that 
nothing had yet been decided adding that there was a need to have appropriate 
representation. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the progress report be noted 
(b) That further joint updates be received at future Board meetings. 

 
6 Healthwatch County Durham Annual Report 2016-17 

 
The Board considered the Healthwatch Annual Report 2016/17 (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
Marianne Patterson of Healthwatch presented the Annual Report to the Board.  
Councillor Hovvels informed the Board that the Annual Report demonstrated that 
Healthwatch had moved on at a pace.  Joseph Chandy echoed the good work of 
Healthwatch carried out over the year. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the Healthwatch County Durham Annual Report be received 
(b) That the alignment of the Healthwatch County Durham work programme with 

the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy be noted. 
 

7 Development of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Manager, Policy, Planning and 
Partnerships, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council which 
provided an update on the development of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JHWS) 2018/21 and proposed the draft priorities of the JHWS for wider 
consultation (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health identified that the Strategy would also be clear in 
terms of responsibilities of the wider determinants of health. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the draft strategic priorities for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
2018-21 be agreed for wider consultation; 

(b) That the process for the development of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2018-21 be noted; 

Page 6



(c) That the draft priorities may be subject to change as a result of the 
consultation process be noted; 

(d) That the planned engagement activities be noted. 
 

8 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Joint Commissioning Plan 
2017/18 
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Commissioning Manager, Adults 
and Health Services, Durham County Council which provided an update on joint 
commissioning activity relating to children and young people with special 
educational needs and/or disability (SEND) and sought approval of the SEND Joint 
Commissioning Plan 2017-2018 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Councillor McKeon asked how the SEND Joint Commissioning Plan linked with the 
work of the Healthy Child Programme Board.  The Strategic Commissioning 
Manager replied that the SEND Joint Commissioning Plan pre-dated the Healthy 
Child Programme Board and that overall progress of the Plan would be reported on 
a quarterly basis with the Healthy Child Programme Board. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the joint commissioning activity relating to children and young people 
with SEND planned for 2017-18 be noted; 

(b) That the Durham SEND Joint Commissioning Plan 2017-18 be approved. 
 

9 County Durham Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Health Project - An independent 
Evaluation 
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council which provided an update on the final evaluation carried out by an 
independent researcher on County Durham’s Gypsy and Roma Traveller (GRT) 
Health Project (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Bernie Crooks, Specialist Nurse for GRT, Michaela Tyers, GRT Health Trainer and 
Catriona Grime, GRT Health Trainer gave a presentation of some case studies to 
the Board. 
 
Councillor Allen informed the Board that this was a subject which was close to both 
herself and Councillor Hovvels.  She had attended the conference referred to in the 
presentation and commended the quality of speakers, some of whom were 
champions within their community. 
 
The Director of Integration, Durham County Council reported work which was 
ongoing to engage with frail older people and offered to brief the presenters outside 
of the meeting on the work being undertaken and provide some useful contacts. 
 
S Lamb, Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust asked how hate crime and 
racial abuse towards the Gypsy and Traveller Community was being addressed.  
Councillor Hovvels replied that this was addressed by colleagues in the Safe 
Durham Partnership and the Joint Hate Crime Action Group. 
 

Page 7



Councillor Hovvels thanked the officers for their presentation. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the evaluation report be noted 
(b) That the work of the GRT health team to promote health and wellbeing in this 

most disadvantaged community be supported 
(c) That work continue in individual organisations to address discrimination and 

prejudice faced by GRT communities and work to overcome barriers to their 
improved health. 

 
10 Cancer Health Equity Audit 2017 

 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council which presented the Health Equity Audit 2017 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
N Springham, Consultant in Public Health presented the report to the Board, the 
key findings from which could be found at paragraph 11 of the covering report. 
 
A Foster, North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust asked whether the 
Audit had thrown up any surprises.  The Consultant in Public Health replied the 
Audit had shown that inequality for males in DDES CCG was widening, with the gap 
incidence between the most and least deprived areas more than doubling.  
Additionally inequality had risen sharply for males in North Durham CCG and had 
widened for females in both CCG’s. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That partners and agencies of the Board consider the findings of the Audit in 
the context of planning for cancer services provided for people living in 
County Durham; 

(b) That all partners sign up to the development of a strategic Action Plan to 
address the identified inequalities in cancer incidence and mortality outlined 
in the Health Equality Audit. 

 
11 Macmillan Joining the Dots Programme update 

 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council which provided an update on the MacMillan Joining the Dots County 
Durham project and provided notification of the intent to consult on the proposed 
model (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
A Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council presented the report to 
the Board together with a video presentation. 
 
J Robinson, Corporate Director, Adult and Health Services informed the Board that 
the report and video presentation was a powerful example of what could be 
produced in a relatively short period of time.  A Foster added that lessons needed 
to be learned from the project, which would not only apply to cancer patients but to 
all patients. 
 

Page 8



Councillor Allen praised the infographic at page 191 of the agenda pack.  While this 
made the information easy to follow, it would be important to ensure that any email 
and telephone number was memorable. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the work undertaken so far through the Macmillan Joining the Dots 
County Durham project be acknowledged; 

(b) That the dissemination of the consultation to partners and the general public 
be facilitated; 

(c) That the model for consultation be agreed. 
 

12 Better Care Fund 2017-19 Plan 
 
The Board considered a joint report of the Chief Operating Officer, North Durham 
and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups, 
Corporate Director, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council and Chief 
Operating Officer, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical 
Commissioning Group which presented the Better Care Fund Narrative Plan for 
2017/19 which was submitted to NHS England on 11 September 2017 (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 
 
S Jacques, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust asked about 
likely consequences if targets were not delivered.  P Copeland, Strategic 
Programme Manager, Better Care Fund and Integration replied that paragraph 73 
of the Integration and Better Care Fund Planning Guidance stated that the 
Government would consider a review of 2018-19 allocations of the social care 
funding provided at Spring Budget 2017 for areas that were poorly performing. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the report be noted 
(ii) That the Better Care Fund Plan for 2017/19 for County Durham be 

ratified. 
 

13 System Resilience update 
 
The Board considered a report of the Chair of the Local Accident and Emergency 
Delivery Board for Durham and Darlington which provided an overview of 
preparations for winter 2017/18 across the health and social care system for County 
Durham (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
That the Board note the preparations that are well underway for preparing the 
system for winter 2017/18 and the improvement in performance compared to the 
same time in 2016/17. 
 

14 Carers Update: support for carers in County Durham 
 
The Board considered a report of the Interim Head of Commissioning, Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County Council which provided an update on carer 

Page 9



developments over the last year and work scheduled for the coming months (for 
copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Councillor McKeon asked how engagement with young carers took place.  D Elliott, 
Interim Head of Commissioning, Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council replied that Family Action, who had the contract to provide core services to 
young carers had almost 500 carers registered with their service, had fed into the 
development of a service specification. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

15 Dementia and Planning 
 
The Board considered a joint report of the Head of Planning and Assets, the Interim 
Head of Commissioning and the Head of Partnerships and Community 
Engagement, Durham County Council which provided a progress update on work 
taking place with the Alzheimer’s Society and Durham County Council planning and 
assets service to support the implementation of the County Durham and Darlington 
Dementia Strategy 2014-17 by creating better environments for people living with 
dementia throughout the county (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Michelle Robinson, Spatial Policy Manager presented the report to the Board.  
Councillor Hovvels informed the Board that this was a big agenda adding that all 
taxi drivers across the county were now dementia trained.  More work needed to 
take place with the business sector and Councillor Hovvels hoped the Board would 
endorse the report. 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the report be noted; 
(b) That a health impact assessment be undertaken with the Board once a 

timetable for the County Durham Plan had been agreed. 
 

16 Local Government Association: Prevention Offer 
 
The Board considered a report of the Strategic Manager, Policy, Planning and 
Partnerships, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council which 
provided an outline of the Local Government Association Prevention offer and 
sought endorsement for County Durham to become a pilot area for progressing the 
Prevention at Scale offer between September 2017 and September 2018 (for copy 
see file of Minutes) 
 
Resolved: 

(a) That the Board endorse County Durham becoming a pilot area for 
progressing the Local Government Association Prevention at Scale offer in 
relation to mental health; 

(b) That the Board receive updates as the work progresses. 
  

Page 10



17 Improving Palliative and End of Life Care: Strategic Commissioning Plan 2013 
- 2018 
 
The Board considered a report of the Macmillan Commissioning and Development 
Lead, North of England Commissioning Support Unit which presented the 
Improving Palliative and End of Life Care: Strategic Commissioning Plan 2013-2018 
(for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
D Hand, Macmillan Commissioning and Development Lead, North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit played an audio interview to the Board with the 
relative of somebody who had experienced a palliative and end of life care service 
which highlighted problems that had previously existed in the service. 
 
The Board agreed that there were also areas of good practice in the services 
provided to patients coming to the end of their life. 
 
Resolved: 
That the content of the report be noted. 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 

Membership of Health and Wellbeing 
Board 
 

 
 
 

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal & Democratic Services, 
Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of Report 

 
1 To seek the views of members of the Board on inviting an additional 

representative to become a voting member of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 

Background 
 
2 In August 2017, a letter was received by the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board from Councillor John Robinson and Councillor Audrey Laing, Chair and 
Vice Chair of the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority to 
consider having the Fire and Rescue Authority represented on the County 
Durham Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

3 The letter notes that the Fire and Rescue service have expanded their 
prevention agenda and are working closely alongside colleagues in public 
health. The letter outlined that there are further opportunities to expand this 
collaborative work for the good of our communities and that representation on 
the Health and Wellbeing Board would assist in driving this work forward. 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board membership 
 
4 Article 16 of the Constitution of the Council outlines the rules for governing the 

Health and Wellbeing Board and includes its composition, role and function. 
 

5 As required in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the composition of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board is as follows: 

 Representatives nominated by the Leader of the Council (being 
currently: 

I.  Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services 
II.  Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services 

III.  Portfolio Holder for Transformation; 

 Representation from each Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 A representative from Local Healthwatch; 

 Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services   

 Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services 

 Director of Public Health 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

 

 

6 In addition, it has also been agreed that the following attend as non-statutory, 
voting members of the Health and Wellbeing Board; 

 Chief of Staff, Office of the Durham Police Crime & Victims’ 
Commissioner 

 Director of Integration, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington  
and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and Durham County 
Council 

 Head of Children's Public Health Nursing County Durham, Harrogate 
and District NHS Foundation Trust 

 Director of Corporate Affairs, City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 Chief Executive, Tees, Esk & Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 

 Chief Executive, North Tees & Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 

 Chief Executive, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
 
7 In accordance with legislation additional members may be appointed and the 

Health and Social Care Act states that “at any time after a Health and 
Wellbeing Board is established, a local authority must, before appointing 
another person to be a member of the Board under s194 (2)(g), consult the 
Health and Wellbeing Board”.  

 
County Durham and Darlington Fire & Rescue Service 
 
8 The value of collaborative working between the Fire and Rescue Service and 

public health to achieve positive outcomes is recognised, especially in relation 
to Safe and Wellbeing visits, and it is recommended that a representative 
from the County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority is invited 
to become a voting member of the Health and Wellbeing Board and members 
of the Board are asked to provide their views. Colin Bage, Deputy Chief Fire 
Officer, County Durham and Darlington Fire & Rescue Service has been 
identified as the Health and Wellbeing Board representative if this is agreed 
by the board.  

 
Recommendations  
 

9      The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to: 

a) Agree that a representative from the County Durham and Darlington 
Fire and Rescue Authority is invited to become an additional voting 
member of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

Contact: Ros Layfield, Committee, Member and Civic Service Manager 
 Tel:  03000 269708 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

 

 

 
 
Finance – No direct implications 
 
 
Staffing – No direct implications 
 
 
Risk – No direct implications 
 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – No direct implications  
 
 
Accommodation - No direct implications 
 
 
Crime and Disorder - No direct implications 
 
 
Human Rights – No direct implications 
 
 
Consultation – As set out in the body of the report 
 
 
Procurement - No direct implications 
 
 
Disability Issues – No direct implications 
 
 
Legal Implications – As set out in the body of the report  

 
 
 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 
Children and Young people’s mental 
Health, Emotional Wellbeing and 
Resilience Local Transformation Plan 
 

 

 
 

Report of Nicola Bailey, Chief Operating Officer, North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group and Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group   

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) with the background to the 
development of the nationally required children and young people’s mental 
health, emotional wellbeing and resilience local transformation plan (CYP MH 
LTP), how the CYP MH LTP feeds into the County wide strategic mental 
health plan on a page and to describe the current governance arrangements 
for the plans.  

Background 

2 The County Durham Children and Young People’s Mental Health, Emotional 
Wellbeing and Resilience Local Transformation Plan (2015-2020) (CYP MH 
LTP) was approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board in November 2015 
with a refreshed plan agreed by the Board in January 2017.   

3 The voice of children, young people and parents has been sought every year 
through consultation via Investors in Children and also a dedicated 
commission to work with parents.  

4 The CYP MH LTP reflects the vision and principles of the national “Future in 
Mind” strategy and the five year forward view for mental health. The core 
overarching aims of the CYP MH LTP are to:  

 Facilitate greater access and standards for mental health services; 

 Promote positive mental health and wellbeing for children and 
young people; 

 Have greater system co-ordination and a significant improvement in 
meeting the mental health needs of children and young people from 
vulnerable backgrounds. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



5 The CYP MH LTP is based on the five themes within “Future in Mind” and 
these continue to be the themes for the current plan 2017/18, as outlined 
below: 

 Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention - Our aim 
is to act early to prevent harm, by investing in the early years, 
supporting families and those who care for children and building 
resilience through to adulthood.  

 Improving access to effective support - Our aim is to change how 
care is delivered and build it around the needs of children and young 
people and families. This means moving away from a system of care 
defined in terms of the services organisations provide to ensure that 
children and young people have easy access to the right support from 
the right service at the right time. 

 Care for the most vulnerable - Current service constructs present 
barriers making it difficult for many vulnerable children, young people 
and those who care for them to get the support they need. Our aim is 
to dismantle these barriers and reach out to children and young people 
in need. 

 Accountability and Transparency - Far too often, a lack of 
accountability and transparency defeats the best of intentions and 
hides the need for action in a fog of uncertainty. Our aim is to drive 
improvements in the delivery of care, and standards of performance to 
ensure we have a much better understanding of how to get the best 
outcomes for children, young people and families/carers and value 
from our investment. 

 Developing the workforce - It is our aim that everyone who works 
with children, young people and their families is ambitious for every 
child and young person to achieve goals that are meaningful and 
achievable for them. They should be excellent in their practice and able 
to deliver the best evidenced care, be committed to partnership and 
integrated working with children, young people, families and their fellow 
professionals and be respected and valued as professionals 
themselves. 
 

Governance and Accountability 

6 The progress on implementing the CYP MH LTP is reported into NHS 
England’s assurance process, which requires the CCGs to publish an annual 
updated plan on 31st October.  

7 The HWB has overall responsibility to agree and sign off the CYP MH LTP on 
an annual basis.   

8 The Mental Health Partnership Board (MHPB) is established as an all age 
mental health partnership and reports into the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
The MHPB is currently in the process of developing an overarching mental 
health strategic plan on a page which incorporates the five work streams of 
the MHPB. This overarching draft mental health strategic plan on a page will 

Page 18



be presented to the HWB on 27th November 2017 to launch the consultation 
on the plan and key outcomes. 

9 To ensure the CYP MH LTP is being progressed locally with stakeholders 
there is a CYP MH LTP group which is a sub group of the County Durham 
Mental Health Partnership (MHPB).  

Annual re-fresh of the CYP MH LTP 
 
10 In line with NHS England’s requirements of an annual update of the CYP MH 

LTP, a re-fresh workshop was held in June 2017.  A wide range of 
stakeholders were invited to participate in the workshop to determine: 

 Latest health intelligence and data to inform priorities  

 Progress made on actions to date 

 Gaps and duplication requiring further attention 

 Actions falling behind schedule requiring additional attention 

 Hearing from CYP and parents to ensure their priorities are visible in 
the plan 

 
11 Following the workshop the feedback has been fully incorporated into the 

refreshed action plan for 2017/18.   

12 Delegated authority to agree the Children & Young People Mental Health 
Local Transformation Plan prior to submission to NHS England took place 
with the Corporate Director for Children and Young People’s Services and the 
chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board prior to submission of the plan on 31st 
October 2017. 

CYP MH LTP ambitions 2020/21 

13 By 2020/21 we will have built on existing practice to ensure:- 

 Every young person in County Durham has access to a graduated and 
timely response to emotional health issues, ranging from maintaining a 
healthy mind to acute crisis. 

 That County Durham has a joined up system for early help that 
operates based on the THRIVE approach and harnesses the capacity 
of the third sector.  

 All County Durham educational settings are better equipped to support 
the emotional health of their populations working within the getting 
advice and getting help quadrants of the THRIVE approach. 

 That access to getting more help and risk support is available through 
local settings including primary, acute and specialist care, is timely, and 
based on clear pathways of care linked to different types of need.  

 We will have one single point of access. 

 Coordinated robust risk support is available for the most vulnerable 
between partners including youth justice.  

 By 2020/21, in-patient stays for children and young people will only 
take place where clinically appropriate, and will have the minimum 

Page 19



possible length of stay, and will be as close to home as possible and 
be commissioned on a ‘place-basis’ . 

 Everyone in contact with children and young people feels equipped to 
actively support their mental health and wellbeing. 

 Well informed commissioners with comprehensive intelligence about 
needs and provision who strive to co-produce with children, young 
people and their families leading to innovative, creative and responsive 
support across a range of services from primary to inpatient and secure 
settings.  

 Support services to seek the views of our most vulnerable. 

 Maximise opportunities to capture feedback, incorporate this into 
discussions and work to improve quality. 

 Perinatal mental health service supporting the needs of our population 
to ensure timely assessment, early intervention and appropriate referral 
into specialist services when required. In 2015-16 we have undertaken 
a range of improvements to achieve our vision. 
 

Successes 

14 Good progress has been made against the original CYP MH LTP published in 
November 2016, particularly in the following categories: mental health in 
schools, peer support for parents/carers, child sexual exploitation. 

a) A significant number of developments focused on promoting 
resilience and emotional wellbeing in schools. Work is well 
advanced, led by Public Health and DCC Education, to roll out a 
resilience programme for 75 schools in County Durham. 

b) County Durham now delivers a flexible and responsive service 
24/7, 365 days a year, for children and young people 
experiencing a mental health crisis. 

c) St Cuthbert’s Hospice provide a Children and Young People’s 
Bereavement support service (The Jigsaw Project), which 
extends the work of their existing Bereavement Service to 
support children and young people, including those who 
experience loss as a result of suicide and sudden or 
unanticipated death. 

d) County Durham has enhanced the existing Community Eating 
Disorder Service for Children and Young People (CEDS-CYP). 

e) Success North East provides a parent support project for 
parents and carers whose children are experiencing emotional 
or mental health issues.  The project delivers parent training to 
enable parents to become peer supporters and encouraging 
professionals to become mental health champions 
 

Priorities and Progress 

15 The initial Local Transformation Plan was published in October 2015 and 
outlined a number of priorities that were identified to transform children and 
young people’s emotional and mental health. 

Page 20



16 Priorities were aligned to the key themes within Future in Mind. The next 
section provides an update on progress made to date and describes our plans 
moving into year three. 

17 Whilst good progress has been made during 2016-17 we have more ambition 
in 2017-18 and beyond to further transform care.  

Key priority areas identified for further improvement include: 

 Link the developments the Crisis and Liaison Pathway (above) to our 
successful NHS England Health and Justice bid to ensure mental 
health support is available within our locality, in particular in relation to 
Child Sexual Exploitation so that a multi-professional team can be 
responsive to our most vulnerable young people. 

 Further improvements to the crisis pathway beyond the new Mental 
Health Crisis & Liaison Service and we will implement an Intensive 
Home Treatment pathway during 2018. 

 Development of a safe place – Tees, Esk & Wear Valley NHS 
Foundation Trust with support from the CCGs were successful in 
securing funding to convert spaces into a safe place. This funding is 
being used to create a safe, appropriate environment to assess and 
meet the needs of children and young people who need to use them if 
presenting in mental health crisis. 

 Further improvements to the mental health support to Looked After 
Children/ Children in Care by identifying the needs and develop 
pathways to address the needs of these CYP. 

 Improving the transition pathway to adults and we will utilise the new 
national Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINs) as a 
framework to support the improvements necessary in transition from 
children to adult services so that experience of care is smooth, 
informed and supported. 

 Rollout and embedding of the Thrive approach to inform this whole 
system approach to improving access. 

 Investment in the autism pathway to ensure waiting times are NICE 
compliant as well as a review of the current pathway to see what 
improvements can be made to improve outcomes, access and 
experience.  

 National funds available as part of an STP bid to improve specialist 
perinatal mental health services. 

 Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - The CCG has also worked 
successfully with Tees, Esk & Wear Valley NHS Trusts in County 
Durham to commission an EIP service for the full age range that 
ensures people are assessed and received NICE concordat treatment 
within 2 weeks of referral. 

 Development and implementation of the County Durham workforce 
plans and strategy.   

 
 
 

 

Page 21



Next steps 

18 Durham will continue to consult with all partners on the content of this 
‘refreshed’ transformation plan until the end of November 2017.  Amendments 
where necessary will be made following assurance feedback from NHS 
England. 

19 Plans will be edited into an easy read version to make sure that it is 
accessible to all.  Work is taking place with Investing in Children (IIC) to 
ensure that children and young people are involved in the design process by 
the end of November 2017. 

20 A summary document that outlines the plans will be developed following full 
assurance, and sign off from all partners. 

21 Governance of the CYP MH LTP is currently being reviewed as part of the 
wider governance arrangements for mental health as part of the development 
of the overarching draft strategic mental health plan on a page.  

22 It is recommended that an updated CYP MH LTP is presented to the HWB in 
March 2018. 

Recommendations  

23 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

a) note the information provided in the report regarding the assurance of 
the transformation plan being progressed at a local level 

b) note and agree the priorities for 2017/18 
c) endorse the refreshed plan and priorities for action 
d) agree to receive an updated children and young people mental health 

local transformation plan in March 2018. 
 

Contact:  Michelle Hagger, North East Commissioning Support (on behalf of 
North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG)        
Tel: 0191 374 4243  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – Significant pressures exist for all partners therefore more coordinated and 
joined up approaches are essential.  The value in developing crosscutting 
programmes of work will be considered by all partners  
 

Staffing – There are long-term issues about developing and equipping the workforce 
to be able to develop specialist and population level interventions; this will be 
considered by all partners.   

 

Risk – Partnership support is required for the mental health agenda and failure to 
identify appropriate support may result in a risk to performance and to the monitoring 
of activities relating to vulnerable groups. 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – All partners will meet their 
statutory duties. 

 

Accommodation– N/A 

 

Crime and Disorder– The implications are described in the fuller plans being 
developed by the MHPB sub groups. 

 

Human Rights– N/A 

 

Consultation– Consultation will be through the mental health user and consultation 
forums along with other key stakeholders including schools. 

 

Procurement– N/A 

 

Disability Issues– Mental wellbeing is a key area to ensure all disabilities are 
considered. 

 

Legal Implications– There is a legal requirement to publish a CYP MH local 
transformation plan on an annual basis 

 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



    

6 

Dr Stewart Findlay 
Chief Clinical Officer 
Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield CCG (DDES CCG) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2015 – 2020 
(2017 Refresh) 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels 
Durham County Council 

Dr Neil O’Brien 
Chief Clinical Officer 
North Durham CCG 
(ND CCG) 

Page 25



2 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience  

County Durham Transformation Plan 
Refresh 2017 

Contents 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 5 
2. What is the Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Transformation 

Plan? ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

3. Our Vision .................................................................................................................................... 6 
3.1 How are we going to achieve our vision? ................................................................................. 6 
5. National Policy Context .............................................................................................................. 8 
6. Local Policy Context ................................................................................................................... 9 
7. Collaborative Commissioning .................................................................................................. 10 
8. Children and Young People’s Mental Health: National Profile of Need ................................ 11 

9. Children and Young People’s Mental Health: Local Profile of Need .................................... 12 
Table 1: Estimated prevalence of children with a mental health disorder by CCG, County Durham, North 

East and England, 2015. Source: Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 
Wellbeing profile, PHE ........................................................................................................ 13 

Figure 1: Graphical illustration of estimated number prevalence of children with a mental health disorder 
by CCG, County Durham, North East and England, 2015. Source: Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing profile, PHE (July 2017 update) .............................. 14 

Table 4: Selected mental health indicators for children and young people, County Durham, North East 
and England.  Source: Children’s and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing profile, 
Public Health England (July 2017 update)........................................................................... 14 

Figure 2: Annual hospital admission rates per 100,000 for self-harm, 2011/12 to 2015/1610-14 years, 
County Durham, North East and England, Source: Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health and Wellbeing profile, PHE (July 2017 update) ........................................................ 15 

Figure 3:  Hospital admissions rate per 100,000 for self-harm by age and sex, County Durham, 2010/11-
2012/13 to 2013/14-2015/16. Source: Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), PHE LKIS North 
East .................................................................................................................................... 15 

Figure 4: Hospital admissions rate per 100,000 for self-harm by deprivation quartile, County Durham, 
2010/11-12/13 to 2013/14-15/16. Source: Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), PHE LKIS 
North East ........................................................................................................................... 16 

Table 5: Hospital admission rates per 100,000 for mental health conditions aged 0-17 – 2014/15North 
Durham CCG, DDES CCG, Strategic Clinical Network Northern England and England. 
Source: Crisis Care profile, PHE Fingertips. ........................................................................ 16 

10. “Our success so far” ................................................................................................................ 16 
Table 5:      Summary of FYFVMH and progress .................................................................................... 17 

Figure 5:     County Durham’s success so far ......................................................................................... 17 

11. How we spent the money 2016/17. .......................................................................................... 18 
12. National Evidence of Effective Interventions .......................................................................... 19 
13. Priorities and Progress ............................................................................................................. 20 

Page 26



3 

 

 

14. Promoting Resilience, prevention and early intervention ..................................................... 20 
14.1 Maternity ............................................................................................................................. 21 
Table 5:       Promotion, Prevention and early intervention achievements and commitments .................. 22 

14.2 What we commit to doing: ................................................................................................... 23 
14.3 Perinatal Mental Health ....................................................................................................... 24 
14.4  Schools and Colleges ......................................................................................................... 24 
14.5  Healthy Child Programme ................................................................................................... 24 

15. Improving access to effective support .................................................................................... 25 
Table 6:       Improving access to effective support achievements and commitments .............................. 25 

15.1 What we commit to doing: ................................................................................................... 26 
15.2 CAMHS Crisis ..................................................................................................................... 26 
15.3              Eating Disorder Service ...................................................................................................... 26 
15.4              Transition and integrated mental health and wellbeing........................................................ 27 
15.5  Youth Offending .................................................................................................................. 27 
15.6 Autism Spectrum disorder ................................................................................................... 27 

16. Care for the most vulnerable .................................................................................................... 28 
Table 7:       Caring for the most vulnerable achievements and commitments ......................................... 28 

16.1 Implementation of the Care and Treatment Reviews (CTR) . .............................................. 29 
16.2 What we commit to doing: ................................................................................................... 30 
16.3   Transition ............................................................................................................................ 30 
16.4 Personal Budgets for Children and Young People .............................................................. 31 
16.5 Implementation of collaborative commissioning .................................................................. 31 
16.6 Specialist Commissioned services for SEND ...................................................................... 31 

17 Accountability and transparency ............................................................................................. 31 
Table 8:       Accountability and transparency achievements and commitments ...................................... 32 

18.  Workforce Development ........................................................................................................... 32 
Table 9:       Workforce achievements and commitments ........................................................................ 33 

18.1              What we commit to doing .................................................................................................... 33 
18.2  Children’s’ Professional Workforce Framework ................................................................... 34 
18.3 Children and Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) 
Table 10:     Training requests by TEWV ................................................................................................ 35 

Table 11:      Breakdown by service ........................................................................................................ 35 

19. Our Future plans ....................................................................................................................... 35 
Table 12:      Future plans ....................................................................................................................... 35 

20. Performance; “Measuring Success” ....................................................................................... 37 
21. Engagement and Partnership working .................................................................................... 37 
22. Digital ......................................................................................................................................... 39 

23. Management of risks in delivery of Transformation Plan ...................................................... 39 
23.1 Mitigating actions ................................................................................................................ 39 
23.2 Work with partners across the STP footprint ....................................................................... 39 

24. Baseline access, waiting time and workforce ......................................................................... 39 
Table 13:      CAMHS referrals by CCG .................................................................................................. 40 

24.1 CAMHS activity ................................................................................................................. 40 
       Table 14:      CAMHS referrals by CCG ................................................................................................... 40 

24.2 Referral Reason .................................................................................................................. 41 
24.3 Referral Outcome ................................................................................................................ 41 
24.3 Waiting times ...................................................................................................................... 41 
Table 15:     CAMHS waiting times by CCG ............................................................................................ 41 

Table 16:     CAMHS workforce .............................................................................................................. 41 

Page 27



4 

 

 

24.4 Community Eating Disorder Service ................................................................................ 42 
Table 17:     Referrals into the Community Eating Disorder Service ........................................................ 42 

Table 19:     County Durham and Darlington IHT and CAMHS Targeted workforce ................................. 43 

24.5  Early intervention in Psychosis Service .......................................................................... 44 
Table 20:     Early intervention in Psychosis Service ............................................................................... 44 

Table 21:     EIP Workforce and Data ..................................................................................................... 44 

25. Financial baseline, funding allocation and proposed spend ................................................ 45 
Table 22:     County Durham Financial Baseline 2017/18. ...................................................................... 45 

Table 22:     Additional funding made available in 2016/17 – 2017/18 .................................................... 45 

Table 23:     Proposed spend of additional investment 2015/16, 2016/17 - 2020 .................................... 45 

26. Governance ............................................................................................................................... 46 
27. Stakeholders involved in the development of this plan ......................................................... 47 

Table 25: Stakeholders ........................................................................................................................... 47 

28. Next steps .................................................................................................................................. 47 
Appendix 1: LTP Governance Structure ......................................................................................... 49 
Annex 2: LTP Tracker ............................................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Page 28



5 

 

 

Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience 

County Durham Transformation Plan 

 

1. Introduction 
 

This document is the refreshed plan for the Children and Young Peoples Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Plan for County Durham.  It has been written and published to enable all Partners 
and Stakeholders to see the progress being made against the local five year plan which was 
set out in 2015. 

 
The Plan should be read alongside the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health1 and its 
Implementation Plan and it will also form an element of the Sustainability and Transformation 
Plans (STPs)2 3for North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs. 

 
As the original 2015 document incorporated the Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
(CAMHS) strategy, so this also updates the local CAMHS strategy and transformation plan. 

 
2. What is the Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing 

Transformation Plan? 
 

 The original transformation plan provided a framework to improve the emotional wellbeing and 
mental health of all children and young people across County Durham over five years. The aim 
of the plan is to make it easier for children, young people, parents and carers to access help 
and support when needed and to improve mental health services for children and young 
people. 

 
         The plan sets out a shared vision, high level objectives, and an action plan which takes into 

consideration areas of interest specific to health, local authority, Voluntary Sector and the voice 
of the Children and Young people and their families. 

 
 Successful implementation of the plan will result in: 
 

 An improvement in the emotional wellbeing and mental health of all children and young 
people. 

 An embedded multi-agency approach to working in partnership, promoting the mental 
health of all children and young people, providing early intervention and also meeting the 
needs of children and young people with established or complex problems. 

 All children, young people and their families will have access to mental health care based 
upon the best available evidence and provided by staff with an appropriate range of skills 
and competencies. 

 
          This refresh of the plan sets out what has been achieved to date, what the next steps are and 

the longer term plan over the remaining three years and beyond.  It will also discuss whether, 
as a result of engagement or other factors, the priorities have changed. 

 

                                                 
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf 
2 http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/involve-me/stp/ 
3 https://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/sustainability-transformation-plan-stp/ 

Page 29



6 

 

 

          Our Local Transformation Plan (LTP) was developed collaboratively, with an integrated 
approach, and co-produced with local stakeholders including children and young people and it 
outlines the need to transform care and support on a whole system basis. Our continued aim 
is to build infrastructure to ensure children and young people have resilience and are able to 
thrive to markedly improve their lives.  This will happen alongside the development of a 
system of prevention enabling services to respond quickly to need, with specific, targeted 
support to vulnerable children.  

 
           Significant progress has been made in the implementation of the plan. We knew that we 

needed to really understand what children, young people and their families needed and 
wanted to involve them in development of services. This 2017 refresh of the plan summarises 
the progress that has been made as well as ongoing plans for the future transformation of 
care in context of lessons we have learnt as well as the changing landscape in particular the 
development of our local Sustainable Transformation Plans (STP).   

 

           Over the next three years (2017-2020), work will focus on realigning resources to the areas of 
need, to improve and enhance early intervention, prevention and specialist mental health 
services. Work will also ensure that services deliver across changing demographics and local 
needs. As part of embedding the new model, significant workforce development will be 
required to ensure shared decision making across service boundaries. This will require a 
variety of training, skill development and transference to ensure the workforce has both the 
capacity and capability to meet the needs of our current and future population. 

 
This plan will be published and also be available on CCG, Local Authority and partner 
websites.  An easy read version, drawn up by Investors in Children, will also be made 
available. 

3. Our Vision 
 

 Our vision remains the same as the original plan; 
 

 

3.1 How are we going to achieve our vision?  
 The County Durham Transformation Plan was developed to bring about a clear   

coordinated change across the whole system pathway to enable better support for 
children and young people; realising the local vision. The purpose of this refreshed plan is to 
enable stakeholders and partners to see the progress made towards the delivery of our 
vision.   
 

 A whole system approach to improvement has been adopted. This means health 
organisations, local councils, schools, colleges, youth justice and the voluntary sector 
working together with children, young people and their families.  This has been maintained 

‘We want Children, Young People and their Families in County Durham to be supported to 
achieve their optimum mental health and wellbeing.  Every child and young person will have 
access to early help in supporting their emotional and mental health needs. We want to 
develop children and young people’s resilience and coping strategies.  We will transform the 
quality and availability of our services from early help through to specialist provision. Local 
services will be locally delivered within communities, closer to home, targeted to the most 
vulnerable ensuring fewer children and young people require specialist mental health 

services.’ 

Page 30



7 

 

 

through; 
 

 Mental Health Partnership Board 

 Children and Young People Mental Health local transformation plan group 

 Crisis Care Concordat Steering Group  

 Healthy Child Programme Board  
 

       Fundamental to the plan, is partnership working and aligned commissioning processes, 
to foster integrated and timely services from prevention through to intensive specialist 
care. Through investing in prevention and early intervention children and young people will 
receive appropriate treatment before issues become harder and more costly to address.   

 
     We are addressing poor mental health in new mothers through a review of perinatal mental 

health services with a view to investing in the future and expansion of the crisis service for 
children and young people.   

 

Public Health in Durham County Council has undertaken a major piece of work                  to 
re- model the prevention and early intervention services which they commission.  These 
include Health Visitors and School Nurses as well as services for the whole family 
commissioned from voluntary ad community sector organisations. 
 
 

The initial plan is based on the five themes within Future in Mind.  These continue to be 
the Themes for the Transformation of services as this enables us to focus our work and 
ensure that all areas of the pathway and system delivering it are transformed and improved. 

 
Table 1: Recommendations of Future in Mind 

 The recommendations made in the report were based around five 
key themes: 

1 Promoting resilience, 
prevention and early 
intervention 

 

Our aim is to act early to prevent harm, by investing in the 
early years, supporting families and those who care for 
children and building resilience through to adulthood.  

 

2 Improving access to effective 
support  

 

Our aim is to change how care is delivered and build 
it around the needs of children and young people 
and families. This means moving away from a system 
of care defined in terms of the services organisations 
provide to ensure that children and young people 
have easy access to the right support from the right 
service at the right time. 

3 Care for the most vulnerable 

 

Current service constructs present barriers making it 
difficult for many vulnerable children, young people 
and those who care for them to get the support they 
need. Our aim is to dismantle these barriers and reach 

out to children and young people in need. 

 

4 Accountability and 
Transparency 

 

Far too often, a lack of accountability and transparency 
defeats the best of intentions and hides the need for 
action in a fog of uncertainty. Our aim is to drive 
improvements in the delivery of care, and standards 
of performance to ensure we have a much better 
understanding of how to get the best outcomes for 
children, young people and families/carers and value 
from our investment. 

5 Developing the workforce It is our aim that everyone who works with 
children, young people and their families is 

Page 31



8 

 

 

 ambitious for every child and young person to 
achieve goals that are meaningful and achievable 
for them. They should be excellent in their practice 
and able to deliver the best evidenced care, be 
committed to partnership and integrated working 
with children, young people, families and their 
fellow professionals and be respected and valued 
as professionals themselves. 

 
The full report can be accessed via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.p
df 

 

4. LTP ambitions 2020/21. 
 

 By 2020/21 we will have built on existing practice to ensure:-  
 

 Every young person in County Durham has access to a graduated and timely response to 
emotional health issues, ranging from maintaining a healthy mind to acute crisis  

 That County Durham has a joined up system for early help that operates based on the 
THRIVE4 approach and harnesses the capacity of the third sector.  

 All County Durham educational settings are better equipped to support the emotional 
health of their populations working within the getting advice and getting help quadrants of 
the THRIVE approach. 

 That access to getting more help and risk support is available through local settings 
including primary, acute and specialist care, is timely, and based on clear pathways of care 
linked to different types of need.  

 We will have one single point of access. 

 Coordinated robust risk support is available for the most vulnerable between partners 
including youth justice.  

 By 2020/21, in-patient stays for children and young people will only take place where 
clinically appropriate, and will have the minimum possible length of stay, and will be as 
close to home as possible and be commissioned on a ‘place-basis’  

 Everyone in contact with children and young people feels equipped to actively support their 
mental health and wellbeing  

 Well informed commissioners with comprehensive intelligence about needs and provision 
who strive to co-produce with children, young people and their families leading to 
innovative, creative and responsive support across a range of services from primary to 
inpatient and secure settings.  

 Support services to seek the views of our most vulnerable  

 Maximise opportunities to capture feedback, incorporate this into discussions and work to 
improve quality. 

 Perinatal mental health service supporting the needs of our population to ensure timely 
assessment, early intervention and appropriate referral into specialist services when 
required    

5. National Policy Context 
 

           The original Transformation Plan was borne out of the Future in Mind: Promoting, protecting 
and improving our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing which 
emphasised the crucial importance of early intervention in emerging emotional and mental 

                                                 
4 http://www.implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/thrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016-1.pdf 

Page 32

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf


9 

 

 

health problems for children and young people. The publication of Future in Mind (2015) -
highlighted the difficulties children, young people and their families have in accessing mental 
health support and the need to transform the services offered.  All CCG’s were required to 
develop a LTP. North Durham and Durham, Dales and Easington CCG’s developed and 
published their LTP in November 2015. 

 
 Achieving these outcomes will involve transforming the whole system of care and our plan is 

based around three inter-related programmes of work: 

 Building the infrastructure, including skilling up the workforce to respond to young 

people’s mental health   and promoting anti-stigma; 

 Shift in the balance of resources towards prevention, early intervention, resilience and 

promoting mental health and wellbeing; and 

 Targeting resources to those most at risk for example, those in crisis, Looked After 

Children and those known to youth offending services.   

 

 The transformation of the service offer involves developing more personalised services based 
around the needs of the individual and their families.  New services are being co-designed and 
evaluated by our children/ young people and their parents/ carers.  

 
 The Operational Planning Guidance for 2017-195 includes a number of areas for mental health 

service provision and some specifically for the improvement of services for Children and Young 
People. This document is available on the Department of Health website 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NHS-operational-planning-guidance-201617-
201819.pdf 

 
 Mental Health has been identified as a priority area to address within our local STP based on 

the potential to improve outcomes of care. We will maximise opportunities to collaborate with 
commissioners and providers of care to share approaches and resources across the STP to 
ensure a sustainable system. The LTP is an important part of the CCG’s STP being developed 
across the North East and Cumbria.  We have a track record of working together across County 
Durham with the development of the Early Intervention in Psychosis service, the children and 
young people’s specialist eating disorder service as well as the current perinatal mental health 
community development bid. 

 
 Earlier this year the Government announced its intention to publish a Green Paper on children 

and young people’s mental health. The paper will set out plans to transform services in schools, 
universities and for families with extra mental health staff training. By 2021 the aim is put an 
end to the practice of children being sent away from their local areas to receive care, treatment 
and support.  

6. Local Policy Context 
 

 There are a number of other documents that detail how we want to improve mental health 
services for children and young people. They are listed below:  

 

 The CCGs Clear and Creditable plans 2012-20176,7 - These set out a number of key 

                                                 
5 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NHS-operational-planning-guidance-201617-201819.pdf 
6 https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s26246/North%20Durham%20CCG%20Report.pdf 
7 https://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/ddes-ccp-summary.pdf 

Page 33

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NHS-operational-planning-guidance-201617-201819.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NHS-operational-planning-guidance-201617-201819.pdf


10 

 

 

areas to focus on within mental health. In addition to these plans, CCGs have recently 
reviewed Tier 3 specialist CAMHS and have set a priority to improve access to urgent 
mental health assessments and community eating disorder services. 

 The County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy8 - This sets out the way in 
which every child can have the best start in life. It will be done by improving their emotional 
health and wellbeing. 

 The County Durham Children, Young People and Families Plan 2016–20199 - This 
outlines a three year vision for improving services for children and young people and 
includes children and young people’s mental health services. 

7. Collaborative Commissioning 
 

 It is the aspiration, over the duration of this plan, to develop a collaborative commissioning 
model for children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing between the CCG, local 
authorities and other partners, enabling all areas to accelerate service transformation.  

 
 North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG already commission 

a number of services including CAMHS10 with Darlington CCG. Further collaborative 
commissioning across three CCGs includes crisis service, community eating disorder service 
and intensive home treatment. 

 
  Collaborative commissioning plans with NHS England Specialised Commissioning11 will 

continue to be developed. These plans will need to include the further development of 
integrated pathways supporting crisis, admission prevention and safe discharge. A joined up 
approach with Health and Justice Commissioners will also be established. 

 
 Collaborative projects will deliver more efficient use of resources by commissioning and 

delivering some services at scale. The costs of Specialist CAMH Services are unlikely to be 
reduced, but efficiency will improve as a result of the implementation of a THRIVE informed 
service delivery model which will result in increased throughput (more detail of what this 
means is in section 13). Additional efficiencies will be delivered by reducing the numbers of 
professionals involved in complex families for whom managing risk is the primary 
support/intervention. 

 
Table 2: Collaborative Commissioning achievements and commitments 

 
What we have achieved in Year 1 
(2015/16) 

 
Multi-agency CYP Mental health, 
Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience 
Group established with a number of 
working groups 

What we have achieved in Year 2 
(2016/17) 

 
Development of joint agency plans, 
ensuring the continuous professional 
development of existing staff. 
 
Developed collaborative commissioning 
plans with NHSE specialist 
commissioning team for children and 
young people with complex needs 

What we will do in year 3 
(2017/18) 

 
Implementation of the joint agency 
workforce plan. 
Implementation of collaborative 
commissioning plans with NHSE 
specialist commissioning team for 
children and young people with 
complex needs 
 
Complete the review of mental 
health support to children and 
young people with learning 

                                                 
8 http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws 
9 http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/13659/Children-Young-People-and-Families-Plan-2016--2019-Delivery-
Plan/pdf/ChildrenYoungPeopleandFamiliesPlan201619.pdf 
10 http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/organisation.page?id=Ie0wpb_gjck 
11 https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/spec-services/ 

Page 34



11 

 

 

disabilities. 
 
Deliver improvements to the 
pathway for children and young 
people with potential ASD. 
 
Review current emotional and 
mental health provision to looked 
after children and care leavers by 
March 2018. 
 

8. Children and Young People’s Mental Health: National Profile of Need 
 Future in Mind states ‘Mental health problems cause distress to individuals and all those who 
care for them. Mental health problems in children are associated with underachievement in 
education, bullying, family disruption, disability, offending and anti-social behaviour, placing 
demands on the family, social and health services, schools and the youth justice system. 
Untreated mental health problems create distress not only in the children and young people, 
but also for their families and carers, and the wider community, continuing into adult life and 
affecting the next generation’. 

 
       Information in key policy documents suggests: 

 

 1 in 10 children and young people aged 5 - 16 suffer from a diagnosable mental 
health disorder; 

 Between 1 in every 12 and 1 in every 15 children and young people deliberately 
self- harm; 

 More than half of all adults with mental health problems were diagnosed in 
childhood - less than half were treated appropriately at the time; 

 A number of young people aged 15-16 with depression nearly doubled between 
1980s and 2000s; 

 Proportion of young people aged 15-16 with a conduct disorder more than doubled 
between 1974 and 1999; 

 72% of children in care have behavioural or emotional problems; 

 About 60% looked after children in England have emotional and mental health 
problems and a high proportion experience poor health, educational and social 
outcomes after leaving care; 

 95% of imprisoned young offenders have a mental health disorder. 
 

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are situations which lead to an increased risk of 
children and young people experiencing impacts on health, or other social outcomes, across 
the life course17. 
 The following ACEs are all associated with poorer mental health outcomes for children and 
adolescents:  

 Witnessing domestic violence and abuse  
 Being party to a safeguarding arrangement or becoming a Looked After Child  
 Living with a parent with mental health issues 
 Who have been abused, physically and/or emotionally. 
 Parental alcohol and substance misuse  
 Bereavement and loss. 
 From low income households and where parents have low educational 
 attainment; 
 With disabilities, including learning disabilities; 

Page 35



12 

 

 

 From Black Minority and Ethnic (BME) groups including Gypsy Roma Travellers 

(GRT); 

 Who identify as Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual or Transgender (LGBT); 

 Who experience homelessness; 

 Who are engaged within the Criminal Justice System; 

 Whose parent(s) may have a mental health problem; 

 Who are young carers; 

 Who misuse substances; 

 Who are refugees and asylum seekers; 

 Who have been abused, physically and/or emotionally. 

9. Children and Young People’s Mental Health: Local Profile of Need 
 

 The mental health and wellbeing outcomes for children and young people are greatly shaped 
by a wide variety of social, economic and environmental factors such as, poverty, housing, 
and ethnicity, place of residence, education and environment. It is clear that improvements in 
mental health and wellbeing outcomes cannot be made without action on these wider, social 
determinants. 

 
 The Public Health England Children's and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing tool 

brings together a selection of the most relevant indicators to support an intelligence driven 
approach to understanding and meeting need; inform discussions and encourage 
improvements in services and health outcomes for children and young people. It presents 
collated data on risk, prevalence and the range of health, social care and education services 
relevant to the health and wellbeing of children and young people to support local decision 
making. Much of the data and intelligence contained within this section relates to either the 
County Durham INA Factsheet on Mental Health and Wellbeing or the PHE Children and 
Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing profile, which was updated in July 2017. 

 Integrated Needs Assessment - County Durham Partnership 

 
Risks to mental health over the life course can manifest themselves at all stages in life. A life-
course perspective shows how risk exposures in the formative stages of life – including 
substance use in pregnancy, insecure attachment in infancy or family violence in childhood - 
can affect mental well-being or predispose towards mental disorder many years or even 
decades later.   

 
Most mental illness has its origins in childhood. Early diagnosis and treatment is important as 
mental health problems in childhood have been shown to be associated with poor outcomes 
in adulthood. For instance, people who had severe conduct problems in childhood are more 
likely to have no educational qualifications, be economically inactive and be arrested 
(Richards and Abbot, 2009). 
 
Mental health problems in children and young people are commonplace, and poor mental 
health in childhood is associated with: 

 Poorer health 

 Poorer social skills 

 Lower education attainment 

 Higher risk of self-harm and suicide 

 Higher risk of risky behaviours such as substance misuses 

 Higher rates of antisocial behaviour and offending 

Page 36

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment


13 

 

 

 Higher levels of future unemployment 

 Higher risk of future crime and violence 

 Higher risk of adult mental disorder 
 

The most important modifiable risk factors for mental illness and the most important 
determinants of mental wellbeing are those experienced in childhood. The best opportunities 
for prevention of mental ill health and promotion of good mental health therefore lie in 
childhood, many of them in the context of the family. Research suggests that half of all adults 
with mental ill health experience their first symptoms by the age of fourteen, and three-
quarters by the age of twenty-four. The mental health of children and young people may be 
particularly affected by poor parenting, family issues, abuse and bullying. Tackling mental ill 
health at this stage can not only help children and families at the time, but can set children up 
to be happier, healthier adults. 

 
Both ‘Future in Mind’ (‘NHS England and Department of Health, 2015) and ‘No Health without 
Mental Health’ (Department of Health, 2015) emphasise the crucial importance of early 
intervention in emerging emotional and mental health problems for children and young 
people. The social and biological influences on a child’s health and brain development start 
even before conception and continue through pregnancy and the early years of life.  

 
Parental mental health is an important factor in determining the child’s mental health. Better 
parental mental health is associated with better outcomes for the child, including better 
relationships, improved learning and academic achievement, and improved physical health. 

 
Children with poor mental health are: 

 At greater risk of physical health problems; 

 More likely to smoke than children who are mentally healthy.  

 Almost five times more likely to report self-harm or suicide attempts. 

 Four and half times more likely to rate themselves or be rated by their parents 
as having ‘fair/bad health’. 

 Over four times more likely to have long periods of time off school (County 
Durham Mental Health Strategy: 2017). 

Table 3: Estimated prevalence of children with a mental health disorder by CCG, County Durham, North East and England, 
2015. Source: Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing profile, PHE 

 

  
North Durham CCG DDES CCG County Durham 

North 
East 

England 

 Period Count Value Count Value Count Value Count Value 

Any    2015 2,855 9.6% 3,731 10.3% 6586 10.0% 9.9% 9.2% 

Conduct 2015 1,735 5.8% 2,304 6.4% 4039 6.1% 6.1% 5.6% 

Emotional 2015 1,102 3.7% 1,441 4.0% 2543 3.9% 3.8% 3.6% 

Hyperkinetic 2015 469 1.6% 618 1.7% 1087 1.7% 1.6% 1.5% 

 

 Over 6,500 children and young people in County Durham are estimated to have a mental 
health disorder. The most common mental health disorders for those aged 5-16 years in 
County Durham are conduct disorders. Around 4,000 young people are estimated to have a 
conduct disorder; around 2,500 young people are estimated to have an emotional disorder 
(2015). 

  

Estimates suggest that around one in five children with a mental health condition has more 

Page 37



14 

 

 

than one such condition, so the total number of children estimated to have any mental health 
disorder is less than the sum of the total number of children estimated to have each named 
condition. 

Figure 1: Graphical illustration of estimated number prevalence of children with a mental health disorder by 
CCG, County Durham, North East and England, 2015. Source: Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 

Wellbeing profile, PHE (July 2017 update) 

 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

 

Table 4: Selected mental health indicators for children and young people, County Durham, North East and England.  
Source: Children’s and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing profile, Public Health England (July 2017 

update). 

   County Durham 
North 
East England 

Health Measure Period Count Value Value Value 

Hospital admissions for mental health 
conditions 

R/100,000 2015/16 86 85.8 96.9 85.9 

Hospital admissions as a result of self-
harm (10-24 years) 

R/100,000 2015/16 399 420.8 442.9 430.5 

Persons under 18 admitted to hospital 
for alcohol-specific conditions 

R/100,000 
2012/13-

14/15 
197 65.5 60.4 36.6 

Hospital admissions due to substance 
misuse (15-24 years) 

R/100,000 
2013/14-

15/16 
202 98 121.2 95.4 

Hospital admissions caused by injuries 
in children (0-14 years) 

R/10,000 2015/16 1,359 163.3 1488 104.2 

Hospital admissions caused by injuries 
in young people (15-24 years) 

R/10,000 2014/15 1,037 151.6 152.6 134.1 

 

 
 

 
Self-harm is a major concern. Over time, annual self-harm hospital admission rates for young 
people in County Durham have been consistently statistically significantly higher than 
England (figure 2).For the period 2011/12 to 2015/16 the overall trend in self-harm 
admissions has been downward, in contrast to the increase experienced nationally. For 
2015/16 the self-harm admission rate locally (420.8) was not statistically significantly different 
to England (430.5). The graphs below show the rates of self-harm in County Durham as 
compared to the North East and National levels. However, it should be noted that this is not a 
true reflection of the scale of self-harm in our communities as the majority of cases of self-

Page 38



15 

 

 

harm will go unreported as they do not lead to either a hospital admission or a GP 
appointment. 

 

Figure 2: Annual hospital admission rates per 100,000 for self-harm, 2011/12 to 2015/1610-14 years, County 
Durham, North East and England, Source: Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing profile, 

PHE (July 2017 update) 

 

 
 

 
Rates of hospital admissions for self-harm have been statistically significantly higher in 
County Durham than England over time, with the exception of 2015/16 (figure 2).  Three year 
pooled hospital admission rates are higher in the younger age bands (figure 3) but have been 
reducing over time (between 2010/11 and 2014/15), except for those age bands at the 
extremes (those aged under 15 and 55+). There is a statistically significant difference 
between the higher rates seen in 2010/11-12/13 and the lower rates of 2013/14-15/16 in all 
age bands, except for females aged 15-24 years. 

Figure 3:  Hospital admissions rate per 100,000 for self-harm by age and sex, County Durham, 
2010/11-2012/13 to 2013/14-2015/16. Source: Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), PHE LKIS North East 

 

/  
 
There is a clear social gradient to hospital admission rates for self-harm in County Durham 

Page 39



16 

 

 

(figure 4). Admission rates are statistically significantly higher in the most deprived quartile 
(25%) than the least deprived quartile. Over time admission rates for self-harm across all 
quartiles has been falling, although the difference is not statistically significant. 
 

 

Figure 4: Hospital admissions rate per 100,000 for self-harm by deprivation quartile, County Durham, 2010/11-
12/13 to 2013/14-15/16. Source: Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), PHE LKIS North East 

 

 
 

Hospital admission rates of children and young people for mental health conditions in North 
Durham CCG is statistically significantly higher than both England average and North East 
and Cumbria NHS region (table 3).  The admission rate for DDES CCG is lower than the 
regional and national rate, but not statistically significantly so. At this point there is no time 
series data available to see trends over time. 

 

Table 5: Hospital admission rates per 100,000 for mental health conditions aged 0-17 – 2014/15North Durham CCG, 

DDES CCG, Strategic Clinical Network Northern England and England. Source: Crisis Care profile, PHE Fingertips. 

   North DDES 
NHS-  
North  

 Measure Period 
Durham 

CCG 
CCG 

East and 
Cumbria 

England 

Hospital admissions for mental health 
conditions 

R/100,000 2014/15 140.9 84.1 95.3 85.9 

 
 The needs and prevalence data shows us that we need to continue to work to reduce the 

gap in health inequalities as the most deprived communities are still the most likely to suffer 
mental health deterioration.  Of these issues, the most common in children and young 
people relate to their conduct. Consequently, we are looking at the possibility of investing 
waiting times money into the Autism assessment unit to speed up the assessment and 
diagnosis of children and young people with autism.  This is obviously not the only 
behaviour and conduct related issue and others are being tackled more generically rather 
than specifically. See paragraph 15.6 for further information. 

 
10. “Our success so far” 

 

 Following the publication of the Five Year Forward View Mental Health (FYFVMH) goals12 

                                                 
12 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/fyfv-mh.pdf 

Page 40



17 

 

 

(which align with Future in Mind), CCGs are assured in terms of progress towards achieving 
those goals. The details of what needs to be achieved by 2020/21 and the CCG progress 
towards that are outlined in table one below: more detailed outcomes are explained further down. 

Table 5: Summary of FYFVMH and progress 

  

 5 YFVMH Goals  Progress 

1 Developing and refreshing a children and young 
people’s mental health Local Transformation Plan 
on an annual basis, ensuring milestones are 
achieved, funding allocation is robust and agreed 
across the system and impact is monitored 
 

County Durham has worked with children, young people, 
parents/ carers and across the whole system to agree and 
develop a LTP and vision for children’s mental health services 

2 A dedicated community eating disorder service is 
provided achieving the access and waiting times 
set out nationally in the Eating Disorder 
Guidance, and that the provider is part of the 
Quality Network. 
 

A Durham-wide community eating disorder service for children 
and young people has been implemented and complies with 
the national Guidance, meaning that young people now receive 
a NICE compliant service, closer to home. 

3 Joint agency workforce plans aligned with the roll 
out of Children and Young People’s Improving 
Access to Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) 
programme 

County Durham is now a member of the North East, Humber 
and Yorkshire Learning Collaborative for CYP IAPT with the 
intention of being compliant in 2017 following scoping and 
planning in 2016/17, so we can link the development of a 
whole system workforce strategy to the CYP IAPT programme 
 

4 Ensuring there is a mental health crisis response 
especially out of normal working hours; 

The CCG has commissioned a Paediatric Mental Health Crisis 
& Liaison team based in the University Hospital North Durham 
7 days per week 24/7 and is currently working with Tees, Esk 
& Wear Valley Foundation Trust to further improve the 
community crisis response pathway, meaning that CYP 
presenting at A&E with Mental health issues get the 
appropriate timely response. 
 

5 Collaborative commissioning plans between the 
CCG and NHS England with regards Tier 3 and 
Tier 4 CAMHS; 

The CCG is working with NHS England to develop 
collaborative commissioning plans around crisis care and 
inpatient pathways. We have delivered new models of care 
whereby our provider also commission Tier 4 beds. 
 
 

 
 In 2015-16 we have undertaken a range of improvements to achieve our vision. Good progress has 

been made against the original LTP published in November 2016, particularly in the following 

categories: mental health in schools, Peer support for parents/carers, child sexual exploitation. 
Figure 5: County Durham’s success so far 

 

Page 41



18 

 

 

 
 
 

11. How we spent the money 2016/17. 
 

 In 2016/17 through a broad stakeholder engagement process we identified the areas for 
prioritisation and focus of funding. The funding has been allocated to address a range of 
areas of need and to improve the outcomes for CYP through accessing a range of quality 

County 
Durham’s

Transformation 

Successes 

County Durham now delivers a 
flexible and responsive service 

24/7, 365 days a year, for 
children and young people 

experiencing a mental health 
crisis.

Public health have invested in 
five emotional resilience nurses 

as part of the school nursing 
service across County Durham;

the emotional resilience nurses 
offer community drop in 

schools.

One stop shop’ philosophy as 
outlined in Future in Mind

St Cuthbert’s Hospice provide a 
Children and Young People’s 
Bereavement support service 

(The Jigsaw Project), which 
extends the work of their 

existing Bereavement Service 
to support children and young 
people, including those who 
experience loss as a result of 

suicide and sudden or 
unanticipated death.

Success North East provides a 
parent support project for 
parents and carers whose 
children are experiencing 

emotional or mental health 
issues.  The project delivers 

parent training to enable 
parents to become peer 

supporters and encouraging 
professionals to become 
mental health champions

County Durham has 
enhanced the existing 

Community Eating Disorder 
Service for Children and 

Young People (CEDS-CYP).

A significant number of 
developments focused on 
promoting resilience and 

emotional wellbeing in schools. 
Work is well advanced, led by 

Public Health and DCC 
Education, to roll out a 

resilience programme for 75 
schools in County Durham.

Page 42



19 

 

 

services. There was also a focus on ensuring that as a system the people working within it 
were supported and skilled to help CYP. Below is information on the initiatives and some of 
the output/outcomes from them. 

 
Tees, Esk & Wear Valley NHS Trust (TEWV) provider of local Child and Adolescent Health 
services (CAMHS) made the following improvements in specialist services: 

 

 Reduction in Core CAMHS waiting lists waiting times from over 1 year in 14/15 to now 
all CYP referred are seen within 9 weeks – £155,341  

 Increase availability of Crisis intervention /support through the 24/7 model of operation. 
– £189,798 

 Enhancing Eating Disorders service to ensure it meets national standards, through 
increase in workforce and hours of operation –  £109,839 
 

Two new services commissioned by Durham County Council with funding from the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups launched in February 2017 to support the Local Transformation Plan. 
 

 Parental Peer Support service - Success North East provides a parent support project 
for parents and carers whose children are experiencing emotional or mental health 
issues. The project includes two parent support groups (one in south and one in north 
Durham), online support through social media, delivering parent training to enable 
parents to become peer supporters and encouraging professionals to become mental 
health champions – The Durham CCGs have invested a total of £19,952 

 CYP Bereavement service - St Cuthbert’s Hospice provide a Children and Young 
People’s Bereavement support service (The Jigsaw Project), which extends the work 
of their existing Bereavement Service to support children and young people, including 
those who experience loss as a result of suicide and sudden or unanticipated death – 

The Durham CCGs have invested a total of £48,968 
 

12.  National Evidence of Effective Interventions 
 

 There is a growing evidence-base for a range of interventions which are both clinically and 
cost effective. 

 
 Early Intervention in Psychosis (14 years plus) - The CCG has already committed the 

nationally defined level of funding to the Service Provider in anticipation of the introduction of 
new access standards. National guidance, workforce requirements and gaps in delivering 
NICE concordant care are being collated to ensure national requirements are met from 
Quarter 4 2015/16.  

 
           CAMHS Liaison Services - National guidance around the delivery of all-age 24/7 Liaison 

Services has been received. Currently the CAMHS Liaison service is funded non-recurrently 
and separately to the Adult Service. Further analysis and planning is required to review 
current gaps in provision against the national standards and develop the required plans for 
assurance. 

 
  The CCGs commission outcome based services which reflect the latest evidence based 

interventions. This is done in line with the Local Authority Whole Family approach and 
includes the family of the patient in the development and implementation of their care where 

Page 43



20 

 

 

required. The CCG is also committed to the development of CYP IAPT, 24/7 CAMHS crisis 
and Intensive Home Treatment  services which are currently under further development 
following recent approval by all CCGs concerned. 

 
13.  Priorities and Progress 

 

 Good progress has been made during 2016-17; further plans are in development for 2017-18 
and beyond to further transform care.  

 

Key priority areas identified for further improvement include:  

a) Further improvements to the crisis pathway beyond the new Mental Health Crisis & 
Liaison Service and we will implement an Intensive Home Treatment pathway during 
2018. 

b) Link the developments the  Crisis and Liaison Pathway (above) to our successful NHS 
England Health and Justice bid to ensure mental health support is available within our 

locality, in particular CSE so that a multi-professional team can be responsive to our 
most vulnerable young people; 

c) Development of a safe place – Tees, Esk & Wear Valley Foundation Trust with support 
from the CCG was successful in securing funding to convert spaces into a safe place. 
This funding is being used to create a safe, appropriate environment to assess and 
meet the needs of children and young people who need to use them if presenting in 
mental health crisis. 

d) Further improvements to the mental health support to Looked After Children/ Children 
in Care by identifying the needs and develop pathways to address the needs of these 
CYP. 

e) Improving the transition pathway to adults and we will utilise the new  national 

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUINs) as a framework to support the 

improvements necessary in transition from children to adult services so that experience 

of care is smooth, informed and supported; 

f) Rollout and embedding of the Thrive approach to inform this whole system approach to 
improving access. 

g) Investment in the autism pathway to ensure waiting times are NICE compliant as well as 
a review of the current pathway to see what improvements can be made to improve 
outcomes, access and experience;  

h) National funds available as part of an STP bid to improve specialist perinatal mental 

health services;  

i) Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) - The CCG has also worked successfully with 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valley Foundation Trust s in County Durham to commission an EIP 

service for the full age range that ensures people are assessed and received NICE 

concordat treatment within 2 weeks of referral 

j) Development and implementation of the County Durham workforce plans and strategy. 

 

14.   Promoting Resilience, prevention and early intervention  

 

. Our aim is to prevent harm, by investing in the early years, supporting families and those who 

care for children and building resilience through to adulthood. By focusing the service on the 

whole population of children, the use of schools, Primary Mental Health Workers, council 

Page 44



21 

 

 

staff, parents and peers will significantly increase the volume and speed of support. We will 

measure how effective we are through robust outcome monitoring across the population in 

County Durham, benchmarking against our peers across the region and nationally. We will 

explore how we can effectively support our vulnerable groups through collaborative work 

  

 To promote good mental health, build resilience, identify and address emerging mental health 

problems as soon as possible, the following local priorities were agreed: 

 

• Improving access to perinatal mental health care; in line with published guidance 

• Increasing capacity and quality within all aspects of the mental health prevention and 

early help pathway 

• Continuing to support for young carers and other key vulnerable groups such as looked 

after children and young people who offend.  

 

Children's social and emotional wellbeing is not only important in its own right, but is also a 

contributor to good physical health, and as a factor in determining how well they do at 

school (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2008). The importance of social 

and emotional wellbeing in the early years of a child's life in relation to a healthy development 

is described in 'Supporting Families in the foundation years' (Department for Education and 

Department of Health, 2011). The social and emotional wellbeing of older children, particularly 

during the transition from adolescence to adulthood, is of equal importance to future 

wellbeing. However, the challenges occurring during adolescence are often less 

acknowledged and understood than those occurring during the early years (Pona, Royston, 

Bracey, & Gibbs, 2015). 

 

Although anyone can have poor social and emotional wellbeing, it is well evidenced that 

certain population groups are more likely to suffer from poor wellbeing and have mental 

health problems. Those children who do develop mental health problems will need additional 

timely treatment from the appropriate mental health service, supported by the wider services 

around the child. There is now an increasing emphasis on the need to support the social and 

emotional wellbeing of the wider population of children and young people, and the need for a 

clearer distinction between mental health treatment and emotional wellbeing 

support (Wolpert, et al., 2014). 

 

14.1 Maternity 
With Local Maternity System plans due to be published we need to ensure that our actions 

link effectively with changes to the way in which maternity services are delivered. 

 

We will work collectively with our clinical and public health colleagues to: 

 Establish base line data from both the maternity unit (CDDFT) and the 0-19 service 

(Harrogate Foundation Trust) to further understand the prevalence of emotional 

wellbeing and mental health issues through pregnancy.  

 Understand the pathway between both services for flagging any concerns and how this 

links into Early Help services and the available parenting programmes  

Page 45

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph12
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/184868/DFE-01001-2011_supporting_families_in_the_foundation_years.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/184868/DFE-01001-2011_supporting_families_in_the_foundation_years.pdf
http://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/seriously-awkward-how-vulnerable-16-and-17-year-olds-are
http://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what-we-do/resources-and-publications/seriously-awkward-how-vulnerable-16-and-17-year-olds-are
http://www.annafreud.org/service-improvement/service-improvement-resources/thrive/


22 

 

 

 Developed a set of performance indicators across maternity and early years services 

Table 5: Promotion, Prevention and early intervention achievements and commitments 

 
What we have done in Year 1 
(2015/16) 

 
Mapped out current community 
perinatal mental health 
provision, identified gaps and 
developed outline business 
case 
 
Initial scoping to explore the 
capacity in the social emotional 
and wellbeing pathway with the 
aim of understanding where 
there are pressure points in the 
system  
Continued investment in young 
carers services  
Invested in bereavement care 
for children and young people 
 

Public Health led initiatives: 
 
Public health have invested in 
five emotional resilience nurses 
as part of the school nursing 
service specification across 
County Durham; the emotional 
resilience nurses will offer 
community drop in support 
alongside the Specialist 
Community Public Health 
Nurse teams, and will to work 
towards a ‘one stop shop’ 
philosophy as outlined in 
Future in Mind  
 
Development of mental health 
provider quality framework for 
schools 
 
Promotion of national help lines 
 

What we have achieved Year 2 
(2016/17) 
 

Engagement with wider stakeholders to 
refresh the LTP, with focus on  
prevention and early intervention  
 
Set up a perinatal mental health 
steering group to review the current 
position and develop a specialist 
community pathway (refine business 
case. 
 
Ongoing development of the mental 
health prevention and early help 
pathway; embedding the CAMHS 
Single Point of Access, and explore 
role of the Psychological Wellbeing 
Practitioner 
 
Explore options to enable voluntary and 
community sector providers to 
contribute to the whole system pathway 
 
Implemented a model for peer support 
with children and young people, and 
families  
 
Implemented a model to improve 
access to bereavement care for 
children and young people  
 
Public Health Led Initiatives: 

 
Resilience in Schools programme, 
along with Youth Aware Mental Health 
(YAM) pilot roll out  
 
Support ‘Time to Change’ National anti-
stigma campaign  
 

Development of social media platforms 
for CYP, promotion of “head space 
 
Evaluation of mindfulness and Relax 
kids programmes 
 
Pathways being strengthened in 
antenatal pathway and 0-5 specification 
to identify and respond to 
vulnerability/mental health issues, 
including roll out of 2-2.5 year 
integrated check, and vulnerable parent 
pathway 
 
Development of parenting programmes 
based on Solihull approach – family 
workers, Health Visitors  
 
Building links with youth justice system 
and improved networking with schools 

What we will do in Year 3 
(2017/18). 

 
Submit an application for Perinatal 
Mental Health Community 
Services Development Fund, to 
support implementation of the new 
pathway 
 
Potential roll out of the new 
Psychological Wellbeing 
Practitioner  role, depending on 
findings in Year 2 

 
Public Health Led Initiatives: 
Rollout and embedding of the 
Thrive approach to inform the 
whole system approach to 
improving access 
 
Continued strong engagement with 
children and young people to 
retain our focus on their needs 
making any improvements 
readable and acceptable. 
 
Utilising best practice from 
Durham’s local transformation 
partnerships we will collaborate 
with the other partnerships to 
develop the capacity of Durham’s 
third sector and independent 
sector to develop standards and 
pathways for children and young 
people to quickly access evidence 
based interventions in non-clinical 
settings.  
 
The Resilience Schools 
programme will be in all schools 
along with Youth Aware Mental 
Health (YAM) aimed to promote 
resilience and emotional wellbeing 
in schools  
 
Establish base line data from both 
the maternity unit (CDDFT) and 
the 0-19 service (Harrogate 
Foundation Trust) to further 
understand the prevalence of 
emotional wellbeing and mental 
health issues through pregnancy 
 
Develop the pathway between 
both services for flagging any 
concerns and how this links into 
Early Help services and the 
available parenting programmes 
 
Develop a set of performance 
indicators across maternity and 

Page 46



23 

 

 

regarding needs of vulnerable children.
  
Development of new mental health 
prevention model to inform future 
commissioning (includes children and 
young people). 
 
 

early years services 
 
We will work with NHSE to 
improve Mental health pathways 
across the secure and detained 
settings. 
 
Increase access to liaison and 
diversion services by undertaking 
a pathway review. 
 
Development of the local multi-
agency suicide prevention plan. 
 
Undertake a review of education 
provision for children and young 
people with complex social, 
emotional and mental health 
needs as part of the SEND joint 
commissioning plan. 

 

 Durham has already undertaken significant joint working across County Durham and the 
Durham CCG’s to improve access to CAMHS with access to seamless services. In addition to 
ensure that all children and young people, including those from vulnerable groups are referred 
to CAMHS, particularly those experiencing their first episode in psychosis13 are offered NICE 
recommended treatment within two weeks of referral; these young people would be referred 
to the TEWV Early Intervention Services, which is a community, based service for people 
aged 14 to 65 years who have experienced symptoms of psychosis for the first time.  
 
14.2 What we commit to doing 

 
Further work will be undertaken in 2017/18 to address current gaps identified in access. 

  
 The publication of the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health and subsequent 

Implementation Plan has assisted all partners in moving forwards.  Also, Partners are in 
agreement that the Thrive approach demonstrates the best outcomes and smoothest 
pathways for patients and thus is the aspirational model for County Durham which we are 
moving towards for 2020. 

 
 In 2018, the new offer (Thrive approach) will start being applied to the whole of Durham’s 

children and young persons’ system to help deliver improved access, reduced waiting times 
and help deliver clinical efficiencies. 

 
 By 2020, the achievement of this will mean that services will be very different for children and 

young people in County Durham.  There will be very easy access with a single place for 
professionals and the public to refer to for help and advice.  This will also provide a navigation 
service around the system and into other services (including social support, depending on 
individual need).  We will have equity of access across the County so that those in rural areas 
are still able to access services quickly and easily when they need to.  Resilience and 
recovery will be bolstered significantly in order to reduce the demand on the Crisis teams.  
We are currently planning a staged implementation of this new approach which will ensure full 
delivery by 2020. 

 

                                                 
13 https://www.guidelines.co.uk/NICE/Psychosis-in-children/237556.article 

Page 47



24 

 

 

To support the CAMHS crisis service (enabled by the initial funding from NHS England) there 
will be an Intensive Home Treatment service so that children and young people are treated at 
home wherever possible. 

 
14.3 Perinatal Mental Health 
Increase staff and capacity within TEWV across the STP footprint, in line with the 
requirements set out in the Five Year Forward View and expansion advice set out in the 
Health Education England Mental Health Workforce Strategy by developing a community 
specialist perinatal mental health service to deliver care to more women in the period 
immediately before and after birth. 
 

 Improve and expand the skills and training of staff by training health visitors and midwives in 
supporting all patients with mental health problems both before and after the perinatal period. 
 

 Develop and liaise with wider professionals in other areas by providing, through the health 
visitors and midwives within the team, education and advice. Build on established links with 
children’s centres, voluntary agencies and GP Practices ensuring engagement with all parts 
of the care pathway. 

 
14.4  Schools and Colleges 
We will work with other local transformation partnerships to identify the best current practice 
in supporting schools and colleges to identify and help students who have challenged 
emotional well-being and mental health and develop an offer for Durham schools/colleges. 
  

 Consult on expanding the development and training of staff in educational services in County 
Durham and Darlington by reviewing the evaluation and lessons learnt produced by the 
Hartlepool and Stockton pilot commissioned by NHSE to test the idea of bringing education 
and CYP MH services together through a joint mental health training programme.  
 

 To ensure in every school that everyone is able to take up training and development of 
support CYP’s resilience and emotional wellbeing by delivering the Resilience in Schools 
Programme along with the Youth Awareness Mental Health (YAM) pilot.  

 
 Provide access to approved online support tools such as MindEd to continue the professional 

development of educational staff. 
 

Early evidence from pilot sites across Durham suggests a shift in referrals to CAMHS, with 
GP referrals reducing and schools direct referrals increasing and the overall number of 
inappropriate referrals declining. We will undertake further work schools to incorporate self-
care for non-service users as part of a whole school approach to mental health. 

   
14.5  Healthy Child Programme  
The Healthy Child Programme (HCP) is the key universal public health service for improving 
the health and wellbeing of children through health and development reviews, health 
promotion, parenting support, screening and immunisation programmes. The local authority 
has taken on the commissioning of the HCP 0-5 years and its delivery via the universal health 
visiting service, it is important that it is underpinned by the latest evidence. 
 
We will improve our understanding what works well in key areas such as: 

Page 48



25 

 

 

 parental mental health; smoking; alcohol/drug misuse; intimate partner violence; 
preparation and support for childbirth and the transition to parenthood; attachment; 
parenting support; unintentional injury in the home; safety from abuse and neglect; 
nutrition and obesity prevention; and speech, language and communication, 

so we can draw out key messages in relation to: 

 identifying families in need of additional support; the delivery/effective implementation 
of interventions at the programme/service level and individual practitioner level 

 workforce skills and training. 
Prioritisation of the work identified will be undertaken and aligned to the LTP. 

 
15.  Improving access to effective support  

 
 Our aim is to change how care is delivered and built around the needs of children and young 

people and families. This means moving away from a system of care defined in terms of 
services organisations provide, to ensure that children and young people have easy access to 
the right support from the right service at the right time. 

 
           To ensure children, young people and families have timely access to evidence based support 

and treatment, the following local priorities have been set: 
 

 Roll out a model for intensive home treatment (potentially linked with the crisis 
service model) for children and young people with complex needs; 

 Increased access from meeting around 25% of those with a diagnosable condition 
locally, based on current estimates, to at least 35%.  In line with the national target 
for the NHS of reaching at least 70,000 more children and young people annually 
from 2020/21. 

 Improved access to 24/7 crisis resolution and liaison mental health services which 
are appropriate for children and young people  We are doing this by working with 
our specialist service to increase capacity and working with our providers to simplify 
the pathway that patients use to access services. 

 By 2020/21, evidence-based community eating disorder services for children and 
young people, ensuring that 95% of children in need receive treatment within one 
week for urgent cases, and four weeks for routine cases, through ensured clear 
reporting and data collection of key indicators; including access and waiting times 
via contract monitoring. 

 Reduce the use of specialist in-patient beds for children and young people with an 
eating disorder by increasing community services to allow more children and young 
people to be treated in the community. 

 By 2020/21, in-patient stays for CYP will only take place where clinically appropriate, 
with the minimum possible length of stay, as close to home as possible. 
Inappropriate use of beds in paediatric wards will be eliminated. 

 All in-patient units for CYP will move to be commissioned on a ‘place-basis’ by 
localities, and integrated into local pathways 

Table 6: Improving access to effective support achievements and commitments 

 

Page 49



26 

 

 

What we have done in Year 1 
(2015/16) 
 

Invested in a dedicated Children and 
Young People’s Community Eating 
Disorder Service  
 
Extension of CAMHS Crisis Service, 
with view to imminently moving to a 
24/7 service model; development of the 
new service specification 
 
Undertook a scoping exercise in 
relation to Intensive Home Treatment 
Service and securing funding to test a 
more integrated service model   
 
Sought to seek investment in a  
Parental Peer Support Network 
 

What we have achieved in Year 2 
(2016/17) 

 
Invested and embedded of enhanced 
Community Eating Disorder Service for 
Children and Young People and 
monitoring of access and waiting times.  

 Urgent cases are already being 
seen within 1 week.  

 Awareness raising and promotion 
with GPs  

 
Implemented the 24/7 children crisis 
assessment of treatment  service, which 
will interface with the developing ‘all age’ 
liaison service 
 
Piloted and undertook an interim 
evaluation of the Intensive Home 
Treatment Service 
 
Increased capacity to reduce CAMHS 
waiting time, particularly in regard to 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) 
assessment for a time limited time. 
 
Implement waiting time standards for early 
intervention  in psychosis 
 

What we will do in Year 3 (2017/18). 

We will further improve the community 
crisis response pathway and intensive 
home treatment services to reduce 
inpatient stays. 
 
Process improvement on the ASD 
pathway and implement a NICE 
compliant pathway  
 
Increased access from meeting 
around 25% of those with a 
diagnosable condition locally, based 
on current estimates, to at least 35%. 
 
Delivery of a new perinatal mental 
health support service across County 
Durham. 
 
We will consult on looking at 
expanding the Crisis and ESD 
services to staff in other areas and 
partners to provide development and 
training to staff. 
 

Waiting times for Specialist CAMHs 
treatment  

  Agree targets-  

 100% urgent cases within 24 
hours  

 95% triaged at CPE within 6 
weeks  

 95% seen by specialist team 
within 6 weeks  

 95% seen by anxiety and 
depression team within 6 
weeks  

 95% seen by ADHD team 
within 6 weeks  

 

 
15.1 What we commit to doing 

 
15.2 CAMHS Crisis 
The CCGs have commissioned a Mental Health Crisis & Liaison team based in County 
Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT), 7 days per week 24/7 and is currently 
working with Tees, Esk & Wear Valley Foundation Trust to further improve the community 
crisis response pathway. 
 
We will monitor progress in improving timeliness and quality of assessments, treatment and 
support; multiagency working; reducing the number of preventable admissions to hospital/ 
Place of Safety; improve patient experience 
 

         We will consult on looking at expanding the Crisis and ESD services to staff in other areas 
and partners to provide development and training, upskilling staff on the Eating disorder and 
Crisis awareness 
 
15.3 Eating Disorder Service 
The proposal for community Eating Disorder provision, as part of the 0-25 service, was to 
develop an integrated team embedded within the overall service model. The additional Local 

Page 50



27 

 

 

Transformation Plan investment has ensured that a full staff team is available to deliver 
against the national access standards, as well as ensuring a more proactive approach to 
identifying patients who are suspected as having an eating disorder. This development is 
beginning to address issues such as inequity in treatment options relating to psychological 
therapies, for example ensuring wider access to psychological therapies to all service users 
as opposed to only offering intervention to those with a more severe eating disorder. 
 
We will work with TEWV to understand how we would build capacity in the community eating 
disorder team in line with the Joint commissioning guidance from NHS England and the 
National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (NCCMH)14. We will consider options around 
enabling the team to provide development and training to staff in education, primary care, 
social services, paediatrics, and other agencies enhancing their skills and competencies to 
meet the emotional, psychological and social development needs of CYP with eating 
disorders to support early identification. 

 
15.4 Transition and integrated mental health and wellbeing  
The CCGs plans to deliver the primary care General Practice Forward View (2016) will be 
integrated in design to support transitional services for vulnerable ages and be a part of the 
prevention and early intervention pathway. Continuity of service for those transitioning from 
improved children and young people pathways to adult, or from inpatient or secure care 
pathways will be scoped as part of local Multispecialty Community Providers plans.  

 
15.5  Youth Offending  
Health and Justice Commissioners15 in Cumbria and North East are leading a project which is 
part of a national drive to improve collaborative commissioning. This will involve NHS H&J 
commissioners working together with local partners to coordinate commissioning activities 
more effectively. The project is focused on those children and young people who are in 
receipt of services from some or all of the following: 

 

 In the Youth Justice System, including in custody and detention; 

 Presenting at Sexual Assault Referral Centres; 

 Liaison and Diversion; 

 Welfare placements in the Children and Young People’s Secure Estate. 
 
 The CCGs will be working with partners from across Speech and Language Therapy, the 

Police, Youth offending teams, social care and CAMHS to ensure that the children and young 
people who are known to youth offending teams have appropriate screening and assessment 
to ensure their needs are identified and supported. The CCGs are currently waiting on the 
outcome of a bid to enable us to provide Consultant Child Psychologist expertise to improve 
assessment of, and intervention for, young people with Harmful Sexual Behaviour in the youth 
justice system, focussing on their mental health.  

 
15.6 Autism Spectrum disorder 
Waiting times for Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) diagnosis are unacceptably long across 
County Durham following a long-term increase in demand.  The assessment process is multi-
disciplinary (known as the Multi-agency Autism Assessment Team (MAAT)) and requires 
observational assessments which seek to reach a conclusion about why a child or young 
person acts in a certain way.  The pathway is managed by Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS 

                                                 
14 http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/workinpsychiatry/nccmh/niceclinicalguidelines.aspx 
15 https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/health-just/ 

Page 51



28 

 

 

Foundation Trust (TEWV) for both North Durham and DDES CCGs but with input from the 
Speech and Language Therapy service commissioned from North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust (NTHFT), Paediatric services from County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust (CDDFT) and Education services provided by Durham County Council. 
Referrals for ASD assessment are allocated an ASD Co-coordinator who is a clinician from 
TEWV.   
 
In 2016 NHS England funding (£256,000) was made available to address waiting times in 
CAMHS services across North Durham CCG and DDES CCG. Of this, £219,750 was 
allocated by the CCGs to the ASD diagnostic service. Targeted waiting time resource during 
2016/17 to improve waiting times for ASD diagnosis was successful in achieving objectives 
however it was acknowledged in advance that the time limited nature of the funding and lead 
time to implement whilst bringing about improvements from removing long waits would mean 
that these improvements could not be sustained. 
 
North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG are working together 
with Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHSFT and other participants in the pathway in a two-
pronged approach to tackle the issue.  One element of the work will focus on those currently 
on the waiting list; getting them assessed as soon as possible and a diagnosis formulated. 
The second element will focus on the longer term to ensure that the waiting times do not 
creep up again.  This will require all organisations involved to undertake some process 
improvement work on the pathway together.  The outcome of this will be presented to CCGs 
for decisions on implementation in early 2018. 

 

16.  Care for the most vulnerable 
  

 We will improve the experience and outcomes for the most vulnerable and disadvantaged 
children, ensuring they are adequately supported at key transition points. 

 
 County Durham CAMHS includes a range of specialist services designed to support 

vulnerable children and young people. Local priorities include: 
 

 Developing appropriate bespoke care pathways that incorporate models of effective, 
evidence-based intervention for vulnerable young people exhibiting behaviours that 
challenge; 

 Optimising the model of specialist care and support for vulnerable young people,  

 Particularly those in transition between services. 
 

 Table 7: Caring for the most vulnerable achievements and commitments 

 
What we have done in Year 1 
(2015/16) 

 
Commissioned Investing in Children (IiC) 
to undertake targeted engagement work 
with hard to reach groups including Looked 
After Children and Gypsy, Roma Travellers 
(GRT0 
 
Further analysis of the reasons for Do Not 
Attends (DNA). 
 
Discussions with children and young 
people on finding solutions to DNA issues. 

What we have done in Year 2 
(2016/17) 

 
Inputted into the regional Learning 
Disabilities model for children and 
transitions  
 
Implementation of the Care and 
Treatment Reviews for children 
and young people with Learning 
Disabilities, which included 
commissioning of evidence based 
interventions 
 

What we will do in Year 3 
(2017/18)  

 
Implementation of collaborative 
commissioning plans with NHS  
England’s specialist commissioning 
team for children and young people 
with complex needs.  
 
CAMHS Transition Pathway – 
Support and monitor 
implementation of the CQUIN to 
improve transition or discharge for 
young people reaching adulthood 

Page 52



29 

 

 

Supported children and young 
people requiring individual 
continuing care packages 
 
Develop collaborative 
commissioning plans with NHS 
England’s specialist 
commissioning team for children 
and young people with complex 
needs 
 
Through the Local Safeguard 
Children’s Board: 
Training rolled out to GPs to aid 
recognition and response to self-
harm 
 
Universal training package to 
schools on self-harm risk 
identification and response 
 
Review of coding in primary care 
and secondary health services 
 
Development of pathways 
including links between schools 
and GPs 
 
Implemented the regional Learning 
Disability Transformation 
Programme 

 
Safe place and improved Crisis 
Assessment facilities in place 
across Durham. 
 
Increase the uptake of personal 
budgets by families of children with 
mental health disorders by from a 
2017 base line. 

 
16.1 Implementation of the Care and Treatment Reviews (CTR) for children and young 
people with Learning Disabilities, which included commissioning of evidence based 
interventions.  
 
CTRs were developed as part of NHS England’s commitment to improving the care of people 
with learning disabilities, autism or both in England with the aim of reducing admissions and 
unnecessarily lengthy stays in hospitals and reducing health inequalities.  
 
People with learning disabilities, autism or both have a right to CTRs if they are in hospital for 
a mental health problem or behaviour that challenges services. They and their families need 
to know they can ask for one if they need one, or if they haven’t been offered one. 
Commissioners have said it gives them a lot of insight into the person they commission 
services for. Care and Treatment Reviews are designed around the person and their person 
centred plan.  
 
The keys changes in the policy for Care and Treatment Review policy introduced in 2017: 

 Greater focus on the quality of CTRs and the values which underpin them 

 New measurable national standards by which CTRs are to be carried out 

 Clearer emphasis that CTRs are for people with autism, as well as for people with 
learning disabilities 

 A separate Policy Annex on  Care and Treatment Reviews for children and young 
people and a change of name to Care, Education and Treatment Reviews, 
(CETRs) to ensure the young person’s learning needs are also considered, working 
with key people from education 

 Changes in the frequency of CTRs to:  
o Every six months for people in non-secure hospitals 

Page 53



30 

 

 

o Every twelve months for people in secure hospitals 
o Every three months for children and young people in hospital 
o Post-admission CTRs take place within four weeks of admission other than 

for children where this is within two weeks of admission 
o The right to request a CTR in community and inpatient settings 

 CTR panel to follow new key lines of enquiry template 

 Greater emphasis on evidencing recommendations 

 Clearer responsibilities and checklist for providers to gather the evidence required 
in advance and actively to support the process before, during and after a CTR 

 Recommendations in CTR reports to name people responsible for carrying out 
each action by a given date, with a responsibility for commissioners to oversee a 
process of checking, resolving difficulties and ensuring that the person and their 
family is aware of progress 

 Two new resources for the person having a review: one providing all the 
information needed in one booklet; the other booklet providing new tools such as a 
CTR consent form, CTR planning document, CTR feedback form and a template to 
support the person to record key actions to be carried out in the way they find most 
helpful 

 New resource for experts by experience 
 

Strategic links are now well developed across the 0-25 MH Programme16 and Transforming 
Care Programme17 in recognition of the synergy between the two.  
CTR Process Improvements/Progress:  

 A Standard Operating Procedure has been developed to underpin the CTR 
process. 

 A clear referral and tracking process in in place. 

 SEND co-ordinator has started to receive EHCPs: these are now being placed on 
care notes and tracked in the database 

 

16.2 What we commit to doing 
 

16.3   Transition 
Will we work with our CAMHS provider on the Transition Pathway by ensuring a local 
transition CQUIN is in place and effectively delivered to improve transition or discharge for 
young people reaching adulthood to achieve continuity of care through systematic client-
centred robust and timely multi-agency planning and co-ordination. 
 
We will do this by working with our provider to improve our current joint agency transition 
planning with the three following components of the CQUIN: 

1. A case note audit in order to assess the extent of Joint-Agency Transition 
Planning; and  

2. a survey of young people’s transition experiences ahead of the point of 
transition (Pre-Transition / Discharge Readiness); and  

3. a survey of young people’s transition experiences after the point of transition 
(Post-Transition Experience).  

 

By March 2018, we will have a system that will deliver, at least 6 months before transitioning:  

                                                 
16 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590242/Evaluation_of_the_MH_services_and_schools_link_pilots-
RR.pdf 
17 https://www.england.nhs.uk/learning-disabilities/care/ 

Page 54



31 

 

 

 Joint meeting to plan;  

 Jointly agreed transition plan with personal transition goals;  

 A named and contactable transition key worker  
 
16.4 Personal Budgets for Children and Young People 
Personal budgets are a way to improve outcomes by giving people more choice and control 
over the care they receive. They focus on personalised care and support planning, and let 
people choose how to meet their healthcare needs in different ways. Personal budgets can be 
managed in three ways: a direct payment, a third party budget or a notional budget. 

 
The ‘right to have’ a personal health budget currently applies both to young adults and 
children who are eligible for NHS Continuing Healthcare. 
 
16.5 Implementation of collaborative commissioning  
Collaborative commissioning plans with NHS England Specialised Commissioning will be 
continue to be developed these plans include the further development of integrated pathways 
supporting crisis, admission prevention and safe discharge. A joined up approach with Health 
and Justice Commissioners will also be established. 
 
16.6 Specialist Commissioned services for SEND  
The commissioning team work closely with the SEND teams and with stakeholders to ensure 
that the services being commissioned meet the needs and required outcomes of all those with 
a special educational need or disability.  
 
A range of services are commissioned, from countywide services such as domiciliary care 
services to individual placements in schools/colleges. An up to date list of all of these services 
is available on the Local Authority Local Offer. 
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page?localofferchannel=0 

 
17  Accountability and transparency  
 

 In line with the aspirations and principles set out in Future in Mind, we have driven 
improvements in the delivery of care and standards of performance to ensure we have a 
much better understanding of how to get the best outcomes for children, young people and 
families/carers and value from our investment.  

 
 Locally we have: 
 

A Children and Young People’s Mental Health Transformation Plan Group for County Durham 
has been established to ensure improvements in children and young people’s mental health 
are delivered in line with the aspirations of the Transformation Plan and the priorities identified 
in the CD MH Strategy. An LTP tracker has been developed and shows the performance 
monitoring and risks. This is achieved through a partnership approach bringing together 
commissioners across the system (CCGs, Children’s Services, adult’s services, Public Health 
and NHS England) to oversee the delivery, monitoring and on-going development of the Local 
Transformation Plan. The Children and Young People’s Mental Health Transformation Plan 
Group (all providers and parent representatives) will oversee delivery and hold stakeholders 
to account of the LTP deliverables. 
 

Page 55

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page?localofferchannel=0


32 

 

 

For further transparency the CCGs are collaboratively working with providers to deliver details 
of their contracts by service line (in accordance with the requirements of the 5YFVMH) and 
activity throughout 2017/18 so that commissioners can use it to deliver different and 
innovative approaches to commissioning. 

Table 8: Accountability and transparency achievements and commitments 

 
What we have done in Year 1 
(2015/16) 

 
Mental health governance structure 
agreed by Health and Wellbeing 
Board 
 
Multi-agency CYP Mental Health, 
Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience 
Group established with a number of 
working groups 
 
Engagement with children and 
young people about the plan and 
local priorities 
 

What we have done in Year 2 
(2016/17) 

 
Implementation of the refreshed 
engagement and communication plans 
 
Developed an all age County Durham 
Mental Health Strategy. 
 
Supported implementation of the 
National Mental Health Services Data 
Set (MHSDS) to establish a baseline so 
that changes in services can be 
assessed; this will support transparency  
 
Dedicated project support to ensure 
coordination of the plan and drive 
through transformational change 
 
Establish a local area delivery group 
operationally responsible for co-
ordinating the implementation plan and 
monitoring performance against the 
plan; this will be chaired by lead CCG;  
 
Ensure a coordinated approach to the 
development of a multi-agency 
pathway/new model of integrated 
service delivery to deliver better 
outcomes for children and young people 
and their families/carers; 
 
We engaged with children, young 
people, parents and carers and other 
key stakeholders on the ongoing 
development, delivery and review of this 
plan; 
 
Developed clear reporting and data 
collection of key indicators; including 
access and waiting times; 
 
Publish an annual report setting out key 
achievements, areas for improvement 
and further action required 

What we will deliver in Year 3 
(2017/18)  

 
Oversight and monitoring of 
delivery of the annual refresh of 
the plan 
 
A streamlining of governance for 
mental health 
 
development and implementation 
of a single performance and 
outcomes framework 
 
Peer review and challenge of the 
implementation progress, 
spending and impact of 
transformation ambitions with 
local transformation partners. 
 

 

18.  Workforce Development 
 

 It is recognised that recruiting into mental health roles in County Durham can be challenging 
but by investing in the Universal and Early Help workforce we aim to ensure that Children and 
Young People receive the support they need at the earliest opportunity and the workforce has 
the skills and knowledge needed.  
 
This work theme also promotes opportunities to work across County Durham and the 
Sustainability Transformation Plan footprint to build, train and retain the workforce. 

Page 56



33 

 

 

 
We will continue to train and develop our local workforce to ensure we have staff with the right 
mix of knowledge, skills and competencies to respond to needs of children and young people 
and their families. As part of our workforce development plan, we will explore new ways of 
working and the development of new roles within CAMHS. Recruitment and retention is a 
significant challenge and we need to recruit more people into the CAMHS workforce offering 
more flexible entry routes and build more rewarding careers to ensure retention of staff. To 
support the new models of care we will promote stronger leadership, management and 
commissioning and sustain these changes through and beyond the life of the plan. 

 
 Locally we will: 

 

 Offer training in universal settings including Primary Care (via Primary Mental Health 
Workers); 

 Ensure a highly skilled workforce by working with the existing CYP IAPT programme to 
deliver post-graduate training in specific therapies, leading organisational change and 
supervision in existing therapeutic intervention and whole-team development; 

 Develop a detailed workforce plan to address the skills gap in staff working with children, 
young people and their family/carers. 

 Allow services to take up the offer of training places without the need for backfill roles. 

 Increase capacity in services by increasing the workforce within the partnerships.  

 To build capacity within the North East of skilled practitioners and clinicians who could be 
employed to backfill future training roles (if the new workforce were not taken on by the 
employing partnership).  
 

  Table 9: Workforce achievements and commitments 

 
What we have done in Year 1 
(2015/16) 

 
Primary Mental Health Workers have 
offered a number of sessions to a 
range of professionals including GPs 
and Practice Nurses 
 
Supported backfill for staff 
participating in courses as part of the 
CYP IAPT programme 
 

What we have achieved in  Year 2 
(2016/17) 

 
We invested in training existing staff 
through the CYP IAPT training programme, 
including sending new staff through the 
training courses and supervision 
 
Training opportunities have been 
advertised widely through appropriate 
networks and partnerships and provider 
staffing backfill costs are supported as per 
the national investment 
 
0 – 19 team have been trained in perinatal 
mental health and Solihull approaches 

What we will do in Year 3 
(2017/18) 
 

Implementation of the joint agency 
workforce plan and strategy as part 
of the prevention and early 
intervention pathway work. 
 
Development of joint agency plans, 
ensuring the continuing professional 
development of exiting staff 
 
Extending CYP IAPT principles to 
wider workforce in contact with CYP; 
using outcome measures in their 
delivery 
 
Children’s Professional Workforce 
Framework will be developed 

 
 

18.1   What we commit to doing 
A workforce development strategy is in production as part of our prevention and early 
intervention pathway work. We are working with our CAMHS provider to establish activity and 
workforce trajectories as part of our local transformation plan refresh. The training 
opportunities have been advertised widely through appropriate networks and partnerships and 

Page 57



34 

 

 

provider staffing backfill costs are supported as per the national investment. We are engaged 
in the IAPTS Collaborative. 

 
The CCG intends to work in partnership with Public Health and Children’s Services locally, to 
develop a multi-agency workforce plan in 2017/18 using a suitable Dynamic Workforce 
Planning Tool.  This work has started with the scoping and mapping of skills and expertise 
already within the County as part of the CYP IAPT work (understanding workforce numbers, 
skills and expertise) and also through the planned training for frontline staff and potentially 
other groups. The Workforce Plan will be developed to ensure best practice will be delivered 
as well as a focus on prevention and health promotion. 

 
18.2  Children’s Professional Workforce Framework  
In County Durham we will develop a Children’s Professional Workforce Framework, it will be 
developed, to ensure that all practitioners and managers who come into contact with children, 
young people and their families have a clear understanding of their role and responsibility in 
prevention and early help. We will ensure that the work undertaken with our community is 
professional - thorough, clearly thought out and informed by evidenced based practice. 
Practitioners will be offered the opportunity to reflect on their practice through supervision and 
professional development.  
 
The Framework will be based on the premise that we want to offer the right help at the right 
time and we will do this by recognising and understanding the continuum of need presented 
by children and young people and their families. 
 
18.3 Children and Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(CYP IAPT) Programme 
County Durham has been involved in the national Children and Young People’s Improving 
Access to Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) service transformation programme since 
2012.  

 
County Durham is a partner for the Children and Young People’s Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) programme in North East, Humber and Yorkshire 
Collaborative which includes quarterly updates and annual self-assessment for each 
partnership against the values and standards criteria ‘Delivering With, Delivering Well’ 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/delvr-with-delvrng-well.pdf 

 

 We will continue to build capacity and capability across the system through participation in the 
CYP IAPT workforce capacity programme: 

 Continue to support and develop staff already trained by the programme across 
County Durham and Darlington. 

 Train more existing and new staff members. 

 Address the issues around lack of supervision for trainees due to lack of backfill for 
potential supervisors 

 Continue to explore and establish the role of the Psychological Wellbeing Practitioner. 
 

The national offer this year (known as Wave 7 as it’s nationally the 7th cohort of training to be 
delivered) includes continued access to training and salary support for staff working in 
organisations delivering mental health interventions to children and young people in evidence 
based psychological therapies and associated service transformation training.  
 

Page 58

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/delvr-with-delvrng-well.pdf


35 

 

 

Traininsdg requests are currently being submitted, details are below. 
 

Table 10: Training requests by TEWV 

 
Curriculum  No. of training 

days at HEI 
No. of days of relevant 
clinical practice  

No. of backfilled 
places requested 

New CYP IAPT courses       

Combination therapy curriculum 45 105   

Evidence Based Counselling Practice (EBCP) 24 11   

0-5's curriculum 60 90   

LD and ASD dip - Evidence based 
psychological therapies for children and 
young people with autism spectrum disorder 
and/or learning disability 

60 90   

Existing CYP IAPT courses       

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) 60 90 3 

Enhanced Evidence Based Practice (EEBP) 15 40 hours 2 

Supervisors Training      2  

Service Leads Training     2 

 

Table 11: Breakdown by service 

    
Partnership  Organisation name Type of organisation CBT 

Therapist 
Service 
Leads 

EEBP 

County 
Durham 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
FT - Easington CAMHS 

NHS LD & MH Foundation 
Trust 1 

 
1 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
FT - South Durham CAMHS 

NHS LD & MH Foundation 
Trust 1 

2 
1 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
FT - North Durham CAMHS 

NHS LD & MH Foundation 
Trust 1 

 
  

Total   3 2 2 

Darlington TEWV (Durham & Darlington 
CYPS Community Eating 
Disorders Team) 

NHS MH & LD Foundation 
Trust 

 

 

1 

Total    1 

 
19.  Our Future plans 

 

In 2015/16 we developed our original five year high level plan to capture the work necessary 
to truly transform Children and Young Peoples mental health. In addition, the Five Year 
Forward View included clear requirements for Commissioners and CCG’s. County Durham’s 
forward plans capture the work outlined in both publications to ensure that we continue to 
make progress to transform Children and Young people’s mental health services. 

Table 12: Future plans 

 

2018/19 2019/20 

Proposed work Measurement/link Proposed work Measurement/Link 

Page 59



36 

 

 

Accountability & 
Transparency  

Routinely collect meaningful 

data, outcomes, waiting 

times, referral numbers etc. 

across the whole CAMHS 

partnership 

Use all available levers (SLA, CRM) 

to ensure data/info is forthcoming 

Formalise sharing arrangements 

Interrogate data to inform on 

Neurodevelopmental 

Pathway 

To have a fully compliant 
neurodevelopmental pathway 
0-25 service, that meets all 
core standards and where 
possible NICE guidance. 
Baseline current services vs 
new model. Develop robust 
business cases for assured 
long term/recurrent 
investment. Develop 
contractual documentation 
including Service Specs & 
KPI’s 

Service fully compliant 
across all provision  
Linked to STP 

Develop Workforce 
EHWB  

Ensure a professionally 

trained workforce, able to 

support. EHWB, across all 

educational establishments 

for children and young adults 

Use intelligence gained and the 

soon to be completed training audit 

to identify/procure appropriate 

training needs 

Workforce 

Mental health workforces are 

skilled to support the needs 

of all CYP in County Durham. 

Develop a long term. 
Workforce/training strategy 
agreed across all partners 

Numbers of 

people/organisations trained 

Impact i.e. reduced referrals, 

improved resilience 

Strategic Direction  

Implement the year on year 
trajectories for workforce and 
access as outlined in FYFV 
and FiM. Continue to support 
the IAPT collaborative. 
Develop further training 
programmes, based on 
intelligence from audits, 
identify backfill where 
required. Ensure all courses 
are formerly evaluated 
(Gather data on courses 
attended, skills gained 
measured against NICE 
Concordat) 

Numbers trained   

Numbers recruited 

Number of pathways fully compliant 

to deliver against NICE 

recommendations 

Formal evaluations completed 

Co-Commissioning 

Reduce health inequalities 

through better systems: Co-

production & Joint 

commissioning of emotional 

wellbeing services. 

Develop emotional wellbeing 
and mental health strategy for 
0 to 25. Develop formal 
documentation for service 
contracts (Specifications, 
quality metrics and KPI’s) 
Continue 
engagement/consultation 
Process. 

Service Specs in place 
and included in contracts 
Quality metrics agreed 
KPI’s agreed 

In patient Care 

Reduce LOS, by extending 
the choice of treatments to 
support patients remaining in 
community treatment, as 
close to home as possible 
including the development of 
appropriate day care. 

Build relationships with Accountable 

care partnership. 

Align ACP and FiM agenda a for 

recovery centre approach 

   

CYP Mental Health 

Continue to explore and 
understand the EHWB needs 
of CYP in County Durham as 
demographics change. 
Data interrogation and 

analysis  

Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment 

Co-production. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
Improved outcomes for CYP, 

including educational attainment 

   

Maintain co-production 
arrangements and joint 
working 

Agreed Memorandum of 

understanding 

Robust TOR 

Accurate reporting  

Agreed pooled budget 

Pooled budget published   

Page 60



37 

 

 

 
20.  Performance; “Measuring Success” 

 

The bullet points below are taken from the original Transformation plan with updates in the 
sub-bullets to demonstrate how we have progressed in delivery against these areas: 

 

 A performance framework has been developed to support implementation of this 

transformation plan; 

o Now developed and used as the LTP Tracker – Annex 2  
o The framework has been developed and is taken for appraisal to the Mental Health 

Partnership Board & Health & Wellbeing Board18  

 Involvement and feedback from children, young people and their families on 

experience of services will be reviewed; 

o Engagement events have been planned in and are currently underway. 
 

Performance metrics are developed against each action on the plan as they are initiated.  This 
enables the CYP Mental Health Transformation group to monitor progress against delivery of 
each action.  Delivery of the plan forms part of the CCG assurance process required for NHS 
England. 

 
Indicators include, but are not limited to: 

 

 Process outcomes – activity, waiting times; 

 Evidence based routine outcome measures showing improvements in emotional 
wellbeing of children and young people receiving services; 

 Children and young people, parent/carer experience of services; 

 Admissions for self-harm among young people; 

 In-patient care admissions/occupied bed days. 
 

 Anticipated national developments in data collection for monitoring will be used to monitor 
delivery against local CAMHS services as well as core contractual requirements. This 
includes waiting times targets and the development of indicators from the Mental Health 
Service Data Set (MHSDS) – TEWV provide data to the MHSDS. The vision is that all 
services will input into the MHSDS including both statutory and voluntary sector. 

 
Measurable key performance indicators will be agreed to enable monitoring of progress and 
demonstrate improved outcomes. These are detailed in the CAMHS Assurance Data 
Collection Tracker (Annex 3 of the submission to NHS England), and will form part of the 
assurance process required by NHS England.  The tracker is submitted to NHS England on 
a quarterly basis.   

21.  Engagement and Partnership working  
 

 A co-ordinated commissioning approach is required to deliver this transformational shift in 
service delivery.  Consequently, the CCGs, Local Authority and both statutory and voluntary 
sector providers are working closely together to deliver the cultural change required to 
achieve the vision led by the children and young people in the area.  This includes, where 
possible, joint governance arrangements and joint oversight groups. 

                                                 
18 http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8543/Health-and-Wellbeing-Board 

Page 61



38 

 

 

 
 The views, opinions and ideas of children, young people, their families and carers are integral 

to the transformation of CAMHS services in County Durham.  
 
 A communication and engagement plan has been developed and is in implementation to help 

us understand what our children and young people need from services.  The information 
gathered was used to define our Local Transformation Plan and ensure that we continue to 
listen and respond to the views of children, young people and their parents/carers. Over the 
past year we have developed our communications in order to keep stakeholders informed and 
engaged in the transformation plan. To ensure coherent and consistent communication we will 
develop a joint communication plan between the CCGs and Durham County Council for 
Future in Mind.  
  

 During August – October 2016, over 400 young people (as well as some parents and carers) 
contributed to the review of the plan across more than 30 events led by Investing in Children. 

 
 The purpose of this period of engagement, one year into the delivery of the plan, was to go 

back to young people across the area to find out their views and perceptions of metal health 
services locally. For those that it was relevant to, we were also particularly keen to understand 
if they felt progress had been made in the previous year since the original launch of the above 
transformation plan.  

 It also highlighted the following key themes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 The feedback received from this work mirrors the themes from the initial engagement and 

confirms that the investments and improvements detailed within the plan are still relevant to 
the children, young people, parents and carers in County Durham. 

 

Trust & 
Confidentiality 

Young people want to talk to 
someone they can trust and 
someone who will respect 

their confidentiality 

(which would only 

Access to 
Information 

Better promotion of the support 
and advice that is available to 
children and young people and 

their families. 
 

 
Lived experience 
The opportunity to speak to 
someone they can relate to 
who has been through what 

they have and has “come out 
the other side”. 

 

 
Education 

Help people to understand 
and accept what someone 

with mental health problems 
may be going through to help 

tackle stigma and 
discrimination 

 

Choice 
To be able to access 

information, advice and 
support though a range 

of different way 

Page 62



39 

 

 

22.  Digital 
 

  Children and young people and many parents and carers are digitally literate and have told 
us they wanted services to make better use of digital technology. For us to develop this 
effectively, we need to ensure that our work is informed by the views and preferences of 
children and young people. Young people have said they like websites that have in depth 
resources on conditions and treatments and they would like to be able to talk on line to a 
professional if they knew it was a safe and confidential site/portal. We are looking at a range 
of options working with Investing In Children to drive forward the use of digital technology to 
ensure the digital resources will be used and will give confidence to the children and young 
people in the advice and guidance they are receiving is quality assured within County 
Durham. 

  
23.  Management of risks in delivery of Transformation Plan  

 

The key risk to delivery of the Transformation Plan for 17/18 sits with workforce development 
and the ability to recruit to the necessary posts in order to make an immediate impact and 
deliver on our challenging KPIs set out in our tracker.  
 
This is a particular risk when we know that many CAMHS services will be looking to recruit the 
same staff over the next few years as plans are assured.  
 
We are already working closely with TEWV service to effectively mitigate risk as far as 
possible.  

 
23.1 Mitigating actions 

 Fast track the County Wide Workforce Strategy  

 Development of the Professionals Workforce Framework 

 Workforce Audit 
 

If there is substantial delay in the development of a workforce strategy this could impact on 
the deliverability of KPIs, waiting times.  

 
The service will ensure the commissioners are frequently updated on recruitment progress 
and any unforeseen delays and this in turn will be reported up to the Children’s Mental Health 
and Emotional Well Being Advisory Group.  

 
23.2 Work with partners across the STP footprint  
Across the STP footprint Children’s Commissioners regularly come together to discuss 
opportunities for collaborative working. Opportunities for developing innovative solutions and 
workforce developments strategies will be discussed and explored within this forum.  

24.  Baseline access, waiting time and workforce  
 

 There is one main NHS provider for children and young people in County Durham. Tees, 
Esk and Wear Valleys (TEWV) NHS Foundation Trust provide Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and Eating Disorder Services. 

 
 Continuing the transparency demonstrated in the initial plan, we have added the referral 

information for 2015/16 into the table below to demonstrate the trend in increased referrals 

Page 63



40 

 

 

and from 2016/17 we also added attended contacts, discharges and caseloads: 

Table 13: CAMHS referrals by CCG 

 

Referrals North Durham CCG DDES CCG 

 2016/17 2016/17 

Community Teams  

Caseload 1492 1862 

Total attended - direct 
contacts 

22192 31454 

Total Discharges 3158 4414 

  

Eating Disorders  

Caseload 15 13 

Total attended - direct 
contacts 

204 189 

Total Discharges 57 88 

   

Crisis  

Caseload 7 8 

Total attended - direct 
contacts 

911 705 

Total Discharges  245 295 

Total Referrals 79 65 

   

Learning Disabilities – 
(CAMHS) 

 

Caseload 122 224 

Total attended - direct 
contacts 

1530 2760 

Total Discharges 95 151 

   

Looked After Children (LAC) 
- (CAMHS) 

 

Caseload - 8 

Total attended - direct 
contacts 

- 64 

Total Discharges - 10 

       

24.1 CAMHS activity  

 2016/17 7572 referrals were received  

 This an increase of referrals since 2014 ((2014/15 4090 referrals were received) 

 The highest numbers of referrals were received from GP’s - 2516 received. 

 similar proportions of males (50%) and females (50%) are in contact with the service  

 
Table 14: CAMHS referrals by CCG 

 

Page 64



41 

 

 

 DDES CCG North Durham CCG 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Total referrals 2,316 2,511 3,306 
 
  4414 
 
 

 

1,809 2,521 2,485 
 

3158 

 
Accepted referrals 2,281 2,492 3,302 1862 

 

1,744 2,492 2,484 1492 

 
Non accepted 

(i.e. re-directed) 
35 19 <5 

 

2252 65 29 <5 1666 

 

 

24.2 Referral Reason  
The referral reasons with the highest number of referrals to the CAMHS team were for 
behavioural problems, self-harm and anxiety. Attempted suicide has doubled in the number of 
referrals since 2014/15, and suicide risk has increased by 65%, it should be noted that this 
may have been a consequence of a serious incident in the area in 2015/16.  
 
24.3 Referral Outcome  

 There were 7572 eligible referrals, with most 3654 eligible referrals referred to the TEWV 
core team routine. 51.7% of referrals were deemed ineligible for CAMHS. The significant 
increase in overall referrals and ineligible referrals is following the introduction of single 
point of access service (SPA) for referrals into child and adolescent mental health which 
is triaging CYP more quickly to the most appropriate service for them creating an leaner 
more efficient service. 

 

 24.3 Waiting times 

 The CCGs have worked with TEWV to reduce waiting times against a set target. 
Contractual mechanisms including a CQUIN have been augmented by internal provider 
investment of resources. Excellent progress was made since 2014 and has continued to 
be made. A target of 90% of all referrals to begin treatment within 12 weeks and 0% to 
begin treatment within 9 weeks of referral by the end of Quarter 4 of 17/18 has been set. 

Table 15: CAMHS waiting times by CCG 

 
 CCG 2016/17 

position 

Q2 2016/17 Target 

Percentage of patients who 
attended a first appointment 
within  9 weeks of external 
referral – Children and Young 
People Services 

DDES CCG 86% 93.4% 90% 

 
North Durham 
CCG 

 
86% 89.8% 

 
90% 

 

 Table 15 above shows that both CCGs remain below the 90% target for patients who have 
attended their first treatment within 9 weeks of external referral.   

 

The tables below show the workforce in the CAMHS teams in Durham (split by CCG).  
The Crisis and Liaison, CAMHS Tier 3, 2 and the Early Intervention in Psychosis team 
cover Durham and Darlington. 

Table 16: CAMHS workforce 

 

Page 65



42 

 

 

 
 

 
 24.4  Community Eating Disorder Service 
 Table 16 above shows the balance of the workforce across a number of professions and 

grades which make up the Eating Disorders team.  The data reflects the position in County 
Durham and Darlington as the provider does not allocate staff by CCG area. 

 
In partnership with Durham County Council we continue to forge relationships to ensure that 
the CEDS-CYP has the appropriate capacity and skill-mix to meet the Access and Waiting 
Time Standard. The current specification which Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Trust is 
compliant with NICE-concordant treatment and care via a trained, appropriately supervised and 
supported team. 
 
 Work is ongoing to understand the current staffing levels within the CAMHS Community 
Teams to understand capacity in general teams to enhance the already established 
community eating disorder services in line with the new guidance and if any capacity is 
freed up by the community teams how can it be redeployed to improve crisis and self-harm 
services. 

 
 The funding allocation for Eating Disorders is expected to free up some resource and this 

will be taken into account. The Community Eating Disorder Service is currently 
commissioned by three CCGs, North Durham, DDES and Darlington. 

 

Table 17: Referrals into the Community Eating Disorder Service 

 
 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Total referrals 45 62 92 145 

Accepted referrals 45 58 92 28 

Non accepted (i.e. re-directed) 0 <5 0 117 

 

 

WTE WTE  WTE

Team Profession County 

Durham and 

Darlington

DDES CCG North 

Durham 

CCG

B3 Admin & Clerical 0.00 0.00 0.00

B4 Admin & Clerical 1.00 0.48 0.37

B3 Unqualified Nurse 0.00 0.00 0.00

B6 Qualified Nurse 11.44 5.45 4.27

B7 Qualified Nurse 1.00 0.48 0.37

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B8b Psychologist 0.00 0.00 0.00

Grand Total 13.44 6.41 5.01

WTE WTE WTE

Team Profession County 

Durham and 

Darlington

DDES CCG North 

Durham 

CCG

Administrative And Clerical B3 Admin & Clerical 1.00 0.48 0.37

Medical And Dental Consultant 0.60 0.29 0.22

B4 Unqualified Nurse 2.00 0.95 0.75

B5 Qualified Nurse 0.00 0.00 0.00

B6 Qualified Nurse 3.00 1.43 1.12

B7 Nurse Manager 1.00 0.48 0.37

B7 Qualified Nurse 1.00 0.48 0.37

B5 Dietitian 1.00 0.48 0.37

B6 Dietitian 1.00 0.48 0.37

B7 Dietitian 0.00 0.00 0.00

B7 Psychologist 0.00 0.00 0.00

B8a Psychologist 1.00 0.48 0.37

B8c Psychologist 0.00 0.00 0.00

Eating Disorder Service

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting

CAMHS Crisis Service 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting

Administrative And Clerical

Page 66



43 

 

 

 

 Activity in the Eating Disorders service has seen a dramatic increase in 2014/15 from 
previous years.  This was anticipated following a change in referral guidelines.  The 
increase from 2014/15 to 2015/16 is due to an increase in capacity following increased 
investment in the service.   

 
Table 18: County Durham and Darlington Eating Disorder Service – access and waiting times standards 

 

  Quarter 2, 2017/18 

Percentage of patients seen within 4 weeks of 
referral 

North Durham CCG 50% 

DDES CCG 75% 

Percentage of patients seen within 1 week of 
referral 

North Durham CCG 100% 

DDES CCG 100% 

 

 A national measurement against the targets shown in Table 18 started in April 2017.  
Data is currently being collected in order to form a baseline from which improvements 
can be accurately measured.  The service is routinely performing well and we would 
expect this to continue. Qtr 2 is not a true reflection of the overall performance of the 
service; the low percentages shown were fully and satisfactorily investigated through the 
contract management route 

Table 19: County Durham and Darlington IHT and CAMHS Targeted workforce 

 

 

WTE

D&D IHT funded from NHSE to 31 

March 2017 B7 Nurse Manager 1.00

B6 Qualified Nurse 2.86

B5 Qualified Nurse 2.86

B3 Unqualified Nurse 2.86

B4 Admin & Clerical 0.13

B3 Admin & Clerical 0.80

Grand Total 10.51

WTE WTE WTE

Team Profession County 

Durham & 

Darlington

DDES CCG North 

Durham 

CCG

Administrative And Clerical B2 Admin & Clerical 4.00 1.00 5.00

B3 Admin & Clerical 2.87 2.80 5.67

B4 Admin & Clerical 4.00 5.00 9.00

Medical And Dental Associate Specialist 0.80 1.00 1.80

Consultant 3.70 2.60 6.30

Staff Grade Practitioner 0.00 0.70 0.70

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B4 Unqualified Nurse 1.00 2.00 3.00

B5 Qualified Nurse 2.00 1.00 3.00

B6 Nurse Manager 1.00 1.00 2.00

B6 Qualified Nurse 7.87 2.91 10.78

B7 Nurse Manager 2.00 1.00 3.00

B7 Qualified Nurse 3.50 4.50 8.00

B8a Nurse Consultant 0.00 1.00 1.00

B4 Psychologist 0.00 1.00 1.00

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B6 Psychologist 0.00 2.00 2.00

B7 Psychologist 2.00 1.00 3.00

B8a Psychologist 2.10 2.15 4.25

B8c Psychologist 2.60 0.50 3.10

Grand Total 39.44 33.16 72.60

WTE WTE WTE

Team Professiom DDES CCG

North 

Durham CCG

County 

Durham & 

Darlington

Administrative And Clerical B3 Admin & Clerical 0.30 0.24 0.54

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B3 Unqualified Nurse 0.54 0.42 0.96

B4 Unqualified Nurse 0.48 0.37 0.85

B6 Qualified Nurse 8.45 6.61 15.06

B7 Qualified Nurse 0.95 0.75 1.70

Grand Total 10.72 8.39 19.11

WTE WTE WTE

Team Profession DDES CCG

North 

Durham CCG

County 

Durham & 

Darlington

Allied Health Professionals B7 Speech Therapist 0.33 0.26 0.59

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B8c Psychologist 0.48 0.37 0.85

Grand Total 0.81 0.63 1.44

Note - Single point of access and locality targeted teams prorated to CCG

Note - shared locality resource prorated to CCG

CHILD AND YP - TIER 3

CHILD AND YP D AND D AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS

Targeted Team

CAMHS CHILD AND YP - TIER 2

IHT

CAMHS Tier 3

Page 67



44 

 

 

 

24.5  Early intervention in Psychosis Service 
 County Durham’s EIP service is provided by TEWV and the CYP element sits with Adult 
Services. It is well reported that County Durham has good working relationship between 
CAMHS and Adult Services regarding EIP; the services have well established processes in 
place for joint NICE compliant assessment and a joint pathway that meets standards. Adult 
services are leading the work to make sure we continue to meet standards and waiting times. 

 
Early Intervention in Psychosis (14 years plus) - The CCG has already committed the 
nationally defined level of funding to the Service Provider in anticipation of the introduction of 
new access standards. National guidance, workforce requirements and gaps in delivering 
NICE concordant care are being collated to ensure national requirements are met from 
Quarter 4 2015/16. TEWV have undertaken an activity analysis to enable the workforce 
requirements to be understood. Details are below table 20 and 21. 

 
Table 20: Early intervention in Psychosis Service 

 

  
 

Table 21: EIP Workforce and Data 

    

    

CCGs 
Referrals 

2016/17 

Caseload at 

31/03/2017 

Contacts 

2016/17 

NHS DURHAM DALES, EASINGTON AND SEDGEFIELD 

CCG 134 70 1668 

NHS NORTH DURHAM CCG 98 30 1292 

Total 232 100 2960 

 

 

 

County Durham and 

Darlington

North 

Durham

South 

Durham & 

Dton

County 

Durham & 

Darlington

North 

Durham

South 

Durham 

& Dton

County 

Durham 

& 

North 

Durham

South 

Durham 

& Dton

County 

Durham & 

Darlington

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget

WTE 

Budget
Consultant 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00

Associate Specialist 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Band 7 Nurse Manager 1.00 1.00 2.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 2.00

Band 7 Qlfd Nurse 0.50 0.50 1.00 1.98 1.44 3.42 2.48 1.94 4.42

Band 6 Qlfd Nurse 7.60 6.00 13.60 0.58 0.42 1.00 8.18 6.42 14.60

Band 5 Qlfd Nurse 4.00 2.00 6.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.00 2.00 6.00

Band 4 Qlfd Nurse 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.58 0.42 1.00 0.58 0.42 1.00

Band 3 Unqlfd Nurse 2.00 1.00 3.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.00 1.00 3.00

Band 4 IPS worker 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.16 0.84 2.00 1.16 0.84 2.00

Band 6 OT 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Band 5 OT 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Band 8c Psychology 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Band 8b Psychology 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00

Band 8a Psychology 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Band 7 Psychology 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Band 5 Psychology 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Band 4 A&C 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Band 3 A&C 0.96 1.00 1.96 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.96 1.00 1.96

Band 2 A&C 0.48 0.00 0.48 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.48 0.00 0.48

18.54 13.50 32.04 4.30 3.12 7.42 22.84 16.62 39.46

*2016/17 is funded establishment at 31 March 2017

2016/17 2017/18 investment* 2017/18

Page 68



45 

 

 

 
25. Financial baseline, funding allocation and proposed spend 

 
 The baseline financial position across County Durham is detailed in table 22. 
 
 The CCGs position shown indicates an estimated proportion of the overall secondary care 

mental health block contract with Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust for 
2016/17. Further work is being undertaken to reflect an accurate breakdown of the block 
contract. 

Table 22: County Durham Financial Baseline 2017/18. 

 
 

Description 
County Durham  

2016/17 
£,000 

County Durham  
2017/18 

£,000 
North Durham CCG & 
DDES CCG 

CAMHS  £5,926 £5,464 
LD CAMHS  £1,630 £1,630 

Durham County 
Council 

Children and Young people’s mental health 
budget 
Note: this includes the Health contribution for 
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health 
Counselling  (£236k)  

£2,110 

 
 

£2,051 

 Total  £9,666 £9,144 

 

 Additional funding allocations made available to support the implementation of the County 
Durham Children and Young People’ Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience 
Transformation Plan in 2016/17 and 2017/18 is shown in table 22. 

 

Table 22: Additional funding made available in 2016/17 – 2017/18 

 

 

 Year 1 
2015/16 

£,000 

Year 2 
2016/17 

£,000 

Year 3    
2017/18 

£,000 

Year  4 
2018/19 

£,000 

Year 5 
2019/20 

£,000 

CAMHS Transformation   £807 £807 £     824                      £840                  £857   

Eating Disorder  £323 £306 £313 £319 £326 

CYP IAPT (training backfill)  £24 £71 £38 £0 £0 

CYP Crisis & Liaison  £582 £546 £546 £547 £547 

Waiting time initiative  £0 £255 £0 £0 £0 

Vanguard  £0 £261 £0 £0 £0 

Peer Support Service  £20 £20 £20 £0 £0 

Bereavement Support Service  £50 £50 £50 £50 £50 

  £1,154 £1,779 £  1,174                 £1,756 £1,780 

 
In regard to spend, table 23 provides details of the schemes that have or will benefit from the 
additional investment, in response to national directives and local engagement. 

Table 23: Proposed spend of additional investment 2015/16, 2016/17 - 2020 

 

  

Year 1 
2015/16 

Year 2 
2016/17 

Year 3 
2017/18 

Year 4 
2017/19 

Year 5 
2017/20 

£,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s 

Promoting 
Resilience, 

prevention and early 

Specialist community 
Perinatal Mental Health 
Service  

Funding application to be actioned 

Page 69



46 

 

 

intervention  Increasing capacity in the 
Social Emotion and 
Wellbeing pathway 

£155 Subject to evaluation 

Parental Peer Support 
Network £20 £20 £20 £0 £0 

Bereavement support for 
children and young people  £50 £50 £50 Per year subject to full evaluation 

Suicide prevention 
  £20 £20 £20 £20 

  
 

      

Improving access to 
effective support  

Enhancement of Community 
Eating Disorder Service for 
Children and Young people, 
to be evidence compliant  

£323 £306 £313 £313 £314 

Ongoing development of the 
CAMHS Crisis Service, with 
move to 24/7 service model 

£582 £546 £546 £547 £547 

CYP liaison 

 

£77 £0 £0 £0 

Intensive Home Treatment 
Service £261 £0 £0 £0 

Increased capacity to reduce 
waiting time to treatment, 
with particular focus on ASD 

£218 £0 £0 £0 

  
 

         
  

 
         

Care for the most 
vulnerable  

Health and Justice 

  

        

Additional contribution to 
bespoke care packages £43 £119 £119 £119 

  
 

      

Accountability and 
transparency  

Engagement and 
communication 

  

£70 £50 £50 £50 

Project support to drive 
change £59 £0 £0 £0 

  
 

      

Workforce 
Development 

CYP IAPT (training backfill) 
£25 £112.5 £38.3 £0.0 £0.0 

Potential Additional funding – (Bid dependant) 
  
  
 Health and Justice Funding                                                                                                   £34 

Intensive Home Treatment Service - Development of Safe Space                                       £68 
 

 

26.  Governance 
 

 The Children and Young People’s Mental Health, local Transformation Planning group is 
accountable to the County Durham Mental Health Partnership Board which is a sub group of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB).  A full governance structure is shown in Annex 1. 

 
 Progress on delivery of the key priorities and action plan will be reported on a quarterly 

basis to the County Durham Mental Health Partnership with an annual report presented at 
HWBB.  

 
 The national Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat19 (CCC) was launched in February 

                                                 
19 http://www.crisiscareconcordat.org.uk/ 

Page 70



47 

 

 

2014. This aims to develop joined up service responses to people who are in mental 
health crisis (all ages). This plan is accountable to the County Durham Mental Health 
Partnership Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
 The Children and Young People Mental Health, local transformation planning group 

submit a quarterly performance report which contains a range of indicators. The group 
implement and maintain the LTP tracker/action plan. Any key issues are escalated to the 
County Durham Mental Health Partnership Board. 

 

27. Stakeholders involved in the development of this plan 
 

 Table 25 below lists the stakeholders that were engaged with to support the development of 
the original transformation plan.  As this is a refresh of the original document, and 
engagement and work has been ongoing throughout the year, there has been no stakeholder 
engagement undertaken specific to this refresh. 

 

Table 25: Stakeholders 

 
NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

NHS Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

NHS England – Specialised Commissioning 

Durham County Council 

County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board / County Durham Mental Health Partnership Board 
Sub Groups: 

 Learning Disabilities and Mental Health Joint Commissioning Group 

 Public Mental Health Strategy Group 

 Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing Group 

 CCG Mental Health Care Delivery Working Group 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

Investing in Children (IiC) 

County Durham Voluntary Community Sector 

 

 

28. Next steps 

 Durham will consult with all partners on the content of this draft ‘refreshed’ 
transformation plan by the end of November 2017. 

 Amendments were necessary will be made, and following assurance from 
NHSE – within 2 weeks. 

 The refresh will be formerly discussed at the Health & Wellbeing Board on 5th 
December 2017. 

Page 71



48 

 

 

 The refresh will be formerly discussed at the Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing Group (Transformation Group) on the 15th 
November 2017. 

 Plans will be edited into an easy read version to make sure that it is accessible 
to all.  We are working with Investing in Children (IiC) to ensure that children 
and young people are involved in the design process by the end of November 
2017. 

  A summary document that outlines the plans will be developed following full 
assurance, and sign off from all partners, within 1 month. 

 The plans will be made available via North Durham & Durham Dales, Easington 
and Sedgefield CCGs websites within 2 weeks following submission of the plan. 

 Links to the plans will be made available on Local Authority websites within in 1 
month following submission.

Page 72



49 

 

 

Appendix 1: LTP Governance Structure 
 
 

P
age 73



 

 

 

Page 74



 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27th November 2017 
 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
2016-19 Performance Report 
 

 

 
 

Report of  Jenny Haworth,  Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To report the progress being made against the priorities and outcomes set in 

the County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19. 
 
Background 
 
2 The Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Report is structured around the 

six strategic objectives of the JHWS and reports progress being made against 
the strategic actions and performance outcomes identified. This includes 
performance indicators linked to the Better Care Fund (indicators are labelled 
as ‘BCF’) and Clinical Commissioning Group Quality Premium Indicators 
(indicators are labelled as ‘QPI’). 

 
3 The Performance Scorecard, which includes all of the performance indicators 

within the JHWS, is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
4 Due to the nature of the performance data being reported, there is significant 

variation in the time periods associated with each indicator. For example, 
several indicators have a time lag of over 12 months. This report includes the 
latest performance information available nationally, regionally and locally. 

 
5 The following rating system is used for performance indicators and is consistent 

with the rating system used by the County Durham Partnership: 
 

Performance Against 
Target 

Direction of Travel 
Performance Against 

Comparators 
Banding 

 

Target achieved or 
exceeded 

 

Improved/Same Better than comparator 
 

 

Performance within 2% 
of target 

 

Within 2% of previous 
performance 

Within 2% of 
comparator 

 

Performance more 
than 2% away from 

target 

Deteriorated by more 
than 2% 

More than 2% worse 
than comparator 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



 
 

6 For the Clinical Commissioning Group Quality Premium Indicators the rating 
system reflects that shown in the CCGs combined performance report.  
 

Performance Against Target Banding 
 

Target achieved or exceeded 
 

 

Data not available in the month of the CCG combined 
performance report to know target position 

 

Not achieving target  

 
Overview of Performance  
 
7 There were 29 actions within the JHWS 2016-19 Delivery Plan carried forward 

into 2017/18. Of these 7 are complete, 20 are on target and 2 are behind target 
as at 30th September 2017. 
 

8 The following sections of the report are structured by JHWS Objective and 
provide updates about the following: 

 
 Delivery Plan actions where revised dates have been agreed 
 Areas for Improvement  
 Other areas for improvement i.e. where performance has a significantly 

deteriorating trend and/or is significantly behind the national average 
 Highlights and achievements 

 
 

  

Page 76



 
 

Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and 
have the best start in life 

 
 

9 There are 11 actions carried forward into 2017/18 for objective 1, 6 are 
complete, 4 are on target and the 1 action where performance is behind target, 
is as follows: 
 

 Implement the County Durham Teenage Pregnancy and Teen Parent 
delivery plan 2016-18 by: 
 
Undertaking consultations with young people who are Looked after 
Children (LAC) and Care Leavers (CL) to identify their sex and 
relationships education (SRE) needs in order to ensure they receive 
suitable SRE information and support. 
 

o The target date has been revised from September 2017 to March 2018. 
A project lead has been identified and the Health Needs Assessment is 
currently being scoped which includes consultations with young people 
who are looked after and care leavers. This will be presented to LAC 
SMT on 01/11/17 with an update report presented to children’s 
management team in early 2018. 

 
Areas for Improvement 
 
Smoking at time of delivery 

 
10 The percentage of mothers smoking at time of delivery is 19.6% (232 out of 

1,182 mothers), which is below target and national and north east averages. 
 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
2017/18 

National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

16.7% 
(Apr-

Jun16) 

Percentage of mothers 
smoking at time of delivery 

19.6% 
[Prov] 
(Apr-

Jun17) 

15.9% 

10.8% 
[Prov] 
(Apr-

Jun 17) 

16.8% 
[Prov] 

(Apr-Jun 
17) 

 

 
11 A challenging target has been set (15.9%) for County Durham in 2017/18, 

which reflects the aims of the government’s new Tobacco Control Plan to 
significantly reduce smoking rates for the population of England by 2022, 
paving the way to a smoke-free generation and which specifically aims to lower 
the smoking in pregnancy rate. 
 

12 SATOD ranges from 13.9% in North Durham CCG to 24.2% in DDES CCG. 
DDES is the highest SATOD rate in the North East and second highest of all 
CCGs in England. 
 

13 A 15-month incentive scheme began in April 2017 in DDES, funded by NHS 
England, shopping vouchers are offered to women who quit smoking whilst 
pregnant. Participating women can receive a maximum of £260 ‘Love to Shop’ 

Page 77



 
 

vouchers (which cannot be spent on tobacco or alcohol) if recruited in the early 
weeks of pregnancy and remain quit at 12 weeks following birth. 

 
14 The scheme is being monitored quarterly via The County Durham Reducing 

Smoking in Pregnancy steering group’, informed by public health intelligence 
and consisting of the public health lead, the incentive scheme’s independent 
consultant, pregnancy leads from CDDFT and the Stop Smoking Service and 
representatives from DDES and Fresh.   

 
15 For County Durham early indications for numbers quitting are positive, with 59 

pregnant women setting a quit date with the service in quarter 1 2017/18, of 
which 40 women quit. This equates to 68% quitting, which is an improvement 
from the same period in 2016/17 (61%) and the highest percentage the service 
has recorded. 

 
Other areas for improvement 
 
Infant mortality rate 

 
16 The infant mortality rate is 4.6 per 1000 live births for the period 2014-16, which 

is an increase from 2013-15 and above, although not statistically significant 
from both national and north east averages. 

 
Previous 

Data Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
2017/18 

National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

3.4 
(2013-15) Infant mortality rate 

4.6 
(2014-16) 

Tracker  
3.9 

(2014-16) 
3.7 

(2014-16) 
 

17 Infant mortality is an indicator of the general health of an entire population. It 
reflects the relationship between causes of infant mortality and upstream 
determinants of population health such as economic, social and environmental 
conditions. Deaths occurring during the first 28 days of life (the neonatal period) 
in particular, are considered to reflect the health and care of both mother and 
newborn. 
 

18 The infant mortality rate in County Durham is not statistically significantly different 
from England or the North East. The rise from 3.4/100,000 to 4.6/100,000 was 
resultant from an additional 19 deaths over the three year period. This increase 
was not statistically significant. 

 
Breastfeeding   
 
19 Both breastfeeding PIs (initiation and prevalence) have improved from the 

same period in 2016 but remain below latest national and regional 
performance. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator Latest Data 
Target 

2016/17 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

27.4% 
(Jul-

Sep16) 

Breastfeeding 
initiation 

57.9% 
[CCG data 
combined] 
(Jul-Sep17) 

Tracker 
74.3% 

(2014/15) 
60.1% 

(2014/15) 

Page 78



 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator Latest Data 
Target 

2016/17 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

26.1% 
(Jul-

Sep16) 

Prevalence of 
breastfeeding at 6-
8 weeks from birth 

29.9% 
(Jul-Sep17) 

Tracker 
44.3% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

30.6% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 


 
20 Of the seven of the 12 North East LAs where data was published at Q4 

2016/17 (Jan-Mar17) for breastfeeding prevalence, County Durham was 
second worst. 
 

Local Authority Jan-Mar17 
Newcastle upon Tyne 43.2% 

North Tyneside 36.8% 

Darlington 35.4% 

Northumberland 34.2% 

Middlesbrough 29.1% 

Redcar and Cleveland 28.6% 

County Durham 26.8% 

Sunderland 26.0% 
 

21 The Breastfeeding action plan for County Durham (2017-2019) presents a 
holistic approach that includes maternity, public health and local authority 
children’s services and is underpinned with a social norms theme to help 
influence cultural norms in County Durham including the use of social media 
and the Baby Buddy app to reflect a positive and supportive breastfeeding 
message.  

 
22 A ‘call to action’ is therefore being promoted to address the key actions 

identified in the action plan and facilitate this change, which requires strategic 
commitment and leadership support from all partners, with the workforce, 
communities and the area action partnerships recognised as critical to the 
implementation of the plan.   

 
23 Work is ongoing with the council’s communications team to develop a 

communications plan to promote County Durham as a Breastfeeding Friendly 
County. 

 
Teenage Conceptions 
 
24 Under 18 conceptions continue to decrease following a sustained downward 

trend in teenage conceptions as illustrated by the chart below. 
 

Page 79



 
 

 
 

25 The number of conceptions has reduced from 511 between July 1998 and June 
1999 (when recording began) to 198 conceptions between July 2015 and June 
2016. However, latest conception data remains higher than the national 
average. 

 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

26.4 
(Jul14-
Jun15) 

Under 18 conception 
rate per 1,000 15-17 
year old women 

 
24.3 

(Jul15-
Jun16) 

 

Tracker 
19.8 

(Jul15-
Jun16) 

26.3 
(Jul15-
Jun16) 



 
26 The Teenage Pregnancy Partnership Board continues to implement the 2016-

18 action plan delivering both universal and targeted interventions. Additionally 
the public health intelligence team are currently reviewing ward level teenage 
conception data to facilitate targeted work in areas with persistently high under 
18 conception rates.  
 

Performance Highlights 
 
Young Person’s Treatment for Substance Misuse 

 
27 The percentage of exits from young person’s drug and alcohol treatment which 

are planned is 90% (46 of 51). This is exceeding target, has increased from the 
same period last year (87%) and is higher than the national average. There are 
also now more children and young people in treatment than ever before (June 
2017, 280 (rolling year) compared to June 2016, 226 (rolling year). 
 
 
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

Ju
l1

5-
Ju

n1
6Ra

te
 p

er
 1

,0
00

 1
5-

17
 y

ea
r o

ld
s

Under 18 Conception Rate - Annual

County Durham England North East

Page 80



 
 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

87% 
(Apr-

Jun16) 

Percentage of all exits 
from young person’s 
treatment which are 
planned (alcohol and 
drugs) 

90% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 
81% 

81% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 

Not 
available 

 
Percentage of patients seen with face to face second contact within 9 weeks of 
referral to CAMHS 
 
28 The percentage of patients seen with face to face second contact within 9 

weeks of referral to CAMHS is 92.9% (835 of 899).  
 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

Not 
available 

Percentage of patients 
seen with face to face 
second contact within 9 
weeks of referral to 
CAMHS 

92.9% 
(Apr-

Sep17) 
Tracker Not 

available 
Not 

available N/A 

 
29 The HWB requested a deep dive on CAMHS which is scheduled to be 

presented to the board in March 2018.   
 
Delivery Plan Highlights 
 

30 The integrated sexual health service has been reviewed and re-procured with a 
contract start date of January 2018. 

 
31 The strategic review of preventative mental health and suicide prevention 

services has been completed. The Mental Health Strategic Plan 2017- 20 which 
includes interventions for high risk groups is to be presented to the Health & 
Wellbeing Board. Additionally the suicide alliance is to be re-launched in 
December 2017. 

 
Objective 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
 

32 There are 8 actions carried forward into 2017/18, 1 is complete and 7 are on 
target. 

 
Areas for Improvement 

 
Number of eligible people who receive a health check 

 
33 Following the commissioning of a new health check service from April 2017, a 

new measure is in place for 2017/18: The number of eligible people who 
receive a Health Check. There is a contracted annual target of 9,500 checks.  
All GP practices in County Durham are signed up and alongside community 
provision offer targeted health checks to those aged between 40-74 with no 
pre-existing conditions and a 20% risk of cardiovascular disease. 

Page 81



 
 

 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

Not 
available 

Number of eligible people 
who receive a health check  

2,967 
(Apr-

Sep17) 

4,750 
(Apr-

Sep17) 

 
 

Not 
available 

 
 

Not 
available 

N/A 

 
34 Between April and September 2017, a total of 2,987 health checks were carried 

out; 2,842 by GPs and 145 by the community provider, North51. The impact of 
changes associated with a new service commission have affected 
performance, which is below the quarterly contract target. However, it should 
be noted that the community provision did not commence until 1st September 
2017. 
 

35 After initial below target numbers performance has improved in Quarter 2 for 
GP health checks, which achieved their monthly target of 500 checks for each 
of the months of July, August and September 2017.  

 
36 Performance is monitored at quarterly contract meetings chaired by the 

Strategic Commissioning Manager and Public Health Lead. The community 
provider continues to focus on marketing and promotional work, attending 
events and organising workplace based health checks. A corrective action plan 
to address under performance has also been put in place, which is monitored 
on a monthly basis.  

 
Cancer Waiting Times – First Treatment within 62 Days 

 
37 Between April and June 2017 neither DDES nor North Durham CCGs met the 

national target for the proportion of patients who receive first treatment for 
cancer within 62 days. However, both CCGs are above the national average. 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

81.5% 
(Apr-

Jun16)  

% of patients receiving first 
definitive treatment for cancer 
within 62 days of an urgent 
GP referral for suspected 
cancer - DDES CCG 

83% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 
85% 

81.4% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 

Not 
available 

83.7% 
(Apr-

Jun16)  

% of patients receiving first 
definitive treatment for cancer 
within 62 days of an urgent 
GP referral for suspected 
cancer - ND CCG 

82.9% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 
85% 

81.4% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 

Not 
available 





 
38 The 62 day cancer waiting times standard remains an area of focus for both 

CCGs and providers in County Durham. The most common breach reasons 
identified are patient choice, complex diagnostic pathways, medical reasons 
and capacity.   
 

Page 82



 
 

39 Both CCGs report actions to address this non-achievement and to improve 
performance by targeting pathways where breaches occur most often as 
follows: 

 Direct access to CT for lung patients with an abnormal chest x-ray has 
now been rolled out Trust-wide from 11th September following a small 
pilot in Darlington.  This has the potential to save a number of days 
early on in the pathway to benefit the 62 day target. 

 Northern Cancer Alliance transformation fund cancer navigator posts 
have now been agreed. 3 posts are to be recruited into CDDFT as a 
result – 2 cancer imaging coordinators (based at UHND & DMH) to 
facilitate timely access to diagnostic imaging, improved communication 
with patients, primary care and cancer services.  The remaining post 
will work Trust-wide co-ordinating endoscopy and head & neck cancer 
pathways to reduce waits for tests and outpatient appointments, liaising 
with patients, consultants, secretaries, care group managers (where 
capacity issues are identified) and cancer services. 

 CDDFT implementing an improved cancer management system 
(Somerset) used to proactively track patients through pathways as well 
as co-ordination of Multi-Disciplinary Teams meetings and aid with 
transfers to other providers as read only access can be granted to 
receiving Trusts 

 Newly appointed CDDFT Cancer Services Manager now in post who is 
updating cancer strategy and recruiting Cancer Clinical Lead. Looking 
to implement a cancer steering group within the Trust with GP 
representation to better link primary and secondary care. 

40 The performance of the main local hospital NHS FTs in relation to this indicator 
is presented below. CDDFT and North Tees and Hartlepool FT are performing 
above the national average and exceeding the national target. 
 
Trust Apr-Jun 2017 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 88.1% 
North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 85.8% 
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 77.4% 
All English Providers 81.5% 

 
Successful completions of drug and alcohol treatment 

 
41 The three Public Health Outcomes Framework measures relating to successful 

completions of drug and alcohol treatment remain below target and 
comparators, however all are showing an increasing direction of travel. 

 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator Latest Data Target 
National 
Average 

Top 
Quartile 

Direction 
of Travel 

5.2% 
(Aug 
2016) 

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in 
drug treatment - opiates 

6.5% 
(Mar16 - Feb17 
representations 

to  Aug17) 

>8.27%  

6.7% 
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  
Aug17) 

Top 
Quartile: 
8.3% - 
12.0% 



22.7% 
(Aug 
2016) 

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in 

30.2% 
(Mar16 - Feb17 

>46.32% 37.1% 
(Mar16 - Feb17 

Top 
Quartile: 

Page 83



 
 

Previous 
Data 

Indicator Latest Data Target 
National 
Average 

Top 
Quartile 

Direction 
of Travel 

drug treatment - non-
opiates 

representations 
to  Aug17) 

representations to  
Aug17) 

46.3% - 
64.4% 

 
27.2% 
(Aug 
2016) 

 

Percentage of successful 
completions of those in 
alcohol treatment - alcohol 

29.3% 
(Mar16 - Feb17 
representations 

to  Aug17) 

38.7% 

38.7% 
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  
Aug17) 

Not 
available 

 
42 The new tender for the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service was published on 

the Public Health portal in September 2017. A new provider was appointed in 
November 2017, for the new service to launch on 1st February 2018. 

 
43 A significant amount of work has been undertaken in relation to performance in 

relation to successful completions and overall, an improving trend has been 
evident since summer 2016 following sustained decreases from April 2015, as 
illustrated in the charts below. 
 

 
 

 
 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8% Successful completions - Opiates

National Durham

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50% Successful completions - Non opiates
National Durham

Page 84



 
 

 
 
Alcohol related admissions to hospital per 100,000 population (narrow measure) 

 
44 For 2016/17 the rate of alcohol admissions to hospital is 754.84 per 100,000 

population, which is above the national rate but below the regional rate. 
 

Previous 
data Indicator 

Latest 
data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

752.18 
(2015/16) 

Alcohol related 
admissions to hospital per 
100,000 population 

 
754.84 
[Prov] 

(2016/17) 
 

Tracker 
644.7 
[Prov] 

(2016/17) 

867.04 
[Prov] 

(2016/17) 


 
45 Of the 12 regional authorities, County Durham has the lowest rate of alcohol 

related admissions to hospital in 2016/17. Alcohol related hospital admissions 
range from 735.43 per 100,000 in ND CCG to 773.15 per 100,000 in DDES 
CCG. 

 

Local Authority 
2016/17 

[Prov] 
Gateshead 989.01 

Sunderland 984.35 

South Tyneside 976.71 

Hartlepool 952.14 

North Tyneside 943.82 

Middlesbrough 897.43 

Newcastle upon Tyne 841.63 

Northumberland 837.85 

Darlington 769.49 

Redcar and Cleveland 768.34 

County Durham 754.84 
 

46 The County Durham Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy will be merged with the 
County Durham Drug Strategy in January 2018. This action has been 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45% Successful completions - Alcohol
National Durham

Page 85



 
 

undertaken to respond to the commonalities of the agenda when considering 
partnership approaches to reduce the demand and supply of alcohol and drugs 
within the communities of County Durham.  

 
47 The new Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Strategy Plan on the Page will 

address strategic priorities for alcohol and drug related harm and 
accompanying action plan identify key areas for delivery within a variety of 
settings. This will include a whole systems approach to maintain the ongoing 
reductions in alcohol related admissions to hospital. 

 
Diabetes Structured Education Programme (QPI) (local measure) 

 
48 The percentage of patients newly diagnosed with diabetes in the preceding 1 

April -31 March who have been referred to a structured education programme 
within 9 months after entry on to the diabetes register for both DDES and ND 
CCGs is below target. 

 
Previous 

data Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

Not 
available 

The percentage of patients newly 
diagnosed with diabetes in the 
preceding 1 April -31 March who 
have been referred to a 
structured education programme 
within 9 months after entry on to 
the diabetes register (QPI) DDES 

50.9% 
(Aug 
2017) 

70% 

 
 
 

Not 
available 

 
 
 

Not 
available 

 
 
 

Not 
available

Not 
available 

The percentage of patients newly 
diagnosed with diabetes in the 
preceding 1 April -31 March who 
have been referred to a 
structured education programme 
within 9 months after entry on to 
the diabetes register (QPI) ND 

37.7% 
(Aug 
2017) 

70% 

 
 

Not 
available 

 
 

Not 
available 

 
 

Not 
available

 
49 The CCGs have commissioned an integrated diabetes service which includes 

both primary and secondary care. Increasing uptake of structured education is 
a performance requirement for the service. Delivery will be overseen by the 
diabetes governance board, which includes representation from primary and 
secondary care and public health. The CCGs will look to improve performance 
from the current position. 
 

Mortality Indicators for persons under the age of 75 years per 100,000 
 
50 Mortality rates from cardiovascular disease, cancer, liver and respiratory 

disease are below north east but significantly above national averages.   
 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

83 
(2013-15) 

Mortality from all cardiovascular 
diseases  (including heart 
disease and stroke) for persons 
aged under 75 years per 
100,000 population 

79.2 
(2014-

16) 
Tracker 

73.5 
(2014-

16) 

85.1 
(2014-

16) 
 

Page 86



 
 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

163.2 
(2013-15) 

 

Mortality from cancer for 
persons aged under 75 years 
per 100,000 population 

159.6 
(2014-

16) 
Tracker 

136.8 
(2014-

16) 

161.3 
(2014-

16) 
 

21.8 
(2013-15) 

 

Mortality from liver disease for 
persons aged under 75 years 
per 100,000 population 

22.6 
(2014-

16) 
Tracker 

18.3 
(2014-

16) 

25.2 
(2014-

16) 
 

42.5 
(2013-15) 

 

Mortality from respiratory 
disease for persons aged under 
75 years per 100,000 
population 

42 
(2014-

16) 
Tracker 

33.8 
(2014-

16) 

43.1 
(2014-

16) 
 

 
51 Cardiovascular, cancer and respiratory mortality rates have decreased from 

2013-15 which continues the long term downward trend from 2001-03.  
However the mortality rate form liver disease has increased. Premature liver 
disease mortality rates have been rising over time in County Durham and 
England Between 2001-03 and 2014-16 rates rose by 26% locally and 16% 
nationally . The gap is currently 4.3 per 100,000 population (2014-16). 
Regionally however County Durham is ranked 10th i.e. third lowest of the 12 

north east local authorities. 
 

52 An analysis of the latest mortality rates for men and women is illustrated in the 
table below: 

 
2014-16 

Mortality 
Indicator aged 
under 75 yrs 
per 100,00 
population 

County Durham 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Male Female Male Female Male Female 

cardiovascular 
diseases   

104.6 54.9 102.7 45.8 117.4 54.7 

cancer  171.2 148.7 152.1 122.6 179.2 144.6 

liver disease  29.2 16.3 23.9 12.8 32.4 18.4 

respiratory 
disease  

46.1 38 39.2 28.7 47.1 39.3 

 
Excess winter deaths 

 
53 The percentage of excess winter deaths is above both north east and national 

averages, although not statistically different. 
 

Previous 
data Indicator Latest data Target 

National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

19.7% 
(2012-

15) 
Excess winter deaths 

19.7% 
(2013-16) 

Tracker 
17.9% 

(2013/16) 
17.4% 

(2013/16) 
 

Page 87



 
 

54 During 2013-16 there were 19.7% more deaths (an additional 1002) in winter 
months than non-winter months. The number of excess winter deaths (EWD) 
depends upon many factors, such as the temperature and the level of disease in 
the population as well as how well equipped people are to cope with the drop in 
temperature. Most excess winter deaths are due to circulatory and respiratory 
diseases, and the majority occur amongst the elderly population. As illustrated in 
the graph below, fluctuations are evident in excess winter death rates over time. 
 

 
 

55 In 2016/17 the Health and Wellbeing Board’s work on cold related ill-health was 
recognised by National Energy Action (NEA). In a report entitled ‘Get Warm 
Soon? Progress to reduce ill health associated with cold homes in England,’ they 
surveyed 152 Boards to determine: 
 
 Progress against addressing the public health outcome framework (PHOF) 

indicator on fuel poverty or other related action to address cold related ill 
health. 

 Progress on addressing the PHOF indicator on excess winter deaths. 
 Progress on applying the recommendations of applying the NICE guidance 
 

56 Each health and well-being board was scored out of six from evidence in their 
respective joint strategic needs assessment and their health and wellbeing 
strategy. County Durham scored five.  
  

57 Durham County Council’s Severe Weather Planning group produced a revised 
Cold Weather Plan 2016/17. An integrated element of the plan is the year round 
work carried out to address cold related ill health. Via the Warm and Healthy 
Homes programme, frontline health and social care professionals are briefed 
about the scheme and how they can refer patients/clients to it.   
 

58 The programme has been particularly effective at targeting those people with 
underlying health conditions such as Cardio Vascular Disease (CVD), mental 
illness and respiratory disease. Figures included: 
 120 front line staff were part of a briefing session 
 86 referrals were made, the majority being aged over 60 years 
 All referrals received energy efficiency advice 

16 16.8 17.2

20.5 20.2
21.8

19.8
18.1

16.8
19

16.8

19.7 19.7

14.7 14.7 14.3
15.8 16.1

18.5
17 16.7

13.7
16

13.4

19.3
17.4

0

5

10

15

20

25

Excess winter deaths

County Durham North East

Page 88



 
 

 17 were referred for a benefits check 
 11 were referred for a fire safety check 
 27 received measures to improve the home’s thermal comfort such as new 

central heating or boilers or double glazing 
 

Performance Highlights 
 

Cancer Treatment within 31 Days 
 

59 Over 98% of patients in both CCGs received their first definitive treatment for 
cancer within 31 days of diagnosis (Decision to treat date). This exceeds target 
(96%) and the national average (97.4%). 

 
Previous 

data Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

97.5% 
(Apr-

Jun16) 

Percentage of patients receiving 
first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 31 days from diagnosis 
(decision to treat date) - DDES 
CCG  

98% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 
96% 

97.4% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 
N/A 

99.4% 
(Apr-

Jun16) 

Percentage of patients receiving 
first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 31 days from diagnosis 
(decision to treat date) - ND CCG 

99.1% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 
96% 

97.4% 
(Apr-

Jun17) 
N/A 

 
Smoking Quitters 

 
60 Between April and June 2017, 671 people quit smoking following support from 

the stop smoking service (SSS). This has achieved the SSS’ contracted quarterly 
target of 577 quitters. 

 
Previous 

data Indicator 
Latest 
data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

682.4 
[644 

quitters] 
(Apr-

Jun16) 

Four week smoking quitters 
per 100,000 18+ smoking 
population [Number of 
quitters] 

888.6 
[671 

quitters] 
(Apr-

Jun17) 

764 
(577 

quitters) 
N/A N/A 

 
 
Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and 

support for people with long term conditions 
 
61 There are 2 actions carried forward to 2017/18, both actions are on target. 

 
Areas for Improvement 
 
Increase in the proportion of GP referrals made by e-referrals (QPI) 
 
62 In 2016/17, the e-referrals national target of 80% was not achieved by DDES or 

North Durham CCG. DDES CCG final achievement was 73% and North Durham 
CCG 76%. This measure has been retained as a quality premium indicator in 
2017/18. 

Page 89



 
 

 
Previous 

data Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

Baseline  
73% 

Increase in the proportion 
of GP referrals made by e-
referrals (QPI) DDES  

73% 
(Mar17) 

20% 
increase on 

Mar16 
outturn@  
Mar17 or  
80% @ 
Mar17 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Baseline 
77% 

Increase in the proportion 
of GP referrals made by e-
referrals (QPI) ND 

76% 
(Mar17) 

20% 
increase on 

Mar16 
outturn@  
Mar17 or  
80% @ 
Mar17 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

 
63 Both DDES and ND CCGs are increasing the use of e-referrals in line with NHS 

England guidance. During 2017/18 both CCGs have significantly increased the 
use of e-referrals in line with their referral management solutions which are 
mandatory requirements. 

 
Overall experience of making a GP appointment (QPI) 
 
64 In 2016/17, the GP Patient Survey target of 85% was not achieved by DDES and 

North Durham CCG, with performance of 76% for DDES CCG and 74% for North 
Durham CCG. This measure has been retained as a quality premium indicator in 
2017/18. 

 
Previous 

data Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

Not 
available 

Overall experience of 
making a GP appointment  
(QPI) DDES 

76% 
(2016/17) 

85% or 3 
percentage 

points 
increase in 
July 2017 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available

Not 
available 

Overall experience of 
making a GP appointment 
(QPI) ND 

74% 
(2016/17) 

85% or 3 
percentage 

points 
increase in 
July 2017 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

Not 
available

 
65 Good access to general practice is important to everyone. It’s important to 

patients who may be distressed or who may suffer if diagnosis and treatment is 
delayed; those who value a continuous relationship with their clinician in order to 
remain healthy and independent; and people who find it hard to see a GP within 
current opening times. It's important to practices whose workloads can become 
inefficient if access is not managed systematically. It's important to the NHS as 
good access to primary care has the potential to reduce unnecessary emergency 
admissions and reduce the number of patients attending A&E.  
 

66 Improving access to GP practices is a fundamental part of the Urgent Care 
services that were implemented in April 2017 to ensure that patients get and 
perceive their practice to offer a high quality service.  

 
67 The CCG worked with the NHS Sustainable Improvement Team between Sept 

2016 and March 2017 in a collaborative approach with all of our 38 practices to 
develop improved access processes across the system to incorporate the 10 high 

Page 90



 
 

impact changes. A steering group met several times to move forwards with this 
project. The following objectives for the Group were agreed: 
• Better Access for patients 
• Better patient understanding of how the current system works 
• Improved relationships between the patients and the practice 
• More resources for practices 
• Receptionists promoting different access for patients 
• Ensuring vulnerable patients are supported through the system to meet their 

needs 
• Share good practice 
• Educating patients on current service (practice first, not just GP) 
• Improving current access (8am – 6pm) 

 
68 As part of the specification practices were required to undertake an initial audit of 

practice appointments (demand and capacity) in October 2016. They were then 
to take the learning from this audit to make improvements in the practice and 
then re-run the audit in February 2017. All practices were also required to 
develop and implement an improvement plan. In June 2017 all practices attended 
an event where they showcased the improvements that they had made off the 
back of the specification/project and shared best practice/learning. All practices 
had been successful in delivering the requirements of the specification 
 

69 In relation to the requirement for extended access to evening and weekend 
appointments DDES and North Durham CCGs will be offering an additional hours 
per evening 6pm to 9pm (Mon-Fri) and 8 to 6pm both Saturday and Sunday. 
Practices are working in hub models across DDES and this will comprise of 3 
hubs per locality and are in line with where the public want to see them following 
public consultation. These are confirmed however we are currently in 
procurement for services which will be delivered from the 1st April 2017. There is 
also a requirement for DDES CCG to offer an additional 30 minutes per 1000 
patient population moving to 45 minutes per 1000 patient population. This 
equates to 171 hours for 30 minutes and 217 hours to achieve 45 minutes. DDES 
CCG can confirm that they will be moving straight to offering the additional 45 
minutes per 1000 patient population. 
 

70 As the GP Survey is collected during Jan – March of each year the July 2017 
results will not yet show the impact of the work described above. The CCG will 
not see the impact of this in the GP Survey until the July 2018 results 
 

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) and inappropriate 
antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups (QPI) 

 
71 Latest data (April – June 2017) in respect of the above indicator [parts bi), bii) & 

c] are below target for both DDES and ND CCG. 
 

Previous 
data Indicator 

Apr-
Jun17 

Target 

Not 
available 

bi) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for urinary 
tract infections (UTI) in primary care - 
Trimethoprium:Nitrofuratoin prescribing ratio  (QPI) DDES 

1.376 1.842 

Page 91



 
 

Previous 
data Indicator 

Apr-
Jun17 

Target 

Not 
available 

bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for urinary 
tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number of Trimethoprium 
items prescribed (QPI) DDES 

7,450 8600 

Not 
available 

c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in primary 
care (QPI) DDES 

1.289  1.161 

Not 
available 

bi) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for urinary 
tract infections (UTI) in primary care - 
Trimethoprium:Nitrofuratoin prescribing ratio (QPI) ND 

1.607 1.929 

Not 
available 

bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for urinary 
tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number of Trimethoprium 
items prescribed (QPI) ND 

6,097 7024 

Not 
available 

c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in primary 
care (QPI) ND 

1.177  1.161 

 
Performance Highlights 
 
The percentage of adult social care service users reporting that the help and 
support they receive has made their quality of life better 

 
72 In 2016/17 the percentage of service users reporting that the help and support 

they receive has made their quality of life better was 94.5%. This is an 
improvement from 2015/16 and better than both national and regional averages. 

 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

92.1% 
(2015/16) 

The percentage of service 
users reporting that the help 
and support they receive has 
made their quality of life better 

94.5% 
(2016/17) 

Tracker 
92.4% 

(2016/17) 
93.8% 

(2016/17)  

 
Older People at Home 91 Days after Hospital Discharge following Reablement/ 
Rehabilitation Services (BCF) 
 
73 Between January and June 2017, 88.9% of older people were still living at home 

3 months after they were discharged from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation 
services. This is an improvement on the same period in 2016 and is better than 
latest national and regional benchmarking figures. 

 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

86% 
(Jan-

Jun16) 

Proportion of older people (65 
and over) who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge 
from hospital into reablement/ 
rehabilitation services 

88.9% 
(Jan-

Jun17) 

TBC - 
BCF 

82.7% 
(2015/16) 

85.5% 
(2015/16)  

 
Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 population admitted on a permanent basis in the 
year to residential or nursing care (BCF) 

 
74 The number of 65+ permanent admissions has reduced; between April and 

September 2017, there were 345 admissions, which equates to a rate of 322.5 

Page 92



 
 

per 100,000 population. This is lower than the rate of 367.8 per 100,000 (387 
admissions) recorded over the same period in 2016. 
 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

367.8 
100,000 

(Apr-
Sep16) 

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 
population admitted on a 
permanent basis in the year to 
residential or nursing care 

322.5 
(Apr-

Sep17) 

TBC - 
BCF 

628.2 
(2015/16) 

843.0 
(2015/16) 


 

 
Non Elective admissions per 100,000 population (per 3 month period) (BCF) 

 
75 Between April and June 2017 there were 2,963 non elective admissions per 

100,000 population which is below the BCF target and performance in the same 
period of 2016. 

 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

2,993 
(Apr-

Jun16) 

Non Elective admissions per 
100,000 population 

2,963  
(Apr-

Jun17) 

2,967 
(Apr-

Jun17) 

Not 
available 

Not 
available 

 
76  A Non-elective Emergency Admissions Review was undertaken by NECS 

Information Services on behalf of the Integration Steering Group which was 
shared with the Board on 26 July 2017. Subsequently, the Healthy Child 
Programme Board have been requested to undertake an in-depth analysis of 
non-elective emergency admission as part of their work programme. 

 
Self-Directed Support 

 
77 As at 30 September 2017, 94.5% of adult social care service users were in 

receipt of self-directed support. This is above the national average and an 
improvement from the same period in 2016. 

 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

93.5% 
(@Sep16) 

Proportion of people using 
social care who receive self-
directed support 

94.5% 
(@Sep17) 

Tracker 
86.9% 
(2015-

16) 

95.4% 
(2015-

16) 
 

 
The number of people in receipt of Telecare 
 
78 The number of people in receipt of Telecare is 2,693 as at 30 September 2017, 

which is an increase from the same period in 2016. 
 

Previous 
Data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

2427 
(@30-

Sep-17) 

The number of people in receipt 
of Telecare 

2,693 
(@30-

Sep-17) 
Tracker 

Not 
available 

Not 
available  

 

Page 93



 
 

 
Delayed Transfers of Care DToC 

 
79 The definition of the new national DToC is still to be finalised and therefore no 

new data is presented this quarter.  
 

80 County Durham continues to have one of the lowest rates of delayed transfers of 
care both regionally and nationally. Our ambition is to maintain these low levels 
through strong integrated working. It may have been expected that the DToC 
metrics would be proportionate to the extent of the DToC problem in each HWB 
area but this was clearly not the case. Those areas including County Durham 
with a below average rate of DToC’s have resulted in the NHS Better Care Fund 
National Team trajectory allowing for an increase in DToC rate reductions even 
though the starting position was significantly below the national average. As a 
consequence, Durham HWB now finds itself in a very difficult position in being 
unable to meet with DToC reductions prescribed in the pre-populated template. 
 

81 Despite the invitation to re-submit a revised DToC trajectory, which provided a 
realistic profiling reflecting Durham HWB’s historically good performance, 
regrettably this was not accepted by the Better Care Fund National Team. 
 

Objective 4: Improve Mental Health and Wellbeing of the Population 
 
82 There are 7 actions carried forward into 2017/18 for objective 4, 6 are on target 

and the 1 action where performance is below target is as follows: 
 

 Develop a new recovery-focused mental health service in Meadowfield, 
to provide an accommodation advice and resource centre for people 
with mental health needs 

 
o Budgetary pressures have caused delays in the tendering and 

procurement process. The target date has been revised to September 
2018. 
 

Areas for improvement 
 

Gap between the employment rate for those with a long-term health condition 
and the overall employment rate 

 
83 Between January and March 2017 the gap between the overall employment rate 

and that for those with a long-term health condition has increased compared to 
the same period in 2016 and is above national and regional rates. 

 
Previous 

data Indicator 
Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

18.5% 
(Jan-

Mar16) 

Gap between the 
employment rate for 
those with a long term 
health condition and the 
overall employment rate 

26.3% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 
Tracker 

12.2% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 

17.7% 
(Jan-

Mar17) 


 

Page 94



 
 

84 The North East Mental Health Trailblazer has commenced delivery. This is one of 
four pilots established by the government. In County Durham, the Improving 
Access to Psychological Therapies service (IAPT) is developing the delivery of 
support to those with long term health conditions with the aim to secure increased 
employment outcomes as part of the recovery package.  

 
85 For County Durham between January and September 2017, 316 referrals were 

made into the Trailblazer programme with 79 programme participants. This 
equates to 35% of total regional referrals and 42% of regional participants.  
Employment outcomes whilst small are better than other regional areas and 
amount to 43% of total regional employment outcomes.   

 
86 Additionally and potentially impacting on quarter 2 2017/18 performance, there 

have been no referrals into the DWP work programme (including Employment 
support allowance customers) since March 2017. The Work Choice programme, 
for more severe health conditions, is currently on wind down with the replacement 
programme not commencing delivery until January 2018.  This position leaves a 
big gap in specialist support for the long term unemployed / those with a health 
condition which, make up a large part of the working age population. 

 
Performance Highlights 
 
Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and injury of undetermined intent) per 
100,000 population [number of suicides] 
 
87 The suicide rate has decreased from 2013-15 but is above north east and 

significantly above national averages.  County Durham is ranked 5th of the 12 
north east local authorities. 
 

Previous 
data Indicator Latest Data Target 

National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

15.7 
(2013-15) 

[215] 
Suicide rate  

12.6 
(2014-16) 

[174] 
Tracker 

9.9 
(2014-16) 

11.6 
(2014-16) 

 
 

Objective 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm 
 

88 There is 1 action carried forward into 2017/18 for objective 5, which is on target. 
 
Performance Highlights 
 
Repeat incidents of domestic violence (referrals to MARAC) 
 
89 There were 239 high-risk domestic abuse cases discussed at the MARAC 

between April 2017 and September 2017, of which 39 were repeats. This 
equates to 16.3%. This is achieving the target of a less than 25% repeat rate. 

 
 
 
 

Page 95



 
 

Apr-
Sep16 

Indicator 
Apr–

Sep17 
Target 

National 
Average 

MSF 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

16.3% 
Percentage of repeat incidents 
of domestic violence (referrals 
to MARAC) 

16.3% 
Less 
than 
25% 

27% 
Jul16-
Jun17 

28% 
Jul16-
Jun17 

 

 
Percentage of individuals who achieved their desired outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 
 
90  From April to September 2017, 727 out of 755 people (96.3%) achieved their 

desired outcomes from the adult safeguarding process. This is above the same 
period in 2016, when 874 out of 921 people (94.9%) achieved their desired 
outcomes.  
 

Previous 
data Indicator 

Latest 
Data 

Target 
National 
Average 

North 
East 

Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

94.9% 
(Apr-

Sep16) 

Percentage of individuals who 
achieved their desired 
outcomes from the adult 
safeguarding process 

96.3% 
(Apr-

Sep17) 
Tracker 

Not 
available 

 

Not 
available 

 




 
91 The Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Executive Group are currently 

developing a new Performance Management Framework to reflect the 
DASVEG’s new priorities: 

  
 Reduction in repeat victims and perpetrators 
 
 Domestic abuse is prevented through early intervention 
 
 More invisible victims are offered support 

 
 

Objective 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with 
the care and support that they need 

 
 
92 There are no actions carried forward into 2017/18 for objective 6. 
 
Performance Highlights 
 
Deaths in Usual Place of Residence 
 
93 The proportion of deaths in usual place of residence in both CCGs is above 

national and regional averages. 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 2015/16 Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

 
46.7% 

(2015/16) 
 

Proportion of deaths in 
usual place of 
residence (DDES CCG) 

48.9% 
(2016/17) 

Tracker 
46.1% 

(2016/17) 
47.1% 

(2016/17) 

Page 96



 
 

Previous 
data 

Indicator 2015/16 Target 
National 
Average 

North East 
Average 

Direction 
of Travel 

48.8% 
(2015/16) 

Proportion of deaths in 
usual place of 
residence (North 
Durham CCG) 

51.2% 
(2016/17) 

Tracker 
46.1% 

(2016/17) 
47.1% 

(2016/17) 

 
 
Development of the 2018-2021 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
Performance Management Framework 
 
94 The current performance management framework will be amended to reflect the 

Health and Wellbeing Board’s new priorities as part of the development of the 
2018-2021 JHWS.  

 
 Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in 

life 
 Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
 Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people 

with long term conditions and their carers 
 Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population 
 Improve early diagnosis and intervention and enable people to live well with 

dementia 
 Tackle the issues which result in people of all ages becoming obese 

 
Recommendations 
 
95 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

 Note the performance highlights and areas for improvement identified 
throughout this report. 

 Note the actions taking place to improve performance and agree any 
additional action planning required. 

 Note the performance against the 2017/18 Quality Premium Indicators. 
 
Contact: Laura Malone, Team Leader - Performance, Co-ordination and        
Development, Strategy, Transformation and Partnerships 
 
Tel: 03000 267 348  e-mail: laura.malone@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 97



Appendix 1 

 
 

 

 
 
 
Finance Performance Management is a key activity in delivering 

efficiencies and value for money 
 

Staffing Performance management is a key element of resource 
allocation 
 

Risk Effective performance management can help to highlight 
and manage key risks 
 

Equality and 
Diversity / Public 
Sector Equality 
Duty 

None 
 
 
 
 

Accommodation None 
 

Crime and 
Disorder 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy includes actions 
which contribute to community safety priorities and includes 
an objective to protect vulnerable people from harm. 
 

Human Rights None 
 

Consultation The content of the performance management process has 
been agreed with the Board and has been part of the 
consultation on the JHWS 
 

Procurement None 
 

Disability Issues A range of indicators which monitor services to people with a 
disability are included within the performance system 
 

Legal Implications Performance management is crucial to ensure that key 
legal/statutory requirements are being discharged 
appropriately 
 

 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Page 98



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar Councils

54.4%
(2015/16)

56.2%
(2016/17)

Breastfeeding initiation

57.9%
[CCG data 
combined]

(Jul-Sep17)

Tracker  57.4%
(Jul-Sep16)

Q3 
(Oct-Dec 17)

74.3%
(2014/15)

60.1%
(2014/15)

Not available

28.1%
(2015/16)

27.9%
(2016/17)

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth
29.9%

(Jul-Sep17)
Tracker  26.1%

(Jul-Sep16)
Q3 

(Oct-Dec 17)
44.3%

(Jan-Mar17)
30.6%

(Jan-Mar17)
30.3%

(2015/16)

23.8%
(2013/14)

23%
(2014/15)

Percentage of children aged 4-5 classified as overweight or 
obese

24.3%
(2015/16)

Tracker  23%
(2014/15)

Q3  
(2016/17)

22.1%
(2015/16)

24.5%
(2015/16)

Not available

36.2%
(2013/14)

36.5%
(2014/15)

Percentage of children aged 10-11 classified as overweight 
or obese

37%
(2015/16)

Tracker  36.5%
(2014/15)

Q3  
(2016/17)

34.2%
(2015/16)

37%
(2015/16)

Not available

Not available Not available
Percentage of patients seen with face to face second 
contact within 9 weeks of referral to CAMHS

92.9%
(Apr-Sep17)

Tracker N/A
Q4

(Apr-Dec 17)
Not available Not available Not available

75.2
(11/12-13/14)

72.8
(12/13-14/15)

Admission episodes for alcohol specific conditions - under 
18's (rate per 100,000)

67.5
(13/14-15/16)

Tracker  72.8
(12/13-14/15)

Q1 18/19 
(14/15-16/17)

37.4
(2013/14-
2015/16)

66.9
(2013/14-2015/16)

Not available

86%
(2015/16)

91%
(2016/17)

Percentage of exits from young person's substance 
misuse treatment that are planned discharges

90%
(Apr-Jun17)

81%  87%
(Apr-Jun16)

Q3
(Jul-Sep17)

81%
(Apr-Jun17)

Not available Not available

7.9
(2013)

5.8
(2014)

Under 16 conception rate
6.6

(2015)
Tracker  5.8

(2014)
Q4 

(2016)
3.7

(2015)
6.2

(2015)
6.1

(2015)

28.5
(2014)

26.4
(2015)

Under 18 conception rate
24.3

(Jul 15-Jun 16)
Tracker 

26.4
(Jul 14 - 
Jun15)

Q3
(Sep 15-
Oct16)

19.8
(Jul 15-Jun16)

26.3
(Jul 15-Jun16)

28.6
(2015)

Not available
16.7%

(2016/17)
Percentage of mothers smoking at time of delivery

19.6%
[Prov]

(Apr-Jun17)
15.9%  16.7%

(Apr-Jun16)
Q3

(Jul- Sep17)

10.8%
[Prov]

(Apr-Jun 17)

16.8%
[Prov]

(Apr-Jun 17)
Not available

3.4
(2012-14)

3.4
(2013-15)

Infant mortality rate
4.6

(2014-16)
Tracker  3.4

(2013-15)
Q3 2018/19
(2015-17)

3.9
(2014-16)

3.7
(2014-16)

3.7
(2012-14)

15.8
(2014/15)

14.7
(2015/16)

Emotional and behavioural health of Looked After Children 
[lower score is better]

16.0
(2016/17)

Tracker  14.7
(2015/16)

Q2 2018/19
(2017/18)

14.0
(2015/16)

14.5
(2015/16)

14.0
(2015/16)

523.5
(2013/14)

440.3
(2014/15)

Young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital as a result 
of self-harm

420.8
(2015/16)

Tracker  440.3
(2014/15)

Mar-18
430.5

(2015/16)
442.9

(2015/16)
Not available

63%
(2007/08)

72.8%
(2011/12))

Proportion of five year old children free from dental decay
64.9%

(2014/15)
Tracker  72.8%

(2011/12))
No update 
planned

75.2%
(2014/15)

72%
(2014/15)

Not available

Not available Not available
Percentage of Community Eating Disorder Service cases 
receiving NICE compliant treatment in line with the new 
access and waiting time standards

Baseline to be 
established  in 

2016/17 & targets 
developed for 

2017/18

Tracker N/A Not available 2017/18 Not available Not available Not available

Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Scorecard: 2nd Quarter 2017/18

Key - Direction of Travel: Improved   Deteriorated    Within 2%

Strategic Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in life

Previous Final Data

P
age 99



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

394.18
(2012)

407.1
(2013)

All cause mortality for persons aged under 75 years per 
100,000 population

407.1
(2014)

Tracker  407.1
(2013)

Data release 
date TBC

332.93
(2014)

409.44
(2014)

Not available

81.7
(2012-14)

83
(2013-15)

Mortality from all cardiovascular diseases  (including 
heart disease and stroke) for persons aged under 75 
years per 100,000 population

79.2
(2014-16)

Tracker  83
(2013-15)

Q3 2018/19
(2015-17)

73.5
(2014-16)

85.1
(2014-16)

Not available

168.6
(2012-14)

163.2
(2013-15)

Mortality from cancer for persons aged under 75 years 
per 100,000 population

159.6
(2014-16)

Tracker  163.2
(2013-15)

Q3 2018/19
(2015-17)

136.8
(2014-16)

161.3
(2014-16)

Not available

20.1
(2012-14)

21.8
(2013-15)

Mortality from liver disease for persons aged under 75 
years per 100,000 population

22.6
(2014-16)

Tracker  21.8
(2013-15)

Q3 2018/19
(2015-17)

18.3
(2014-16)

25.2
(2013-15)

Not available

41.8
(2012-14)

42.5
(2013-15)

Mortality from respiratory disease for persons aged 
under 75 years per 100,000 population

42
(2014-16)

Tracker  42.5
(2013-15)

Q3 2018/19
(2015-17)

33.8
(2014-16)

43.1
(2014-16)

Not available

Not available Not available Number of eligible people who receive a health check
2,967

(Apr-Sep17)
4750 9500 N/A N/A

Q3
(Apr-Dec17)

Not available Not available Not available

97.8%
(Oct-Dec16)

97.2%
(Jan-Mar17)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer within 31 days from diagnosis 
(decision to treat date) - DDES CCG 

98%
(Apr-Jun17)

96%  97.5%
(Apr-Jun16)

Q3 
(Jul-Sep 17)

97.4%
(Apr-Jun17)

Not available Not available

99.4%
(Oct-Dec16)

98.2%
(Jan-Mar17)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer within 31 days from diagnosis 
(decision to treat date) - North Durham CCG

99.1%
(Apr-Jun17)

96%  99.4%
(Apr-Jun16)

Q3 
(Jul-Sep 17)

97.4%
(Apr-Jun17)

Not available Not available

81.3%
(2015/16)

81.7%
(2016/17)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP 
referral for suspected cancer - DDES CCG

83%
(Apr-Jun17)

85%  81.5%
(Apr-Jun16)

Q3 
(Jul-Sep 17)

81.4%
(Apr-Jun17)

Not available Not available

83.9%
(2015/16)

85%
(2016/17)

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive 
treatment for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP 
referral for suspected cancer - North Durham CCG

82.9%
(Apr-Jun17)

85%  83.7%
(Apr-Jun16)

Q3 
(Jul-Sep 17)

81.4%
(Apr-Jun17)

Not available Not available

Not available
49.5%
(2014)

Cancer diagnosed at early stage (QPI)  - ND

2016/17
comparative  data

released
Mar-18

4 percentage point 
improvement or 
achieve >60% in 

2016

N/A

2015/16
baseline data

released
Mar-17

Q4 
(2016/17)

Not available Not available Not available

Not available
49.6%
(2014)

Cancer diagnosed at early stage (QPI)  - DDES

2016/17
comparative  data

released
Mar-18

4 percentage point 
improvement or 
achieve >60% in 

2016

N/A

2015/16
baseline data

released
Mar-17

Q4 
(2016/17)

Not available Not available Not available

Strategic Objective 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths

P
age 100



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

77.9
(2011-13)

78
(2012-14)

Male life expectancy at birth (years)
78.1

(2013-15)
Tracker  78

(2012-14)
Q4 

(2014-16)
79.5

(2013-15)
77.9

(2013-15)
Not available

81.3
(2011-13)

81.3
(2012-14)

Female life expectancy at birth (years)
81.2

(2013-15)
Tracker  81.3

(2012-14)
Q4 

(2014-16)
83.1

(2013-15)
81.6

(2013-15)
Not available

5.2%
(2015)

5.3%
(2016)

Successful completions as a percentage of total 
number in drug treatment - Opiates

6.5%
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  
Aug17)

8.27% - 
11.97%  5.2%

(Aug 2016)
Q3 

(2015/16)

6.7%
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  

Aug17)

Not available
Top Quartile: 

8.27% - 11.97%

25.4%
(2015)

25.7%
(2016)

Successful completions as a percentage of total 
number in drug treatment - Non Opiates

30.2%
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  
Aug17)

46.32% - 
64.36%  22.7%

(Aug 2016)
Q3 

(2015/16)

37.1%
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  

Aug17)

Not available
Top Quartile:

46.32% - 64.36%

35.9%
(2015)

27.5%
(2016)

Percentage of alcohol users that left alcohol treatment 
successfully who do not re-present to treatment within 
6 months

29.3%
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  
Aug17)

38.7%  27.2%
(Aug 2016)

Q3
(2016/17)

38.7%
(Mar16 - Feb17 

representations to  
Aug17)

Not available Not available

747.3
(2014/15)

752.18
(2015/16)

Alcohol related admissions to hospital per 100,000 
population

754.84
[Prov]

(2016/17)
Tracker  752.18

(2015/16)
Q3

(Apr-Jun17)

644.7
[Prov]

(2016/17)

867.04
[Prov]

(2016/17)
Not available

3076.1
[2903]

(2015/16)

3010.4
[2841]

(2016/17)

Four week smoking quitters per 100,000 18+ smoking 
population [Number of quitters]

888.6
[671 quitters]
(Apr-Jun17)

764
(577 quitters)

3180
(2401 

quitters)


682.4
(644 quitters)
(Apr-Jun16)

Q3
(Jul-Sep17)

Not available Not available Not available

20.3
(2014)

19%
(2015)

Estimated smoking prevalence of persons aged 18 and 
over

17.9
(2016)

Tracker  19%
(2015)

Q4 
(2017) 

15.5%
(2016)

17.2%
(2016)

Not available

Not available Not available Proportion of physically active adults
63.2%

(2015/16)
Tracker N/A 2018/19

64.9%
(2015/16)

62.8%
(2015/16)

Not available

Not available Not available
Excess weight in adults  (aged 18+) (Proportion of 
adults classified as overweight or obese)

67.5%
(2015/16)

Tracker N/A
Q3 2018/19
(2016/17)

61.3%
(2015/16)

66.3%
(2015/16)

Not available

77.9%
(2014)

77.8%
(2015)

 The percentage of women in a population eligible for 
breast screening at a given point in time who were 
screened adequately within a specified period

78.1%
(2016)

70%  77.8%
(2015)

Q4 
(2017)

75.5%
(2016)

77.3%
(2016)

Not available

78%
(2014)

77.6%
(2015)

The percentage of women in a population eligible for 
cervical screening at a given point in time who were 
screened adequately within a specified period

76.9%
(2016)

80%  77.6%
(2015)

Q4 
(2017)

72.7%
(2016)

75.2%
(2016)

Not available

N/A
61.2%
(2015)

The percentage of people eligible for bowel screening who 
were screened adequately within the previous 2½ years

60.9%
(2016)

60%  61.2%
(2015)

Q4 
(2017)

57.9%
(As at 31-Mar-16)

59.4%
(As at 31-Mar-16)

Not available

16.8%
(2011/14)

19.7%
(2012-15)

Excess winter deaths
19.7%

(2013-16)
Tracker  19.7%

(2012-15)
Q3 2018/19
(2015-17)

17.9%
(2013/16)

17.4%
(2013/16)

Not availableP
age 101



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

Not available Not available
Percentage of people with learning disabilities that have a 
health check - DDES

46.7%
(2013/14)

Tracker N/A Not available
Data release 

unknown
44.2%

(2013/14)
56.6%

(2013/14)
Not available

Not available Not available
Percentage of people with learning disabilities that have a 
health check - ND

60.3%
(2013/14)

Tracker N/A Not available
Data release 

unknown
44.2%

(2013/14)
56.6%

(2013/14)
Not available

Not available Not available

Endocine, Nutritional & Metabolic problems (QPI) 
DDES
The percentage of patients newly diagnosed with 
diabetes in the preceding 1 April -31 March who have 
been referred to a structured education programme 
within 9 months after entry on to the diabetes register

50.9%
(Aug 2017)

70% N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

Endocine, Nutritional & Metabolic problems (QPI)  ND
The percentage of patients newly diagnosed with 
diabetes in the preceding 1 April -31 March who have 
been referred to a structured education programme 
within 9 months after entry on to the diabetes register

37.7%
(Aug 2017)

70% N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

6.77%
[estimated]
(2012/13)

6.9%
(2013/14)

Prevalence of diabetes (recorded diabetes in the 
population registered with GP practices aged 17 and over)

7%
(2014/15)

Tracker  6.9%
(2013/14)

Q3  
(2015/16)

6.4% 
(2014/15)

6.7%
(2014/15)

Not available

8.7  
 (2014-15)

Not reported 
2015/16

Carer reported quality of life
8.4 

 (2016-17)
Tracker  8.7  

 (2014-15)
Q4 (2018/19)

(2018/19)
7.9 

(2014/15)
8.5

(2014/15)
8.3

(2014/15)

54.4%
(2014-15)

Not available 
(2015/16)

Overall satisfaction of carers with support and services 
they receive (Extremely/Very Satisfied) (BCF)

43.3%
(2016/17)

46.0% - 
54.0%  54.4%

(2014-15)
Q4 (2018/19)

(2018/19)

41.2%
(2014/15 National 

Survey)

49.3%
(2014/15 National 

Survey)

45.7%
(2014/15 National 

Survey)

93.5%
(2014/15)

92.1%
(2015/16)

The percentage of service users reporting that the help 
and support they receive has made their quality of life 
better

94.5%
(2016/17)

Tracker  92.1%
(2015/16)

Q1 2018/19
(2017/18)

92.4%
(2016/17)

93.8%
(2016/17

Not reported

92.8%
(At 31-Mar-16)

92.4%
[Prov]

(At 31 Mar17)

Proportion of people using social care who receive self-
directed support 

94.5%
(as at Sep 17)

Tracker  93.5%
(At Sep 16)

Q3
(as at 31 Dec-

17)

86.9%
(ASCOF 15-16)

95.4%
(ASCOF 15-16)

85.2%
(Provisional

 ASCOF 15-16)

736.3 
100,000

(2015/16)

768.8
100,000

(2016/17)

Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 population admitted on a 
permanent basis in the year to residential or nursing 
care (BCF)

322.5
[Prov]

(Apr-Sep17)
Tbc 

367.8
100,000

(Apr-Sep16)

Q3
(Apr-Dec17)

628.2
(2015/16 - 
ASCOF)

843.0
(2015/16 - 
ASCOF)

750.4 
(Provisional

 ASCOF 15-16)

85.7%
(2015/16)

87.8% 
[Prov]

(2016/17)

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still 
at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement/ rehabilitation services (BCF)

88.9%
(Jan-Jun17)

Tbc  86%
(Jan-Jun16)

Q3 
(Apr-Sep 17)

82.7%
(2015/16 - 
ASCOF)

85.5%
(2015/16 - 
ASCOF)

Not available

11.2
(2009/10)

12.1
(2010/11)

Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from 
hospital

12.4
(2011/12)

Tracker  12.1
(2010/11)

Data release 
date TBC

11.8
(2011/12)

12.7
(2011/12)

Not available

Strategic Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people with long term conditions

P
age 102



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

7.7
(2014/15)

4.6
(2015/16)

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 
population (ASCOF)

4.0
(Apr 16 - Feb 

17)
Tracker  4.6

(2015/16)
Q2 2017/18
(2016/17)

16.4
(Apr16-Feb17)

5.6
(2015/16)

Not available

285
(Jul-Sep 16)

315
(Oct-Dec 16)

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 
population (BCF)

313
(Jan-Mar 17)

417.2
(Jan-Mar 17)

Quarterly 
targets only  429

(Jan-Mar16)
Q2

(Apr-Jun17)
Not available Not available Not available

2263
(2013/14)

2183
(2014/15)

Falls and injuries in the over 65s. (Age-sex standardised 
rate of emergency hospital admissions for falls or falls 
injuries in persons aged 65 and over per 100,000 
population)

2239
(2015/16)

Tracker  2,183
(2014/15)

Q1 2018/19
(2016/17)

2,169
(2015/16)

2,257
(2015/16)

Not reported

772
(2013/14)

615
(2014/15)

Hip fractures in over 65s. (Age-sex standardised rate of 
emergency admissions for fractured neck of femur in 
persons aged 65 and over per 100,000 population)

655
(2015/16)

Tracker  615
(2014/15)

Q1 2018/19
(2016/17)

589
(2015/16)

679
(2015/16)

Not reported

71.1%
(2014/15)

65.1%
(2015/16)

Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their 
condition

64.2%
(2016/17)

Tracker  65.1%
(2015/16)

Q2 2018/19
(2016/17)

64%
(2016/17)

68.3%
(2015/16)

Not available

3062
(Oct-Dec 16)

3022
(Jan-Mar17)

Non Elective admissions per 100,000 population (per 3 
month period) (BCF)

2,963 
(Apr-Jun17)

2967
(Apr-Jun17)

Quarterly 
targets only  2993

(Apr-Jun16)
Q3 

(Jul-Sep)
Not available Not available Not available

2285
(2015/16)

2581
(2016/17)

The number of people in receipt of Telecare 
2693

(At 30 Sep 17)
Tracker  2427

(At 30 Sep16)
Q3

(At 31 Dec17)
Not available Not available Not available

1,008,612
(2015/16)

1,023,807
(2016/17)

Number of residential/nursing care beds for people 
ages 65 and over commissioned by Durham County 
Council

503,429
(Apr-Sep17)

Tracker  517,207    
(Apr-Sep16)

Q2
(Jul-Sep17)

Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) 
and inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups
a) reducing gram negative blood stream infections (BSI) 
across the whole health economy (QPI) DDES

Not available
10% 

reduction (or 
greater)

N/A
Baseline

271
(2015/16)

Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

bi) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 
urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care - 
Trimethoprium:Nitrofuratoin prescribing ratio  (QPI) 
DDES

1.376
(Apr-Jun 17)

1.842 N/A
10% reduction 

(or greater)
Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 
urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number 
of Trimethoprium items prescribed (QPI) DDES

7450
(Apr-Jun17)

8600 N/A
10% reduction 

(or greater)
Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in 
primary care (QPI) DDES

1.289
(Apr-Jun17)

1.161 items 
per STAR-

PU.
N/A Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) 
and inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups 
a) reducing gram negative blood stream infections (BSI) 
across the whole health economy (QPI) ND

Not available
10% 

reduction (or 
greater)

N/A
Baseline

165
(2015/16)

Not available Not available Not available

P
age 103



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

Not available Not available
bi) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 
urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care - 
Trimethoprium:Nitrofuratoin prescribing ratio (QPI)  ND

1.607
(Apr-Jun17)

1.929 N/A
10% reduction 

(or greater)
Not available Not available Not available

bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 
urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number 
of Trimethoprium items prescribed (QPI) ND

6097
(Apr-Jun17)

7024 N/A
10% reduction 

(or greater)
Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in 
primary care (QPI ) ND

1.177
(Apr-Jun17)

1.161 items 
per STAR-

PU.
N/A Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI)  DDES
a) cases with a positive NHS CHC Checklist have an NHS 
CHC eligibility decision made by the CCG within 28 days 
from receipt of the Checklist (or other notification of 
potential eligibility)

Baseline to be 
identified

More than 
80% within 

28 days
N/A Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI) ND
b) full NHS CHC assessments take place in an acute 
hospital setting (QPI)  DDES

Baseline to be 
indentified

less than 
15%

N/A Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI)  ND
a) cases with a positive NHS CHC Checklist have an NHS 
CHC eligibility decision made by the CCG within 28 days 
from receipt of the Checklist (or other notification of 
potential eligibility)

Baseline to be 
identified

More than 
80% within 

28 days
N/A Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available

NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI) ND
b) full NHS CHC assessments take place in an acute 
hospital setting (QPI)  ND

Baseline to be 
identified

less than 
15%

N/A Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Increase in the proportion of GP referrals made by e-
referrals  (QPI)  DDES 

73%
(Mar17)

20% increase on 
Mar16 outturn@ 

Mar17 or 
80% @ Mar17

N/A N/A N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Increase in the proportion of GP referrals made by e-
referrals (QPI)  ND

76%
(Mar17)

20% increase on 
Mar16 outturn@ 

Mar17 or 
80% @ Mar17

N/A N/A N/A Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Not available
76%

(July 2016 
baseline)

Overall experience of making a GP appointment  (QPI) 
DDES

76%
(2016/17)

85% or 3 
percentage points 
increase in July 

2016

85% or 3 
percentage points 
increase in July 

2017

 2017/18 Baseline 
to be clarified Q2  2018/19 Not available Not available Not available

Not available
77%

(July 2016 
baseline)

Overall experience of making a GP appointment (QPI) 
ND

74%
(2016/17)

85% or 3 
percentage points 
increase in July 

2016

85% or 3 
percentage points 
increase in July 

2017
 2017/18 Baseline 

to be clarified Q2  2018/19 Not available Not available Not available

P
age 104



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

12.7%
(2014/15)

14.7%
(2015/16)

Gap between the employment rate for those with a long 
term health condition and the overall employment rate

26.3%
(Jan-Mar17)

Tracker  18.5%
(Jan-Mar16)

Q3 
(Apr-Jun16)

12.2%
(Jan-Mar17)

17.7%
(Jan-Mar17)

Not available

14.8
(2012-14)

[202]

15.7
(2013-15)

[215]

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and injury of 
undetermined intent) per 100,000 population [number 
of suicides]

12.6
(2014-16)

[174]
Tracker 

15.7
(2013-15)

[215]

Q3 2018/19
(2015-17)

9.9
(2014-16)

11.6
(2014-16)

Not reported

287.4
(2013/14)

238.4
(2014/15)

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm. (Age-sex 
standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions for 
intentional self-harm per 100,000 population)

197.2
(2015/16)

Tracker  238.4
(2014/15)

Q4 
(2016/17)

196.5
(2015/16)

230.5
(2015/16)

Not available

413.2
(2012/13)

485.4
(2013/14)

Excess under 75 mortality rate  in adults with serious 
mental illness per 100,000 population

451.7
(2014/15)

Tracker  485.4
(2013/14)

Data release 
date TBC

370
(2014/15)

Not reported Not reported

48.7%
(2014/15)

49.2%
(2015/16)

Percentage of people who use adult social care services 
who have as much social contact as they want with people 
they like

49.2%
[Prov]

(2016/17)
Tracker  49.2%

(2015/16)
Q4 

(2017/18)
45.4%

 (2015/16)
49.9%

(2015/16)
Not available

55.2
(2012/13)

66
(2013/14)

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia -
DDES CCG

75.6
(2014/15)

Tracker  66
(2013/14)

Data release 
date TBC

61.4
(2014/15)

Not reported Not reported

52.6
(2012/13)

57.4
(2013/14)

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia -
North Durham CCG

67.3
(2014/15)

Tracker  57.4
(2013/14)

Data release 
date TBC

61.4
(2014/15)

Not reported Not reported

Not available Not available
Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young
People’s Mental Health Services (QPI)  DDES

Baseline to be 
identified

14% increase 
based on 2016/17 

baseline or 
increase in activity 
to enable 32% of 

young people 
starting treatment

N/A Not available Not available Not available

Not available Not available
Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young
People’s Mental Health Services (QPI)  ND

Baseline to be 
identified

14% increase 
based on 2016/17 

baseline or 
increase in activity 
to enable 32% of 

young people 
starting treatment

N/A Not available Not available Not available

Strategic Objective 4: Improve mental health and wellbeing of the population

P
age 105



Appendix 2

Indicator Latest Data
Period 
Target

2017/18
Target

Direction of 
Travel - same 

period previous 
year

Data same 
period 

previous year

Next Data 
Refresh

National North East Similar CouncilsPrevious Final Data

13.4%
(2015/16)

13%
(2016/17)

Percentage of repeat incidents of domestic violence 
(referrals to MARAC)

16.3%
(Apr-Sep17)

Less than 
25%  16.3%

(Apr-Sep16)
TBC

27%
(Jun16-Jul17)

Not available
28%

(Jun16-Jul17)

90.5%
(2014/15)

90.5%
(2015/16)

The proportion of people who use services who say 
that those services have made them feel safe and 
secure

89.3%
(2016/17)

Tracker  91.4%
(2015/16)

Q1 2018/19
(2017/18)

86.4%
(2016/17)

89.2%
(2016/17)

87.9%
[Unitary 

authorities]
(2016/17)

665
(2015/16)

809
(2016/17)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 
parental mental health is identified 

493
(Apr-Sep 17)

Tracker  337
(Ap-Sep16)

Q4 
(2017/18)

Not available Not available Not available

1,205
(2015/16)

1125
(2016/17)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 
parental domestic violence is identified 

676
(Apr-Sep 17)

Tracker  499
(Apr-sSep16)

Q4 
(2017/18)

Not available Not available Not available

491
(2015/16)

464
(2016/17)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 
parental alcohol misuse is identified 

277
(Apr-Sep 17)

Tracker  204
(Apr-Sep16)

Q4 
(2017/18)

Not available Not available Not available

420
(2015/16)

468
(2016/17)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 
parental drug misuse is identified 

294
(Apr-Sep 17)

Tracker  168
(Apr-Sep16)

Q4 
(2017/18)

Not available Not available Not available

37.6
(at 31 Mar 15)

34.9
(as at 31-Mar-16)

Number of children with a Child Protection Plan per 
10,000 population

50
(31-Sep-17)

Tracker  40.5
(31-Sep-16)

Q3 2017/18
(at Dec-17)

43.1
(31 Mar 2016)

59.6
(31 Mar 2016)

59.3
(31 Mar 2016)

Not available
94.9%

(2016/17)
Percentage of individuals who achieved their desired 
outcomes from the adult safeguarding process

96.3%
(Apr-Sep17)

Tracker  94.9%
(Apr-Sep16)

Q3
(Apr-Dec17)

Not available Not available Not available

45.6%
(2014/15)

46.7%
(2015/16)

Proportion of deaths in usual place of residence (DDES 
CCG)

48.9%
(2016/17)

Tracker  46.7%
(2015/16)

Q3 
(Jul16-Jun17)

46.1%
(2016/17)

47.1%
(2016/17)

Not available

49.2%
(2014/15)

48.8%
(2015/16)

Proportion of deaths in usual place of residence (North 
Durham CCG)

51.2%
(2016/17)

Tracker  48.8%
(2015/16)

Q3 
(Jul16-Jun17)

46.1%
(2016/17)

47.1%
(2016/17)

Not available

New data reported for all indicators in bold

Strategic Objective 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm

Strategic Objective 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and support that they need

P
age 106



 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1  Under the Health and Social Care Act (2012), the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWB) is responsible for the production of a Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment (PNA) every 3 years. The current HWB-led PNA 2015-18 can be 
found at 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/13650/Pharmaceutical-
Needs-Assessment/pdf/PharmaceuticalNeedsAssessment2015.pdf 

 
2 The next PNA is due for publication by the HWB on 1st April 2018 and the 

current draft is attached as Appendix 2 for comment before the statutory 60 
day consultation which runs from 28th November until 26th January (appendix 
2). Following this consultation the HWB will be asked to approve the final 
version of the PNA in March 2018 before publication on the Integrated Needs 
Assessment (INA) website by 1st April 2018. 

 
Background 
 

3 A PNA considers the health needs of the population and the provision of 
pharmaceutical services (i.e. community pharmacies and dispensing GP 
practices), and therefore whether there are any potential gaps in 
pharmaceutical service delivery. It is used by NHS England in its 
consideration of applications to join the pharmaceutical list (i.e. applications to 
open new pharmacies/GP practice dispensaries in County Durham), and by 
commissioners of pharmaceutical services (e.g. pharmacy services 
commissioned by Public Health and the Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs)). The PNA for County Durham links to the health needs identified in 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the priorities in the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). An updated PNA must be produced 
by the HWB every 3 years. 
 

4 The public health department leads on the development of the PNA on behalf 
of the HWB. A small steering group was established in May 2017 in order to 
oversee the development of the PNA 2018-21. Membership consists of: 
 

 Public Health - Public Health Pharmacist, Consultant in Public Health  

 Transformation and Partnerships - Public Health Intelligence Specialist 

 Partnership Manager 

 Spatial Policy Team – Senior Policy Officer  

 The Local Pharmaceutical Committee  

 A CCG Medicines Optimisation Lead  

 Healthwatch  

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 
Draft Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
2018-21 
 

 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/13650/Pharmaceutical-Needs-Assessment/pdf/PharmaceuticalNeedsAssessment2015.pdf
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/13650/Pharmaceutical-Needs-Assessment/pdf/PharmaceuticalNeedsAssessment2015.pdf


 
5 The key conclusion of the draft PNA 2018-21 is that there are sufficient 

pharmaceutical services across County Durham. This can be demonstrated 
with the following points: 
 

 There is a good distribution of pharmaceutical services in areas of high 
population density, and in areas with more significant health needs (i.e. 
areas with a high population density of older people, and in areas of 
deprivation).  

 A reasonable distribution of pharmacies exists with extended and 
weekend opening hours in all localities. However, this may need to be 
reviewed as the development of urgent care services proceeds. 

 The estimated builds of future housing developments by 2021 will not 
require new pharmaceutical services. 

 County Durham has 24 pharmacies per 100,000 population. This is 
higher than the England average of 21 per 100,000. 

   
6 This PNA conclusion should be kept under review by the HWB as part of its 

ongoing responsibility to assess the impact of any pharmacy closures, and 
particularly as urgent care primary care services develop. 
 

7 The other key conclusion is that there is still scope to further develop locally 
commissioned services from the existing pharmacies in order to further 
support priorities in the JHWS. These services should particularly focus on: 
 

 The growing older population, the health and social care integration 
agenda, and incorporating pharmacy services into Teams Around 
Patients (TAPs). 

 The further expansion of community pharmacy based public health 
services (e.g. Stop Smoking Services) now that every pharmacy is 
working towards becoming a Healthy Living Pharmacy (HLP) as part of 
the national pharmacy contract introduced in December 2016. 

 Continuing to ensure that pharmacy supports key priorities in the 
Sustainable and Transformation Plans (STPs) around prevention and 
self-care.  

 
8 It should be noted that the required changes to the final version of the PNA 

are described in comments boxes that appear throughout the document. 
These reflect e.g. changes to pharmaceutical services and minor changes to 
maps, and the addition of comments received during the forthcoming 60 day 
consultation.   
 

9 The maps in Appendix 11 of the draft PNA 2018-21 will be much clearer when 
viewed online once the final PNA is uploaded to the INA website in March 
2018. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



Recommendations  
 

10 The HWB is recommended to: 
 

a) Comment and agree on the current draft PNA 2018-21 before it begins 
the statutory 60 day consultation in preparation for publication of the 
final PNA 2018-21 on the INA website by 1st April 2018. 

 

Contact:  Claire Jones, Public Health Pharmacist   
Tel: 03000 267662  

  

Page 109



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance – No significant implications within the current public health financial 
arrangements for public health pharmacy services  
 
Staffing – No implications with the current public health staffing structure  
 
Risk – No significant implications since the HWB will be fully supported to consider 
the implications of any future changes to pharmaceutical services  
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – No implications 
 
Accommodation – No implications  
 
Crime and Disorder – No implications 
 
Human Rights – No implications 
 
Consultation – Statutory 60 day consultation December 2017 – January 2018 
 
Procurement – No significant implications within the current procurement 
arrangements for public health pharmacy services  
 
Disability Issues – No implications  
 
Legal Implications – No implications  
 
 
 

Page 110



 

1 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment   
 

2018-21 

 
 
 

  

Page 111



 

2 
 

Contents 
Executive summary  
 
Section One: Introduction  
1.1 Policy drivers    
1.2  Pharmaceutical needs assessment  
1.3  Market entry  
1.4 Process followed for developing the PNA 
1.5 Process for updating the PNA 
1.6 Localities for the purpose of the PNA  
 
Section Two: Population profile and health needs  
2.1  Population profile   
2.2  Health inequalities and deprivation   
 
Section Three: Access to pharmaceutical services  
3.1  Number, type of pharmaceutical service and geographical distribution  
3.2  Ease of access to pharmaceutical services  
3.3  Access to pharmaceutical services by opening hours  
3.4 The public view  
3.5  Future housing developments 
3.6 Future new GP practices  
 
Section Four: Service provision  
4.1 Overview 

4.1a National community pharmacy contract reforms and the local picture 
4.1b National vision for the future of community pharmacy 

4.2 Pharmaceutical services  
4.2a  Essential services  
4.2b  Advanced services  

4.2b(i) Medicines use reviews and the new medicine service  
4.2b(ii) Appliance use review and stoma customisation service 
4.2b(iii) Flu vaccination service 
4.2b(iv) NHS urgent medicine supply advanced service 

4.2c  Enhanced services  
4.3  Locally commissioned services 
 4.3a CCG commissioned services   

4.3a(i) Minor ailment service  
4.3a(ii) Anticoagulant monitoring   
4.3a(iii) Reimbursement of tuberculosis medication costs  
4.3a(iv) Food thickening voucher scheme  
4.3a(v) Palliative care scheme  

4.3b Public Health commissioned services  
4.3b(i) Sexual health services  
4.3b(ii) Stop smoking services  
4.3b(iii) Substance misuse services  

4.4   Healthy living pharmacy award   
4.5 The public view  
 
Section Five: Conclusion and recommendations   

Commented [CJ1]: Page numbers to do at a later date  

Page 112



 

3 
 

Contents (continued) 
 
List of abbreviations 
 
Appendix 1:  GP Federations and Teams Around Patients  
Appendix 2:  Targets in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19  
Appendix 3:  NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations  
  2013    
Appendix 4:  The County Durham PNA timeline 
Appendix 5:  Organisations that responded during the statutory 60 day consultation  
Appendix 6:  Results of the community pharmacy survey 
Appendix 7:  Results of the Healthwatch online public survey 
Appendix 8:  Summary of public responses received during the statutory  

60 day consultation 
Appendix 9:  Housing developments in County Durham of 100 properties or more,  
  and estimated builds by 2020-21 
Appendix 10: Location and opening hours of pharmaceutical services  
Appendix 11: Pharmaceutical service maps  
  11.1 Master map of pharmaceutical services in County Durham 
  11.2 Dales 
  11.3 Easington 
  11.4 Derwentside 
  11.5 Sedgefield 
  11.6 Durham  
  11.7 Chester-le-Street  
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 113



 

4 
 

Executive summary 
 
County Durham is a predominantly rural county with a total population of just under 
518,000 people. The County has a large and increasing aging population. The 
County also experiences higher levels of deprivation than the national average, and 
hence significant health inequalities.  
 
A Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) considers the health needs of the 
population and the provision of pharmaceutical services, and therefore, whether 
there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service delivery. It is used by NHS 
England in its consideration of applications to join the pharmaceutical list, and by 
commissioners of pharmaceutical services. The PNA for County Durham links to the 
health needs identified in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the 
priorities in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS).  
 
Under the Health and Social Care Act (2012), the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWB) is responsible for the production of the PNA. This process is led by the Public 
Health Department. An updated PNA must be produced every 3 years or sooner if 
there are significant changes to pharmaceutical services that are relevant to the 
granting of future pharmacy applications (this can also be accomplished by the 
publication of a supplementary statement). Changes to pharmaceutical services are 
more likely to occur within the timeline of this PNA due to the financial pressures in 
the national pharmacy contract and the potential closure / consolidations of existing 
pharmacies. The PNA, an up to date map of pharmaceutical services, and any 
supplementary statements can be found at 
www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment.   
 
The PNA report includes information on the following: 

 The number and geographical distribution of pharmacies and dispensing GP 
practices in County Durham. In 2017, there are 125 pharmacies and 17 
dispensing GP practices in County Durham. These are presented in 6 
localities to reflect the configuration of GP Federations and Teams Around 
Patients (TAPs). 

 Ease of access and type of pharmaceutical service in County Durham and a 
judgement on the potential gaps in the provision of pharmaceutical services.  

 
The key conclusion from the PNA is that there are sufficient pharmaceutical services 
in the 6 localities across County Durham. This can be demonstrated with the 
following points: 

 There is a good distribution of pharmaceutical services in areas of high 
population density, and in areas with more significant health needs (i.e. areas 
with a high population density of older people, and in areas of deprivation).  

 A reasonable distribution of pharmacies exists with extended and weekend 
opening hours in all localities. However, this may need to be reviewed as the 
development of urgent care services proceeds. 

 The estimated builds of future housing developments by 2021 will not require 
new pharmaceutical services. 

 County Durham has 24 pharmacies per 100,000 population. This is higher 
than the England average of 21 per 100,000. 

Commented [CJ2]: Website section needed with INA – 3 
sections required: for full PNA, updated map, and any 
supplementary statements  

Page 114

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment


 

5 
 

 
However, there is still scope to further develop locally commissioned services from 
the existing service providers in order to further support targets in the JHWS. These 
services should particularly focus on: 

 The growing older population, the integration agenda, and incorporating 
pharmacy services into TAPs. 

 The further expansion of community pharmacy based public health services 
now that every pharmacy is working towards becoming a healthy living 
pharmacy (HLP) as part of the national pharmacy contract introduced in 2016. 

 Continuing to ensure that pharmacy supports key priorities in the Sustainable 
and Transformation Plans (STPs) around the promotion of self-care, a more 
appropriate use of health services, and the development of urgent care 
services.  

 
In order to achieve these developments the public need to be made aware of what 
pharmacy can do by all stakeholders working together to promote the role of 
pharmacy by providing information, advertising, and education of targeted 
populations in County Durham.  
 

Page 115



 

6 
 

Section One: Introduction 

 

 
Key points 

 

The PNA describes the health needs of the population, current pharmaceutical 
services provision and any gaps in that provision.  
 
Pharmacy can support the achievement of a number of priorities in the JHWS. This 
includes developing services focusing on the growing older population and the 
integration agenda; expanding community pharmacy based public health services 
particularly in the areas of deprivation across the county; and continuing to ensure 
that pharmacy supports key priorities in the STPs around the promotion of self-care, 
a more appropriate use of health services, and the development of urgent care 
services. 
 

 

1.1 Policy drivers 

Implementation of the NHS Five Year Forward View (5YFV) is a key policy driver 
across the health and social care sector. The 5YFV describes the need to remove 
barriers across providers and the various healthcare settings and describes networks 
of care centred around the patient, with care is provided closer to home. Next steps 
on the NHS Five Year Forward View1 reviewed the progress made since the launch 

of the 5YFV in October 2014 and set out how the NHS will deliver improvements 
particularly in the areas of cancer, mental health and GP access, and how the way 
that care is delivered will change to ease pressure on hospitals by helping frail and 
older people live healthier, more independent lives. Described changes include: 

 Boosting mental health services by, for example, the provision of more mental 
health professionals in the community and hospitals to prevent crisis 
admissions. 

 Better access to GP services with everyone benefiting from extended opening 
in the evenings and weekends, newly designated ‘Urgent Treatment Centres’ 
and an enhanced NHS 111 service to ease pressure on Accident and 
Emergency (A&E). 

 Better care for older people by bringing together services provided by GPs, 
hospitals, therapists, nurses and care staff; and cutting emergency 
admissions and time spent in hospitals. 

 
To accelerate delivery of the 5YFV every health and social care system in the 
country came together in 44 geographic areas to create STPs which set out a clear 
approach to how the challenges in the 5YFV will be delivered locally by 2020-21.2 In 
July 2017, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was part of the 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear, and North Durham STP3; and Durham, Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCG was part of the Darlington, Durham Dales, 

                                            
1 Next steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View. NHS England, March 2017. www.england.nhs.uk/publication/next-steps-on-

the-nhs-five-year-forward-view/  
2 Delivering sustainability and transformation plans: From ambitious proposals to credible plans. The Kings Fund, February 
2017. www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/delivering-sustainability-and-transformation-plans  
3 www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/involve-me/stp/  

Page 116

http://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/next-steps-on-the-nhs-five-year-forward-view/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/next-steps-on-the-nhs-five-year-forward-view/
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/delivering-sustainability-and-transformation-plans
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/involve-me/stp/


 

7 
 

Easington and Sedgefield, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby, Hartlepool and 
Stockton-on-Tees, and South Tees STP4. Local STP priorities include:  

 Preventing ill health to reduce health inequalities and increasing self-care - 
this involves strengthening the public health agenda and supporting people to 
manage their own health and any medical problems they already have. For 
example, 27% of people seen by their GP for could have had their problem 
resolved in a different way, such as getting advice from a pharmacist5. 

 Health and care in communities and neighbourhoods – this involves 
supporting people to stay well and independent for as long as possible by 
improving health and care services within their community (including 
improving access to mental health support locally). For example, 25 – 50% of 
hospital beds are used by people who do not need hospital care6. 

 

Sitting alongside the integration agenda in the STPs is the ongoing integration work 
in County Durham funded by the Better Care Fund (BCF)7 which was announced in 
2013 and is a single pooled budget for health and social care services to work more 
closely together, based on plans agreed by the HWB, in order to support more 
person-centred, coordinated care. Local areas should ensure the financial planning 
and overall direction of travel within BCF plans and the local STP(s) are fully aligned. 
 
In 2017, the TAPs work stream began in order to enhance integration across health 
and social care in line with STPs and the BCF. TAPs represent a small group of GP 
practices and a collection of services for a 30-50,000 population in County Durham. 
These services aim to integrate health and social care services in order to promote 
seamless care for a patient with care being delivered in the community 
setting/person’s own home. A front line workforce across a number of disciplines will 
deliver care to patients, with a greater focus on prevention and independence. There 
are 13 TAPs in County Durham which are aligned to the GP Federations (see 
Appendix 1). Phase 1 began in summer 2016 with an initial focus on adult patients 
that are at very high/moderate risk of admission to hospital and care homes, with 
services to include the following: 

 GP practices 

 Social care 

 Community nursing  

 Community pharmacy  

 Vulnerable adults service  

 Specialist nursing services e.g. respiratory 

 Falls prevention services  

 Palliative care 

 Continence services  

 Intermediate care  

 Stroke services  

 Dietetics  

 Physiotherapy  

 Occupational therapy  

                                            
4 www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/sustainability-transformation-plan-stp/  
5 www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/involve-me/stp/ 
6 www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/involve-me/stp/ 
7 Integration and Better Care Fund Policy Framework 2017 to 2019. DH, March 2017. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/integration-and-better-care-fund-policy-framework-2017-to-2019  

Page 117

http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/sustainability-transformation-plan-stp/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/involve-me/stp/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/involve-me/stp/
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integration-and-better-care-fund-policy-framework-2017-to-2019


 

8 
 

 Podiatry  

 Wellbeing for Life services 

 Voluntary sector 
 
Locally, HWBs bring local authorities and CCGs together by promoting integrated 
working between commissioners of health services, public health and social care 
services in order to improve the health and wellbeing of local people. The County 
Durham JSNA8 provides the detailed overview of the current and future health and 
wellbeing needs of the people of County Durham and aims to: 

 Highlight areas where there is a need to improve health and wellbeing 
outcomes for the local community. 

 Aid decision makers in targeting resources. 

 Act as a resource document to support health and wellbeing planning and 
commissioning. 

 Help inform HWB plans and strategies to provide a basis upon which to plan 
for the achievement of local outcomes and targets. 

Since 2016 the JSNA has been presented within the health, social care and 
wellbeing section of the County Durham Integrated Needs Assessment9 (INA) as a 
series of factsheets. These factsheets are updated regularly and provide current 
data and information for stakeholders in order to inform planning and commissioning 
of services. The JSNA informs the JHWS 2016-1910 for County Durham. The JHWS 
outlines a three year vision for improving health and wellbeing, and addressing 
health inequalities in the county. It informs and influences decisions about health and 
social care services in County Durham, so that they are focused on the needs of the 
people who use them and tackle the factors that affect health and wellbeing, for 
example smoking, drugs, alcohol, unhealthy weight, mental and physical wellbeing. 
Overarching priorities in the JHWS include to reduce health inequalities and early 
deaths; to improve the quality of life, independence, and care and support for people 
with long term conditions (LTCs); and to improve the mental and physical wellbeing 
of the population. Appendix 2 describes some of these targets in more detail.  
 
1.2 Pharmaceutical needs assessment  

A PNA considers the health needs of the population and the provision of 
pharmaceutical services, and therefore, whether there are any potential gaps in 
pharmaceutical service delivery. The PNA for County Durham links to the health 
needs identified in the JSNA and the priorities described in the JHWS. 
 
All HWBs must produce an updated PNA every 3 years. A PNA is used by NHS 
England in its consideration of applications to join the pharmaceutical list under The 
NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013 (and 
2016 amendments), and by service commissioners to ensure that pharmaceutical 
and medicines optimisation services are commissioned to reflect the health needs 
and ambitions outlined within the JHWS. 

 

                                            
8 www.durham.gov.uk/jsna  
9 www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment  
10 www.durham.gov.uk/jhws  

Page 118

http://www.durham.gov.uk/jsna
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

9 
 

1.3 Market entry 

Under the NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 
2013 (and the accompanying 2016 amendments) a person (a pharmacist, dispenser 
of appliances, or in some rural areas a GP) who wishes to provide NHS 
pharmaceutical services must apply to NHS England to be included on the relevant 
pharmaceutical list. There are two types of application – excepted and routine. 
  
There are 5 types of routine market entry application. These are applications that 
seek to prove they are able to meet a pharmaceutical need as set out in the relevant 
PNA, and hence are judged against the PNA by NHS England. These routine 
applications seek to: 

 Meet a current need in the PNA 

 Meet a future need in the PNA 

 Improve current access 

 Improve future access 

 Fulfil an unforeseen benefit (where the applicant provides evidence of a need 
that was not foreseen when the PNA was published)  

 
‘Excepted’ applications are not judged against the pharmaceutical needs described 
in a PNA and include applications to provide pharmaceutical services on a distance-
selling (i.e. internet or mail order only) basis, no significant change relocations, and 
consolidation applications. Consolidation applications were introduced in 2016 by 
amendments to the NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 
Regulations 2013 to allow for the consolidation of two or more pharmacies on a 
single existing site where such a change would not create a gap in provision (as 
described by a supplementary statement that the HWB must produce on receipt of a 
consolidation application). 
 
1.4 Process followed for developing the PNA 

The PNA process follows Regulations 3-9 and Schedule 1 of The NHS 
(Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 201311 (see 
Appendix 3), with particular regard to Regulation 9 (what to consider when making 
an assessment) and Schedule 1 (information to be contained in PNAs). 
The PNA process also follows the supporting guidance in the Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment, Information Pack for Local Authority Health and Wellbeing Boards 
published by the Department of Health (DH) in 201312.  
 
The Public Health Department of Durham County Council (DCC) oversaw the 
development of the PNA on behalf of the HWB. A small steering group was 
established in May 2017 in order to produce the first draft of the PNA. Membership 
consisted of: 
 
  

                                            
11The NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013.   

www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made  
12 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment, Information Pack for Local Authority Health and Wellbeing Boards. DH 2013. 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack  

Page 119

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

10 
 

Table 1: PNA steering group members  

Name Role 

Claire Jones Public Health Pharmacist, Public Health, DCC 

Nick Springham Consultant in Public Health, Public Health, DCC 

Kirsty Roe Public Health Intelligence Specialist, Transformation and 
Partnerships, DCC 

John Russell Senior Policy Officer, Spatial Policy Team, Regeneration and 
Local Services, DCC 

Julie Bradbrook Partnership Manager, Partnerships and Community 
Engagement, Transformation and Partnerships, DCC 

Emma Morris  Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) 

Joan Sutherland  Medicines Optimisation Lead, North Durham CCG 

Zena Jones Healthwatch  

 
During May – August 2017, the Public Health Department gathered the relevant 
information from each steering group member; pharmaceutical service information 
from various service commissioners and portfolio leads; responses from a LPC-
approved community pharmacy questionnaire; and responses from an online 
Healthwatch questionnaire before preparing a draft PNA. This was signed off by 
steering group members in August 2017, before starting the process of internal DCC 
scrutiny. A revised draft then underwent the statutory 60 day public consultation 
during December 2017 – January 2018 before final sign off by the HWB in March 
2018. Appendix 4 contains the PNA timeline and Appendix 5 summarises the 
stakeholder organisations that commented on the draft PNA during the statutory 60 
day consultation.  
 
1.5 Process for updating the PNA 

Regulation 6(3) of The NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 
Regulations 2013 describes the process of PNA updates (see Appendix 3).  
 
HWBs must produce an updated PNA every 3 years or sooner if there are any 
significant changes to pharmaceutical services that are relevant to the granting of 
future pharmacy applications. The latter can also be accomplished by the publication 
of a supplementary statement: 

 A supplementary statement must be issued in connection with the granting of 
a consolidation application (see Section 1.3).  

 A supplementary statement may be issued following a change in provision / 
availability of pharmaceutical service since the publication of the PNA that is 
relevant to the granting of future routine applications. 

 Changes to pharmaceutical services that are relevant to the granting of future 
routine applications are generally changes that lead to a gap in 
pharmaceutical services, or changes that meet an identified need in the PNA 
(e.g. to improve access or an identified need in the PNA). However 
supplementary statements may also be issued for opening / closing of 
premises and no significant change relocations of pharmacy premises which 
do not impact on the granting of future routine applications, but could be 
relevant to the granting of future routine applications due to Regulation 31 
(adjacent premises).  

Page 120



 

11 
 

 Supplementary statements are a way of updating what the PNA says about 
which pharmaceutical services are provided and where. They are not a way of 
updating what the PNA says about needs (this is covered by Regulation 6(2) 
of the 2013 regulations). For example: A HWB identifies that a housing 
development is anticipated to commence in the second year its PNA and that 
there would be a need for the provision of pharmaceutical services to the 
development at the point of occupation of the hundredth house. Subsequently 
the housing development is delayed – a supplementary statement is not 
appropriate as there have been no changes to the availability of 
pharmaceutical services (i.e. pharmaceutical need). 

 
1.6 Localities for the purpose of the PNA  

Based on how the population of County Durham lives and travels, the localities 
chosen for the 2015-18 PNA, and the configuration of GP Federations and TAPs 
(see Appendix 1), the following localities were chosen: 

1. Dales 
2. Easington 
3. Derwentside 
4. Sedgefield 
5. Durham 
6. Chester-le-Street 

 
 
 
  

Page 121



 

12 
 

Section Two: Population profile and health needs13 
 

 
Key points 

 

There is generally a good distribution of pharmacies across the 6 localities to match 
the areas of higher population density. 
 
Similarly, there is generally a good distribution of pharmacies across the 6 localities 
to match the areas of higher population density of older people. This is important 
since the older population is increasing. In addition, older patients often have higher 
morbidity and generally require more support with their medicines and to access 
pharmaceutical services. 
 
County Durham experiences higher levels of deprivation than the national average. 
Research by Durham University has shown that 99.8% of the population in the areas 
of highest deprivation in England have access to a community pharmacy within a 20 
minute walk. This pattern is generally supported locally in each of the 6 localities 
where pharmacy locations are mapped against areas of deprivation. Therefore 
community pharmacy is already well-placed to provide pharmaceutical and public 
health services in the heart of deprived communities. 
 

 
2.1 Population profile  

Population information for County Durham shows that: 

 The total population had increased to 517,800 in 2014. 

 Projections indicate a further increase of 2.8% by 2021 (to 532,200 from the 
2014 base year), rising to 548,500 people by 2030.  

 The 65+ age group is projected to increase from almost one in five people in 
2014 (19.6%) to one in four people (25.3%) by 2030, which equates to an 
increase of 36.8% from 101,500 to 138,800 people. In addition, the proportion 
of the County’s population aged 85+ is predicted to almost double by 2030. 

 
Appendix 11 contains maps in each of the 6 localities where pharmacy locations are 
mapped against population density (all ages). There is generally a good distribution 
of pharmacies across the 6 localities to match the areas of higher population density. 
Similarly, Appendix 11 contains maps in each of the 6 localities where pharmacy 
locations are mapped against population density of the over 65’s. Again, there is 
generally a good distribution of pharmacies across the 6 localities to match the areas 
of higher population density of older people. This is important since older patients 
often have higher morbidity and generally require more support with their medicines 
and to access pharmaceutical services. 
 
2.2 Health inequalities and deprivation  

Average life expectancy in County Durham has improved for males (78.1 years) but 
reduced slightly for females (81.4 years). Both are still behind the England average 

                                            
13 Information taken from the JSNA (and accompanying INA factsheets) and the JHWS 2016-19. More detailed information is 

available at www.durham.gov.uk/jhws and www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment  

 

Page 122

http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment


 

13 
 

of 79.5 years for males and 83.2 years for females. Both prevalence of LTCs (such 
as diabetes, coronary heart disease (CHD), and stroke) and mortality rates for the 
major causes of death (cardiovascular disease (CVD), cancer and stroke) are 
significantly higher in County Durham than England. Between 2011 and 2013 CVD 
and cancer accounted for 63% of early or premature deaths in County Durham and 
as such are priority areas for action locally.  
It is therefore important that community pharmacy becomes aware of and signposts 
to the forthcoming Join the Dots service which will provide one stop support for any 
County Durham resident with a diagnosis of cancer; and is involved in the NHS 
Health Check Service.  
 
The links between poor health outcomes and deprivation are well documented. In 
County Durham, levels of deprivation are higher and life expectancy is lower than the 
England average, and there is also inequality within the geography of County 
Durham itself for many measures, including life expectancy and premature mortality. 
For example, in County Durham, men born in the most affluent areas will live 6.9 
years longer than those born in the most deprived areas; women born in the most 
affluent areas will live 7.6 years longer than those born in the most deprived areas. 
 
Much of our population suffer from avoidable ill-health or premature deaths. Lifestyle 
factors remain a key driver to reducing premature deaths. For example: 

 Smoking remains the biggest single contributor to the shorter life expectancy 
experienced locally and contributes substantially to the cancer burden. 

 The levels of excess weight are higher across County Durham (69% of adults) 
than the North East (68.6%) and significantly higher than England (64.6%). 

 The rate for alcohol-specific admissions to hospital for adults at 788 per 
100,000 population is worse than the England average of 645.  

Local priorities for tackling health inequalities in County Durham therefore include 
reducing smoking, tackling childhood and adult unhealthy weight, promoting 
breastfeeding, reducing alcohol consumption, reducing teenage conceptions (and 
promoting good sexual health), promoting positive mental health, and reducing early 
deaths from heart disease and cancer. 
 
A study published in the British Medical Journal (BMJ) in 2014 by Durham 
University14 sought to determine the percentage of the population in England that 
have access to a community pharmacy within a 20 minute walk, and how this linked 
to social deprivation. It found that 90.2% of the population in the areas of lowest 
deprivation have access to a community pharmacy within a 20 minute walk, whilst 
99.8% of the population in the areas of highest deprivation have access to a 
community pharmacy within a 20 minute walk.  
This is supported locally by the maps in Appendix 11 where pharmacy locations are 
mapped against deprivation to show a good availability of pharmacies across the 
areas of deprivation in the 6 localities. Therefore community pharmacy is already 
well-placed to provide pharmaceutical and public health services in the heart of 
deprived communities, and to work closely with these local communities in order to 
change the health inequalities that exist. 
  

                                            
14 Todd et al. The positive pharmacy care law: an area level analysis of the relationship between community pharmacy 

distribution, urbanity and social deprivation in England. BMJ 2014 4(8) 1-8. http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764  

Page 123

http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764


 

14 
 

Section Three: Access to pharmaceutical services  
 

 
Key points 

 

County Durham has a good distribution of pharmaceutical services. This is reflected 
by the view of a small sample of the public where 93% of people who responded to a 
Healthwatch survey stated that they can easily access pharmaceutical services 
 
At the time of writing the PNA in 2017, County Durham has an above national 
average supply of community pharmacies. This is an opportunity to allow for more 
patient choice, and for additional pharmaceutical services to the ageing and deprived 
populations in County Durham. However with the funding cuts in the national 
pharmacy contract a number of pharmacies may close or consolidate during the life 
of this 3 year PNA. The HWB will then consider whether this leaves a gap in 
pharmaceutical services in County Durham.  
 
A good distribution of pharmacies exist with extended and weekend opening hours in 
all localities. People requiring urgent medication from primary care services are 
generally directed to a 100-hour pharmacy open in that locality. The CCGs will 
continue to monitor the nature of the prescribed medication and the distances that 
people travel to receive any urgent medication in order to make a judgement as to 
whether there continues to be an adequate provision of pharmaceutical services 
across all 6 PNA localities. 
  
None of the predicted housing development builds by April 2021 will require new 
pharmaceutical services due to satisfactory cover from already existing services. 
However this position should be particularly reviewed again in the 2021-24 PNA as 
builds on the larger developments start to progress.  
 
A review of the rurality of County Durham is required by NHS England following an 
appeal to the NHS Litigation Authority in 2011. 
 

 
3.1 Number, type of pharmaceutical service and geographical distribution 

As highlighted in Section 2.2, a study published in the BMJ in 2014 by Durham 
University15 found that 90.2% of the population in the areas of lowest deprivation in 
England have access to a community pharmacy within a 20 minute walk, whilst 
99.8% of the population in the areas of highest deprivation in England have access 
to a community pharmacy within a 20 minute walk.  
 
In 2017 there are 125 pharmacies in County Durham (see Appendix 10 for 
pharmaceutical services in each locality, including which pharmacies are distance 
selling and which are 100-hour pharmacies; and Appendix 11 for the locations of 
pharmacy services in each of the 6 localities). The number reported in the last PNA 
of 2015 was also 125.  
 

                                            
15 Todd et al. The positive pharmacy care law: an area level analysis of the relationship between community pharmacy 

distribution, urbanity and social deprivation in England. BMJ 2014 4(8) 1-8. http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764  

Commented [CJ3]: To add in comments from statutory 60 
day consultation in December 2017 – January 2018. 

Page 124

http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764


 

15 
 

The County Durham population in 2014 was 517,800. Projections indicate this will 
increase to 532,200 people by 2021. This means that County Durham has 24 
pharmacies per 100,000 population (reducing to 23 pharmacies per 100,000 
population in 2021). The current figure is therefore higher than the 2016 North-East 
and England average of 23 and 21 per 100,000, respectively. This is an opportunity 
to allow for more patient choice, and additional pharmaceutical services to the 
ageing and deprived populations in County Durham. However with the funding cuts 
in the national pharmacy contract a number of pharmacies may close or consolidate 
(see Section 1.3) during the life of this 3 year PNA. The HWB will then consider 
whether this leaves a gap in pharmaceutical services. 
 
In 2017 there are 16 dispensing GP practices (see Appendix 10 for pharmaceutical 
services in each locality, including opening hours of GP practice dispensaries). In the 
last 2015 PNA there were 18 dispensing practices. Dispensing doctors are 
authorised to provide drugs and appliances in designated rural areas known as 
controlled localities. A controlled locality is an area that has been determined to be 
‘rural in character’ by NHS England, a primary care trust (PCT) predecessor 
organisation, or following an appeal to the NHS Litigation Authority. NHS England 
holds the map of controlled localities in County Durham and Darlington. A review of 
the rurality of County Durham is required by NHS England following an appeal to the 
NHS Litigation Authority in 2011. Dispensing doctors do not provide the full range of 
pharmaceutical services that pharmacies do, however, CCGs commission practice 
pharmacists to work in all GP practices including dispensing practices and nationally 
there is a drive to integrate clinical pharmacists into GP practices as is already 
happening is some areas of County Durham in 2017. 
 
The map in Appendix 11.1 shows that there is a good distribution of pharmacies and 
dispensing practices across County Durham, with the rural population mainly being 
served by dispensing practices. Locality mapping of pharmacy services in Appendix 
11.2 – 11.7 shows that there is good distribution of pharmacies across County 
Durham particularly in areas of higher population density (all ages and the over 65’s) 
and in areas of higher deprivation. Pharmaceutical services need to be targeted to 
the populations with the highest health needs so it is important to ensure that 
services are accessible to the population in the 30% most deprived areas, and to the 
older population.  
 
3.2 Ease of access to pharmaceutical services  

An important consideration in determining the adequacy of pharmaceutical services 
is how long it takes to travel to a pharmacy. However the majority of pharmacies 
provide a non-commissioned goodwill delivery service (Note: from the responses to 
the May 2017 community pharmacy survey there are generally 1-2 pharmacies in 
each locality that do not provide a delivery service however the national pharmacy 
funding cuts may stop the provision of services which pharmacies are not obliged to 
provide, such as these delivery services). In addition the roll out of repeat 
dispensing, the electronic prescription service (EPS), and eRepeats helps to support 
convenience and ease of access for patients across County Durham. As discussed 
in Section 2.2 a study published in the BMJ in 2014 by Durham University16 found 
that over 90% of the population in England have access to a community pharmacy 

                                            
16 Todd et al. The positive pharmacy care law: an area level analysis of the relationship between community pharmacy 

distribution, urbanity and social deprivation in England. BMJ 2014 4(8) 1-8. http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764  

Page 125

http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764


 

16 
 

within a 20 minute walk. This is generally supported locally from the mapping 
exercise in Appendix 11 which shows there is a good distribution of pharmacies 
across the 6 localities. In addition, the previous 2015 PNA stated: ‘of the 291,273 
properties in County Durham only 254 are not within a 20 minute drive of a 
pharmacy or dispensing practice. These households are largely situated in the 
Dales’.  
 
The Equality Act 201017 sets out the framework which requires service providers not 
to discriminate against persons with a disability. A person is regarded as being 
disabled if they have a long term physical or mental impairment which has a 
substantial adverse effect on that person’s ability to carry out day to day activities. If 
there are obstacles to accessing a service then the service provider must consider 
what reasonable adjustments are needed to overcome that obstacle so that access 
is provided to a service as close as it is reasonably possible to get to the standard 
normally offered to the public at large. The provider will be in breach of the legislation 
if there is a reasonable adjustment available which he chooses not to make, making 
the disabled person unable to access the service.  Easy open containers, large print 
labels, and reminder charts are common adjustments in pharmacy. In May 2017, 
19% of pharmacies across County Durham did not have unaided wheelchair access 
(see Table 2). 
 
Table 2: Pharmacies with no unaided wheelchair access in County Durham  

Locality  Total number of 
pharmacies  

No unaided wheelchair access*  

Dales 23 4 

Easington 28 6 

Derwentside 20 2 

Sedgefield 21 3 

Durham 22 7 

Chester-le-Street  11 2 
Total 125 24 
Source: Pharmacy PNA survey May 2017 (full summary in Appendix 6)  
*Of the 84% of pharmacies that responded to the survey 

 
3.3 Access to pharmaceutical services by opening hours  

A pharmacy has 40 core contractual hours (or 100 for those that have opened under 
the former exemption from the market entry test), the timings of which cannot be 
amended without the consent of NHS England. A pharmacy can also be open for 
additional ‘supplementary hours’. However, with a 3 month notice period to NHS 
England, these supplementary hours can stop at any time therefore in the climate of 
the financial cuts with the national pharmacy contract (introduced in December 2016) 
all assessments on access to pharmacy services by opening hours are made using  
core hours only (however note that Appendix 10 also lists the additional 
supplementary hours for each pharmacy in order to give a full picture of total 
pharmacy opening hours in September 2017).  
 
Appendix 10 shows the locations and opening hours (i.e. both core and 
supplementary opening hours of pharmacies, and opening hours of GP practice 

                                            
17 PSNC Briefing 01/16: Equality Act 2010. January 2016. http://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/pharmacy-regulation/dda/  

Page 126

http://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/pharmacy-regulation/dda/


 

17 
 

dispensaries) of pharmaceutical services across the 6 localities with a distinction of 
which pharmacies are 100-hour and which pharmacies are distance-selling. In 
addition the maps in the 6 localities in Appendix 11 shows the location of pharmacies 
with core opening hours after 6pm (these are the 100-hour pharmacies only) and 
pharmacies with core opening hours at the weekend (with a 100-hour pharmacy 
distinction). There is generally a good distribution of pharmacies open at weekends 
across the 6 localities.  
 
In 2017 there are 12 100-hour pharmacies out of a total of 125 pharmacies in County 
Durham (see Appendix 10) which provide extended and out of hours cover for 
pharmaceutical services across the county (see Table 3). 
 
Table 3: 100-hour pharmacies in County Durham  

Locality  Total number 
of 
pharmacies  

Number of  
100-hour 
pharmacies   

Location 

Dales 23 4 Bishop Auckland 

Easington 28 2 Peterlee, Seaham 

Derwentside 20 3 Consett, Stanley, Tanfield 

Sedgefield 21 2 Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor 

Durham 22 1 Dragonville Industrial Estate 

Chester-le-Street  11 0 - 
Total 125 12  

 
As part of the 5YFV people continue to be encouraged to help themselves (via the 
information at www.nhs.uk) and to visit their pharmacy for healthcare advice and to 
treat minor ailments. In addition, as part of the 5YFV, there is a drive to improve 
access to urgent care services. DDES CCG began to operate a new primary care 
access scheme in April 2017 (with North Durham CCG implementing a similar 
service in September 2017).  In DDES CCG, if a person urgently requires a doctor 
then they are advised to contact their own GP practice between 8am – 6pm Monday 
to Friday. If their own GP practice cannot see them that day they will be given an 
appointment at the nearest primary care service. If they require an urgent doctor’s 
appointment between 6pm – 8am weekdays, or at weekends, then they are advised 
to contact NHS 111 to be signposted to the appropriate service. The primary care 
services operate between 8am – 8pm Monday to Friday, and 8am – 1pm Saturday, 
Sunday, and Bank Holidays. These are located in: 

 Dales – Stanhope, Barnard Castle, and Bishop Auckland  

 Sedgefield  - Spennymoor, Newton Aycliffe, and Sedgefield  

 Easington – Seaham, Easington, and Peterlee 
People requiring urgent medication are generally provided with a paper prescription 
and directed to a 100-hour pharmacy open in that locality. In these 3 localities there 
are 100-hour pharmacies in Bishop Auckland, Spennymoor, Newton Aycliffe, 
Seaham, and Peterlee (see Table 3). The CCG will continue to monitor the nature of 
the prescribed medication (i.e. whether the prescribed medication is urgent or could 
be dispensed at that person’s usual pharmacy the following day) and the distances 
that people travel to receive any urgent medication in order to make a judgement as 
to whether there continues to be an adequate provision of pharmaceutical services 
across all localities. The LPC will then work closely with local contractors and the 
CCG to scope the feasibility of increasing pharmacy opening hours. 

Page 127

http://www.nhs.uk/


 

18 
 

 
3.4 The public view 

Healthwatch carried out an online survey in the summer of 2017 with a view to 
gaining an initial insight into how a small sample of the public (total of 164 
responses) are accessing pharmaceutical services and their overall views of the 
services they receive (see Appendix 7). In terms of how the public are accessing 
pharmaceutical services across County Durham: 

 56% of people who responded to the survey access pharmaceutical services 
once a month, with 85% of people always / usually using the same 
pharmaceutical service.  

 93% of people who responded to the survey can easily access 
pharmaceutical services, with 66% of them visiting a pharmaceutical service 
by car.  

 

Appendix 7 also lists the positive and negative comments received on staff, access 
and services from this survey. The comments regarding access across the 6 
localities are summarised below. A common theme seems to be that, in some cases, 
pharmacy opening hours do not match those of GP practices. If a pharmacy wishes 
to change its opening hours to match those of a GP practice, it must first apply to 
NHS England to alter its ‘supplementary’ opening hours (see Section 3.3).  
 
Across County Durham (where no postcode was indicated on the survey return) 
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Good location. 

 It is well located and is open good hours. 

 Long opening hours. 
Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 Increase in out of hours cover.  
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 Later opening hours. Their hours do not match those of the GP practice. 

 Opening hours longer. 

 Longer opening hours and weekend opening times. 

 Open longer hours. 

 
Dales  
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Local and convenient. 

 Convenient long opening hours. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 Access. 

 Longer Saturday opening times or one late night per week - it is sometimes awkward 
collecting prescriptions with working full time. 

 
Easington  
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?  

 Not open very much over the weekend period.  
 
Derwentside  
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Long opening hours and 7 day opening. 

 Fantastic opening hours. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

Commented [CJ4]: To add comments received during 60 
day consultation (Appendix 8).  

Page 128



 

19 
 

 Pharmacy joined onto the GP should be open the same hours. The pharmacy closes at 5.30 
but the GP appointments run until 6.30 so means not able to pick up an urgent prescription 
the same day. 

 Open Saturdays. 
 
Sedgefield  
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Opening hours are good - stay open late, all others close at teatime. 

 Great pharmacy is in house which is convenient. 

 Easily accessible. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?  

 Better opening times and weekend opening. 

 Waiting times could be reduced. 

 Later opening hours. 

 Wait time on prescriptions (doctors quicker to get prescription). 

 
Durham 
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Local and convenient prescription service. 

 They are open long hours to coincide with the doctor’s surgery. 
Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 Yes a Saturday service. 

 They are not open at lunchtimes or evenings.  
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 Open Saturdays. 

 More staff at busy times and a better waiting area. 

 Open on a weekend and one late evening per week. 

 Be open at lunchtimes and evenings and Sundays. 

 Longer opening hours. 

 Weekend opening hours. 

 Closed at lunchtime - inconvenient. Stay open all day. 
    
Chester-le-Street 
Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 It would be helpful if their opening times were longer for people who work during the day.  
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 The shop is not accessible if you are a wheelchair user.  

 
  

Page 129



 

20 
 

3.5 Future housing developments 

For potential future changes to pharmaceutical need due to new housing 
developments during 2018-21, an analysis of building ‘commitments’ (i.e. sites with 
planning permission) in County Durham was undertaken during May – July 2017. 
Appendix 9 shows the future housing developments of 100 or more builds and the 
estimated progress by 2020-21.  
In summary, none of the predicted builds by April 2021 will require new 
pharmaceutical services. The impact in each locality of 100 or more predicted builds 
is discussed below:  
 
Dales 
The largest estimated build by 2020-21 is at Brack’s Farm (120 houses). However Bishop Auckland is 
already well serviced with 9 pharmacies that are within a 20 minute drive of this site. 
 
Easington 
The largest estimated builds by 2020-21 are at Peterlee (105 houses) and Wheatley Hill (100 
houses). Peterlee is already well serviced with 5 pharmacies that are within a 20 minute drive of this 
site. Similarly Wheatley Hill itself is already serviced by a single pharmacy.  
 
Derwentside 
The largest estimated builds by 2020-21 are in the Consett area (total 360 houses). However the 
Consett area is already well serviced by 6 pharmacies.  
Estimated builds of over 100 houses are also at Stanley (140 houses). However Stanley is well 
already serviced by 4 pharmacies. 
 
Sedgefield 
The largest estimated builds by 2020-21 are in the Spennymoor area (total of approximately 600 
houses). However, for the purposes of this assessment the assumption is made that these 
developments will have a significant proportion of occupants from the existing population, and hence 
there will be sufficient pharmaceutical services in the Spennymoor area which is already serviced by 4 
pharmacies.  
Estimated builds of over 100 houses are also at Shildon (100 houses), Sedgefield (105 houses), and 
Chilton (total of 180 houses). These areas are already serviced by pharmacies (3, 1, and 1 
respectively). 
 
Durham 
The largest estimated builds by 2020-21 are in and around Durham City (total of approximately 540 
houses). Durham City has well connected sustainable transport links which will provide easy access 
to the numerous pharmaceutical services in and around the Durham area.  
Estimated builds of over 100 houses are also at Meadowfield (140 houses), Ushaw Moor (101 
houses) and West Rainton (120 houses). These areas all have a pharmacy.  
 
Chester-le-Street 
The largest estimated build by 2020-21 is at Vigo Lane (90 houses). Chester-le Street is already well 
serviced by 5 pharmacies.  

 
It is recommended that future PNAs reconsider the need for new pharmaceutical 
services across all localities as the larger housing developments progress. At this 
review, factors to take into account for each new housing development should 
include: 

 Is it a significant housing development (e.g. with a build of over 100 houses)? 

 What type of houses will be built in this development (e.g. bungalows which 
are more likely to attract an elderly population; a housing association 
development which may be associated with a population experiencing 
multiple deprivations)? 

Page 130



 

21 
 

 Are other developments planned within that housing development (e.g. a 
health centre or retail units)?  

 Can a judgement be reasonably made as to whether this development may 
result in a re-distribution of the existing population in an area (e.g. a 
development specifically intended to meet localised housing needs) or a new 
population moving in to the area (e.g. a newly retired population moving to a 
local beauty spot, or as a result of the impact of a significant new employment 
opportunity)? 

 Is the predicted incoming population likely to: 
1. Alter their choice of GP practice? 
2. Have significant health needs (e.g. an elderly population, or a population 

suffering from multiple deprivations)? 
3. Be able to easily access pharmaceutical services e.g. via sustainable 

transport or by car)? 
 
3.6 Future new GP practices18 

In the summer of 2017, there are no approved plans for builds for new GP 
practices. However, in the summer of 2017, there are aspirations for builds for 
new GP practices in the areas of: 

 Bowburn 

 Coxhoe 

 Sedgefield 

 Newton Aycliffe 
If any of these aspirations result in a build for a new GP practice then the HWB 
will consider whether this now results in a gap in pharmaceutical services in this 
area.  
 
 

 
 
 
  

                                            
18 Information obtained from NHS Property Services in August 2017  

Page 131



 

22 
 

Section Four: Service provision 
 

 
Key points 

 

All stakeholders should continue to work together to support the ongoing utilisation of 
eRepeats.  
 
Community pharmacy should become an integral part of the integration agenda and 
TAPs to support patients with their medication. Commissioning of services to further 
support medicines optimisation should be considered, particularly with the growing 
elderly population in County Durham. This should include commissioning of 
enhanced services by NHS England, and take into consideration other medicines 
optimisation services e.g. clinical pharmacists working in GP practices and in care 
homes. 
 
For advanced services, the LPC should continue its work to encourage all 
contractors to provide the flu vaccination service and the national pilot the NHS 
Urgent Medicine Supply Advanced Service (NUMSAS). The LPC should consider 
the potential of improving and extending the NUMSAS to also include a walk-in 
service. The LPC should scope local training packages for the Appliance Use 
Review (AUR) service and the Stoma Customisation Service (SCS), the provision of 
which by community pharmacy is still very minimal in each locality. In addition, all 
stakeholders should continue to work together to support the ongoing utilisation of 
post-discharge medicines use reviews (MURs) through the Transfer of Care (TOC) 
pathway.  
 
As part of the STP priorities to support self-care and the appropriate use of health 
care services by the public, it is important for community pharmacy to engage with 
the NUMSAS and for the CCG commissioning of a minor ailment service to continue 
alongside the national push to encourage the public to self-care.  
 
In terms of public health services, commissioners may wish to continue to increase 
access to the community pharmacy needle exchange service, and to ensure that 
community pharmacy continues to be part of the NHS Health Check Service. 
Commissioners should also continue to promote community pharmacy signposting to 
the Wellbeing for Life Service, and the forthcoming Join the Dots Service.  

 
HLPs should continue to be supported now that attainment of the Level 1 Award is 
part of the national pharmacy contract, and as part of the local drive to expand 
community pharmacy based public health services particularly in the deprived areas 
across the county. This should particularly involve HLPs broadening their signposting 
to also tackle the wider determinants of health (e.g. social, economic and 
environmental factors). 
 
In order to achieve any pharmacy service development the public need to be made 
aware of what pharmacy can do by all stakeholders working together to promote the 
role of pharmacy by providing information, advertising, and education of targeted 
populations in County Durham.  
 

Page 132



 

23 
 

 
The vast majority of prescriptions issued by County Durham GP practices are 
dispensed by pharmaceutical services in County Durham. Therefore pharmacies 
outside County Durham are not ‘necessary’ to provide the essential pharmaceutical 
service in County Durham. However it is important that commissioners work across 
borders to ensure that service developments do not disadvantage those living in 
cross boundary areas. This has been flagged by service providers in the 
Fencehouses area of the Chester-le-Street locality. 
 

 
4.1 Overview   

 
4.1a National community pharmacy contract reforms and the local picture 

In December 2016 a new national community pharmacy contract was introduced.  
The overall Government vision for this contract is: “for community pharmacy to be 
integrated with the wider health and social care system. This will help relieve 
pressure on GPs and A&E departments, ensure optimal use of medicines, and will 
mean better value and patient outcomes. It will support the promotion of healthy 
behaviour change and ill health prevention, as well as contributing to delivering 7 day 
health and care services.”  
 
The Government also imposed a two-year funding package on community 
pharmacy. These funding cuts - of around 7.5% in 2017-18 compared with 2015-16 
– are likely to force some pharmacies to close or merge (see Section 1.3 for 
consolidation pharmacy applications) since the average pharmacy (excluding very 
large high street pharmacies and supermarket pharmacies) earns 90–95% of its 
income from the national pharmacy contract and the commissioned services it 
provides. 
 
The Government believes these funding cuts can be made without compromising the 
overall quality of services or public access to them because, for example it states 
that: “there are more pharmacies than are necessary to maintain good patient 
access.” 
In order to protect patient access in areas of deprivation or where community 
pharmacy provision is sparse a Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS) was also 
introduced in December 2016. This scheme pays additional monies to all small and 
medium sized pharmacies that are a mile or more from another pharmacy (this is 
measured by road distance rather than as the crow flies). In County Durham, 34% 
(42) pharmacies are / may be eligible for this payment according to the May 2017 
community pharmacy survey (see Appendix 6). A relatively high percentage would 
be expected due to the rural nature of County Durham.  
 
Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee19 (PSNC) comments on the funding 
cuts included: “Although it is unlikely that pharmacies will close immediately as a 
result of the pharmacy funding cuts, pharmacy owners will be forced to take steps 
quickly to reduce costs. These are likely to include reducing opening hours and 
staffing, and stopping the provision of services which they are not obliged to provide, 

                                            
19 PSNC promotes and supports the interests of all NHS community pharmacies in England. It is national body responsible for 

negotiating the national pharmacy contract with Government. See http://psnc.org.uk/  

Page 133

http://psnc.org.uk/


 

24 
 

such as home delivery of medicines.” In May 2017 only 1-2 pharmacies in each of 
the 6 localities did not deliver medication (see Appendix 6). Delivery of medication is 
goodwill non-commissioned service. 
 
From 2017/18 the new national pharmacy contract also included a Quality Payments 
Scheme where payments are made to pharmacies meeting certain gateway and 
quality criteria. To qualify for payments, pharmacies must first meet four gateway 
criteria: 

1. The contractor must be offering at the pharmacy the MUR or the new 
medicines service (NMS) or must be registered to provide the NUMSAS (see 
Section 4.2b). 

2. The NHS Choices entry for the pharmacy must be up to date. From the 
results of the May 2017 community pharmacy survey (84% response rate), 
only a single pharmacy had not accomplished this. This is important for both 
the public and NHS111 to be able to access accurate information about the 
availability of pharmacy services.  

3. Pharmacy staff at the pharmacy must be able to send and receive NHS mail. 
From the results of the May 2017 community pharmacy survey (84% 
response rate), 35 pharmacies had yet to sign up for a NHS email address. 
Again it is important that all pharmacies have a NHS email address so that 
they can provide the NUMSAS (see Section 4.2b). 

4. The contractor must be able to demonstrate ongoing utilisation of the EPS at 
the pharmacy premises. From the results of the May 2017 community 
pharmacy survey (84% response rate), only a single pharmacy was not EPS 
enabled. This is important as all national, regional, and local primary care 
stakeholders continue their work to roll out the implementation of eRepeats 
(i.e. repeat dispensing via the EPS) for appropriate patients in order to 
improve the patient pathway, reduce GP practice workload, improve the 
clinical care that patients receive in their community pharmacy. It is also 
important to enable the provision of the NUMSAS. 

 
Each pharmacy passing these four gateway then receive quality payments for quality 
criteria including: 

1. Achieving the national self-assessment HLP Level 1 Award.  
2. 80% of all pharmacy staff working in patient facing roles trained as Dementia 

Friends. 
3. Evidence of asthma patients, for whom more than 6 short acting 

bronchodilator inhalers were dispensed without any corticosteroid inhaler 
within a 6 month period, being referred to an appropriate health care 
professional for an asthma review. 

From the results of the May 2017 community pharmacy survey (84% response rate), 
all pharmacies were working towards the Dementia Friends and asthma inhaler 
quality payments. This is important with the current focus on mental health services, 
and the ongoing CCG medicines optimisation respiratory work stream. The 
appropriate links between the community pharmacy contract and these work streams 
should be made.  
A total of 21 pharmacies indicated that they were either not already accredited as 
HLPs or were not currently working towards this Award by the second 2017-18 
quality payment deadline in November 2017. It is important that all pharmacies seek 

Page 134



 

25 
 

HLP accreditation with the increasing focus on the public health role of community 
pharmacies (see Section 4.4).  
 
4.1b National vision for the future of community pharmacy  
The Community Pharmacy Forward View20 describes three key roles for the 
community pharmacy of the future: 

1. As the facilitator of personalised care for people with LTCs - community 

pharmacy teams should be integral to supporting and empowering people 
with LTCs and their carers to manage their own health. Community 
pharmacists and their teams should work in partnership across the wider 
health and care system, within the new care models that are emerging across 
the country. 

2. As the trusted, convenient first port of call for episodic healthcare advice and 
treatment - the habit of using or signposting to ‘pharmacy first’ for non-
emergency episodic care, should be ingrained in patient, public and 
professional behaviours. To facilitate this, systems that enable seamless 
triage to and referral from community pharmacy should be included in all local 
urgent care pathways and in the NHS 111 service.  

3. As the neighbourhood health and wellbeing hub - all pharmacies should 
operate as neighbourhood health and wellbeing centres, providing the ‘go-to’ 
location for support, advice and resources on staying well and independent. 
Building on the HLP model, the safe and efficient supply of medicines 
managed by pharmacist-led teams will remain at the core of this community 
pharmacy offer, but will be recognised as one component of a broader set of 
resources and services available within these health and wellbeing centres. 
Seen as a local community resource and trusted source of information and 
advice, pharmacy teams should have great connections with other 
organisations that support health, wellbeing and independence – ranging 
across local community groups, charities, places of worship, leisure and 
library facilities, social care, education, employment, housing and welfare 
services – and will be able to refer and signpost people to them. Some 
pharmacies should host outreach or drop in facilities for these partner 
organisations, and pharmacy team members will be routinely involved in any 
community-based health and wellbeing activities they organise. 

 
4.2 Pharmaceutical services  

Any organisation can commission services from community pharmacy. NHS England 
commissions NHS Pharmaceutical Services (see below) whilst local authorities and 
CCGs commission ‘locally commissioned services’ (see Section 4.3).  
 
NHS England is the only organisation that can commission NHS Pharmaceutical 
Services (i.e. via the national community pharmacy contract). Community 
pharmacies provide three tiers of Pharmaceutical Service which have been identified 
in The NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 
201321. These are: 

 Essential services: services all pharmacies are required to provide.  

 Advanced services: services to support patients with safe use of medicines.  

                                            
20 Community Pharmacy Forward View. PSNC, Pharmacy Voice. August 2016.  

http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/community-pharmacy-forward-view/  
21  www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/made 

Page 135

http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/community-pharmacy-forward-view/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/made


 

26 
 

 Enhanced services: services that can be commissioned locally by NHS 
England.  
 

4.2a Essential services  

Essential services are mandatory in the pharmacy contract and hence all community 
pharmacies are required to provide them. NHS England is responsible for ensuring 
that all pharmacies deliver all of the essential services as specified. Each pharmacy 
has to demonstrate compliance with the community pharmacy contractual framework 
by providing sufficient evidence for delivery of every service on an annual basis. 
 
Essential services include:  

 Dispensing medicines and appliances  

 Repeat dispensing 

 Disposal of unwanted medicines  

 Public health (promotion of healthy lifestyles)  

 Signposting  

 Support for self-care  
 
More than 90% of the items prescribed by GP practices in County Durham in 2013-
14 were dispensed in pharmacies in County Durham. This indicates that out of area 
pharmacies do not provide the ‘necessary’ essential pharmaceutical service for 
County Durham (i.e. pharmacies outside County Durham are not ‘necessary’ to 
provide the essential pharmaceutical service in County Durham). 
 
4.2b Advanced services  

There are 6 advanced services within the NHS community pharmacy contract22. 
Community pharmacies can choose to provide any of these services as long as they 
meet the necessary requirements. The 6 advanced services are the: 

 Medicines use reviews (MURs)  

 New medicine service (NMS) 

 Appliance use review (AUR)  

 Stoma customisation service (SCS)  

 Flu vaccination service 

 NHS urgent medicine supply advanced service (NUMSAS) 
 
4.2 b(i) Medicines use reviews and the new medicine service  

25-50% of medicines are not taken as intended or directed, and 15% of people 
receiving new medicines take few, if any, doses. This ‘non-adherence’ may lead to 
further prescriptions, tests and investigations, poor clinical outcomes, increased 
admissions to hospital, and premature mortality. Non-adherence to appropriately 
prescribed medicines is therefore a considerable issue for the NHS. 23 
 

                                            
22 See information at http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/ and http://psnc.org.uk/services-
commissioning/psnc-briefings-services-and-commissioning/psnc-briefing-04017-nhs-community-pharmacy-advanced-services-
information-for-general-practitioners-and-practice-staff-june-2017/ for further details of each service. 
23 Commissioning medicines optimisation services from community pharmacy: Guidance for commissioners. Primary Care 
Commissioning, October 2016. http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-
services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf  

 

Commented [CJ5]: To update this figure  

Page 136

http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/
http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/psnc-briefings-services-and-commissioning/psnc-briefing-04017-nhs-community-pharmacy-advanced-services-information-for-general-practitioners-and-practice-staff-june-2017/
http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/psnc-briefings-services-and-commissioning/psnc-briefing-04017-nhs-community-pharmacy-advanced-services-information-for-general-practitioners-and-practice-staff-june-2017/
http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/psnc-briefings-services-and-commissioning/psnc-briefing-04017-nhs-community-pharmacy-advanced-services-information-for-general-practitioners-and-practice-staff-june-2017/
http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf
http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf


 

27 
 

The MUR service consists of accredited pharmacists undertaking structured 
adherence-centred reviews with patients on multiple medicines, particularly those 
receiving medicines for LTCs. A MUR is a way to:  

 improve patients' understanding of their medicines,  

 highlight problematic side effects and propose solutions, 

 improve adherence and,  

 reduce medicines wastage, usually by encouraging the patient only to order 
the medicines they require. 

A MUR is not a full clinical review and is in addition to any reviews carried out by the 
patient’s GP. Feedback is provided to the patient’s GP where there is an issue 
for them to consider. National target groups for MURs are (70% of the annual 
maximum of 400 MURs undertaken by each pharmacy should be on patients within 
the national target groups): 

 patients taking high risk medicines (e.g. anticoagulants); 

 patients recently discharged from hospital who had changes made to their 
medicines while they were in hospital (ideally within four weeks of 
discharge);  

 patients with respiratory disease; 

 patients with CVD or with another condition which puts them at increasing 
risk of developing CVD, taking four or more medicines. 

 

Non-adherence to prescribed medicines can lead to poor management of LTCs and 
a cost to the patient, NHS and society. The NMS aims to provide early support to 
patients who are newly prescribed a medicine with repeated follow-up in the short 
term to increase adherence and effective medicine taking. Increased patient 
adherence to treatment will consequently reduce drug wastage and medicines 
related hospital admissions. The NMS is targeted to new medicines prescribed in the 
four therapy areas of: 

 Hypertension 

 Type 2 diabetes 

 Asthma / chronic obstructive airways disease (COPD) 

 Anticoagulation / antiplatelet therapy 
The national evaluation of the NMS24 found that the service is well received by 
patients and increases adherence to new medicines at 10 weeks by approximately 
10% making it an important intervention.  
 
Locally these services could be further developed to enhance feedback mechanisms 
to GP practices, improve patient care, and free to GP practice time. To gain 
maximum value and benefits from MURs and the NMS it is important that effective 
communication processes exist locally between GP practices and community 
pharmacies in order to: 

 Agree referral pathways for GPs and staff to direct patients into the services. 

 Ensure that there are procedures to manage feedback and follow-up with 
community pharmacies. 

 Where possible, timing of MURs could be co-ordinated with GP practice 
reviews to maximise beneficial outcomes and prevent duplication. 

 

                                            
24 Understanding and appraising the new NMS in the NHS in England. The University of Nottingham, University College 

London, DH. 2014. www.nmsevaluation.org.uk   

Page 137

http://www.nmsevaluation.org.uk/


 

28 
 

According to the results of the May 2017 community pharmacy survey (84% 
response rate), the MUR service and the NMS are now routine practice, with only 2 
pharmacies in the Durham locality indicating that they would be introducing the NMS 
in 2018.  This is important particularly with post-discharge MUR referrals to 
community pharmacy from hospital trusts in the area through a TOC pathway. This 
pathway is essentially a communication template operating between local hospital 
Trusts and County Durham pharmacies via PharmOutcomes25. This TOC pathway 
will become even more important as the local TAP integration pathways are 
developed (see Section 1.1).   
 
4.2b(ii) The appliance use review and stoma customisation service 

AURs can be carried out by a pharmacist or a specialist nurse in the pharmacy or at 
the patient’s home. AURs should improve the patient’s knowledge and use of any 
specified appliance by: 

 Establishing the way the patient uses the appliance and the patient’s 
experience of such use. 

 Identifying, discussing and assisting in the resolution of poor or ineffective use 
of the appliance by the patient. 

 Advising the patient on the safe and appropriate storage of the appliance. 

 Advising the patient on the safe and proper disposal of the appliances that are 
used or unwanted. 

The SCS involves the customisation of a quantity of more than one stoma appliance, 
based on the patient’s measurements or a template. The aim of the service is to 
ensure proper use and comfortable fitting of the stoma appliance and to improve the 
duration of usage, thereby reducing waste. 
 
According to the results of the May 2017 community pharmacy survey (84% 
response rate) the provision of the AUR and SCS by community pharmacy are still 
very minimal in each locality, and is still likely to reflect the fact that appliance 
contractors are currently largely providing this service, and that training to provide 
this service is limited. It is therefore recommended that the LPC scope some local 
training packages and determine the level of interest in local provision of this service.  
 
4.2b(iii) Flu vaccination service 

This service runs from September to March with the aim of vaccinating eligible 
patients by the end of January. The administration of a flu vaccine is legally 
authorised by a national Patient Group Direction (PGD), and covers patients aged 18 
years and older in the at risk groups that are published each year at 
www.gov.uk/government/collections/annual-flu-programme. Pharmacists providing 
this service attend face-to-face training for both injection technique and basic life 
support training every two years, and must ensure that a notification of the 
vaccination is sent to the patient’s GP practice on the same day the vaccine is 
administered or on the following working day (this can be done locally via 
PharmOutcomes). In 2016-17 pharmacies in County Durham and Darlington 
delivered 11,107 vaccinations.  
 

                                            
25 PharmOutcomes is an established and well recognised national web-based system which helps community pharmacies 
provide services more effectively and makes it easier for commissioners to audit and manage these services. See 
https://pharmoutcomes.org/pharmoutcomes/ for more information.  

Page 138

http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/annual-flu-programme
https://pharmoutcomes.org/pharmoutcomes/


 

29 
 

According to the results of the May 2017 community pharmacy survey (84% 
response rate), 75 pharmacies are providing the flu vaccination service from 
September each year, with a further 12 pharmacies planning to do so (see Table 4). 
Alongside GP practices, it is important that this service becomes routine practice in 
all pharmacies in County Durham, in order to provide a consistent message to the 
public about increasing access and patient choice to flu vaccination. The LPC should 
continue its work to encourage and support all contractors to provide this service. 
 
Table 4: Provision of the flu vaccination service 

Locality  Total number of 
pharmacies  

Current 
provision*  

Planned 
provision 

Dales 23 15 2 

Easington 28 15 4 

Derwentside 20 15 1 

Sedgefield 21 12 1 

Durham 22 13 1 

Chester-le-Street  11 5 3 
Total 125 75 12 
Source: Pharmacy PNA survey May 2017 (full summary in Appendix 6)  
*Of the 84% of pharmacies that responded to the survey 
 

4.2b(iv) NHS urgent medicine supply advanced service 

Up to 30% of all calls to NHS 111 services on a Saturday are for urgent requests for 
repeat medication. This can block GP out of hours appointments, disrupt the usual 
repeat prescribing and dispensing cycle, and increase the potential for medicines 
waste. A small number of patients also attend A&E to obtain urgently needed 
medicines26 
This service is a national pilot which began in December 2016 and, in the first 
instance, is commissioned to run until 31st March 2018 (with a review point to 
consider progress in September 2017). The objectives of the service are to: 

 Manage appropriately NHS 111 requests for urgent medicine supply. 

 Reduce demand on the rest of the urgent care system. 

 Resolve problems leading to patients running out of their medicines. 

 Increase patients’ awareness of electronic repeat dispensing (or eRepeats). 
NUMSAS is available to patients who contact NHS 111 to advise that they have run 
out of their NHS prescription medicines. NHS 111 will refer patients to the nearest 
pharmacy who is providing the service via NHSmail and the pharmacist will then 
interview the patient to decide if it is appropriate for an ‘emergency supply’ of their 
medicines or appliances to be supplied.  
The pharmacy will have ensured that (see Section 4.1a): 

 The NHS choices information is accurate. 

 It can receive referrals from NHS 111 via NHSmail.  

 It is EPS enabled in order to check if there is a prescription available to 
dispense. 

Pharmacies must ensure that a notification is sent to the patient’s GP practice on the 
same day the medicine or appliance is supplied or as soon as possible after the 
pharmacy opens on the following working day. 

                                            
26 Quick Guide: Extending the role of community pharmacy in urgent care. NHS England, November 2015. 

www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2015/11/quick-guid-comm-pharm-urgent-care.pdf  
 

Page 139

http://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2015/11/quick-guid-comm-pharm-urgent-care.pdf


 

30 
 

 
According to the results of the May 2017 community pharmacy survey (84% 
response rate), 47 pharmacies are signed up to provide NUMSAS, with a further 20 
pharmacies planning to do so (see Table 5). Again, it is important that NUMSAS 
becomes routine practice so that all pharmacies in County Durham can support the 
STP-driven agenda to support the appropriate use of health care services by the 
public and the provision of 7 day services with NHS 111 acting as the gateway for 
patients to services (see Section 1.1). The LPC should continue its work to 
encourage and support all contractors to provide this service.  
 
In 2014/15 an out of hours Pharmacy Emergency Repeat Medication Supply Service 
(PERMSS) was commissioned locally. This service was a walk-in service with 
patients self-presenting to community pharmacies during out of hours (OOH) periods 
with emergency repeat medication supply requests. Community pharmacists 
assessed each request for clinical appropriateness and when suitable provide an 
emergency repeat medication supply, with additional pharmaceutical advice and 
services if required. This service was evaluated by Durham University and published 
in the BMJ. Key findings included that patients found this service easy to access and 
were willing to access the community pharmacy in the future for medication-related 
issues. In the absence of this service, 50% of patients would have missed their 
medication(s) until they saw their doctor and a further 46% would have accessed an 
alternative service. The cost of NHS service(s) for patients who would have 
accessed an alternative OOH service was estimated as 37 times that of the 
community pharmacy service provided. Community pharmacists were happy to 
provide this service despite increased consultation times and workload. The paper 
concluded that community pharmacists were able to manage patients’ OOH requests 
for emergency repeat medication; patients were happy with the service provided; 
and since the service cost was favourable when compared with alternative OOH 
services, it would be a viable option to reduce the workload on the wider NHS. 
The LPC should therefore consider the potential of improving and extending the 
NUMSAS to also include a walk-in service. 
 
Table 5: Provision of the NHS urgent medicine supply advanced service   

Locality  Total number of 
pharmacies  

Current 
provision*  

Planned 
provision 

Dales 23 8 5 

Easington 28 7 4 

Derwentside 20 11 2 

Sedgefield 21 10 2 

Durham 22 7 5 

Chester-le-Street  11 4 2 
Total 125 47 20 
Source: Pharmacy PNA survey May 2017 (full summary in Appendix 6)  
*Of the 84% of pharmacies that responded to the survey 
 

Page 140



 

31 
 

4.2c Enhanced services 

Enhanced Services can be commissioned by NHS England to meet a local need. 
There are 20 enhanced services listed in the 2013 Directions27 however none are 
currently commissioned.  
 
The menu of 20 enhanced services largely focuses on supporting the medicines 
optimisation agenda with service templates for a: 

 Care home service  

 Disease specific medicines management service 

 Medicines assessment and compliance support service 

 Medication review service 
 
NHS England could support the growing older population and the integration work in 
County Durham by commissioning such enhanced services across the region, whilst 
taking into consideration other medicines optimisation services e.g. clinical 
pharmacists working in GP practices and in care homes. 
 
Commissioning medicines optimisation services from community pharmacy:  
Guidance for commissioners28 states that by integrating a medicines optimisation 
service into the patient pathway, the patient can access the expertise of a 
pharmacist and their team in community pharmacy, which can improve their 
medicines taking, reduce unplanned hospital admissions and reduce pressure on the 
wider health and social care system.  
Medicines optimisation is about ensuring that the right patients get the right choice of 
medicine, at the right time. By focusing on patients and their experiences, the goal is 
to help patients to: 

 Take their medicines correctly 

 Avoid taking unnecessary medicines 

 Reduce wastage of medicines 

 Improve their outcomes 

 Improve medicines safety. 
17% of all unplanned hospital admission in the over 65s are due to medication 
issues. 
 
4.3 Locally commissioned services   

Any organisation can commission services from community pharmacy. Local 
authorities and CCGs can commission ‘locally commissioned services’29. Table 6 
describes the services that are commissioned in 2017.  
 
When developing services it is important for commissioners to review and evaluate 
the currently commissioned services and health outcomes achieved. Any review 
should include whether to keep the status quo by allowing all pharmacy contractors 
to engage in new commissioned services by expression of interest, or whether 
targeted delivery by a small number of contractors would be more appropriate. For 
example, where there is a recognised health need in a certain population or location. 

                                            
27 www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-services-advanced-and-enhanced-services-england-directions-2013  
28Commissioning medicines optimisation services from community pharmacy: Guidance for commissioners. Primary Care 

Commissioning, October 2016. http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-
services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf  
29 http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/locally-commissioned-services/  

Page 141

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-services-advanced-and-enhanced-services-england-directions-2013
http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf
http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf
http://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/locally-commissioned-services/


 

32 
 

It is also important that any service review includes actual service delivery by 
pharmacists as well as other providers who also meet specific pharmaceutical 
needs. 
 
As discussed in Section 4.2, out of area pharmacies do not provide a ‘necessary’ 
essential pharmaceutical service for County Durham. However it is important that 
those living in cross boundary areas are not disadvantaged in terms of access to 
services. It is therefore important that commissioners work across borders to ensure 
that services are based on the same criteria for patient inclusion. This has been 
flagged by service providers in the Fencehouses area of the Chester-le-Street 
locality. 
 
Table 6: Locally commissioned services in community pharmacy in 2017  

Service Commissioner 

Minor ailment service  CCG 

Anticoagulant monitoring CCG 

Reimbursement of tuberculosis (TB) medication costs CCG 

Food thickening voucher scheme CCG 

Palliative care CCG 

Sexual health services  DCC 

Stop smoking services DCC 

Substance misuse services  DCC 

 
4.3a CCG commissioned services 

 
4.3a(i)  Minor ailment service 

In a minor ailment service patients are encouraged to consult the community 
pharmacy rather than the GP for a defined list of minor ailments. In 2017, patients 
who are registered with a County Durham and Darlington GP practice and are 
exempt from NHS prescription charges receive treatment from an agreed local 
formulary free of charge.  
It is estimated that 3% of A&E consultations and 5.5% of GP consultations for 
common ailments (such as temperature) could be managed in community pharmacy 
at significantly reduced cost. The NHS England Urgent and Emergency Care 
Review30 therefore recommends these services are commissioned according to local 
need, and that have most impact when referrals are also made from NHS 11131 32.  
Provision of the current local minor ailment scheme is widespread. In 2016-17, 
22,112 consultations were undertaken in North Durham CCG, with 72% of those 
using this service indicating they would have attended their GP practice in the 
absence of the scheme. In 2016-17, 44,334 consultations were undertaken in DDES 
CCG, with 68% of those using this service indicating they would have attended their 
GP practice in the absence of the scheme. 
A consistent approach across the North-East region would deliver greater benefits in 
terms of a consistent formulary of product choices and promotion of the scheme to 
patients. This is particularly important with the national drive to better utilise 

                                            
30 Transforming urgent and emergency care services in England. NHS England, November 2013. 
www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/keogh-review/Documents/UECR.Ph1Report.FV.pdf  
31 Quick Guide: Extending the role of community pharmacy in urgent care. NHS England, November 2015. 
www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2015/11/quick-guid-comm-pharm-urgent-care.pdf  
32 Community Pharmacy- helping provide better quality and resilient urgent care. Version 2. NHS England, November 2014. 
www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/comm-pharm-better-quality-resilient-urgent-care.pdf  

Page 142

http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/keogh-review/Documents/UECR.Ph1Report.FV.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2015/11/quick-guid-comm-pharm-urgent-care.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/comm-pharm-better-quality-resilient-urgent-care.pdf


 

33 
 

community pharmacy to more widely support self-care and to become the first port of 
call for minor ailments (see Section 4.1b), hence moving appropriate patient 
consultations away from GP practices.  
 
4.3a(ii) Anticoagulant monitoring 

An anticoagulation monitoring service with community pharmacists provides patients 
with a local and accessible service utilizing the skills of the pharmacist as the expert 
on drugs. A service within pharmacy means that patients do not have to make 
inconvenient and timely visits to hospital. The maps in Appendix 11 shows that the 
service provision in 2017/18 is very limited, with a total of 4 pharmacies in the Dales 
(Bishop Auckland, Crook) and Derwentside (Consett, Stanley) localities providing the 
pharmacy service. Commissioners may wish to further increase access to this 
service taking into account local prevalence of atrial fibrillation, other drug 
management options, monitoring currently provided by other service providers, and 
the locations of the patients registered with the current pharmacy providers. From 
the results of the community pharmacy survey (see Appendix 6), there is a general 
willingness from contractors to provide this service. To enable this the LPC should 
support pharmacies through the ‘any qualified provider’ process.  
 
4.3a(iii) Reimbursement of tuberculosis (TB) medication costs 

This is a scheme administered across County Durham which enables patients who 
normally pay for their prescriptions to receive anti tuberculosis drugs free of charge. 
Patients present their prescription and a letter from community health services to 
their community pharmacy which then provides the prescription free of charge and 
subsequently claims this charge back from the commissioning team.  
The maps in Appendix 11 show that this service is reasonably spread over all 6 
localities, with the results from the community pharmacy survey in Appendix 6 
indicating a general willingness from more contractors to provide this service in the 
future.  
 
4.3a(iv) Food thickening voucher scheme  

This is a scheme administered across County Durham which enables patients seen 
by the Speech and Language Therapy service to quickly obtain food thickening 
products via a voucher through community pharmacies.  
Again the maps in Appendix 11 show that this service is reasonably spread over all 6 
localities, with the results from the community pharmacy survey in Appendix 6 
indicting a general willingness from more contractors to provide this service in the 
future.  
 
4.3a(v) Palliative care scheme 

The aim of this service is to ensure that appropriate palliative care drugs are 
available in the community at the point of need. Designated community pharmacies 
hold an agreed list of palliative care drugs to enable easier access. 
 
The locality maps in Appendix 11.2-11.7 show the distribution of pharmacies 
providing the anticoagulant monitoring, TB medication costs, food thickening 
voucher, and palliative care schemes.  
 
  

Page 143



 

34 
 

4.3b Public Health commissioned services  
 
4.3b(i) Sexual health services 

This service consists of emergency hormonal contraception (EOHC) provision, 
chlamydia screening, and C card registration and supply. The locality maps in 
Appendix 11.2-11.7 show that there is a widespread EOHC service and a good 
distribution of C card outlets in each of the 6 localities, and that the areas with higher 
prevalence of teenage conceptions are already generally supported with these 
services. 
 
EOHC service 
The aim of the EHOC service is to increase the accessibility and availability of ‘free 
at point of issue’ EHOC to females aged 13 years and over in pharmacies in County 
Durham & Darlington. This service therefore helps to reduce unintended teenage 
pregnancies, and increase the knowledge of emergency contraception and its use, 
especially among young people. The EHOC service is run through accredited 
pharmacists operating under a PGD. All accredited pharmacists attend refresher 
training every two years in order to maintain their competence.  
The total number of annual EOHC consultations has stayed fairly consistent during 
the past 11 years of this service. During 2016/17 the total number of consultations 
fell slightly by 2% to 5335 compared to 2015-16 (EOHC requests had decreased 
slightly in Easington and Sedgefield but had increased in all other locality areas).  
Table 7 shows the age breakdown for EOHC consultations in 2016-17.  
 
Table 7: Age breakdown across County Durham & Darlington for EOHC 
consultations 2016-17 

Age % requests for EOHC in 2016-17 

Under 16 year olds 3% 

16-18 year olds 16% 

19-25 year olds 42% (with 60% of these requests from the Durham and 
Chester-le-Street area likely reflecting the large student 
population in Durham City) 

26-39 year olds 33% 

Aged 40 and over  6% 

 
Chlamydia screening 
For pharmacies also offering the chlamydia screening service, dual screening postal 
packs (for chlamydia and gonorrhoea) are offered during an EOHC consultation, 
where appropriate, to females aged 13-24 years and their partners.  This aids the 
detection of undiagnosed infection.  
 
C card scheme  
The aim of the C Card scheme is to provide young people aged 13-24 with sexual 
health advice and information, and free condoms in a discreet and professional 
setting. Participating pharmacies largely provide the free condom supply service, 
however a small number of pharmacies also provide the initial C card registration 
service in addition to the ongoing supply of free condoms. Pharmacies signed up to 
provide C card registration are specially trained to give advice about sexual health 
and the correct use of condoms.  

Page 144



 

35 
 

During 2016-17 pharmacies in County Durham accounted for 32% (or 621 pharmacy 
registrations) of the total of new registrations for C card among all outlets including 
GP practices, colleges, schools, youth clubs and others, and 51% (or 1937 
pharmacy supplies) of the total supply of free condoms.  
 
4.3b(ii) Stop smoking services  

Pharmacies provide either a Level 2 stop smoking service and/or provision of 
nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) via the NRT voucher scheme. The majority of 
pharmacies in County Durham provide NRT supply, and the provision of the Level 2 
stop smoking service is also widespread (the locality maps in Appendix 11.2-11.7 
show that the areas with higher prevalence of COPD hospital admissions are already 
supported with the pharmacy Level 2 service). 
 
NRT voucher scheme 
This scheme uses a pre-numbered voucher distributed via trained stop smoking 
advisers commissioned by the Stop Smoking Service.  Pharmacies act as an NRT 
voucher dispensing point under this service. On week 1 the pharmacy will ensure 
that the NRT product is suitable for the patient based on their smoking status and 
lifestyle, will cover side effects and how the product should be used/applied, and any 
other stop smoking support. On subsequent weeks of dispensing the pharmacy will 
ensure that the product is still suitable and that the patient has suffered no adverse 
effects.   
 
Level 2 stop smoking service 

The Level 2 service provides a programme of stop smoking support and access to 
stop smoking treatments from pharmacies. The service includes: 

 Identifying smokers and offering support (including targeting the priority 
groups of routine and manual workers). 

 Delivering support by trained staff and enabling access to appropriate 
pharmacotherapy. 

 Offering support for up to12 weeks including weekly support for a least the 
first 4 weeks (including carbon monoxide monitoring). 

 Referring smokers to specialist Level 3 services where appropriate (e.g. 
pregnant smokers). 

 Achieving the required number of 4 week quitters. 

 Seeking service user feedback using a standard questionnaire. 
 
GP practices, community pharmacies and the specialist service are the three main 
settings for clients to access support in County Durham. Of all the clients setting a 
quit date in 2016-17 (n=5089), 23% (n=1192) were seen in a community pharmacy 
setting of which 50% (n=601) were quit at 4 weeks, which represents 21% of all 
quitters. This 4-week quit rate of 50% compares to a quit rate of 66% in community 
settings and 56% in the GP practice setting (specialist advisor clinics provided in 
practices included in GP data).  
 
4.3b(iii) Substance misuse services 

The provision of the supervised consumption and alcohol brief intervention service is 
widespread, with the locality maps in Appendix 11.2-11.7 showing that the areas of 
deprivation and with higher rates of alcohol related hospital admission being already 
supported with these services.  

Page 145



 

36 
 

However currently only 5 pharmacies in 4 localities provide a needle exchange 
service. A wider provision of community pharmacy-based needle exchange schemes 
should be considered in the future.  
 
Alcohol brief intervention service 
The aims of this service are to: 

 Identify levels of drinking amongst those presenting with conditions possibly 
related to alcohol (e.g. persistent gastric symptoms, high blood pressure). 

 Prevent progression to dependent drinking. 

 Raise public awareness of safe levels of drinking and consequences of unsafe 
drinking (particularly targeting women who are pregnant / trying to conceive). 

 Refer appropriately to community based alcohol treatment services. 

 Reduce alcohol related hospital admissions.  
Pharmacists and/or their staff attend training in the appropriate use of the World 
Health Organisation alcohol screening AUDIT tool, and how to provide brief advice to 
clients aged 16+years.  
In 2016-17, 2672 screens were undertaken in pharmacies in County Durham. The 
majority of these were linked to patients asking for a screen in the pharmacy (e.g. 
following an approach by a member of staff, or in response to information displayed 
in the pharmacy), or as part of a MUR.  
 
Supervised consumption service  
Supervised consumption of methadone and other medications through community 
pharmacies is an integral element to the overall shared care services provided to 
support people who misuse substances – heroin in particular. Current guidelines 
recommend that all new treatment for opiate dependence be subject to supervised 
consumption for the first three months or a longer period considered appropriate by 
the prescriber. The rationale for this recommendation is to provide routine and 
structure for the service user, helping to promote a move away from chaotic and 
risky behaviour. The aims of the supervised consumption service are to:  

 Provide drug treatment which will help to ensure that prescribed medication is 
consumed under professional supervision. 

 Co-operate with local services to ensure that service users are aware of all 
treatment options and services which promote recovery from dependence. 

During 2016-17 pharmacies in County Durham supervised 30,176 doses of 
methadone or buprenorphine.  
 
Needle exchange service 
The aim of the needle exchange service is to provide a needle exchange facility to 
injecting drug users over the age of 18 in order to reduce the levels of harm 
associated with injecting drug use for individuals, families and local communities. 
Pharmacies distribute sterile injecting equipment, provide advice and information on 
the safe disposal of injecting equipment, and distribute appropriate literature advising 
on harm reduction, safer sex and local services to all injecting drug users.  
Service provision in 2017/18 is very limited, with a total of 5 pharmacies in the Dales 
(Bishop Auckland), Derwentside (Stanley), Sedgefield (Ferryhill), and Chester-le-
Street (Chester-le-Street, Sacriston) localities providing this service. 

Page 146



 

37 
 

 
4.4 Healthy living pharmacy award   

The aim of a HLP is to become more involved with the local community in order to 
improve the health and wellbeing of that community. HLPs are largely driven by the 
pharmacy staff who train to become Health Champions and who tend to live and 
work in that local community. 
Evaluations of the original schemes in Portsmouth showed that public feedback was 
very positive with 98% saying they would recommend the service to others, and 99% 
feeling comfortable about receiving this service in the pharmacy. 
In a HLP staff will discuss health and wellbeing issues with customers and will be 
aware of local services for referral or signposting. Public health pharmacy services 
will be provided (such as stop smoking services, or alcohol brief interventions) and 
there will be a dedicated health promotion area with health promotion campaigns 
running that are linked to local priorities and health needs. 
In 2016, 27 pharmacies achieved a local HLP Award and were involved in some very 
new and innovative work. For example: 

1. The opportunity for HLPs to work with Durham County Carers Support to 
become Carer Friendly Pharmacies to enable the pharmacy to better identify 
carers in order to support their health needs by e.g. offering a flu vaccination 
in 2016.  

2. Pharmacy staff receiving training from Cancer Research UK to enable staff to 
e.g. spot warning symptoms and start conversations about cancer. 

3. An oral health scheme where pharmacy staff showed customers waiting for 
prescriptions how to clean their teeth properly and reminded them of the 
essential oral health checks that dentists do even if they have no teeth at all. 
This work was evaluated by Sunderland University, and published in the 
British Dental Journal. 

4. A free 12 week Slimming World voucher referral scheme which was hugely 
popular with pharmacy staff and customers alike33. Pharmacy staff tend to live 
and work in the local community, making it far easier for them to engage with 
that local community about the sensitive issue of weight loss. This was the 
first pharmacy-only referral scheme in the country and is published in the 
Journal of Perspectives of Public Health.  

 
In addition, over the past 2 years Better Health at Work Award (BHAWA) businesses 
and HLPs have been encouraged to work together. A number of HLPs have for 
example, attended workplace health roadshows, or advised businesses on stop 
smoking or flu vaccinations. HLPs have also been encouraged to signpost their 
customers to the Wellbeing for Life Service and to make contact with their local 
Health Trainers. 
 
The HLP concept has proved such a success that in December 2016 it became part 
of the national pharmacy contract so that every pharmacy in England can now 
potentially become a HLP (see Section 4.1a). From the results of the May 2017 
community pharmacy survey (84% response rate) only 21 pharmacies indicated that 
they were either not already accredited as HLPs or were not currently working 

                                            
33 21 HLPs provided 2,242 eligible clients with a referral letter to Slimming World in order to access a free 12 week course. In 

May 2017 the clients who then went on to attend a local Slimming World course:  
• Reduced their average Body Mass Index (BMI) from 35.2 to 33.6. 
• Had an average weight loss of 9.6lbs. 

Page 147



 

38 
 

towards this Award. It is important that all pharmacies seek HLP accreditation with 
the increasing focus on the public health role of community pharmacies, and that the 
Public Health Team continue to support the developments of HLPs in County 
Durham. 
 
4.5 The public view 

Appendix 7 lists the positive and negative comments received on staff, access and 
services from the small Healthwatch online survey carried out in the summer of 2017 
(total 164 responses). The comments regarding services across the 6 localities are 
summarised below.  
The general view of Healthwatch is that in order to achieve any pharmacy service 
development the public need to be made aware of what pharmacy can do by all 
stakeholders working together to promote the role of pharmacy by providing 
information, advertising, and education of targeted populations in County Durham.  
 
Across County Durham (where no postcode was indicated on the survey return) 
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  
Positive comments included: 

 Being proactive with my prescriptions as I have made it my nominated pharmacy. 

 Well organized. 

 Explains how to use the medication. 

 Giving advice about a condition and product in order to avoid a doctor visit. 

 Ensure medication is available on time, very helpful. 

 Speedy delivery of medicines. 

 Gives a good overall service. Will deliver where necessary.  
Negative comments included: 

 Could improve service with prescriptions being ready and not always have stock. Recently got 
worse with having to go through pharmacy for repeat prescriptions. 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 Health Checks. 

 Anything they can do should be publicised more.  

 Cheaper non-prescription education on products. 

 Basic first aid type of service. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 Make it more of a Health Hub rather than just a pharmacy. 

 A facility to know if what you have been prescribed is in stock before travelling there - or for 
the GP to know that a drug is in short supply before prescribing it to you. 

 Revert back to organising prescriptions via GP Surgery. 

 Telephone ordering/digital rather than visits. 

 Some only take cash payments. 

 Have dispensing of methadone done in a private room and not in full view of the public. 
 
Dales  
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Will get all medication as per prescription and if not available will get outstanding medication 
as quickly as possible. 

 Everything very good. 

 Loads of room - good stuff. 

 Confident - a very good service and happy to return. 

 Everything. 

 Always got what you need. 

 Good chemist. 

 Good service. 

 If medication is not in stock go out of their way to find it within 24 hours. 

 Can ask advice. 

Commented [CJ6]:  To add comments received during the 
formal 60 day consultation in December 2017 – January 2018 
 

Page 148



 

39 
 

 When prescriptions due ring them, they contact GP and let me know when ready to collect. 

 Service is excellent – can’t fault it. 

 Helpful - if they haven't got it they will get it. 
 
Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 It would be helpful if my chosen pharmacy could offer the option to pay for a pre-paid 
prescription certificate. 

 Dockets bigger. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 They never have the pills I need. 

 More than two seats required. 

 More seating - and new seats.  
 
Easington  
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

Positive comments included: 

 Wide range of items/medicines. 

 Bring medication on time 

 Promptly dispenses medication directly from GPs 
Negative comments included: 

 There are some inconsistencies and mix ups with prescriptions, forgetting to put up pre-
arranged prescriptions and or not having enough of the medication you need which you then 
have to make a return trip. 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 Used to offer a health check but this seems to have stopped.  
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 It takes too long to get medication. Confidentiality is an issue - can see other people’s 
prescriptions at counter. Requests to access minor ailment scheme are awkward, questioning 
seems excessive and is off putting. 

 
Derwentside 
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 They provide an electronic prescription service which is very convenient. 

 Get repeat prescriptions from doctors and have them ready when I go to collect. 

 Pointing out new dosage or strength. 

 The electronic service is really good as is the telephone service. 

 Picks up my prescription from the doctors.  

 Dispensing and medicine check.  

 Good dispensary here. 

 I receive regular medication for diabetes and I find the pharmacy always has my medication 
ready within a few days.  

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 They do offer other things but I don’t require them. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 Easier ways to order - an app for your phone maybe and notify when they are due. Quicker 
turnaround for scripts - at the minute it is 3 days often longer if over a weekend. 

 They rarely have repeat online scrips ready. 

 More polite training. 

 GP could improve their service.  

 Yes get it right. 

 GP never have prescription ready. 

 It would be better if there was more room for consultation. 
 
  

Page 149



 

40 
 

Sedgefield  
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Prescription re-order direct to GP. 

 Excellent pharmacy service- will visit your home, collect prescriptions and deliver goods.  

 Quick efficient service. 

 Serve well. 

 Service helpful and friendly. 
Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 Pharmacy blood pressure monitoring. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 I ceased to use a pharmacy because they rarely had what I needed or they ended up owing 
me part of my prescription. Also have been given someone else’s medication on occasions 
and wrong information.  

 Bigger. 
 

Durham  
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 Service is good. 

 Gives advice on conditions and treatment that do not need GP or hospital intervention. 

 Electronic prescriptions sent from GP surgery direct to the pharmacy. 

 Advice if better product and deliver item if not in stock. 

 They pick up prescriptions from the doctors surgery and have them made up for me to collect.  

 Electronic prescribing, text service. 

 Good information and sharing information quickly. 

 Tell me when I can buy over counter more cheaply/ advise on how to take medication. 

 Very helpful. Especially when the GPs goes a bit awry. Are willing to bring medicines around 
to me if I am very unwell.  

 Accommodate personal need around getting medicines.  

 Very prompt with prescriptions.  
Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 Family planning rather than go to the doctors for the contraceptive pill. 

 Holiday jabs. 

 Blood pressure, checking temperature - where to go next. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?  

 Perhaps an online appointment with pharmacist to review medication. 

 On the budget they have to operate on - pharmacy and GP practice run satisfactory. 
 
Chester-le-Street   
What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

Positive comments included: 

 Delivers medication. 
Negative comments included: 

 I have not had good experiences with the local pharmacy. 
Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? 

 Disposal of used needles and yellow boxes. 
Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   

 They could give the right medication. Recently my father in law was given two lots of 
medication which he took as he knew no better and ended up in hospital. 

Page 150



 

41 
 

Section Five: Conclusion and recommendations 

 
A PNA considers the health needs of the population and the provision of 
pharmaceutical services, and therefore, whether there are any potential gaps in 
pharmaceutical service delivery.  
 
A PNA is used by NHS England in its consideration of applications to join the 
pharmaceutical list, and by commissioners of pharmaceutical services. 
 
The PNA for County Durham links to the health needs identified in the JSNA and the 
priorities described in the JHWS. County Durham is a predominantly rural county 
with a large and increasing ageing population. County Durham experiences higher 
levels of deprivation than the national average.  
 
The key statements from the PNA for County Durham are: 

 
There are sufficient pharmaceutical services in the 6 localities across County 
Durham with good overall access to these services. However the HWB will keep this 
statement under review as urgent care primary care services develop, and as part of 
its ongoing responsibility to assess the impact of any pharmacy closures or 
consolidations.  
 
Out of area pharmacies do not provide necessary essential pharmaceutical services 
for County Durham.  
 
There is still scope to further develop locally commissioned services from the 
existing service providers in order to further support priorities in the JHWS. These 
services should particularly focus on: 

 The growing elderly population, the integration agenda, and incorporating 
pharmacy services into TAPs. 

 The further expansion of community pharmacy based public health services 
now that every pharmacy is working towards becoming a HLP as part of the 
national pharmacy contract introduced in 2016. 

 Continuing to ensure that pharmacy supports key priorities in the STPs 
around the promotion of self-care, a more appropriate use of health services, 
and the development of urgent care services.   

 
A review of rurality of County Durham is required by NHS England following an 
appeal to the NHS Litigation Authority in 2011. 
 
HWBs must produce an updated PNA every 3 years or sooner if there are any 
significant changes to population need or any significant changes to pharmaceutical 
services that are relevant to the granting of future pharmacy applications. The latter 
can also be accomplished by the publication of a supplementary statement. The 
PNA, an up to date map of pharmaceutical services, and any supplementary 
statements can be found at 
www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment.   
 
  

Commented [CJ7]: To add in statement wording required by 
the 2013 pharmaceutical regulations (Schedule 1 in Appendix 
3). This will not change these conclusions 

Commented [CJ8]: Website section needed with INA – 3 
sections required,  for full PNA, updated map, and any 
supplementary statements  

Page 151

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment


 

42 
 

List of abbreviations 
 
A&E  Accident & Emergency  
AUR  Appliance Use Review 
BCF  Better Care Fund 
BHAWA Better Health at Work Award 
BMI  Body Mass Index  
BMJ  British Medical Journal 
BP  Blood Pressure  
CCG  Clinical Commissioning Group 
CHD  Coronary Heart Disease  
COPD  Chronic Obstructive Airways Disease  
CVD  Cardiovascular Disease  
DCC  Durham County Council  
DDES  Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
DH  Department of Health 
EOHC  Emergency Hormonal Contraception 
EPS  Electronic Prescription Service  
HLP  Healthy Living Pharmacy  
HWB  Health and Wellbeing Board 
INA  Integrated Needs Assessment  
JHWS  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
JSNA  Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
LMC  Local Medical Committee  
LPC  Local Pharmaceutical Committee  
LTC  Long Term Condition 
MUR  Medicines Use Review 
5YFV  NHS Five Year Forward View 
NMS  New Medicine Service  
NRT  Nicotine Replacement Therapy  
NUMSAS  NHS Urgent Medicine Supply Advanced Service 
OOH  Out of Hours  
PCT  Primary Care Trust  
PGD  Patient Group Direction   
PhAS  Pharmacy Access Scheme 
PERMSS Pharmacy Emergency Repeat Medication Supply Service 
PNA  Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment  
PSNC  Pharmaceutical Services Negotiating Committee  
SCS  Stoma Customisation Service 
STP  Sustainable and Transformation Plan  
TAP  Teams Around Patients   
TB  Tuberculosis 
TOC  Transfer of Care  
 
  

Page 152



 

43 
 

Appendix 1: GP Federations and Teams Around Patients  
 

North Durham CCG GP Federations 
Central Durham GP Providers Ltd 
Chester-le-Street Health Ltd 
Derwentside Healthcare Ltd  

DDES CCG GP Federations 
South Durham Health CIC 
Durham Dales Health Federation 
Intrahealth 

 

TAP Configuration - North Durham CCG 

TAP 1:  Chester-le-Street 

Bridge End Surgery 
Cestria Health Centre 
The Surgery Great Lumley 
Middle Chare Medical Group 
Pelton and Fellrose Medical Group 
Pelton Fell Surgery 
Sacriston Medical Centre 

TAP 3b: Derwentside East 

Annfield Plain Surgery 
Browney House Surgery 
Craghead Medical Centre 
Stanley Medical Group 
Tanfield View Medical Group 
Cedars Medical Group 
West Road 
The Haven Surgery 

TAP 2a: Durham East 

Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group 
Cheveley Park Medical Centre 
Coxhoe Medical Practice 
Claypath & University Medical Group 
Bowburn Medical Centre 
West Rainton Surgery 

TAP 3a: Derwentside West 

Consett Medical Centre 
Dipton Surgery 
Leadgate Surgery 
Oakfields Health Centre 
Queens Road Surgery 
Lanchester Medical Centre  

TAP 2b: Durham West 

Dunelm Medical Practice 
Chastleton Medical Group 
Denholme House/Brandon Lane 
The Medical Group 

 

 

TAP Configuration - DDES CCG 

TAP 3a: Sedgefield 1 

Hallgarth Surgery 
Bewick Crescent Surgery 
Peaseway Medical Centre 
Shildon Health Clinic 
Jubilee Medical Group 
 

TAP 2a: Easington 1 

Blackhall and Peterlee Practice 
William Brown Centre 
The Horden Group Practice 
Shinwell Medical Group 
Silverdale Family Practice 
Paradise Lane 

TAP 3b: Sedgefield 2 

St Andrews Medical Practice 
Bishops Close Medical Practice 
Oxford Road Medical Practice 
Ferryhill and Chilton Medical Practice 
Skerne Medical Group 
West Cornforth Medical Practice  

TAP 2b: Easington 2 

Station Road Surgery 
Caradoc  
Wingate Medical Practice Intrahealth 
Shotton Medical Practice 
Southdene Medical Centre 
Phoenix Medical Group 

TAP 1a: Dales 1 

Willington Medical Group 
North House Surgery 
The Weardale Practice 
 
 

TAP 2c: Easington 3 

Murton Medical Centre 
Avenue Family Practice 
Marlborough Surgery 
The New Seaham Medical Group 
Deneside Medical Centre 

TAP 1c: Dales 3 

Woodview Medical Practice 
Old Forge Surgery 
Barnard Castle Surgery 
Pinfold Medical Practice 
Gainford Surgery 
Evenwood Surgery 

TAP 1b: Dales 2 

Station View Medical Centre 
Auckland Medical Group 
Bishopgate Medical Centre 
 

Page 153



 

44 
 

Appendix 2: Targets in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-19 

 
The JHWS outlines a three year vision for improving health and wellbeing, and 
addressing health inequalities in the county. The JHWS informs and influences 
decisions about health and social care services in County Durham, so that they are 
focused on the needs of the people who use them and tackle the factors that affect 
health and wellbeing, for example drugs, alcohol, unhealthy weight, mental and 
physical wellbeing. 
There are six strategic objectives: 

1. Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in 
life 

2. Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
3. Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people with 

LTCs 
4. Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population 
5. Protect vulnerable people from harm 
6. Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and the support 

that they need 
Each strategic objective is underpinned by a set of strategic actions, some of which 
are described below: 
 
Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and have the 
best start in life  

Strategic actions include: 
Reduced childhood obesity  

 Improve support to women to start and continue to breastfeed their babies. 

 Improve support to families and children to develop healthy weight. 
Improved early health intervention services for children and young people 

 Support children and young people to achieve their optimum mental health 
and emotional wellbeing. 

 Support the reduction of teenage pregnancies (under 18 conceptions). 

 Support the reduction in oral health inequalities faced by children. 

 Deliver an integrated 0-19 model to include universal mandated services plus 
targeted services for vulnerable groups.  

 Work together to reduce rates of self-harm by young people. 

 Ensure health, social care and third sector organisations work together to 
identify and support young carers. 

 Support young people to manage their risk taking behaviours by building 
resilience and creating a culture that encourages young people to choose not 
to drink. 

 Reduce the negative impact alcohol has on the lives of children, young people 
and their families through parental alcohol use. 

 
Objective 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths  

Strategic actions include: 
Reduced levels of tobacco related ill health 

 Support an infrastructure that delivers a comprehensive partnership approach 
to wider tobacco control actions to reduce exposure to second hand smoke, 

Commented [CJ9]: This is currently under review (website 
link to change)  

Page 154



 

45 
 

help people to stop smoking, reduce availability (including illicit trade), reduce 
promotion of tobacco, engage in media and education and support tighter 
regulation on tobacco. 

 Support the local vision statement that “a child born in any part of County 
Durham will reach adulthood breathing smokefree air, being free from tobacco 
addiction and living in a community where to smoke is unusual”. 

Reduced obesity levels 

 Implement the Healthy Weight Strategic Framework to develop and promote 
evidence based multi-agency working and strengthen local capacity and 
capability. 

Reduced levels of alcohol and drug related ill health 

 Reduce health inequalities and reduce early deaths in County Durham by 
reducing alcohol consumption across the population.  

 Implement the Drugs Strategy to prevent harm, restrict supply and sustain a 
future for individuals to live a drug free and healthy life, whilst minimising the 
impact of drugs on communities and families. 

Reduced mortality from cancers and circulatory diseases 

 Work in partnership to develop effective pathways for cancers covering 
prevention, screening, diagnosis, treatment and survivorship. 

 Work in partnership to develop and implement an effective preventative and 
treatment programme for people with and at risk of diabetes through the 
delivery of Integrated Diabetes Model with consultants and GP Practices 
working together to deliver improved health outcomes for people with 
diabetes. 

 Deliver an integrated and holistic Wellbeing Service to improve health and 

wellbeing and tackle health inequalities in County Durham. 
 
Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for 
people with LTCs 

Strategic actions include: 
Adult care services are commissioned for those people most in need 

 Provide better support to people with caring responsibilities by reviewing the 
service delivery model and increasing access to personal budgets for carers. 

Improved independence and rehabilitation 

 Continue to progress the model for Frail Elderly which incorporates a whole 
system review that cuts across health, housing, social care and the third 
sector providing safe, high quality seven day integrated services; delivering 
person centred care, and places early identification, timely intervention and 
prevention at its core. 

 Provide safe, high quality seven day integrated services across the health and 
social care economy. 

 Implement the Urgent Care Strategy to ensure patients are seen by the right 
health/social care professional, in the right setting, at the right time, to the 
highest quality and in the most effective way providing the best outcome for 
the patient. 

Improved joint commissioning of integrated health and social care 

 Develop a vision and new model of integration for County Durham to 
maximise the use of resources and improve outcomes for local people with 
regard to health and social care. 

Page 155



 

46 
 

 
Objective 4: Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population 

Strategic actions include: 
Increased physical activity and participation in sport and leisure 

 Provide a wide range of physical activity opportunities across County Durham 
to support more active lifestyles through the development of the Altogether 
Active physical activity framework for County Durham. 

Maximised independence 

 Work together to improve timely diagnosis and support for people with 
dementia and their family and carers. 

Improved mental health for the population of County Durham  

 Improve access to evidence based programmes which improve mental health, 
wellbeing and resilience. 

 Develop a more integrated response for people with both mental and physical 
health problems, in particular supporting people with common mental health 
problems (such as depression or anxiety) and improve the physical health of 
people with secondary mental health problems. 

Increased social inclusion 

 Work in partnership to identify those who are, or who are at potential risk of 
becoming socially isolated to support people at a local level and to build 
resilience and social capital in their communities. 

Reduced self-harm and suicides 

 Refresh the Public Mental Health Strategy for County Durham including the 
suicide prevention framework. 

 
Objective 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm 

Strategic actions include: 
Prevent domestic abuse and sexual violence and reduce the associated harm 

 Ensure all victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence have access to the 
right help and support and services are available to address their needs. 

Safeguarding children and adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable 
and protect them from avoidable harm 

 Work with partners to help families facing multiple and complex challenges, 
ensuring children are safeguarded and protected from harm and early 
intervention and prevention services are in place. 

 
Objective 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and 
the support that they need 

Strategic actions include: 

 To ensure bespoke support is provided to meet the individual needs of people 
at the end of their life. 

 
 
  

Page 156



 

47 
 

Appendix 3: NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local 
Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 201334 

 
Regulation 3. Pharmaceutical needs assessments 

3 (1) The statement of the needs for pharmaceutical services which each HWB is 
required to publish by virtue of section 128A of the 2006 Act(a) (PNA), whether it is 
the statement of its first assessment or of any revised assessment, is referred to in 
these Regulations as a “pharmaceutical needs assessment”. 
 
3 (2) The pharmaceutical services to which each PNA must relate are all the 
pharmaceutical services that may be provided under arrangements made by the 
NHSCB for— 
(a) the provision of pharmaceutical services (including directed services) by a person 
on a pharmaceutical list; 
(b) the provision of local pharmaceutical services under an LPS scheme (but not LP 
services which are not local pharmaceutical services); or 
(c) the dispensing of drugs and appliances by a person on a dispensing doctors list 
(but not other NHS services that may be provided under arrangements made by the 
NHSCB with a dispensing doctor). 
 
Regulation 4. Information to be contained in PNA 

4 (1) Each PNA must contain the information set out in Schedule 1. 
 
4 (2) Each HWB must, in so far as is practicable, keep up to date the map which it 
includes in its PNA pursuant to paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 (without needing to 
republish the whole of the assessment or publish a supplementary statement). 
 
Regulation 6. Subsequent assessments 

6 (1) After it has published its first PNA, each HWB must publish a statement of its 
revised assessment within 3 years of its previous publication of a PNA. 
 
6 (2) A HWB must make a revised assessment as soon as is reasonably practicable 
after identifying changes since the previous assessment, which are of a significant 
extent, to the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, having regard in particular 
to changes to— 
(a) the number of people in its area who require pharmaceutical services; 
(b) the demography of its area; and 
(c) the risks to the health or well-being of people in its area, 
unless it is satisfied that making a revised assessment would be a disproportionate 
response to those changes. 
 
6 (3) Pending the publication of a statement of a revised assessment, a HWB may 
publish a supplementary statement explaining changes to the availability of 
pharmaceutical services since the publication of its PNA (and any such 
supplementary statement becomes part of that assessment), where— 

                                            
34 The NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013. 

www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made (accessed 9/6/2017) 
 

 

Page 157

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents/made


 

48 
 

(a) the changes are relevant to the granting of applications referred to in section 
129(2)(c)(i) or (ii) of the 2006 Act; and 
(b) the HWB— 

(i) is satisfied that making its first or a revised assessment would be a 
disproportionate response to those changes, or 
(ii) is in the course of making its first or a revised assessment and is satisfied 
that immediate modification of its PNA is essential in order to prevent 
significant detriment to the provision of pharmaceutical services in its area. 

 
Regulation 8. Consultation on PNAs 

8 (1) When making an assessment for the purposes of publishing a PNA, each HWB 
must consult the following about the contents of the assessment it is making— 
(a) any Local Pharmaceutical Committee for its area (including any Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee for part of its area or for its area and that of all or part of 
the area of one or more other HWBs); 
(b) any Local Medical Committee for its area (including any Local Medical Committee 
for part of its area or for its area and that of all or part of the area of one or more 
other HWBs); 
(c) any persons on the pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing doctors list for its 
area; 
(d) any LPS chemist in its area with whom the NHSCB has made arrangements for 
the provision of any local pharmaceutical services; 
(e) any Local Healthwatch organisation for its area, and any other patient, consumer 
or community group in its area which in the opinion of HWB1 has an interest in the 
provision of pharmaceutical services in its area; and 
(f) any NHS trust or NHS foundation trust in its area; 
(g) the NHSCB; and 
(h) any neighbouring HWB. 

 
8 (2) The persons mentioned in paragraph (1) must together be consulted at least 
once during the process of making the assessment on a draft of the proposed PNA. 
 
8 (3) Where a HWB is consulted on a draft under paragraph (2), if there is a Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee or Local Medical Committee for its area or part of its area 
that is different to a Local Pharmaceutical Committee or Local Medical Committee 
consulted under paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that HWB— 
(a) must consult that Committee before making its response to the consultation; and 
(b) must have regard to any representations received from the Committee when 
making its response to the consultation. 
 
8 (4) The persons consulted on the draft under paragraph (2) must be given a 
minimum period of 60 days for making their response to the consultation, beginning 
with the day by which all those persons have been served with the draft. 
 
8 (5) For the purposes of paragraph (4), a person is to be treated as served with a 
draft if that person is notified by HWB1 of the address of a website on which the draft 
is available and is to remain available (except due to accident or unforeseen 
circumstances) throughout the period for making responses to the consultation. 
 
8 (6) If a person consulted on a draft under paragraph (2)— 

Page 158



 

49 
 

(a) is treated as served with the draft by virtue of paragraph (5); or 
(b) has been served with copy of the draft in an electronic form, but requests a copy 
of the draft in hard copy form, HWB1 must as soon as is practicable and in any event 
within 14 days supply a hard copy of the draft to that person (free of charge). 
 
Regulation 9. Matters for consideration when making assessments 

9 (1) When making an assessment for the purposes of publishing a PNA, each HWB 
must have regard, in so far as it is practicable to do so, to the following matters— 
(a) the demography of its area; 
(b) whether in its area there is sufficient choice with regard to obtaining 
pharmaceutical services; 
(c) any different needs of different localities within its area; 
(d) pharmaceutical services provided in the area of any neighbouring HWB which 
affect— 

(i) the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, or 
(ii) whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area would 
secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or 
pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area; and 

(e) any other NHS services provided in or outside its area (which are not covered by 
subparagraph (d)) which affect— 

(i) the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, or 
(ii) whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area would 
secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or 
pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area. 

 
9 (2) When making an assessment for the purposes of publishing a PNA, each HWB 
must take account of likely future needs— 
(a) to the extent necessary to make a proper assessment of the matters mentioned 
in paragraphs 2 and 4 of Schedule 1; and 
(b) having regard to likely changes to— 

(i) the number of people in its area who require pharmaceutical services, 
(ii) the demography of its area, and 
(iii) the risks to the health or well-being of people in its area. 

 
Appendix 3 (continued): Schedule 1: Information to be contained in PNAs 

 
1. Necessary services: current provision 

A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as services 
that are provided— 
(a) in the area of the HWB and which are necessary to meet the need for 
pharmaceutical services in its area; and 
(b) outside the area of the HWB but which nevertheless contribute towards meeting 
the need for pharmaceutical services in its area (if the HWB has identified such 
services). 
 
2. Necessary services: gaps in provision 

A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified (if it has) as 
services that are not provided in the area of the HWB but which the HWB is 
satisfied— 

Page 159



 

50 
 

(a) need to be provided (whether or not they are located in the area of the HWB) in 
order to meet a current need for pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services 
of a specified type, in its area; 
(b) will, in specified future circumstances, need to be provided (whether or not they 
are located in the area of the HWB) in order to meet a future need for 
pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area. 
 
3. Other relevant services: current provision 

A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified (if it has) as 
services that are provided — 
(a) in the area of the HWB and which, although they are not necessary to meet the 
need for pharmaceutical services in its area, nevertheless have secured 
improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services in its area; 
(b) outside the area of the HWB and which, although they do not contribute towards 
meeting the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, nevertheless have secured 
improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services in its area; 
(c) in or outside the area of the HWB and, whilst not being services of the types 
described in sub-paragraph (a) or (b), or paragraph 1, they nevertheless affect the 
assessment by the HWB of the need for pharmaceutical services in its area. 
 
4. Improvements and better access: gaps in provision 

A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified (if it has) as 
services that are not provided in the area of the HWB but which the HWB is 
satisfied— 
(a) would, if they were provided (whether or not they were located in the area of the 
HWB), secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or 
pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area, 
(b) would, if in specified future circumstances they were provided (whether or not 
they were located in the area of the HWB), secure future improvements, or better 
access, to pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified type, 
in its area. 
 
5. Other NHS services 

A statement of any NHS services provided or arranged by a local authority, the 
NHSCB, a CCG, an NHS trust or an NHS foundation trust to which the HWB has had 
regard in its assessment, which affect— 
(a) the need for pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified 
type, in its area; or 
(b) whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area would secure 
improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical 
services of a specified type, in its area. 
 
6. How the assessment was carried out 

An explanation of how the assessment has been carried out, and in particular— 
(a) how it has determined what are the localities in its area; 
(b) how it has taken into account (where applicable)— 

(i) the different needs of different localities in its area, and 
(ii) the different needs of people in its area who share a protected 

characteristic; and 
(c) a report on the consultation that it has undertaken. 

Page 160



 

51 
 

 
7. Map of provision 

A map that identifies the premises at which pharmaceutical services are provided in 
the area of the HWB. 
 
  

Page 161



 

52 
 

Appendix 4: The County Durham PNA timeline  
 

Meeting 
 

Date Purpose 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

27/11/17  Agree draft for wider 
consultation 

Statutory 60 day consultation  
 

28/11/17 – 
26/1/18 
 

Public consultation 

Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
 

19/1/17 Consultation 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

20/3/18  Formal agreement of PNA 

Publication on DCC website 
 

1/4/18 Publication of PNA 

 
 
  

Page 162



 

53 
 

Appendix 5: Organisations that responded during the 
statutory 60 day consultation 

 
Regulation 8 of The NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 
Regulations 2013 describe the process of PNA consultation (see Appendix 3). A 
summary appears below: 
The HWB must consult at least once with the following in the HWB area about the 
contents of the pharmaceutical needs assessment it is making: 

 The LPC 

 The LMC 

 Persons on the pharmaceutical list and the dispensing doctors list 
 Healthwatch (and any other patient, consumer or community group which in the opinion of 

the HWB has an interest in the provision of pharmaceutical services) 

 The NHS Trusts  
In addition, the HWB must consult at least once with: 

 NHS England 
 Neighbouring HWBs (these neighbouring HWBs must consult with their LPCs and LMCs 

before responding)  

A minimum of 60 days for making responses must be given. The consultation can be 
via an address of a website on which the draft is available during these 60 days (the 

HWB must provide a paper copy within 14 days if requested to do so by a consultee).  

 
 
 
 
 

  

Commented [CJ10]: To complete following Dec 17 – Jan 18 
statutory consultation  

Page 163



 

54 
 

Appendix 6: Results of the community pharmacy survey35 
 

Dales 

 
In May 2017, 87% (20 out of 23) of the Dales pharmacies responded to the 
pharmacy survey. The key results are summarised below. 
 
Pharmacy premises 

 4 Dales pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access.  

 3 Dales pharmacies do not have hand washing facilities in the consultation 
room. 

 
National pharmacy contract (introduced in December 2016) 
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 7 Dales pharmacies indicated that they would receive PhAS payments with a 
further 2 indicating that they may receive this payment. 

Gateway criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 Only a single pharmacy was not EPS2 enabled, and 8 pharmacies were not 
signed up for NHS mail. 

 However, all Dales pharmacies had ensured that their pharmacy information 
on the NHS Choices website was accurate. 

Quality criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Dales pharmacies were working towards the two quality criteria of training 
80% of their staff as dementia friends, and intervening where asthma patients 
are receiving too many reliever inhalers.   

 Only 2 Dales pharmacies were either not currently HLP accredited with a local 
award or working towards the national Level 1 self-accreditation Award by the 
second quality payment deadline in November 2017.  

 
Advanced pharmacy services 

 MURs and the NMS are now part of routine pharmacy practice.  

 The provision of the flu vaccination service is now widespread (15 out of 20 
Dales pharmacies that responded to the survey provide this service, with a 
further 2 planning to provide this service in 2018).  

 The provision of AUR service and the SCS is not widespread in the Dales 
with, for example, only a single pharmacy providing these services, with a 
further single pharmacy planning to provide these services in the next 12 
months. 

 8 out of 20 Dales pharmacies that responded to the survey already provide 
the NUMSAS, with a further 5 planning to do so in the next 12 months.  

 
Non-commissioned services 

 2 pharmacies (in Bishop Auckland and Teesdale) planned to stop the 
prescription delivery service in the next 12 months.  
 

  

                                            
35 Survey of all pharmacies carried out via a PharmOutcomes questionnaire (template available on 
request) in May 2017. With the support of the LPC, 84% of contractors (105 out of 125) replied.  

Page 164



 

55 
 

Locally commissioned services 

The data for the maps indicating which pharmacies provide which service were 
compiled based on commissioner service data in April 2017 (for public health 
services) and June 2017 (for CCG commissioned services). In terms of other 
information gathered from the survey responses of Dales pharmacies: 
CCG commissioned services 

 The minor ailment scheme service is now offered by the majority of 
pharmacies. 

 The anticoagulation service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
only 2 Dales pharmacies in Bishop Auckland and Crook providing this service. 
From the survey responses there is a general willingness from other Dales 
pharmacies to provide this service in the future.  

 Similarly the survey results show a general willingness to provide and extend 
the provision of the TB medication cost and the food thickening voucher 
schemes.  

Public health commissioned services 

 The NRT voucher scheme and the EOHC scheme are now offered by the 
majority of pharmacies.  

 Similarly the provision of the supervised consumption and the alcohol brief 
intervention services; the Level 2 stop smoking service, and the C card 
provision service is now widespread. 

 The needle exchange service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
only a single Dales pharmacy in Barnard Castle providing this service.  

 
Easington 

 
In May 2017, 93% (26 out of 28) of Easington pharmacies responded to the 
pharmacy survey. The key results are summarised below. 
 
Pharmacy premises 

 6 Easington pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access.  

 3 Easington pharmacies do not have hand washing facilities in consultation 
rooms. 

 
National pharmacy contract (introduced in December 2016) 
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 8 Easington pharmacies indicated that they would receive PhAS payments 
with a further 2 indicating that they may receive this payment. 

Gateway criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Easington pharmacies that responded to the survey were EPS2 enabled, 
and had ensured that their pharmacy information on the NHS Choices website 
was accurate. 

 9 pharmacies were not signed up for NHS mail. 
Quality criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Easington pharmacies were working towards the two quality criteria of 
training 80% of their staff as dementia friends, and intervening where asthma 
patients are receiving too many reliever inhalers.   

Page 165



 

56 
 

 Only 6 Easington pharmacies were either not currently HLP accredited with a 
local award or working towards the national Level 1 self-accreditation Award 
by the second quality payment deadline in November 2017. 
 

Advanced pharmacy services 

 MURs and the NMS are now part of routine pharmacy practice.  

 The provision of the flu vaccination service is now widespread (15 out of 26 
Easington pharmacies that responded to the survey provide this service, with 
a further 4 planning to provide this service in 2018).  

 The provision of the AUR service and the SCS is not widespread in Easington 
with, for example, only a single pharmacy providing these services. 

 In May 2017, only 7 out of 26 pharmacies that responded to the survey 
already provide the NUMSAS, with a further 4 planning to do so in the next 12 
months.  
 

Non-commissioned services 

 1 pharmacy in Peterlee does not provide a prescription delivery service. 
 
Locally commissioned services 

The data for the maps indicating which pharmacies provide which service were 
compiled based on commissioner service data in April 2017 (for public health 
services) and June 2017 (for CCG commissioned services). In terms of other 
information gathered from the survey responses of Easington pharmacies: 
CCG commissioned services 

 The minor ailment scheme service is now offered by the majority of 
pharmacies. 

 The anticoagulation service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
no pharmacies in Easington providing this service. From the survey 
responses there is a general willingness from other Easington pharmacies to 
provide this service in the future.  

 Similarly the survey results show a general willingness to provide and extend 
the provision of the TB medication cost and the food thickening voucher 
schemes.  

Public health commissioned services 

 The NRT voucher scheme and the EOHC scheme are now offered by the 
majority of pharmacies.  

 Similarly the provision of the supervised consumption and the alcohol brief 
intervention services; the Level 2 stop smoking service, and the C card 
provision service is now widespread. 

 The needle exchange service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
only a single pharmacy in Easington Colliery providing this service.  
 

Derwentside 

 
In May 2017, 85% (17 out of 20) of Derwentside pharmacies responded to the 
pharmacy survey. The key results are summarised below. 
 
Pharmacy premises 

 2 Derwentside pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access.  

Page 166



 

57 
 

 All Derwentside pharmacies have hand washing facilities in the consultation 
rooms. 

 
National pharmacy contract (introduced in December 2016) 
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 4 Derwenside pharmacies indicated that they would receive PhAS payments 
with a further single pharmacy indicating that it may receive this payment. 

Gateway criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Derwentside pharmacies had ensured that their pharmacy information on 
the NHS Choices website was accurate, and were EPS2 enabled. 

 In May 2017, 4 Derwentside pharmacies were not signed up for NHS mail. 
Quality criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Derwentside pharmacies were working towards the two quality criteria of 
training 80% of their staff as dementia friends, and intervening where asthma 
patients are receiving too many reliever inhalers.   

 Only a single pharmacy is either not currently HLP accredited with a local 
award or working towards the national Level 1 self-accreditation Award by the 
second quality payment deadline in November 2017. 
 

Advanced pharmacy services 

 MURs and the NMS are now part of routine pharmacy practice.  

 The provision of the flu vaccination service is now widespread (15 out of 17 
Derwentside pharmacies that responded to the survey provide this service, 
with a further single pharmacy planning to provide this service in 2018).  

 The provision of the AUR service and the SCS is not widespread in 
Derwentside with, for example, only 3 pharmacies providing these services, 
with a further 4 pharmacies planning to provide these services in the next 12 
months. 

 11 out of 17 Derwentside pharmacies that responded to the survey already 
provide the NUMSAS, with a further 2 planning to do so in the next 12 
months.  

 
Non-commissioned services 

 A single pharmacy in Stanley does not provide a prescription delivery service. 
 
Locally commissioned services 

The data for the maps indicating which pharmacies provide which service were 
compiled based on commissioner service data in April 2017 (for public health 
services) and June 2017 (for CCG commissioned services). In terms of other 
information gathered from the survey responses of Derwentside pharmacies: 
CCG commissioned services 

 The minor ailment scheme service is now offered by the majority of 
pharmacies. 

 The anticoagulation service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 2 
pharmacies in the Consett area and Stanley providing this service. From the 
survey responses there is a general willingness from other Derwentside 
pharmacies to provide this service in the future.  

Page 167



 

58 
 

 Similarly the survey results show a general willingness to provide and extend 
the provision of the TB medication cost and the food thickening voucher 
schemes.  

Public health commissioned services 

 The NRT voucher scheme and the EOHC scheme are now offered by the 
majority of pharmacies.  

 Similarly the provision of the supervised consumption and the alcohol brief 
intervention services; the Level 2 stop smoking service, and the C card 
provision service is now widespread. 

 The needle exchange service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
only a single pharmacy in Stanley providing this service.  

 
Sedgefield  

 
In May 2017, 71% (15 out of 21) of Sedgefield pharmacies responded to the 
pharmacy survey. The key results are summarised below. 
 
Pharmacy premises 

 3 Sedgefield pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access.  

 2 Sedgefield pharmacies do not have hand washing facilities in consultation 
rooms. 

 
National pharmacy contract (introduced in December 2016) 
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 4 Sedgefield pharmacies indicated that they would receive PhAS payments 
with a further 4 indicating that they may receive this payment. 

Gateway criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Sedgefield pharmacies that responded to the survey were EPS2 enabled, 
and had ensured that their pharmacy information on the NHS Choices website 
was accurate.  

 Only 4 pharmacies were not signed up for NHS mail. 
Quality criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Sedgefield pharmacies were working towards the two quality criteria of 
training 80% of their staff as dementia friends, and intervening where asthma 
patients are receiving too many reliever inhalers.   

 Only 2 Sedgefield pharmacies were either not currently HLP accredited with a 
local award or working towards the national Level 1 self-accreditation Award 
by the second quality payment deadline in November 2017.  

 
Advanced pharmacy services 

 MURs and the NMS are now part of routine pharmacy practice.  

 The provision of the flu vaccination service is now widespread (12 out of 15 
Sedgefield pharmacies that responded to the survey provide this service, with 
a further single pharmacy planning to provide this service in 2018).  

 The provision of the AUR service and the SCS is not widespread in 
Sedgefield with, for example, no pharmacies providing these services, with a 
single Sedgefield pharmacy planning to provide these services in the next 12 
months. 

Page 168



 

59 
 

 10 out of 15 Sedgefield pharmacies that responded to the survey already 
provide the NUMSAS, with a further 2 planning to do so in the next 12 
months.  
 

Locally commissioned services 

The data for the maps indicating which pharmacies provide which service were 
compiled based on commissioner service data in April 2017 (for public health 
services) and June 2017 (for CCG commissioned services). In terms of other 
information gathered from the survey responses of Sedgefield pharmacies: 
CCG commissioned services 

 The minor ailment scheme service is now offered by the majority of 
pharmacies. 

 The anticoagulation service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
no pharmacies in Sedgefield providing this service. From the survey 
responses there is a general willingness from other Sedgefield pharmacies to 
provide this service in the future.  

 Similarly the survey results show a general willingness to provide and extend 
the provision of the TB medication cost and the food thickening voucher 
schemes.  

Public health commissioned services 

 The NRT voucher scheme and the EOHC scheme are now offered by the 
majority of pharmacies.  

 Similarly the provision of the supervised consumption and the alcohol brief 
intervention services; the Level 2 stop smoking service, and the C card 
provision service is now widespread. 

 The needle exchange service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
only a single Sedgefield pharmacy in Ferryhill providing this service.  

 
Durham 

 
In May 2017, 82% (18 out of 22) of Durham pharmacies responded to the pharmacy 
survey. The key results are summarised below. 
 
Pharmacy premises 

 7 Durham pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access.  

 3 Durham pharmacies do not have hand washing facilities in the consultation 
rooms. 

 
National pharmacy contract (introduced in December 2016) 
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 4 Durham pharmacies indicated that they would receive PhAS payments with 
a further 2 indicating that they may receive this payment. 

Gateway criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All pharmacies were EPS2 enabled. 

 However 6 pharmacies were not signed up for NHS mail, and a single 
pharmacy had not ensured that their pharmacy information on the NHS 
Choices website was accurate. 

Quality criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

Page 169



 

60 
 

 All Durham pharmacies were working towards the two quality criteria of 
training 80% of their staff as dementia friends, and intervening where asthma 
patients are receiving too many reliever inhalers.   

 8 (or a third of) Durham pharmacies were either not currently HLP accredited 
with a local award or working towards the national Level 1 self-accreditation 
Award by the second quality payment deadline in November 2017.  
 

Advanced pharmacy services 

 MURs and the NMS are now part of routine pharmacy practice (however 2 
Durham pharmacies indicated that they were introducing the NMS in 2018).  

 The provision of the flu vaccination service is now widespread (13 out of 18 
Durham pharmacies that responded to the survey provide this service, with a 
further single pharmacy planning to provide this service in 2018).  

 The provision of the AUR service and the SCS is not widespread in the 
Durham area with, for example, only a single pharmacy providing these 
services. 

 7 out of 18 Durham pharmacies that responded to the survey already provide 
the NUMSAS, with a further 5 planning to do so in the next 12 months.  
 

Non-commissioned services 

 Only a single pharmacy in Durham did not deliver medication.  
 

Locally commissioned services 

The data for the maps indicating which pharmacies provide which service were 
compiled based on commissioner service data in April 2017 (for public health 
services) and June 2017 (for CCG commissioned services). In terms of other 
information gathered from the survey responses of Durham pharmacies: 
CCG commissioned services 

 The minor ailment scheme service is now offered by the majority of 
pharmacies. 

 The anticoagulation service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
no pharmacies in Durham providing this service. From the survey responses 
there is a general willingness from Durham pharmacies to provide this service 
in the future.  

 Similarly the survey results show a general willingness to provide and extend 
the provision of the tuberculosis TB medication cost and the food thickening 
voucher schemes.  

Public health commissioned services 

 The NRT voucher scheme and the EOHC scheme are now offered by the 
majority of pharmacies.  

 Similarly the provision of the supervised consumption and the alcohol brief 
intervention services; the Level 2 stop smoking service, and the C card 
provision service is now widespread. 

 The needle exchange service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
no pharmacies in the Durham area providing this service.  

  

Page 170



 

61 
 

 
Chester-le-Street 

 
In May 2017, 91% (10 out of 11) of Chester-le-Street pharmacies responded to the 
pharmacy survey. The key results are summarised below. 
 
Pharmacy premises 

 2 Chester-le-Street pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access.  

 3 Chester-le-Street pharmacies do not have hand washing facilities in 
consultation rooms. 

 
National pharmacy contract (introduced in December 2016) 
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 3 Chester-le-Street pharmacies indicated that they would receive PhAS 
payments with a further single pharmacy indicating that they may receive this 
payment. 

Gateway criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Chester-le-Street pharmacies that responded to the survey were EPS2 
enabled, and had ensured that their pharmacy information on the NHS 
Choices website was accurate. 

 Only 4 pharmacies were not signed up for NHS mail. 
Quality criteria for the Quality Payment Scheme 

 All Chester-le-Street pharmacies were working towards the two quality criteria 
of training 80% of their staff as dementia friends, and intervening where 
asthma patients are receiving too many reliever inhalers.   

 Only 2 Chester-le-Street pharmacies were either not currently HLP accredited 
with a local award or working towards the national Level 1 self-accreditation 
Award by the second quality payment deadline in November 2017.  

 
Advanced pharmacy services 

 MURs and the NMS are now part of routine pharmacy practice.  

 The provision of the flu vaccination service is now widespread (5 out of 11 
Chester-le-Street pharmacies that responded to the survey provide this 
service, with a further 3 planning to provide this service in 2018).  

 The provision of the AUR) service and the SCS is not widespread in Chester-
le-Street with, for example, only a single pharmacy providing these services. 

 4 out of 11 Chester-le-Street pharmacies that responded to the survey already 
provide the NUMSAS, with a further 2 planning to do so in the next 12 
months.  
 

Locally commissioned services 

The data for the maps indicating which pharmacies provide which service were 
compiled based on commissioner service data in April 2017 (for public health 
services) and June 2017 (for CCG commissioned services). In terms of other 
information gathered from the survey responses of Chester-le-Street pharmacies: 
CCG commissioned services 

 The minor ailment scheme service is now offered by the majority of 
pharmacies. 

Page 171



 

62 
 

 The anticoagulation service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
no pharmacies in Chester-le-Street providing this service. From the survey 
responses there is a general willingness from other Chester-le-Street 
pharmacies to provide this service in the future.  

 Similarly the survey results show a general willingness to provide and extend 
the provision of the TB medication cost and the food thickening voucher 
schemes.  

Public health commissioned services 

 The NRT voucher scheme and the EOHC scheme are now offered by the 
majority of pharmacies.  

 Similarly the provision of the supervised consumption and the alcohol brief 
intervention services; the Level 2 stop smoking service, and the C card 
provision service is now widespread. 

 The needle exchange service is still a very limited commissioned service, with 
two pharmacies in Chester-le-Street and Sacriston providing this service. 

 
  

Page 172



 

63 
 

Appendix 7: Results of the Healthwatch online public 
survey 

 

This online survey was carried out in the summer of 2017 with a view to gaining an 
initial insight into how a small sample of the public are accessing pharmaceutical 
services and their overall views of the services they receive. A total of 164 survey 
responses were received. The results of this survey sit alongside the comments 
received during the formal 60 day consultation in December 2017 – January 2018 
(see Appendix 8).  
 

How are the public accessing pharmaceutical services across County 
Durham? 

 

How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
13% 

At least 
monthly 
 
56% 

At least every  
three months 
 
14% 

At least 
every six 
months 
8% 

At least 
once a year 
 
5% 

Less than  
once a year 
 
5% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
64% 

Usually 
 
21% 

No 
 
15% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
93% 

No 
4% 

Don’t know / NA 
2% 

 

Thinking about the pharmacy service you visit 
most often, how do you normally get there? 

On foot 
 
22% 

Public 
transport 
9% 

Car or taxi 
 
66% 

Other 
 
3% 

 

What type of pharmacy service is it? 
 

High 
street  
49% 

Supermarket 
 
4% 

Doctor’s 
surgery 
21% 

Other 
 
26% 

 
Summary of comments received across County Durham (where no postcode 

was indicated on the survey return) and in the 6 PNA localities 
 

Responses from across County Durham  

(where no postcode was indicated on the survey return) 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  
 
Positive comments included: 
Staff 

Pleasant friendly staff. 
Always helpful, polite, answer any questions. 
Pharmacy is friendly, welcoming and gives good advice without needing an appointment. 
Customer service. 
Extremely helpful. 
Knows the patients and their needs. 
 
Service 
Being proactive with my prescriptions as I have made it my nominated pharmacy. 
Well organized. 
Explains how to use the medication. 
Giving advice about a condition and product in order to avoid a doctor visit. 
Ensure medication is available on time, very helpful. 

Page 173



 

64 
 

Speedy delivery of medicines. 
Gives a good overall service. Will deliver where necessary.  
 
Access 
Good location. 
It is well located and is open good hours. 
Long opening hours. 
 
Negative comments included: 
Service 
Could improve service with prescriptions being ready and not always have stock. Recently got worse 
with having to go through pharmacy for repeat prescriptions. 
      

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 

 
Service 
Health checks. 
Anything they can do should be publicised more.  
Cheaper non-prescription education on products. 
Basic first aid type of service. 
 
Access 
Increase in out of hours cover.  
  

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   
Comments included: 
 
Staff 
Need to communicate problems with customers better (e.g. letting customers know in advance if there 
is a problem with acquiring their prescription. Also need to communicate with doctors surgery better 
as there are often mix-ups with prescription collections). 
More approachable staff.  
 
Service 
Make it more of a Health Hub rather than just a pharmacy. 
A facility to know if what you have been prescribed is in stock before travelling there - or for the GP to 
know that a drug is in short supply before prescribing it to you. 
Revert back to organising prescriptions via GP Surgery. 
Telephone ordering/digital rather than visits. 
Some only take cash payments. 
Have dispensing of methadone done in a private room and not in full view of the public. 
 
Access 
Later opening hours. Their hours do not match those of the GP practice. 
Opening hours longer. 
Longer opening hours and weekend opening times. 
Open longer hours.  
   

 
Responses from the Dales 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  

 
Positive comments included: 
Staff 
Good customer service. 
Talk to you as a person. 
Offer advice and support. 
Offer advice re: medication. 
The advice from the pharmacist is always good and usually saves a GP visit.  

Page 174



 

65 
 

Serve customers as individuals.  
Welcoming go out the way to help. 
Friendly service and good advice. 
Talk to me. 
Everything, understanding. 
Good and friendly. 
 
Service 

Will get all medication as per prescription and if not available will get outstanding medication as 
quickly as possible. 
Everything very good. 
Loads of room - good stuff. 
Confident - a very good service and happy to return. 
Everything. 
Always got what you need. 
Good chemist. 
Good service. 
If medication is not in stock go out of their way to find it within 24 hours. 
Can ask advice. 
When prescriptions due ring them, they contact GP and let me know when ready to collect. 
Service is excellent – can’t fault it. 
Helpful - if they haven't got it they will get it. 
 
Access 

Local and convenient. 
Convenient long opening hours.  
   

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 

 
Service 
It would be helpful if my chosen pharmacy could offer the option to pay for a pre-paid prescription 
certificate. 
Dockets bigger. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?  
Comments included: 

 
Service 
They never have the pills I need. 
More than two seats required. 
More seating - and new seats 
 
Access 
Longer Saturday opening times or one late night per week - it is sometimes awkward collecting 
prescriptions with working full time. 
     

 
Responses from Easington 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  
 
Positive comments included: 
Staff 
Excellent advice, compassionate, understanding. They go out of their way to help you even when they 
are so busy. 
Friendly helpful service and recommend various options of medications, etc. 
Friendly staff to greet and help/give advice. 
Friendly and helpful. 
Offers advice. 
 

Page 175



 

66 
 

Service 
Wide range of items/medicines. 
Bring medication on time 
Promptly dispenses medication directly from GPs 
 
Negative comments included: 

Service 
There are some inconsistencies and mix ups with prescriptions, forgetting to put up pre-arranged 
prescriptions and or not having enough of the medication you need which you then have to make a 
return trip. 
         

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 

 
Service 

Used to offer a health check but this seems to have stopped.     
            

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   
Comments included: 

 
Service 

It takes too long to get medication. Confidentiality is an issue - can see other people’s prescriptions at 
counter. Requests to access minor ailment scheme are awkward, questioning seems excessive and 
is off putting. 
 
Access 
Not open very much over the weekend period.  
      

 
Responses from Derwentside 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  
 
Positive comments included: 
Staff 
Their customer service is first class, if they don't have an item they will order it for you. 
Provide a good friendly service. 
Advice. 
Quite up to date. 
Nice staff. 
Attitude. 
 
Service 
They provide an electronic prescription service which is very convenient. 
Get repeat prescriptions from doctors and have them ready when I go to collect. 
Pointing out new dosage or strength. 
The electronic service is really good as is the telephone service. 
Picks up my prescription from the doctors.  
Dispensing and medicine check.  
Good dispensary here. 
I receive regular medication for diabetes and I find the pharmacy always has my medication ready 
within a few days.     
 
Access 
Long opening hours and 7 day opening. 
Fantastic opening hours.  
 
Negative comments included: 
Service 
Pharmacy do mistakes. 
What not do well - there is often mistakes. Just changed chemist for this reason. 

Page 176



 

67 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 

 
Service 
They do offer other things but I don’t require them. 
Blood pressure and weight. 
Dispose of sharps - they have to go back to doctors or council will pick up if organised. 
Certain pharmacies not keeping stock so people will have to travel to next pharmacy if medicines 
needed in particular time. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   
Comments included: 

 
Service 
Easier ways to order - an app for your phone maybe and notify when they are due. Quicker 
turnaround for scripts - at the minute it is 3 days often longer if over a weekend. 
They rarely have repeat online scrips ready. 
More polite training. 
GP could improve their service.  
Yes get it right. 
GP never have prescription ready. 
It would be better if there was more room for consultation. 
 
Access 

Pharmacy joined onto the GP should be open the same hours. The pharmacy closes at 5.30 but the 
GP appointments run until 6.30 so means not able to pick up an urgent prescription the same day. 
Open Saturdays. 
 

 
Responses from Sedgefield 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  
 
Positive comments included: 
Staff 
Good customer service. 
The staff are friendly. 
Excellent - exceptionally quick, polite, pleasant, helpful. I cannot recommend them highly enough. 
Bit crack with you and know you well. 
Everything. 
They are always very helpful and polite. 
Help with advice. 
Very Professional. 
 
Service 
Prescription re-order direct to GP. 
Excellent pharmacy service- will visit your home, collect prescriptions and deliver goods.  
Quick efficient service. 
Serve well. 
Service helpful and friendly. 
Electronic prescriptions. 
 
Access 
Opening hours are good - stay open late, all others close at teatime. 
Great pharmacy is in house which is convenient. 
Easily accessible. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary 

Service 
Pharmacy blood pressure monitoring. 

Page 177



 

68 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?  
Comments included: 
 
Staff 
The atmosphere at doctor’s surgery dispensary is not conducive to asking questions, etc. They 
volunteer nothing, just do the job. High Street pharmacy cannot be faulted. 
 
Service 

I ceased to use a pharmacy because they rarely had what I needed or they ended up owing me part 
of my prescription. Also have been given someone else’s medication on occasions and wrong 
information.  
Bigger. 
 
Access 

Better opening times and weekend opening. 
Waiting times could be reduced. 
Later opening hours. 
Wait time on prescriptions (doctors quicker to get prescription). 
 

 
Responses from Durham 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  
 
Positive comments included: 
Staff  
Very efficient, the pharmacist will give advice on over the counter drugs. 
Friendly and helpful. 
Excellent customer service. 
Local and know the customers. 
Fantastic cheerful helpful team. 
Receptionists are usually very helpful.  
Chemist assistants and pharmacist very kind and helpful in every way. 
Kind a nice.  
Very polite and helpful. 
 
Service  
Service is good. 
Gives advice on conditions and treatment that do not need GP or hospital intervention. 
Electronic prescriptions sent from GP surgery direct to the pharmacy. 
Advice if better product and deliver item if not in stock. 
They pick up prescriptions from the doctors surgery and have them made up for me to collect.  
Electronic prescribing, text service. 
Good information and sharing information quickly. 
Tell me when I can buy over counter more cheaply/ advise on how to take medication. 
Very helpful. Especially when the GPs goes a bit awry. Are willing to bring medicines around to me if I 
am very unwell.  
Accommodate personal need around getting medicines.  
Very prompt with prescriptions.  
 
Access 
Local and convenient prescription service. 
They are open long hours to coincide with the doctor’s surgery. 
  

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 

 
Service 

Family planning rather than go to the doctors for the contraceptive pill. 
Holiday jabs. 
Blood pressure, checking temperature - where to go next. 

Page 178



 

69 
 

Access 
Yes a Saturday service. 
They are not open at lunchtimes or evenings.    
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   
Comments included: 

 
Service 
Perhaps an online appointment with pharmacist to review medication. 
On the budget they have to operate on - pharmacy and GP practice run satisfactory.  
 
Access 

Open Saturdays. 
More staff at busy times and a better waiting area. 
Open on a weekend and one late evening per week. 
Be open at lunchtimes and evenings and Sundays. 
Longer opening hours. 
Weekend opening hours.  
Closed at lunchtime - inconvenient. Stay open all day. 
    

 
Responses from Chester-le-Street 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well?  
 
Positive comments included: 

Service 
Delivers medication.      
 
Negative comments included: 
Service  
I have not had good experiences with the local pharmacy.     
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 

 
Service 
Disposal of used needles and yellow boxes. 
 
Access 
It would be helpful if their opening times were longer for people who work during the day.  
     

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved?   
Comments included: 

 
Service 

They could give the right medication. Recently my father in law was given two lots of medication 
which he took as he knew no better and ended up in hospital. 
 
Access 
The shop is not accessible if you are a wheelchair user.  
    

  

Page 179



 

70 
 

Appendix 8: Summary of public responses received during 
the statutory 60 day consultation 

  

Commented [CJ11]: To complete following Dec 17 – Jan 18 
statutory consultation. This will also include a summary of the 
wider piece of Healthwatch work on pharmacy services   

Page 180



 

71 
 

Appendix 9: Housing developments in County Durham of 
100 properties or more, and estimated builds by 2020-21 

(information correct at August 2017) 

 
Site name Settlement Total 

number of 
houses left 
to build  

Estimated 
number of 
houses that 
will be built by 
2020/21 
 

Dales 

Brack’s Farm Bishop Auckland  257 120 

Land south of Douglas Crescent, 
Auckland Park 

Bishop Auckland 500 10 

Land at Catkin Way Bishop Auckland 118 15 

Former Cemex concrete batching 
plant 

Bishop Auckland 100 65 

Land to the north of Woodhouses 
Farm And south Of Etherley Moor 
Wigdan Walls Road, Woodhouses 

Bishop Auckland  237 90 

North of Bowes Road Barnard Castle  162 90 

Easington 

North East Industrial Estate, 
Stephenson road 

Peterlee 390 35 

Low hills (land between Easington 
and Peterlee) 

Peterlee 900 60 

Field to the south of Wayside, 
Wingate Lane 

Wheatley hill  106 100 

Land to the south of Wellfield Road  Wingate 161  65 

Derwentside 

Shotley Bridge Hospital Consett – Shotley 
Bridge 

133 120 

Land to the south of Fenwick Way  Consett 182 120 

Berry Edge South, off Genesis Way Consett 446 120 

Middles Farm Village Stanley 191 140 

Tanfield Lea (Everready) Tanfield Lea 365 45 

Sedgefield 

Land to the east of Clare Lodge Chilton 182 105 

Land north of West Chilton Terrace Chilton 135 75 

Whitworth Spennymoor 380 160 

Black & Decker (Durham Gate)  Spennymoor 364 105 

Former Electrolux site, Merrington 
Lane  

Spennymoor 425 30 

Thorns Lighting, Merrington Lane Spennymoor 221 180 

Former Hartwell Factory, Green 
Lane Ind Est  

Spennymoor 116 116 

Land north of Durham Road, 
Middlestone Moor  

Spennymoor 300 45 

Dale Farm, Dale Road Industrial 
Estate  

Shildon 310 0 

Land at Spout Lane Shildon 141 100 

Eldon Whins Newton Aycliffe 240 60 

Land to the south of Eden Drive Sedgefield  
 
 
 
 

276 105  

Page 181



 

72 
 

Site name Settlement Total 
number of 
houses left 
to build  

Estimated 
number of 
houses that 
will be built by 
2020/21 
 

Durham 

Land south of Bowburn and west of 
the A688  

Bowburn 270 80 

Bogma Hall Farm Coxhoe 155 75 

Land to the south of Wallnook Lane 
and east of Recreation Ground 

Langley Park 400 45 

Land west of Browney Lane Meadowfield 185 140 

Land to the north east of St. Mary's 
Terrace 

Coxhoe - Parkhill 190 75 

Land to the east of Mill Lane Sherburn Village 120 50 

Land north of Ladysmith Terrace Ushaw Moor 101 101 

Land to the south west of Station 
Road 

West Rainton 150 120 

Mount Oswald Durham City 254 160 

Milburngate House Durham City 441 150 

Former Police HQ, Aykley Heads Durham City - Aykley 
Heads 

209 140 

Finchale Training College Durham City - 
Countryside 

100 90 

Chester-le-Street 

West House Farm Sacriston 200 60 

Vigo Lane Chester-le-Street 203 90 

Lambton Park, Chester Road Bournmoor 400 60 

Rear of Elm Avenue  Pelton 190 30 

 

 
  

Page 182



 

73 
 

Appendix 10: Location and opening hours of pharmaceutical services36 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   Dales37 

   FA121 Tesco Stores 
Limited 

 St Helen Auckland 
Industrial Estate  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 9AB Mon: 08:00-22:30,  
Tue-Fri: 06:30-22:30, 
Sat: 06:30-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 
 

   FC495 Boots UK Limited  Unit 8 Bishop 
Auckland 
Shopping Park 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 9FA Mon-Fri: 08:00-24:00, 
Sat: 09:00-23:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   FAL36 Lloyds Pharmacy 
Limited 

 St Helen's 
Industrial Estate, 
St Helen's 
Auckland  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 9AE Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 11:00-17:00 

None 

   FA415 Asda Stores Ltd  South Church 
Road 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 7LB Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

     Auckland Medical 
Group  

  The Old Fire 
House, Watling 
Street  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 6RP Mon-Fri: 08:00-18:00 - 

   FXF69 Bestway National 
Chemists Limited 

Well Unit 7,  Newgate 
Centre 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 7JQ Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Sat: 09.00-1300  

   FTJ49 Boots UK Limited  Primary Care 
Centre, Watling 
Road 

Bishop 
Auckland  

DL14 6RP Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Mon-Thurs: 08:00-
09:00; 13:00-14:00,  
Fri: 08:00-09:00; 
13:00-14:00; 18:00-
19:00 

   

                                            
36 Information based on: NHSBSA dispensing doctor list in June 2017; telephone calls to dispensing doctors in July to confirm main surgery dispensary opening hours; NHS England pharmacy 
listing and core opening hours September 2017; subsequent ongoing significant pharmacy changes to this information from September 2017 (information available on request) 
37 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  
 

Commented [CJ12]: Weardale Practice dispensary removed 

P
age 183



 

74 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FH490 M & M Pharmacies 
Limited 

 172-174 Newgate 
Street 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 7EJ Mon-Fri: 08:00-12:30; 
13:30-17:00,  
Sat: 08.30-12.30  

Mon-Fri:  
17:00-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

   FHV08 M & M Pharmacies 
Limited 

 Station View 
Medical Centre, 
29a Escomb Road  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 6AB Mon-Fri: 08:45-13:00; 
14:00-17:45 

None 

   FRA09 Boots UK Limited 

 

31 Newgate Street Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 7EW Mon-Sat: 09:00-17:30 None 

     Barnard Castle 
Surgery 

 

Victoria Road Barnard 
Castle 

DL12 8HT  Mon-Wed: 08:00-17:45,  
Thurs: 08:00 -14:00, 
Fri: 08:00-17:45 

- 

   FV380 Day Lewis Plc  86 Galgate Barnard 
Castle 

DL12 8BJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-18:00,  
Sat: 08:30-13:00 

   FMD09 Boots UK Limited   37-39 Market 
Place 

Barnard 
Castle 

DL12 8NE Mon-Tue: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Wed: 09:00-17:30,  
Thu: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Fri: 09:00-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

None 

   FVV69 C & C Forster Ltd Welsh 
Chemist 

144 Melrose Drive  St Helen 
Auckland 

DL14 9DN Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Mon-Tues:  
17:30-18:00,   
Thu: 17:30-18:00 

   FF689 M J & A Gordon 
Limited 

Tow Law 
Pharmacy 

24 High Street  Tow Law DL13 4DL Mon-Wed: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00,  
Thurs: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-15.00,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 13:30-
18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

None 

   

P
age 184



 

75 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FRW33 Gill & Schofield 
Pharmaceutical 
Chemists Ltd 

Coundon 
Pharmacy  

Victoria Lane Coundon DL14 8NL Mon-Fri: 08:45-13:15; 
14:00-17:30 

None 

   FJ779 Stanhope Chemists 
Ltd 

  79 Front Street Stanhope DL13 2TZ Mon-Tues: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:30,  
Wed: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-16.00, 
Thurs-Fri: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:30, 
Sat: 09:00-12:15 

None 

     Woodview Medical 
Practice 

 

  Cockfield DL13 5AF Mon: 08:30 -16:00, 
Tues-Thurs: 08:30- 
15:00, Fri: 08:30-14:00; 
16:30 -18:00 

- 

   FGF94 Whitworth 
Chemists Limited 

 

38 Front Street Cockfield DL13 5DS Mon: 08:45-13:00; 
14:00-18:15,  
Tue-Thurs: 08:45-
13:00; 14:00-17:30,  
Fri: 08:45-13:00; 14:00-
18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
13:00 - 14:00,  
Sat: 08:45 -14:00 

   FT188 Wolsingham 
Pharmacy Ltd 

 12 Market Place Wolsingham DL13 3AE Mon: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:30,  
Tues: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:00,   
Wed: 09:00-12:15,  
Thu: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:00,  
Fri: 09:00-12:15; 13:30-
17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-12:15 

None  

     Old Forge Surgery      Middleton-In-
Teesdale 

DL12 0QE Mon-Tues: 08:00-18:00, 
Wed: 08:00- 13:00, 
Thurs-Fri: 08:00-18:00 

- 

   

P
age 185



 

76 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FRH84 Day Lewis Plc   19 Market Place Middleton-In-
Teesdale 

DL12 0QG Mon-Tues: 09:00-17:30, 
Wed: 09:00-13:00,  
Thu-Fri: 09:00-17:30, 
Sat: 09:00-13:00 

None 

   FQ026 Welcome Health 
Pharmacy Ltd 

 50 Hope Street  Crook DL15 9HU Mon-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 08:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   FLA09 Boots UK Limited 

 

8 North Terrace  Crook DL15 9AZ Mon-Sat:  09:00-17:30 None 

   FR233 Clemitsons Ltd  25A Hope Street  Crook DL15 9HS Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
13:00-17:00 

Mon-Fri:12:30-13:00, 
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

   FXH47 Clemitsons Ltd 

 

51 Hope Street  Crook DL15 9HU Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:00; 
13:30-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 12:00-13:30  
 

   FFV56 Britton & Robson 
Ltd 

 

46 High Street Willington DL15 0PG Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 17:30-
18:00,  
Sat: 08:30-12:30 

     Pinfold Medical 
Practice 

 

Pinfold Lane Butterknowle DL13 5NX Mon: 08:30-19:00,  
Tues 08:30-17:00,  
Wed 08:30-18:30, 
Thurs 08:30-17:00,  
Fri 08:30-18:00.  
Closed every day 
between 12:30-14:00 - 

     Evenwood Medical 
Practice 

 

Copeland Lane Evenwood DL14 9SU Mon: 10.00–12.00; 
15.00-18.00,  
Tues: 08.00-12.00, 
Wed: 08.00-13.00, 
Thurs: 10.00–12.00; 
15.00-18.00,  
Fri: 08.00–12.00; 14.00-
17.00 - 

     Gainford Surgery 

 

Main Road Gainford DL2 3BE Mon-Tues: 08:30-1800, 
Wed 08:30-13:00, 
Thurs-Fri: 08:30-18:00 

- 

   

P
age 186



 

77 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   Easington38    

FDE75 Asda Stores Ltd  Surtees Road Peterlee SR8 5HA Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   

FHD21 Boots UK Limited   30-32 The Chare Peterlee SR8 1AE Mon - Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-16:45,   
Sat: 09:00-12:00; 
13:00-16:45  

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13:00-14:00; 
16:45-17:30, 
Sat: 08:30-09:00;  
16:45-17:30    

FCJ51 Lydon Pharmacy 
Group Ltd 

York Road 
Pharmacy  

60 York Road Peterlee SR8 2DP Mon-Tues: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30,  
Wed: 09:00-13:00,  
Thu-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00 

None 

   

FDH51 IntraHealth 
Pharmacy Limited 

  William Brown 
Centre Manor Way  

Peterlee SR8 5SB Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 12:30-13:30; 
18:00-19.00 
    

FVF01 Bestway National 
Chemists Limited 

Well 9 The Chare Peterlee SR8 1AE Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

Sat: 11:30-13:00 

   

FF604 Boots UK Limited  17 Blackhills Road Horden SR8 4DW Mon - Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-17:30, 
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

Sat: 11:30-12:00 

   

FY376 M Whitfield Limited   30 Forth Street 
 

Horden SR8 4LB Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

Sat: 11:30-12:30  

   

FNC75 Boots UK Limited  South Hetton 
Health Centre, 
Front Street 

South Hetton DH6 2TH Mon-Wed: 08:30-17:30, 
Thurs: 08:30-14:00, 
Fri: 08:30-17:30 

None  

   

                                            
38 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

P
age 187



 

78 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FL649 Boots UK Limited  1 Seaside Lane Easington 
Colliery 

SR8 3PF Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13:00-13:30    

FCH78 Boots UK Limited  Craddock House, 
Seaside Lane 

Easington 
Colliery 

SR8 3PF Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13:00-13:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00    

FQ606 Asda Stores Ltd  Byron Place, 
South Terrace 

Seaham SR7 7HN Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   

FA709 Boots UK Limited   63 Church Street Seaham SR7 7HF Mon-Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-16:45 

Mon-Sat: 13:00-
14:00; 16:45-17:30    

FN907 Bestway National 
Chemists Limited 

Well 43 Church Street Seaham SR7 7HF Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:15-
08:30; 13:30-14:00    

FEM40 Norchem 
Healthcare Limited 

Eilbeck 
Deneside  

1 The Avenue, 
Deneside 

Seaham SR7 8LQ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None 
    

FXL31 Lloyds Pharmacy 
Limited 

 8 Blandford Place Seaham SR7 7EL Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:15-
09:00; 13:00-14:00    

FX542 Pharmacare4u Ltd  J & J 
Pharmacy  

1 West Grove, 
Westlea Estate  

Seaham SR7 8EL Mon-Fri: 09:00-14:00; 
14:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri:  
14:00-14:30,  
Sat: 09:15-13:00    

FKG29 Norchem 
Healthcare Limited 

 Eilbeck 
Harbour 

Seaham Primary 
Care Centre, St 
Johns Square  

Seaham  SR7 7JE Mon-Fri: 09:00-18:00 Mon: 08:00-09:00; 
18:00-20:30,  
Tue-Fri: 08:00-09:00    

FV165 G Whitfield Limited   16 Woods Terrace 
East 

Murton  SR7 9AA Mon-Wed: 09.00-12.30; 
13.30-18:00, 
Thurs-Fri: 09.00-12.30; 
13.30-17:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:30 

Mon-Wed: 08:30-
09:00; 12:30-13:30,  
Thu-Fri: 08:30-09:00; 
12:30-13:30; 17:00-
18:00    

FEQ59 Whitworth 
Chemists Limited 

 13/15 Woods 
Terrace 

Murton  SR7 9AD Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Wed: 17:30 - 
18:00,   
Sat: 09:00 - 12:00    

FJW29 Crispin Pharmacy 
Ltd 

Shotton 
Pharmacy 

2 Front Street Shotton 
Colliery 

 DH6 2LT Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None  

   

P
age 188



 

79 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FL004 Haswell Pharmacy 
Ltd 

  80  Front Street Haswell  DH6 2BL Mon-Wed: 09:00-17:30, 
Thurs: 09:00-15.00,  
Fri: 09:00-17:30 

Thurs: 15:00-17:30 

   

FQL31 M Whitfield Limited   2 Stanley Terrace Thornley  DH6 3ES Mon-Wed: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Thurs: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-17.30,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 14:00-
18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00  

Sat: 12:00-12:30 

   

FVH83 Norchem 
Healthcare Limited 

Meikles 
Pharmacy  

51 Middle Street Blackhall 
Colliery 

TS27 4EE Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:30 None 
   

FCK33 M Whitfield Limited 

 

28 Middle Street Blackhall 
Colliery 

TS27 4EA Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

Sat: 11:30-12:30 

   

FA773 Boots UK Limited   Front Street Wingate  TS28 5PZ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
13:00-14:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00    

FTA07 Phillips Chemists 
Ltd 

 

11 Luke Street Trimdon 
Colliery 

TS29 6DP Mon-Tues:  
08:30 - 16:30,  
Wed-Fri: 08:30 - 12:30 

None 

   

FFH88 M Whitfield Limited   The Primary Care 
Centre, Thornley 
Road  

Wheatley Hill DH6 3NR Mon-Wed: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Thurs: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-17.30:00,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 14:00-
18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00  

Sat: 12:00-12:30 

   

? Kaur Pharma 
Limited  
 
 

 81 Edenhill Road Peterlee SR8 5DD Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 ? 

   

Commented [CJ13]: Recent application - decision may be 
appealed. Need ODS code 

P
age 189



 

80 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   Derwentside39    

FW704 Boots UK Limited  Tanfield View 
Surgery, Scott 
Street 

Tanfield DH9 8AD Mon-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat-Sun: 09:00-19:00 

None 

   

FTW78 Ashchem Limited Ashchem 
Chemists 

3 West Road Annfield Plain DH9 7XA Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
13:00-14:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00    

  Browney House 
Surgery 

  Front Street Langley Park DH7 9YT Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:30 - 
   

FDR43 Bestway National 
Chemists Limited 

Well 40 Front Street Langley Park DH7 9SA Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:30-18:00,  
Sat: 08:45-12:30    

FRK79 T & J Healthcare 
Ltd 

Station Road 
Pharmacy 

9 Station Road Consett DH8 5RL Mon-Sat: 08:00-23:00, 
Sun: 10:00-20:00 

None 

   

FR810 John Low Ltd Moorside 
Pharmacy 

Consett Park 
Terrace, Moorside  

Consett DH8 8ET Mon-Fri: 08:30-14:30  None 

   

FJL38 John Low Ltd   83 Queens Road, 
Shotley Bridge 

Consett  DH8 0BW Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:30; 
14:00-17:00  

Mon-Fri:  
08:00-08:30;  
13:30 - 14:00     

FHM85 Lloyds Pharmacy 
Limited 

 12 Station Road Consett DH8 5RL Mon-Fri: 08:45-12:45; 
14:30-17:45,  
Sat: 09:15-13:00 

Mon-Fri 08:30-08:45;  
12:45-14:30; 17:45-
18:30,  
Sat: 08:45-09:15    

FQR60 Bestway National 
Chemists Limited 

Well The Derwent 
Centre, Middle 
Street  

Consett DH8 5QW Mon-Tues 09:30-14:00; 
15:00-17:30,  
Wed-Sat 09:30-14:00; 
15:00-17:00  

Mon-Tues: 09:00-
09:30,   
Wed-Sat: 09:00-
09:30; 17:00-17:30     

FH756 Boots UK Limited  Station Yard West, 
Delves Lane  

Consett DH8 5YA Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 08:00-
08:30; 13:00-14:00,  
Sat: 08:30-12:00    

                                            
39 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies 

P
age 190



 

81 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FA527 Farah Chemists 
Limited 

Burnopfield 
Pharmacy 

Cedar Crescent Burnopfield NE16 6HU Mon-Fri: 09.00-17.30 None 

   

FNR44 Farah Chemists 
Limited 

Dipton 
Pharmacy 

Lesbury House, 
Front Street  

Dipton  DH9 9AD Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
08:30-09:00    

FK668 Farah Chemists 
Limited 

Leadgate 
Pharmacy 

George Ewen 
House, Watling 
Street 

Leadgate DH8 6DP Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Tue: 17:00-18:00 
Thu: 17:00-18:00 

   

FLX61 Lydon Pharmacy 
Group Ltd 

Craghead 
Pharmacy  

6 Standerton 
Terrace 

Craghead DH9 6DD Mon: 08:30-12:30; 
13:00-19:00,  
Tue-Wed: 08:30-12:30; 
13:00-17:30,  
Thu: 08:30-13:00,  
Fri: 08:30-12:30; 13:00-
17:30 

None 

   

FW299 Asda Stores Ltd  Front Street Stanley DH9 0NB Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   

FTH09 Boots UK Limited   53 Front Street Stanley DH9 0SY Mon: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Tue-Sat: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:00 

Tue-Sat:  
17:00-17:30 

   

FRR32 Lloyds Pharmacy 
Limited 

 Clifford Road Stanley DH9 0AB Mon: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00,  
Tue-Fri: 09:00-12:00; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00 

Mon: 08:30-09:00; 
13:00-14:00,  
Tue-Fri: 08:30-09:00; 
12:00-14:00,  
Sat: 13:00-14:00    

FWL23 Lydon Pharmacy 
Group Ltd 

Stanley 
Pharmacy  

79 Front Street Stanley DH9 0TB Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-18:00  
Sat: 09:00-13:00    

  The Haven Surgery    The Haven  Burnhope DH7 0BD Mon-Tues: 08:00-18:00, 
Wed: 08:00-12:00, 
Thurs-Fri: 08:00-18:00 

- 

   

P
age 191



 

82 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FFF81 M D & A G Burdon 
Ltd 

Lanchester 
Pharmacy 

15 Front Street Lanchester DH7 0LA Mon-Fri: 09:00-13.00; 
14.00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
08:30-09:00,  
Sat: 09:00-17:00    

FYR54 Blue House Retail 
Ltd 

Taylors 
Pharmacy 

226 Park Road South Moor DH9 7AN Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri:17:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00    

  Oakfields Health 
Centre 

    Hamsterley 
Colliery  

NE17 7SB Mon-Wed: 08:30-18:00, 
Thurs: 08:30-12:00,  
Fri: 08:30-18:00. 
Closed every day 
between 12:00-14:00 

- 

   

FRQ35 Sri Vijaya Venkata 
LLP 

Consett 
Pharmacy 

Unit 19b Number 
One Industrial Est 

Consett DH8 6SY Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:13:00-14:00,  
Sat: 09:00-18:00    

Sedgefield40    

FMH62 Tesco Stores 
Limited 

 Greenwell Road  Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 4DH Mon: 08:00-22:30,  
Tue-Fri: 06:30-22:30, 
Sat: 06:30-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   

 Bewick Crescent 
Surgery 

 27 Bewick 
Crescent 

Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5LH Mon: 08.30–10.00; 
16.00–17.30,  
Tues: 08.30–10.00, 
Wed: 08.30–10.00; 
14.00–16.00,  
Thurs: 09.00–11.30; 
16.00–17.30,  
Fri: 08.30–10.00 
(Heighington Branch 
Surgery Dispensary 
Opening Hours) 

- 

   

FPL65 A R McConnell 
Limited 

The Village 
Pharmacy 

Pioneering Care 
Centre, Cobbler's 
Hall, Burn Lane 

Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 4SE Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Sat: 09:00-12:00 

   

                                            
40 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

P
age 192



 

83 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FGR42 Boots UK Limited 

 

57 Beveridge Way Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 4DU Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-15:00 

Mon: 08:30-09:00; 
17:00-17:30,  
Tue-Fri: 08:30-09:00; 
13:00-14:00; 17:00-
17:30,  
Sat: 15:00-17:00    

FFK86 Robert & Roberts 
Limited 

Bewick 
Pharmacy 

27 Bewick 
Crescent 

 Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5LH Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-18:00     

FWF67 Lloyds Pharmacy 
Limited 

 Pease Way 
Medical Centre 

Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5NH Mon-Fri :09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Mon-Fri: 08:00 - 
09:00; 13:00 - 14:00; 
18:00 - 19:30 
Sat: 08:00 - 18:00  
Sun: 10:00 - 16:00    

FE649 Asda Stores Ltd  St Andrew's Lane Spennymoor DL16 6QB Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   

  St Andrews 
Medical Practice 

  St Andrew's Lane Spennymoor DL16 6QA  Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
16:00-18:00 

 - 

   

FGN07 Bestway National 
Chemists Limited 

Well St Andrews 
Medical Centre 

Spennymoor DL16 6QA Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13:00-13:30; 
17.30-18.00    

FED01 Robert & Roberts 
Limited 

Miller Chemist 22 Cheapside Spennymoor DL16 6DJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:45-
09:00; 12:30-13:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00    

FPC89 Boots UK Limited  18 Cheapside Spennymoor DL16 6DJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
08:45 - 09:00, 
Sat:09:00 - 16:00    

FV584 Boots UK Limited Alliance 
Pharmacy 

2 North Street Ferryhill DL17 8HX Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None 
   

FL345 J’s Healthcare 
Limited 

Higginbottom 
Pharmacy 

11 Main Street Ferryhill DL17 8LA Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-17:30     

P
age 193



 

84 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FFC42 Boots UK Limited  1 Durham Road Ferryhill DL17 8LD Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:00; 
13:00-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30  

Mon-Fri:  
08:30-09:00,  
Sat: 11:30-12:00    

FWC49 Centrechem Ltd Sedgefield 
Pharmacy 

11 Front Street Sedgefield TS21 3AT Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Sat: 09:00-12:00 
   

FVW28 M & M Pharmacies 
Limited 

 14 Church Street Shildon DL4 1DX Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Sat: 09:00-12:00 

   

FM788 Hancock & Ainsley 
Ltd  

1 Main Street Shildon DL4 1AJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Sat: 09:00-12:00 

   

FTH97 Intrahealth 
Pharmacy Limited 

Cheapside 
Pharmacy  

5 Cheapside Shildon DL4 2HP Mon-Fri: 08:45-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

None 

   

FPM81 Intrahealth 
Pharmacy Limited 

Chilton 
Pharmacy 

Chilton Health 
Centre, Norman 
Terrace 

Chilton DL17 0HF Mon: 08:45-12:30; 
13:30-17:45,  
Tues: 08:45-12:30; 
13:30-17:30,  
Wed: 08:45-12:30; 
13:30-17:45,  
Thu: 08:45-13:30,  
Fri: 08:45-12:30; 13:30-
17:45,  
Sat: 08:30-12:00 

None 

   

FG885 Intrahealth 
Pharmacy Limited  

6-8 High Street West 
Cornforth 

DL17 9HR Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 17:00-18:00 

   

FC276 Phillips Chemists 
Ltd 

  21a Church Road Trimdon 
Village 

TS29 6PY Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:45-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 12:00-
12:30; 17:30-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00    

FYV47 Phillips Chemists 
Ltd 

  9 Alhambra 
Terrace 

Fishburn TS21 4BU Mon-Fri: 09:00-12.30; 
13.45-17.30 

None 

   

FMN51 Robert & Roberts 
Limited 

Neville 
Pharmacy 

6 Neville Parade Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5DH Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None 
 
 
    

P
age 194



 

85 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   Durham41 

   FLL39 Tesco Stores 
Limited 

 Dragonville 
Industrial Estate, 
Dragon Lane 

Durham DH1 2XQ Mon: 08:00-22:30,  
Tue-Fri: 06:30-22:30, 
Sat: 06:30-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

   FVC46 Alrahi & Singh Ltd Pharmacy 
Express 

Hilary House Kelloe DH6 4PE Mon-Fri: 08:30 - 16:30 None 

   FHD04 Bestway National 
Chemists Limited 

Well 25 Gilesgate Gilesgate DH1 1QW Mon-Fri: 09.00-14:00; 
15:00-18:00 

None 

     Belmont & 
Sherburn Medical 
Group  

Sherburn 
Surgery  

Gray Avenue Sherburn DH6 1JE Mon: 09:00-17:30, 
Tues: 09:00-12:00, 
Wed-Fri: 09:00-17:30 
Closed every day 
between 12:00-14:00.  

- 

   FJ005 J Leak & S Cook Leak 
Chemists 

6 Blue House 
Buildings, High 
Street 

Belmont  DH1 1AR Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14.00-17:30 

   FK785 James &  Lindsey 
Clark 

J &  L C Clark 
Chemists 

10 Cheveley Park, 
Shopping Centre  

Belmont DH1 2AA Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri:  
17.00-17:30,  
Sat: 09.00-13.00 

   FD330 Boots UK Limited   Unit 9, Durham 
City Retail Park  

Belmont DH1 2RP Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Mon-Fri: 13:00-
14:00; 18:00-19:00,  
Sat: 09:00-18:00,  
Sun: 10:30-16:30 

   FMG71 Boots UK Limited   Unit B, Arnison 
Centre Retail Park 

Pity Me  DH1 5GB Mon-Fri: 09:00-14:00; 
15:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:00-
09:00; 14:00-15:00; 
18:00-20:00, 
Sat: 08:00-19:00,  
Sun: 10:30-16:30 

   FLJ01 Coolmain Services 
Ltd 

Leak 
Chemists 

29 Front Street Framwellgate 
Moor 

DH1 5EE Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:00 

                                               
41 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 195



 

86 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FRK21 W Smith (Durham) 
Ltd 

  55 Carr House 
Drive 

Framwellgate 
Moor 

DH1 5LT Mon-Fri:  09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 12.30-13.00 

   FV365 W Smith (Durham) 
Ltd 

  1 New House 
Road 

Esh Winning DH7 9JU Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00 

Sat: 09.00-12.30 

   FML39 W Smith (Durham) 
Ltd 

 

Flass Terrace Ushaw Moor  DH7 7LD Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00 

Sat: 09.00-12.30 

   FQK30 Parkchem Limited Sherburn 
Village 
Pharmacy 

2 Harley Terrace Sherburn  DH6 1DS Mon-Wed: 08:45-13:00; 
14:00-18:00,  
Thu: 08:45-12:00; 
13:00-17:00,  
Fri: 09:00-13:00; 14:00-
18:00 

Mon-Wed:13:00 - 
14:00,   
Thu:12:00 - 13:00,  
Fri: 08:45 - 09:00; 
13:00 - 14:00 

     West Rainton 
Surgery 

  Woodland View West Rainton DH4 6RQ Mon-Fri: 08:00-11:30; 
13:30- 18:00 

- 

   FX194 Mr T Grey The 
Storehouse 
Pharmacy 

The Store House, 
Rainton Gate 
 

West Rainton DH4 6SQ Mon-Fri: 08:30 - 12:30; 
13:30 - 17:30  

Mon-Fri: 08:15 - 
08:30; 17:30 - 18:00  
 

   FTT54 M Whitfield Limited 

 

34 Sunderland 
Road 

Gilesgate DH1 2LG Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30  

Sat: 11:30-12:30 

   FV167 Lloyds Pharmacy 
Limited 

 Arnison Retail 
Centre 

Pity Me DH1 5GD Mon-Sat: 09:00-12:00; 
14:00-17:00,  
Sun: 10:00-14:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:00-
09:00; 12:00-14:00; 
17:00-22:00,  
Sat: 08:00-09:00; 
12:00-14:00; 17:00-
21:00,  
Sun: 14:00-16:00 

   FKP88 Boots UK Limited   5a-6 North Road Durham City DH1 4SH Mon-Sat: 09:00-12:00; 
13:00-17:00 

Mon-Sat: 08:45-
09:00; 12:00-13:00; 
17:00-17:30  

   FYR53 Boots UK Limited 

 

2-5 Market Place Durham City DH1 3NB Mon-Sat: 08:30-17:30, 
Sun: 11:00-17:00 

None 

   

P
age 196



 

87 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FA268 Bowburn Pharmacy 
Company Ltd 

 

2 Ash Terrace Bowburn DH6 5AS Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:45; 
13:45-18:00 

None  

   FGL33 M Whitfield Limited 

 

1 Sanderson 
Street 

Coxhoe  DH6 4DF Mon -Fri: 09:00-12:45; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-10:15 

Sat: 10:15-12:00 

     The Medical Group   Sawmills Lane  Meadowfield  DH7 9NH Mon-Wed: 09:00-17:30, 
Thurs: 09:00-12:00,  
Fri: 09:00-17:30 
Closed every day from 
12:00 -13:00. 

 

   FRQ38 M & M Pharmacies 
Limited 

 The Health Centre, 
Sawmills Lane  

Meadowfield DH7 8NH Mon-Fri: 08:15-12:30; 
13:30-17:15 

Mon-Fri: 17:15-18:00 

   FFC99 Lloyds Pharmacy 
Limited 

 Manchester 
House, 
Commercial Street  

Brandon DH7 8PL Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 13:30-14:00 

   FDK64 M & M Pharmacies 
Limited 

 Phoenix House, 4 
Sawmills Lane  

Brandon DH7 8BJ Mon-Fri: 08:00-16:00 Mon-Fri:  
16:00 - 17:00 

   Chester-le-Street42 

   FAX71 Gorgemead Limited Cohens 
Chemist 

6 Bridge End Chester-le-
Street 

DH3 3RA Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-10:00; 
11:30-13:00  

Mon-Fri: 08:00-
09:00; 12:30-14:00, 
Sat: 11:30-13:00 

   FG999 Gorgemead Limited Cohens 
Chemist 

Middle Chare Chester-le-
Street 

DH3 3QD Mon-Fri:  09:00-17:30 Mon-Fri: 17:30-18:00 

   FQG19 Boots UK Limited 

 

8-9 St.Cuthberts 
Walk 

Chester-le- 
Street 

DH3 3YQ Mon-Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:00  

Mon-Sat: 13:00-
14:00; 17:00-17:30 
 

   FDD30 Superdrug Stores 
Plc 

 48-50 Front Street Chester-le-
Street 

DH3 3BD Mon-Sat: 08:30-14:00; 
14:30-17:30 

None 

   

                                            
42 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 197



 

88 
 

ODS 
Code 

Pharmacy or GP 
Surgery 

Trading 
Name 

Address 1  Address 2  Postcode Pharmacy Core 
Hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours  

   FPQ55 Boots UK Limited   Cestria Health 
Centre, Whitehill 
Way  

Chester-le-
Street 

DH2 3DJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Wed:08:15-
09:00; 17:00-18:15, 
Thu: 08:15-09:00; 
17:00-20:15,  
Fri: 08:15-09:00; 
17:00-18:15 

     Pelton & Fellrose 
Medical Group 

  Lavender Centre, 
Pelton Lane  

Pelton DH2 1HS Mon-Fri: 08:30-18:00 - 

   FE898 Centrechem Ltd  Pelton Primary 
Care Centre, 
Ouston Lane  

Pelton DH2 1EZ Mon-Fri: 09:00-18:00 Sat: 09:00-12:00 

   FCQ82 Fletcher Gamble 
Limited 

Pelton Fell 
Pharmacy 

Fell Road Pelton Fell DH2 2NR Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:00; 
13:00-18:00 

None 

   FQQ83 G Whitfield Limited   38 Gill Crescent 
North 

Fencehouses DH4 6AW Mon-Wed: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Thu: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-17:00,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 14:00-
18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:30 

None 

   FL073 Boots UK Limited  The Medical 
Centre, Front 
Street  

Sacriston DH7 6JW Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon: 08:00-09:00; 
13:00-14:00; 18:00-
20:00,  
Tue-Fri: 08:00-09:00; 
13:00-14:00 

   FMQ48 J Dinning (Lumley) 
Limited 

 13 Lombard Place Great Lumley DH3 4QP Mon-Fri: 08:30-17:45 None 

   FW641 Amerikana LLP Vigo 
Pharmacy 

Unit 1D, Drum 
Industrial Estate 

Chester-le- 
Street 

DH2 1SS Mon-Fri : 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
13:00-14:00, 
Sat:09:00-18:00 

    
  

P
age 198



 

89 
 

Appendix 11: Pharmaceutical service maps 
 

Summary of information 
 
Master map of pharmaceutical services for County Durham  

The map of all pharmacies and dispensing doctors in County Durham appears in Appendix 11.1. This has used the information of 
pharmacy and dispensing doctor listings in Appendix 10. It is a statutory requirement to keep this up to date (see Appendix 3). This 
updated information can be found at xxx.  
 
Locality information 

All other pharmacy service maps are broken down into the 6 PNA localities of: 

 Dales (Appendix 11.2) 

 Easington (Appendix 11.3) 

 Derwentside (Appendix 11.4) 

 Sedgefield (Appendix 11.5) 

 Durham (Appendix 11.6) 

 Chester-le-Street (Appendix 11.7) 
 
For each locality the following maps are presented:  
 

Population 

 Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density (all ages).  

 Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density of the over 65’s.   

 Location of pharmacies, mapped against deprivation.  
 

Access  

 Pharmacies open after 6pm (with a 100 hour pharmacy distinction). 

 Pharmacies open at the weekend (with a 100 hour pharmacy distinction). 
Note: This information is based on core opening hours only since additional supplementary opening hours can, with a 3 month 
notice to NHS England, change at any time. Information on core opening hours was obtained from NHS England in April 2017.  
 

Commented [CJ14]: To re-do map following closure of 
Weardale Practice dispensary  

Commented [CJ15]: Need a website link for the map section 
of the PNA website 

P
age 199



 

90 
 

Public health pharmacy services  

 Pharmacies offering sexual health services (EOHC and C card schemes), mapped against prevalence of teenage 
conceptions. 

 Pharmacies offering the Alcohol Brief Intervention Service, mapped against alcohol related hospital admissions. 
 Pharmacies offering the Supervised Consumption Service, mapped against deprivation. 

 Pharmacies offering the Level 2 Stop Smoking Service, mapped against COPD admissions.  
Note: This information was based on commissioner service data in April 2017. Provision of the NRT Voucher Scheme is not mapped since this 
is a widespread service.  
 
CCG commissioned services  

 Pharmacies offering the Anticoagulation, Food Thickening, Palliative Care and/or TB Drug Services. 
Note: This information is based on commissioner service data in June 2017. Provision of the Minor Ailment Scheme is not mapped since this is 
a widespread service.  
  

Commented [CJ16]: To re-do maps with addition of palliative 
care services  

P
age 200



 

91 
 

Appendix 11.1: Master map of pharmaceutical services in County Durham 
 

P
age 201



 

92 
 

Appendix 11.2: Dales 
 

The Dales population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density (all ages) 

  

P
age 202



 

93 
 

 
The Dales population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density of the over 65’s  

 

P
age 203



 

94 
 

The Dales population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 204



 

95 
 

Access to pharmacy services in the Dales (based on core opening hours) 
 

Pharmacies open after 6pm  

  

P
age 205



 

96 
 

Access to pharmacy services in the Dales (based on core opening hours) 
 

Pharmacies open at the weekend 

  

P
age 206



 

97 
 

 Public health pharmacy services in the Dales 
 

Pharmacies offering sexual health services (EOHC and C card schemes), mapped against prevalence of teenage 
conceptions 

  

P
age 207



 

98 
 

Public health pharmacy services in the Dales 

 
Pharmacies offering the Alcohol Brief Intervention Service, mapped against alcohol related hospital admissions 

  

P
age 208



 

99 
 

Public health pharmacy services in the Dales 

 
Pharmacies offering the Supervised Consumption Service, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 209



 

100 
 

Public health pharmacy services in the Dales 

 
Pharmacies offering a Level 2 Stop Smoking Service, mapped against COPD admissions 

  

P
age 210



 

101 
 

CCG pharmacy commissioned services in the Dales 
 

Pharmacies offering the Anticoagulation, Food Thickening, and/or TB Drug Services

  

Commented [CJ17]: To re-do map with addition of palliative 
care services 

P
age 211



 

102 
 

Appendix 11.3: Easington 
 

Easington population 

Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density (all ages) 

  

P
age 212



 

103 
 

Easington population 

Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density of the over 65’s  

  

P
age 213



 

104 
 

Easington population 

Location of pharmacies, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 214



 

105 
 

Access to pharmacy services in Easington (based on core opening hours) 

Pharmacies open after 6pm  

  

P
age 215



 

106 
 

Access to pharmacy services in Easington (based on core opening hours) 

Pharmacies open at the weekend 

  

P
age 216



 

107 
 

Public health pharmacy services in Easington 

Pharmacies offering sexual health services (EOHC and C card schemes), mapped against prevalence of teenage 
conceptions 

  

P
age 217



 

108 
 

Public health pharmacy services in Easington 

Pharmacies offering the Alcohol Brief Intervention Service, mapped against alcohol related hospital admissions 

  

P
age 218



 

109 
 

Public health pharmacy services in Easington 

Pharmacies offering the Supervised Consumption Service, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 219



 

110 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Easington 

Pharmacies offering a Level 2 Stop Smoking Service, mapped against COPD admissions 

 

P
age 220



 

111 
 

 

CCG pharmacy commissioned services in Easington 

Pharmacies offering the Anticoagulation, Food Thickening, and/or TB Drug Services 

  

Commented [CJ18]: To re-do map with addition of palliative 
care services 

P
age 221



 

112 
 

Appendix 11.4: Derwentside 
 

Derwentside population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density (all ages) 

  

P
age 222



 

113 
 

Derwentside population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density of the over 65’s  

 
  

P
age 223



 

114 
 

Derwentside population  

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 224



 

115 
 

 
 
 

Access to pharmacy services in Derwentside (based on core opening hours) 
 

Pharmacies open after 6pm  

  

P
age 225



 

116 
 

 

Access to pharmacy services in Derwentside (based on core opening hours) 

 
Pharmacies open at the weekend 

  

P
age 226



 

117 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services Derwentside 

 
Pharmacies offering sexual health services (EOHC and C card schemes), mapped against prevalence of teenage 
conceptions 

 

P
age 227



 

118 
 

Public health pharmacy services in Derwentside 

 
Pharmacies offering the Alcohol Brief Intervention Service, mapped against alcohol related hospital admissions 

  

P
age 228



 

119 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Derwentside  

 
Pharmacies offering the Supervised Consumption Service, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 229



 

120 
 

 
 
 

Public health pharmacy services in Derwentside 

 
Pharmacies offering a Level 2 Stop Smoking Service, mapped against COPD admissions 

  

P
age 230



 

121 
 

CCG pharmacy commissioned services Derwentside 
 

Pharmacies offering the Anticoagulation, Food Thickening, and/or TB Drug Services 

 
  

Commented [CJ19]: To re-do map with addition of palliative 
care services 

P
age 231



 

122 
 

Appendix 11.5: Sedgefield 
 

Sedgefield population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density (all ages) 

  

P
age 232



 

123 
 

Sedgefield population  

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density of the over 65’s  

  

P
age 233



 

124 
 

Sedgefield population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against deprivation 

 

P
age 234



 

125 
 

Access to pharmacy services in Sedgefield (based on core opening hours) 

 
Pharmacies open after 6pm  

  

P
age 235



 

126 
 

 

Access to pharmacy services in Sedgefield (based on core opening hours) 

 
Pharmacies open at the weekend 

  

P
age 236



 

127 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Sedgefield 

 
Pharmacies offering sexual health services (EOHC and C card schemes), mapped against prevalence of teenage 
conceptions 

 
  

P
age 237



 

128 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Sedgefield  

 
Pharmacies offering the Alcohol Brief Intervention Service, mapped against alcohol related hospital admissions 

  

P
age 238



 

129 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Sedgefield  

 
Pharmacies offering the Supervised Consumption Service, mapped against deprivation 

 

P
age 239



 

130 
 

Public health pharmacy services Sedgefield 

 
Pharmacies offering a Level 2 Stop Smoking Service, mapped against COPD admissions 

  

P
age 240



 

131 
 

 

CCG pharmacy commissioned services in Sedgefield 
 

Pharmacies offering the Anticoagulation, Food Thickening, and/or TB Drug Services 

 
  

Commented [CJ20]: To re-do map with addition of palliative 
care services 

P
age 241



 

132 
 

Appendix 11.6: Durham 
 

Durham population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density (all ages) 

  

P
age 242



 

133 
 

Durham population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density of the over 65’s  

  

P
age 243



 

134 
 

Durham population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 244



 

135 
 

Access to pharmacy services in Durham (based on core opening hours) 

 
Pharmacies open after 6pm  

 
  

P
age 245



 

136 
 

 

Access to pharmacy services in Durham (based on core opening hours) 

 
Pharmacies open at the weekend 

 
  

P
age 246



 

137 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Durham 

 
Pharmacies offering sexual health services (EOHC and C card schemes), mapped against prevalence of teenage 
conceptions 

 
Public health pharmacy services in Durham 

P
age 247



 

138 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Durham 

 
Pharmacies offering the Alcohol Brief Intervention Service, mapped against alcohol related hospital admissions 

  

P
age 248



 

139 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Durham  

 
Pharmacies offering the Supervised Consumption Service, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 249



 

140 
 

Public health pharmacy services in Durham 

 
Pharmacies offering a Level 2 Stop Smoking Service, mapped against COPD admissions 

  

P
age 250



 

141 
 

CCG pharmacy commissioned services Durham 
 

Pharmacies offering the Anticoagulation, Food Thickening, and/or TB Drug Services 

 
  

Commented [CJ21]: To re-do map with addition of palliative 
care services 

P
age 251



 

142 
 

Appendix 11.7: Chester-le-Street 
 

Chester-le-Street population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density (all ages) 

  

P
age 252



 

143 
 

 

Chester-le-Street population  

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against population density of the over 65’s  

  

P
age 253



 

144 
 

Chester-le-Street population 

 
Location of pharmacies, mapped against deprivation 

 
  

P
age 254



 

145 
 

 

Access to pharmacy services in Chester-le-Street (based on core opening hours) 

Note: There are no pharmacies in the Chester-le-Street area with core opening hours after 6pm. 
 
Pharmacies open at the weekend 

  

P
age 255



 

146 
 

 

Public health pharmacy services in Chester-le-Street 

 
Pharmacies offering sexual health services (EOHC and C card schemes), mapped against prevalence of teenage 
conceptions 

  

P
age 256



 

147 
 

Public health services in Chester-le-Street  

 
Pharmacies offering the Alcohol Brief Intervention Service, mapped against alcohol related hospital admissions 

 
  

P
age 257



 

148 
 

Public health services in Chester-le-Street  

 
Pharmacies offering the Supervised Consumption Service, mapped against deprivation 

  

P
age 258



 

149 
 

Public health pharmacy services in Chester-le-Street  

 
Pharmacies offering a Level 2 Stop Smoking Service, mapped against COPD admissions 

  

P
age 259



 

150 
 

CCG pharmacy commissioned services in Chester-le-Street  
 

Pharmacies offering the Anticoagulation, Food Thickening, and/or TB Drug Services 

 
 
 

Commented [CJ22]: To re-do map with addition of palliative 
care services 

P
age 260



 

Health & Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 
Public Health England Child Health and 
Health Profiles 2017 for County Durham 
 

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

 
Purpose of the report 

 
1. To introduce the Public Health England (PHE) Child Health and Health Profiles 

2017 for County Durham, and compare indicators against the previous profile 
(2016). The indicators used in the profile do not necessarily represent the most 
recent performance data, as it is not a performance management tool. It presents a 
snapshot in time, and all indicator time periods are dated. This report does not look 
at specific actions (current or planned) to address any of the issues highlighted 
within the profiles.  

 
Background 

 
2. The PHE Child Health and Health profiles provide a snapshot of child and overall 

health and wellbeing in County Durham. Produced annually using key indicators, 
these profiles enable comparison locally, regionally and nationally. They are 
designed to help local commissioners and providers across the health and social 
care system understand the health needs of their population, in order to work 
collaboratively in partnership to improve health and reduce health inequalities. By 
using the profiles local organisations can work in partnership to plan and 
commission evidence-based services based on local need.   

 
3. Each profile is available as a 4-page PDF report attached as Appendix 2 (Child 

Health) and Appendix 3 (Health Profile). The profiles are also available within PHE’s 
Fingertips tool, where Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) profiles are also 
available. This tool allows the user to look at individual indicators over time, and 
compare County Durham against England, North East Local Authorities and 
Statistical Neighbours to County Durham. 

 
Child Health profile:  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health 
overview/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047 
 
Health profile:  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-
profiles/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047 
 

4. Further relevant indicators relating to children and young people in County Durham 
are Child and Maternal Health section of PHE’s online ‘Fingertips’ tool.   
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health  
 

Page 261

Agenda Item 10

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health%20overview/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health%20overview/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/1/ati/102/are/E06000047
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health


 

Users can choose to view by life-course stage or view by theme using the 
sections below. Indicators appear in more than one of the profiles.  
 
Life course stage: 

 Overview of child health 

 Pregnancy and birth 

 Early years 

 School age children 

 Young people 
 
View by theme: 

 Breastfeeding 

 Children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing 

 Health behaviours in young people 

 Health care use 

 Public Health and NHS Outcomes Framework for children and young people 

 Unintentional injuries 

 Vaccinations and immunisations 

 Vulnerable children and young people. 
 

5. Within the Health profile, data are grouped into five domains in the same way as 
presented on the spine chart on page 4 of the pdf report: 

 Our communities 

 Children’s and young people’s health 

 Adults’ health and lifestyle 

 Disease and poor health 

 Life expectancy and causes of death 
 

Child Health Profile 2017 summary 
 
6. The health and well-being outcomes of an area are greatly shaped by a wide variety 

of social, economic and environmental factors (such as poverty, housing, ethnicity, 
place of residence, education and environment). It is clear that improvements in 
health outcomes cannot be made without action in these wider determinants. Health 
inequalities are disparities between population groups that are systematically 
associated with these socio-economic and environmental factors. Such variations in 
health are avoidable and unjust.  

 
7. There is a clear social gradient to many health outcomes. The more deprived an 

area is, the poorer health outcomes that would be expected. Overall, the health and 
wellbeing of children in County Durham is generally worse than the England 
average, as are the levels of child poverty. County Durham is the 75th most 
deprived local authority in England (out of 326) and as such would be expected to 
have lower than average health outcomes (ID2015).  

 
Defining the childhood population of County Durham  

8. The profile contains some high level descriptive statistics relating to the child 
population of County Durham, compared to the North East and England.  These 
include the number of live births in 2015, the proportion of children in specific age 
bands, projections of the 0 to 19 population to 2025, the number of school children 

Page 262



 

from an ethnic minority, the proportion of under 16s living in poverty and life 
expectancy at birth for boy and girls. It should be noted that these do not 
necessarily represent the latest population figures used by the County Durham 
Partnership. Please refer to the Integrated Needs Assessment population 
factsheets for further information on population, poverty and deprivation 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8468/Population-Poverty-and-
Deprivation) 
 
Table 1: Key statistics relating to the childhood population of County Durham, 
compared to the North East and England. Source: PHE Child Health profile for 
County Durham, 2017. 
 
                             
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 

 The proportion of children aged 0-4 is lower in County Durham than England, 
but similar to the North East. 

 The proportion of children aged 0 to 19 in County Durham is similar to the 
North East and England. 

 The projected 0 to 19 population will increase by around 6,000 between 2015 
and 2025.  

 The proportion of school children form an ethnic minority in County Durham 
(4.5%) is lower than both the North East (10%) and England (30%). 

 A larger proportion of children live in poverty in County Durham (23.9%) than 
England (20.1%).  

 Life expectancy (2013-15) for boys and girls in County Durham is lower than 
England. 

 
Key findings from the County Durham Child Health Profile 2017 

 
9. Key findings from the profile include: 

 The health and wellbeing of children in County Durham is generally worse 
than the England average. Infant and child mortality rates are similar to the 
England average. 

 The level of child poverty is worse than the England average with 23.9% of 
children aged under 16 years living in poverty. The rate of family 
homelessness is better than the England average. 

Page 263

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8468/Population-Poverty-and-Deprivation
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8468/Population-Poverty-and-Deprivation


 

 Children in County Durham have worse than average levels of obesity: 
10.4% of children aged 4-5 years and 22.1% of children aged 10- 11 years 
are classified as obese. 

 Local areas should aim to have at least 95% of children immunised in order 
to give protection both to the individual child and the overall population. For 
children aged 2, the MMR immunisation rate is 97.1% and the diphtheria, 
tetanus, polio, pertussis and Hib immunisation rate is 99.1%. 

 There were 680 children in care at 31 March 2015, which equates to a higher 
rate than the England average. A higher percentage of children in care are 
up-to-date with their immunisations compared with the England average for 
this group of children. 

 
10. Appendix 4 summarises the 2017 County Durham Child Health Profile and 

benchmarks against the England average using a dark blue/cream/light blue 
scheme to show whether the local measure is significantly different to the England 
average. Progress over time, against the previous profile in this instance, is shown 
via a white or black box (some longer term trends are available on request). The full 
child health profile is included in the appendices, the spine chart can be located on 
the final page of the profile. 

 
11. Of the 32 indicators included in the 2017 Child Health Profile spine chart (Table 2): 

 5 were significantly better than England 

 16 were significantly worse than England 

 10 showed no significant difference to England 

 1 had no data supplied (GCSE attainment for children in care, 2015) 
 
Table 2. Child Health profile indicators statistically significantly different to England. 
Source: PHE Child Health profile for County Durham, 2017. 
 

Significantly better than England Significantly worse than England 

MMR immunisation (one dose, by age 2) Not in education, employment or training (age 16-18) 

Dtap/IPV/hib vaccination(by age 2) Children in low income families (<16 years) 

Children in care immunisations Children in care 

Family homelessness Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents 

Hospital admissions for dental caries (1-4 years) Obese children (aged 4-5) 

 
Obese children (aged 10-11) 

 

Children with one or more decayed, missing of filled teeth 

 

Teenage conception rates (aged <18 years) 

 
Teenage mothers (age < 18 years) 

 

Persons under 18 admitted to hospital for alcohol-specific 
conditions 

 

Smoking at time of delivery 

 

Breastfeeding initiation 

 

Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks 

Page 264



 

 

A&E attenders (age 0-4 years) 

 
Hospital admissions caused by injuries in children (0-14 years) 

 
Hospital admissions caused by injuries to children (15-24 years) 

 
12. Of those 16 indicators significantly worse than the England average (Table 3): 

 6 have improved since the previous reporting period 

 3 have deteriorated since the previous reporting period  

 7 displayed no statistically significant change from the previous reporting 
period or the trend could not be calculated 

 
Table 3. Child Health profile indicators significantly worse than England, direction of travel 
compared to previous period. Source: PHE Child Health profile for County Durham, 2017. 

 
Health Profile 2017 summary 
 
13. The health and wellbeing outcomes of an area are greatly shaped by a wide variety 

of social, economic and environmental factors (such as poverty, housing, ethnicity, 
place of residence, education and environment). It is clear that improvements in 
health outcomes cannot be made without action in these wider determinants. Health 
inequalities are disparities between population groups that are systematically 
associated with these socio-economic and environmental factors. Such variations in 
health are avoidable and unjust.  

 
14. There is a clear social gradient to many health outcomes. The more deprived an 

area is, the poorer health outcomes that would be expected. Overall the health and 
wellbeing of people living in County Durham is generally worse than the England 
average, as are the levels of deprivation. County Durham is the 75th most deprived 
local authority in England (out of 326) and as such would be expected to have lower 
than average health outcomes (ID2015).  

 
Key findings from the County Durham Health Profile 2017 
 
15. Health in summary 

The health of people in County Durham is varied compared with the England 
average. About 24% (20,900) of children live in low income families. Life 
expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average. 

 

Significantly worse than England, worse than 
previous period 

Significantly worse than England, better than 
previous period 

Children in low income families (<16 years) Not in education, employment or training (age 16-18) 

Children in care Under 18 conceptions 

A&E attenders (age 0-4 years) Teenage mothers 
 

 Persons under 18 admitted to hospital for alcohol-specific 
conditions 

 Smoking at time of delivery 

 Hospital admissions caused by injuries in young people (15-24 
years) 

Page 265



 

16. Health inequalities 
Life expectancy is 7.9 years lower for men and 7.7 years lower for women in the 
most deprived areas of County Durham than in the least deprived areas. 
 

17. Child health 
In Year 6, 22.1% (1,174) of children are classified as obese, worse than the 
average for England. The rate of alcohol-specific hospital stays among those under 
18 is 67, worse than the average for England. This represents 68 stays per year. 
Levels of teenage pregnancy, breastfeeding initiation and smoking at time of 
delivery are worse than the England average. 
 

18. Adult health 
The rate of alcohol-related harm hospital stays is 752, worse than the average for 
England. This represents 3,898 stays per year. The rate of self-harm hospital stays 
is 197. This represents 1,007 stays per year. The rate of smoking related deaths is 
381 worse than the average for England. This represents 1,152 deaths per year. 
Estimated levels of adult excess weight are worse than the England average. The 
rate of hip fractures is worse than average. Rates of sexually transmitted infections 
and TB are better than average.  
 

19. Local priorities 
Priorities in County Durham include tackling health inequalities, improving mental 
health and wellbeing, and giving every child the best start in life.  
 

20. Appendix 5 summarises the 2017 County Durham Health Profile, and benchmarks 
against the England average using a dark blue/cream/light blue scheme to show 
whether the local measure is significantly different to the England average. 
Progress over time, against the previous profile in this instance, is shown via a 
white or black box (some longer term trends are available on request).  It should be 
noted that this is slightly different from the Child Health Profile summary due to 
inconsistencies in the different PHE profiles. The full health profile is included in the 
appendices, and the spine chart can be located on the final page of the profile. 

 
21. Of the 30 indicators included in the 2017 summary spine chart: 

 3 are significantly better than the England average. 

 7 are not significantly different to the England average. 

 16 are significantly worse than the England average. 

 4 were not tested for statistical significance.  
 
 
22. Of the 16 indicators that were statistically significantly worse than the England 

average: 

 5 have improved since the previous profile. 

 3 have not changed since the previous profile. 

 5 have deteriorated since the previous profile.  

 3 have seen methodological change and cannot be compared. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 266



 

Table 4. Health profile indicators statistically significantly different to England. Source: 
PHE Health profile for County Durham, 2016. 

 

 

Significantly better than England Significantly worse than England 

Violent crime (violence offences) Children in low income families (<16 years) 

Incidence of TB Long term unemployment 
 

New sexually transmitted infections (STI) Smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) 

 
Breastfeeding initiation 

 
Obese children (Year 6) 

 
Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions (under 18) 

 
Under 18 conceptions 

 
Excess weight in adults 

 
Hospital stays for alcohol-related harm 

 
Recorded diabetes 

 
Hip fractures in people aged 65 and over 

 
Life expectancy at birth (males) 

 
Life expectancy at birth (females) 

 
Suicides 

 
Cardiovascular mortality (<75 years) 

 
Cancer mortality (<75 years) 

 
 

Table 5. Health profile indicators statistically significantly worse than England, direction of 
travel compared to previous period. Source: PHE Health profile for County Durham, 2016. 

 

 
23. Of the 16 indicators that were statistically significantly worse than the England 

average: 

 5 have improved since the previous profile. 

 3 have not changed since the previous profile. 

Significantly worse than England, worse than 
previous period 

Significantly worse than England, better than 
previous period 

Children in low income families (<16 years) Long term unemployment 

Obese children (Y6) Smoking at time of delivery 

Life expectancy at birth (male) Under 18 conceptions 
 

Suicide Excess weight in adults 

Cardiovascular mortality (<75 years) Cancer mortality (<75 years) 

Page 267



 

 5 have deteriorated since the previous profile.  

 3 have seen methodological change and cannot be compared to previous 
releases 

 
Next steps 
 
24. The updated health profiles are being used in the refresh of the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy and other relevant plans. 
 
25. Children in low income families, children in care and unintended injuries are already 

priorities within the HWB Board and Children and Families Partnership. Obesity is a 
HWB priority. 

 
26. The data highlights that we are focusing on the right areas. 

 
27. It is encouraging to see some improvement in other areas where there is a focus 

including teenage conceptions and smoking at time of delivery. 
 

28. For the adult profile issues including suicide and life expectancy are key priorities.  
However it is concerning to see a shift in cardiovascular disease for areas where 
there has been an improvement including cancer mortality concerted focus needs to 
remain as the indicators are still worse than England. 

 
Recommendations 
 
29. The Health & Wellbeing Board are requested to:  

 
a) Note the information within the health profiles 
b) Note that health profiles form part of a wide range of information drawn 

together in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
c) Acknowledge that the profiles are being used as a key data to inform the 

refresh of the Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy and other partnership plans 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Contact: Michael Fleming, Public Health Epidemiologist  
Tel:      03000 267664 

Page 268



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance 
N/A 
 
Staffing 
N/A 
 
Risk 
N/A 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
N/A 
 
Accommodation 
N/A 
 
Crime and Disorder 
Crime and disorder indicators used within the PHE profiles do not necessarily represent the latest 
performance figures and so may differ from those reported within the Safer Durham Partnership 
 
Human Rights  
N/A 
 
Consultation  
PHE indicators are an integral part of the Integrated Needs Assessment many factsheets, which 
inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which is consulted on in various ways including the 
Big Tent event. 
 
Procurement  
N/A 
 
Disability Issues  
N/A 
 
Legal Implications  
N/A 

 

Page 269



 

Appendix 4: County Durham Child Health Profile 2017 summary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statistically significantly worse than England

Not statistically significantly different to England

Statistically significantly better than England

Period
No. per 

year
Value

England 

ave.

Improvement from 

previous period?

1 Infant mortality rate (less than 1 year) Rate/1,000 live births Lower 2013-15 18 3.4 3.9 Yes

2 Child mortality rate (age 1-17 years) DASR/100,000* Lower 2013-15 13 13.4 11.9 Cannot be calculated

3 MMR immunisation (one dose, by age 2) % Higher 2015/16 5,543 97.1 91.9 Yes

4 Dtap/IPV/hib vaccination(by age 2) % Higher 2015/16 5,656 99.1 95.2 Yes

5 Children in care immunisations % Higher 2016 465 100 88.9 No significant change

6 Children achieving a good level of development at the end of % Higher 2015/16 3,989 69 69.3 Cannot be calculated

7 GCSE achievement (5A*-C inc maths & english) % Higher 2015/16 2,996 58.3 57.8 Cannot be calculated

8 GCSE achievement (5A*-C inc maths & english) for children in % Higher 2015 - - 11 No data

9 Not in education, employment or training (age 16-18) % Lower 2015 1,010 5.9 4.2 Yes

10 First time entrants to the youth justice system Rate/100,000 Lower 2015 150 346.9 368.6 Yes

11 Children living in poverty (age < 16 years) % Lower 2014 20,875 23.9 20.1 No

12 Family homelessness Crude rate/1,000 Lower 2015/16 75 0.3 1.9 Yes

13 Children in care   Crude rate/10,000 Lower 2016 680 68 60 No

14 Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents Crude rate/100,000 Lower 2013-15 24 26.7 17 Cannot be calculated

15 Low birthweight of term babies (changed from all babies) % <2,500 grams Lower 2015 139 2.8 2.8 No significant change

16 Obese children (age 4-5 years) % Lower 2015/16 604 10.4 9.3 No significant change

17 Obese children (age 10-11 years) % Lower 2015/16 1,174 22.1 19.8 No significant change

18 Children with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth % Lower 2014/15 - 35.1 24.8 Cannot be calculated

19 Hospital admissions for dental caries (0-4 years) Crude rate/100,000 Lower 2013/14-2015/16 33 116.2 241.4 Cannot be calculated

20 Teenage conception rates (age <18 years) Crude rate/1,000 Lower 2015 219 26.4 20.8 Yes

21 Teenage mothers (age <18 years) % Lower 2015/16 86 1.6 0.9 Yes

22 Hospital admissions for alcohol-specific conditions (<18 years) Crude rate/100,000 Lower 2012/13-2014/15 66 65.5 36.6 Yes

23 Hospital admissions due to substance misuse (age 15-24 years) DASR/100,000* Lower 2013/14-2015/16 67 98 95.4 Cannot be calculated

24 Smoking at time of delivery % Lower 2015/16 956 18.1 10.6 Yes

25 Breastfeeding initiation % Higher 2014/15 2,943 57.6 74.3 No significant change

26 Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks % Higher 2015/16 1,528 28.1 43.2 Cannot be calculated

27 A&E attendances (age 0-4 years) Crude rate/1,000 Lower 2015/16 25,160 884.5 587.9 No

28 Hospital admissions due to injury in children (0-4 years) Crude rate/10,000 Lower 2015/16 598 210.2 129.6 No significant change

29 Hospital admissions due to injury in young people (15-24 years) Crude rate/100,000 Lower 2015/16 1,037 151.6 134.1 Yes

30 Hospital admissions for asthma (age <19 years) Crude rate/100,000 Lower 2015/16 229 215.1 202.4 No significant change

31 Hospital admissions for mental health conditions Crude rate/100,000 Lower 2015/16 86 85.8 85.9 No significant change

32 Hospital admissions as a result of self harm DASR/100,000* Lower 2015/16 399 420.8 430.5 Yes

Preventable 

mortality

Health 

protection

Wider 

determinants of 

health 

Indicator Measure

Polarity - 

what's 

best?

Health 

improvement

Prevention         

of ill-health

2017 Profile

P
age 270



 

Appendix 5: County Durham Health Profile 2017 summary 
 

Period No. per year Value
England 

ave.

Improvement 

from previous 

period?

1 Deprivation score (IMD 2015) % Lower 2015 n/a 25.7 21.8 No change

2 Children in low income families (under 16s) % Lower 2014 20,875 23.9 20.1 No

3 Statutory homelessness CR/1000 Lower 2015/16 0.1 0.9 Yes

4 GCSE achieved (5A*-C inc maths and english) % Higher 2015/16 2,996 58.3 57.8 Yes

5 Violent crime (violent offences) CR/1000 Lower 2015/16 7,544 14.6 17.2 No

6 Long term unemploment CR/1000 Lower 2016 1,642 5.0 3.7 Yes

7 Smoking status at time of delivery % Lower 2015/16 956 18.1 10.6 Yes

8 Breast feeding initiation % Higher 2014/15 2,943 57.6 74.3 No change

9 Obese children (year 6) % Lower 2015/16 1,174 22.1 19.8 No

10 Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditiion (<18)* CR/1000 Lower 2013/14-15/16 203 67.5 37.4 n/a

11 Under 18 conceptions CR/1000 Lower 2015 219 26.4 20.8 Yes

12 Smoking prevalence in adults % Lower 2016 n/a 17.9 15.5 Yes

13 Physically active adults % 16+ Higher 2015 n/a 57.3 57 No change

14 Excess weight in adults % Lower 2013-15 n/a 67.6 64.8 Yes

15 Cancer diagnosed at an earlier stage % Higher 2015 1,288 53.3 52.4 Yes

16 Hospital stays for self harm * DASR/100,000 Lower 2015/16 1,007 197.2 196.5 n/a

17 Hospital stays for alcohol related harm * DASR/100,000 Lower 2015/16 3,898 752.3 647 n/a

18 Recorded diabetes % 2014/15 31,056 7.0 6.4 No change

19 Incidence of TB CR/1000 Lower 2013-15 29 1.9 12 Yes

20 New sexually transmitted infections (STI) CR/100,000 Lower 2016 1,908 572.9 795 No

21 Hip fractures in people aged 65 and over * DASR/100,000 Lower 2015/16 633 655.4 589 n/a

22 Life expectancy - male Years Higher 2013-15 n/a 78.1 79.5 No change

23 Life expectancy - female Years Higher 2013-15 n/a 81.2 83.1 No

24 Infant mortality DASR/100,000 Lower 2013-15 54 3.4 3.9 No change

25 Killed & seriously injured on roads DASR/100,000 Lower 2013-15 594 38.2 38.5 No

26 Suicide rate DASR/100,000 Lower 2013-15 215 15.7 10.1 No

27 Smoking related deaths DASR/100,000 Lower 2013-15 3,456 381.0 283 No

28 Under 75 mortality rate: CVD DASR/100,000 Lower 2013-15 1,189 83.0 74.6 No

29 Under 75 mortality rate: Cancer DASR/100,000 Lower 2013-15 2,365 163.2 138.8 Yes

30 Excess winter deaths Ratio Lower Aug 2012-Jul 2015 1,005 19.7 36 No

Indicator Measure
Polarity - 

what's best?

2017 Profile

Our 

communities

CYP 's health

Life 

expectancy 

and cause of 

death

Adults health 

and lifestyle

Disease and 

poor health

 

Yes

No

Indicator has improved since last profile/reporting period

Indicator has not improved since last profile/reporting period

Statistically significantly worse than England

Not statistically significantly different to England

Statistically significantly better than England

P
age 271



 

 

Page 272



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 
County Durham Prevention of Unintentional 
Injuries Framework (0-19 years) 2017-2020  
 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council  

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 This report presents the Health and Wellbeing Board with a revised delivery 

framework for the prevention of unintentional injuries in children and young 
people (0-19 years) in County Durham 2017-2020 (Appendix 4), following 
consultation. The action plan is also included as part of the framework towards 
the end of Appendix 4. 

 
Background 
 
2 Public Health England has identified Unintentional Injuries as a major health 

inequality. There is a persistent social gradient for unintentional injuries and 
inequalities have widened. There is a strong link between unintentional injury 
and social deprivation, with children from the most disadvantaged families far 
more likely to be killed or seriously injured. County Durham’s hospital admission 
rate for injuries to under 5’s is over 1.5 times higher than England.  

 
3 A Strategy for the Prevention of Unintentional Injuries in Children and Young 

People 0-19 was developed for County Durham in 2014, led by the public 
health team. The responsibility for overseeing delivery of the Strategy was with 
the Director of Public Health, reporting into the Children and Families 
Partnership with links to the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board.  

 
4 The strategy is a multiagency plan, which covers all aspects of unintentional 

injuries relevant to the population of 0-19’s County Durham. It has clear aims 
and objectives and is linked to the indicators in Domains 1 and 2 of the national 
Public Health outcomes framework. It is based on National Institute for Health 
and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance, and is built as far as possible on data 
from various sources to present a local picture. The strategy was based on 
NICE guidance PH29 which was published in 2010. This guidance (along with 
related areas) has subsequently been reviewed by NICE in 2014, with the 
conclusion that no update was required, as the evidence was still current. 

 
5 A workshop to assess progress in implementing the strategy was held in 

November 2016, which was attended by partners representing different sectors 
involved in delivering the plan. The workshop allowed for an assessment of 
gaps in delivery. Subsequently a steering group has met to refine the forward 
plan.  

 
 

Page 273

Agenda Item 11



6 In the context of Durham County Council’s current planning context, the 
refreshed strategy has been developed as a delivery framework, reflecting the 
various delivery strands, along with a summary plan on a page to represent the 
key actions and outcomes to be addressed during 2017 to 2020.  
 

7 A key focus of the delivery plan will be on preventing accidents in the home for 
0-5 year old children, and the better use of data to target prevention efforts, 
across different settings. Falls prevention programmes associated with older 
people are outside the scope of this framework and are covered by guidance 
such as NICE clinical guidelines CG161 ‘‘falls in older people: assessing risk 
and prevention’’. 

 
8 This framework will impact upon the Public Health Outcomes Framework 

(PHOF) 2.07i - iii - Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate 
injuries in children and young people. 

 
9 Governance and accountability arrangements are set out in the delivery 

framework with specific actions assigned to various partnership groups and 
service areas. It is proposed that the Children and Families Partnership Board 
will have overall accountability for co-ordinating and monitoring the plan, with 
annual reporting to the Health and Wellbeing Board and the Safe Durham 
Partnership. 

 
10 The steering group will continue to meet on a six monthly basis to provide 

effective coordination and assurance of the delivery of the plan. An annual 
partnership event will be scheduled in autumn each year to make sure there is 
a broad base of engagement in delivering the plan and outcomes are on target. 

 
Key points 
 
11 The timeline that has been followed for consultation is attached (Appendix 2). 
 
12 Strong partnership working is necessary to effectively deliver the plan in order 

to reduce unintentional injuries. Commitment is needed across all the 
partnership groups and services identified in the action plan. This includes the 
Safer Durham Partnership and its subgroups, and also the individual services 
which will support delivery. All key stakeholders have been consulted.  

 
13 Further work will be required to refine the data and intelligence relating to this 

field, especially with regard to identifying “hot spot areas” where additional 
preventive effort can be targeted. A priority focus will be on preventing 
childhood injuries in the home setting for 0-5 year olds, particularly linked to 
vulnerability and disadvantage factors. Close working relationships are 
essential with the housing sector as well as wider community involvement.   

 
14 The Area Action Partnerships are important to the implementation of the 

framework as part of operational community delivery and would significantly 
add value to the delivery of the plan. Local data and intelligence will help to 
identify areas where additional preventive efforts could be prioritised. 

 
 
 

Page 274



Consultation 
 
15 The Draft County Durham Delivery Framework for the Prevention of 

Unintentional Injuries in Children & Young People 0-19 years 2017-2020 was 
circulated with the Integrated Needs assessment (INA); Injuries in children & 
young people (unintentional and deliberate) and the “At home with childhood 
injuries in County Durham” infographic for comments from stakeholders. (A 
summary of the feedback received Appendix 3). 

 
The agreed timescale was for comments to be in by 25th September 2017. 

Stakeholders consulted include:  

 Health & Wellbeing Board 

 Safe Durham Partnership and appropriate sub groups 

 Children’s and Families Partnership 

 Children centre Local Advisory Boards 

 LSCB 

 AAP partnership boards   

 CCGs governing bodies and CCGs exec in common 

 Housing forum (plus relevant sub groups)  
 

Recommendations 
 
16 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:  

 
a) Note amendments to the framework following consultation.  
b) Provide final comments and agree sign off on the revised unintentional 

injuries delivery framework. 
 

Linda Vasey, Specialist Public Health Nurse (Best Start In Life) 
Tel: 07392 194 299 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 275



Appendix 1: Implications 

 
 
Finance - the actions identified in the delivery framework will be delivered within 
existing resources. 
 
Staffing - project support and administration support for the key planning and 
governance arrangement are from public health team 
 
Risk - nil 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - refresh of strategy and action 
plan considers equality and diversity issues, especially with regard to communities 
with high rates of unintentional injuries and also focusing on this issue as a risk area 
within the vulnerable parent pathway. 
 
Accommodation - nil 
 
Crime and Disorder - nil 
 
Human Rights - no issues 
 
Consultation - the workshop was a form of consultation with key stakeholders. See 
schedule of consultation attached – Appendix 2.  
 
Procurement - no implications 
 
Disability Issues - no specific issues 
 
Legal Implications - will fulfil statutory duties in relation to safety. 

  

Page 276



Appendix 2 Timeline County Durham Framework for the Prevention of 
Unintentional Injuries Children 0 – 19 

 
Timeline County Durham Strategy for the Prevention of Unintentional Injuries Children 0 - 19 

Meeting Date Purpose 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 
 

22nd June 2017  Agree consultation draft for wider 
consultation 

Safe Durham Partnership September 2017 by 
email 

Consultation 

Children and Families 
Partnership 

September 2017 by 
email 

Consultation 

Local Safeguarding 
Children Board 

September 2017 by 
email 

Consultation 

Children’s Centre Local 
Advisory Boards 

September 2017 by 
email 

Consultation 

AAP Partnership boards September 2017 by 
email 

Consultation 

CCGS Governing bodies & 
CCGs exec in common 

September 2017 by 
email 

Consultation 

Housing Forum & relevant 
groups 

September 2017 by 
email 

Consultation 

Children and Young 
People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

7th November  
 

Consultation 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 
 

27th November 2017 
 

Formal agreement of Unintentional Injuries 
Strategy 0-19 

AHS and CYPS Senior 
Management Team 

29th November 2017 by 
email 

Final version of Unintentional Injuries 
Strategy 0-19 with Cabinet report 

Corporate Management 
Team 

13th December 2017 Final version of Unintentional Injuries 
Strategy 0-19 with Cabinet report  

Cabinet 
 

17th January 2018 Final Unintentional Injuries Strategy 0-19 for 
information 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 277



Appendix 3 : Summary of Consultation Feedback Received 

 
All feedback has been taken account of and incorporated into the framework where 
applicable. 

 Issue/ comments identified Resolution /changes 
proposed 

Community safety 
(ddfire.fire.gov.uk) 

Looks comprehensive & appears to 
cover all areas.  

Appendix 1. education settings; 

there is much more being delivered than 
just our carousel, i.e. council road safety 
team deliver in schools; police deliver & 
have mini police scheme; royal lifesaving 
society. 

I think if someone was to read the draft 
they would be given the wrong 
impression of what is going on in schools 
so it may be that it needs revising”. 

Further consultation with 
other providers will be 
undertaken during the 
annual review 

 

AAP public rep  Infographic very well presented; 
summary messages clear. 

Jargon on leaflet, e.g. PHOF indicators in 
this section on definitions- explained at 
end of document but would be better up 
front.  

Overall info was clear- didn’t make 
pleasant reading but did provide clear 
evidence for the strategy. 

The term black in the groups most at risk 
is used, is this a negative term especially 
when used on its own rather than BEME 
communities. 

The framework has nothing that would 
address self-poisoning issues in older 
young people/ adults.  

This is identified on page 
2 and therefore left in 
original place. 

 

The INR document states 
“there is evidence of an 
association of injuries with 
black decent” in the 
Groups most at risk 
section (last page). 

NICE guidance clearly 
states this term “Black 
and Afro Caribbean”. 
Therefore upheld. 

 

This framework is an 
unintentional injury 
framework. Self-poisoning 
is considered intentional 
in the data information.  
To be escalated to 
C&YPMH Board & DA/ 
Substance Misuse Board 
for further investigation. 

Road safety Amends made to refresh statistics on 
page 6. Action plan refreshed to reflect 
up to date agreed delivery programmes 

updated 

 
 
 
 

Page 278



Appendix 4 - Delivery Framework for the Prevention of Unintentional Injuries in 
Children and Young People 0-19 Years 

 
County Durham Delivery Framework for the Prevention of Unintentional Injuries 

in Children and Young People 0-19 years 

2017-2020 

Aims  

 To reduce the level of preventable unintentional injuries among children and 

young people in County Durham. 

 To reduce inequalities which exist within the county in relation to unintentional 

injuries among children 0-19. 

 To ensure that unintentional injury prevention programmes are informed by 

evidence and delivered according to need. 

 

Context  

A strategy to prevent unintentional injuries among children 0-19 years of age for 

County Durham was developed in 2014 and endorsed by the Health and Wellbeing 

Board for delivery over 2014-2017. This document aims to update and build on the 

foundation of the original strategy and sets out a framework of action and governance 

arrangements for the next three year period 2017-2020. 

NICE guidance is available to provide evidence based recommendations for 

preventing unintentional injuries, as well as guidance from Public Health England 

(PHE) and these have been used in devising this strategy.  

 

NICE guidance was reviewed in 2015, with very few changes to the original guidance. 

The guidance highlights that robust partnership arrangements need to be in place to 

co-ordinate the delivery of a local Children and Young People Unintentional Injury 

strategy. This local strategy, and its delivery framework, will be based on a 

collaborative partnership approach, along with strengthening engagement and 

empowerment of local communities. Falls prevention programmes associated with 

older people are outside the scope of this framework and is covered by guidance such 

as NICE clinical guidelines CG161 ‘’falls in older people: assessing risk and 

prevention’’. 

The refresh of the strategy has been supported by a review workshop in November 

2016 and subsequent collaborative working under a task and finish steering group. 

Going forward the programme of activities to deliver the strategic aims are set out as a 

delivery framework, which is appropriate because a number of strands of activities are 

delivered by different partnership groups. It is the culmination of these separate, and 

sometimes interconnecting activities, which impact on the overall outcome of reducing 

the level of unintentional injuries among children and young people in County Durham. 

 

Page 279



Out of Scope 

The focus of this framework is for the prevention of unintentional injuries in children 

and young people (0-19 years), therefore deliberate harm is out of scope for this 

framework. 

Definitions 

The strategy adopts the NICE guidance term “unintentional injuries” rather than 

“accidents” as most injuries and their precipitating events are predictable and 

preventable. The term “accident” is avoided, as it implies an unpredictable and 

therefore unavoidable event. 

Background 

The starting point for this strategy is the recognition that most injuries and precipitating 

events are predictable and preventable. 

Unintentional injuries in and around the home are a leading cause of preventable 

death for children under five years and are a major cause of ill health and serious 

disability. 

Analysis of the most recently available five years of national data shows that each year 

approximately 60 children and young people died, 450,000 attended accident and 

emergency (A&E) and 40,000 were admitted to hospital as an emergency. 

Unintentional injury can affect a child or young person's social and emotional 

wellbeing. For example, those who survive a serious unintentional injury can 

experience severe pain and may need lengthy treatment (including numerous stays in 

hospital). They could also be permanently disabled or disfigured.  

There are also high financial costs. The short-term average healthcare cost of an 

individual injury (all types) is £2,494 and the wider costs of a serious home accident for 

a child aged 0 to 4 years has been estimated at £33,200. 

Minor unintentional injuries are part of growing up and help children and young people 

to learn their boundaries and manage risks for themselves. The need to balance 

encouraging them to explore and develop, and managing the risks to prevent serious 

injury, is recognised by local partners. 

A key aspect of this strategy is to build on what Durham County Council and its 

partners are already doing to keep children safer and healthier. 

Local profile 

Hospital admissions in County Durham caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries 

in children have many classifications as determined by the formal International 

Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10. The cause code 

is a supplementary code that indicates the nature of any external cause of injury, 

poisoning or other adverse effects. 

Page 280



Figure 1: Hospital admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries in children (aged 0-4 

years) by cause grouping (broad), County Durham, 2012/13 – 2014/15. Source: Local Knowledge 

and Intelligence Service – North East (LKIS-NE), DCC PHI Team. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2: Hospital admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries in children (aged 5-14 

years) by cause grouping (broad), County Durham, 2012/13 – 2014/15. Source: Local Knowledge 

and Intelligence Service – North East (LKIS-NE), DCC PHI Team.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

1
0

,0
0

0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

ra
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
,0

0
0

Page 281



Figure 3: Hospital admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries in children (aged 15-24 

years) by cause grouping (broad), County Durham, 2012/13 – 2014/15. Source: Local Knowledge 

and Intelligence Service – North East (LKIS-NE), DCC PHI Team. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Age ranges – top three categories for admissions in County Durham 

The most dominant categories based on rates per 10,000 are displayed below to 

provide an overview of the types of admissions. It should be noted that this is not 

intended to indicate the significance or severity of these categories.  

0-4 year olds  

 Falls are the leading cause of unintentional and deliberate injuries which aligns 

to national trends. 

 Exposure to inanimate mechanical forces (this includes sharp objects such as 

knives or foreign objects being inserted) 

 Accidental poisoning (e.g. chemicals, pesticides etc.) 

 

5-14 year olds 

 Falls are the leading cause of unintentional and deliberate injuries, which aligns 

to national trends 

 Exposure to inanimate mechanical forces  

 Road traffic accidents 

 

15-24 year olds 

 Intentional self-poisoning (e.g. chemicals, pesticides) 

 Exposure to inanimate mechanical forces  

 Falls 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

1
0

,0
0

0

Page 282



Inequalities 

Children and young people from lower socioeconomic groups are more likely to be 

affected by unintentional injuries.  

PHE analysis shows that the emergency hospital admission rate for unintentional 

injuries among the under-fives is 45% higher for children from the most deprived areas 

compared with children from the least deprived, and previous research indicates that 

for some injury types this inequality may be much larger. There is a persistent social 

gradient for unintentional injuries and inequalities have widened. For example, children 

living in the most disadvantaged areas have a 50% higher risk of being burned, 

scalded or poisoned resulting in primary or secondary care attendance than those in 

the most advantaged areas. 

Children whose parents have never worked (or are long-term unemployed) are 13 

times more likely to die from an unintentional injury compared to children whose 

parents are in higher managerial or professional occupations. The social gradient is 

particularly steep in relation to deaths caused by household fires, cycling and walking.  

A range of other factors also influence the likelihood of an unintentional injury. These 

include: personal attributes (such as age, physical ability and medical conditions), 

behaviour (such as risk-taking), and the environment (for example, living in a house 

that opens onto a road or living in poor quality housing). While combinations of these 

factors create the conditions in which unintentional injuries occur, many are 

preventable.  

Inequalities exists within County Durham, but when comparing within the county the 

social gradient may not be as steep as is seen nationally. Further analysis at a local 

level will provide more detail on specific areas of need and will allow for the 

appropriate targeting of activities for frontline professionals or our communities. 

Socioeconomic status 

A social gradient is apparent in County Durham, although there is variation between 

the two CCGs and by age category, and clearly indicates where targeted interventions 

should be delivered (Figure 4). 

 

In DDES CCG, the rate of hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate 

injuries is higher in the most deprived areas across all three age categories. The 

largest gap is in the 0-4 age category, however confidence intervals are not available 

to say whether this difference is statistically significant. 
 

In North Durham, there is little difference in the rate of hospital admissions for 

unintentional and deliberate injuries in under 5s between the most deprived areas and 

the rest of the county. The rate of admissions for 5 to 24 year olds is higher in the most 

deprived areas, with the largest gap in the 5-14s. 

 

Page 283



Figure 4: Rate of hospital admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries in children and 

young people, comparing deprivation quintile 1 to the other 4 quintiles, DDES and North Durham 

CCGs, 2012/13-2014/15. Source: KIT (NY), PHE and DCCPHI team. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Roads 

Children and young people have the right to safe roads. National analysis of data from 

2008 to 2012 shows that over that period there were more than 320,000 road 

casualties and 2,300 road deaths among children and young people under the age of 

25 years in England. The most obvious result of effective road safety initiatives is 

fewer injuries, but there can be wider public health benefits. Active travel such as 

walking and cycling has a wide range of benefits to physical and mental health, but the 

fear of injury can put people off using these modes. Creating safer roads can therefore 

encourage active travel and active play. There can be further public health benefits 

such as improving community cohesion or reducing noise and air pollution. 

In County Durham over the last 5 years there have been 847 casualties, of which 738 

were slight injuries (87%), 107 serious injuries (13%) and 2 fatalities (0.2%)

DDES 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Aged 0 to 4 Aged 5 to 14 Aged 15-24

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

Quintile 1 (20% most deprived nationally)

Quintiles 2-5

North Durham 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Aged 0 to 4 Aged 5 to 14 Aged 15-24
R

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0

Quintile 1 (20% most deprived nationally)

Quintiles 2-5

Page 284



Road safety and socioeconomic status  

There are social inequalities in how traffic injuries are distributed through society and 

these are very significant among school age child pedestrians. Among pedestrians in 

the 5 to 9 years age group, the rate of fatal and serious injuries to children living in 

the 20% most deprived areas is nine times higher than to children in the 20% least 

deprived (24 killed or seriously injured (KSI) per 100,000 and 2.6 per 100,000 

respectively). Among 10 to 14 year old pedestrians, there was a 3.7 time greater 

rate, with respectively 37 KSI per 100,000 compared with 10 KSI per 100,000. There 

are also inequalities among school age cyclists. Among those aged 10 to 14 years 

there were 4 fatal or serious injuries per 100,000 people in the least deprived 20% of 

areas, compared with 10 KSI per 100,000 in the 20% most deprived. 

Mobilising existing services prevents injuries 

Preventing unintentional injuries does not require major new investment; much can 

be achieved by mobilising existing services, building on strengths and developing 

capacity. Broader partnership working across the public, private and voluntary and 

community (VCS) sectors is essential, bringing together a very wide range of 

services from diverse settings including health, education, social care, housing and 

homelessness and fire and rescue. Good co-ordination adds value and enables 

more to be achieved than organisations working in isolation. 

Prioritising 

The Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) indicator (2.7) covers reducing 

hospital admissions from unintentional injuries for children and young people. 

Because nationally children under five years account for a disproportionately high 

number of deaths and a large number of hospital admissions, this group is as a 

priority for action within wider unintentional injury prevention strategies. In County 

Durham admissions in this age group remain high and worthy of focussed efforts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 285



Figure 5: Hospital admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries in children (0-4 years), 

County Durham, North East and England, 2010/11 to 2015/16. Source: Fingertips, PHE. 

 

Preventing accidents is part of PHE’s priority to give children and young people the 

best start in life, and is also a high impact area for early years and health visiting 

professionals.  

Unintentional injuries for the under-fives tend to happen in and around the home. 

They are linked to a number of factors including:  

 child development  

 the physical environment in the home  

 the knowledge and behaviour of parents and other carers (including literacy)  

 overcrowding or homelessness  

 the availability of safety equipment  

 new consumer products in the home 

 

These criteria can be all exacerbated by the effect of deprivation and as such a 

targeted approach to the strategy will be applied. As mentioned previously the 

prevalence of injuries shows a steep social gradient and efforts should be prioritised 

in respect of this.  

To support this work local analysis highlights the nature of injuries young children 

experience and which injuries cause most hospital admissions to allow for targeted 

prevention efforts. This age range present opportunities to local authorities and their 

0

50

100

150

200

250

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

County Durham North East England

Page 286



partners as they have a variety of settings, services or programmes that have 

contact with this age range. 

Defining the areas of focus for the delivery framework 

The delivery framework for this strategy has been set out in relation to key settings, 

each of which relates to specific objectives and provides a context and focus for the 

delivery of key actions. These are: 

 Home settings (0-4 years) 

 Education Settings (including Early Years)  

 Community Settings 

 Road Safety 

 Water Safety 

The attached action plan and plan on a page sets out the specific areas of delivery in 

more detail. Appendix 1 provides more detail on each priority setting. 

Roles and responsibilities 

Each priority area/setting will likely have a workforce that already interacts with the 

target audience. For instance all staff who work with children in early years settings 

are ideally placed to help reduce childhood accidents. Through their contact with 

parents, they can equip them with a better understanding about child development 

and can help them to anticipate risks. The action plan will highlight those leading 

each aspect of the strategy. 

Governance/Partnerships 

A key aspect of this framework is to build on what the local authority and its partners 

are already doing to keep children safer and healthier.  

The Safe Durham Partnership contributes to the vision of an ‘Altogether Better 

Durham’. The Safe Durham Partnership is an integral part of this wider vision and is 

responsible for delivering an ‘Altogether Safer’ Durham. High level objectives and 

outcomes are around implementing measures to promote a safe environment and 

protecting vulnerable people from harm, clearly are also part of the injury reduction 

agenda. Key strategic groups such as the Road Safety Partnership, the Safer City 

Centre Partnership the Alcohol Harm Reduction Board and the Water Safety 

Partnership are integral to the delivery of these cross cutting objectives. 

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board promotes integrated working 

between commissioners of health services, public health and social care services, 

for the purposes of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people in its area. The 

strategic objectives of the Health and Wellbeing Board include; children and young 

people make healthy choices and have the best start in life and the reduction of 

health inequalities and early deaths which aligns to the key priorities of this strategy.  

Page 287



This aligns to NICE PH 29 recommendation 1 in incorporating unintentional injury 

prevention within local plans and strategies for children and young people's health 

and wellbeing. 

This framework sets out to align the quality partnership activity that is already 

underway, provide assurance on unintentional injury prevention whilst also exploring 

new areas for innovation and development in order to impact upon injury statistics in 

County Durham. 

This delivery framework will require the support of all key partnerships. Area Action 

Partnerships (AAPs) cover all areas of the county. AAPs have been set up to give 

people in County Durham a greater choice and voice in local affairs. By working in 

partnership they help ensure that the services of a range of organisations are 

directed to meet the needs of local communities. The Area Action Partnerships will 

be invaluable in developing and delivering key elements of the unintentional injury 

agenda, most notably: 

 Engagement: working with communities to build a dialogue with communities 

and encourage local people to be involved in planning local services. 

 Empowerment: giving people the power to work in partnership with 

organisations and help them combine their efforts to improve local services. 

 Local action: where possible and practical, exploring an action plan for the 

AAP, and resolving issues by using the resources of the partnership. 

It is proposed that the overall accountability for co-ordinating and monitoring of the 

progress in implementing this plan, including monitoring the reduction in childhood 

unintentional injuries (as measured by the local hospital admissions rate) is  

allocated to the Health and Wellbeing Board. The overall co-ordination will be led by 

a nominated officer in the public health team, supported by a steering group which 

will meet as required. 

There will be an annual partnership meeting to refresh the plan, to be held in 

October each year, with an annual report submitted to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and Safer Durham Partnership in December/January each year. 

Outcome measure for this strategy 

This strategy will impact upon the Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF): 
 

 2.07i - Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
children (aged 0-4 years) 

 2.07i - Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
children (aged 0-14 years) 

 2.07ii - Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
young people (aged 15-24) 

 

Page 288



It is important to note this indicator relates to hospital admissions. PHOF provides an 

indicator for one element of the health and social care system and not a level of 

prevalence of injury within a population. 

It is also important to note that hospital admission data is not perfect. Nationally it is 

acknowledged by Public Health England (2010) that there are weaknesses in the 

available data, with the cause of hospital admissions unknown for nearly 9% for the 

under 5 age group. 

Within the action plan there are a number of evidence based initiatives that will 

impact upon injuries. These actions will be measureable and will have a defined 

output which evidence suggests will impact upon the overall indicator.  

Guidance and references 

 NICE. Strategies to prevent unintentional injuries among children and young 
people aged under 15. NICE public health guidance 29. 

 NICE. Preventing unintentional injuries in the home among children and 
young people aged under 15: NICE public health guidance 30 

 NICE. Unintentional injuries on the road: interventions for under 15s. NICE 
public health guidance 30 

 Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework: 
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#gid/1000049 

 Public Health England. Public Health Profiles. Injuries. 
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/injuries 

 Public Health England, Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents and 
Child Accident Prevention Trust of Accidents: Reducing unintentional injuries 
among children and young people 

 Public Health England, Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents and 
Child Accident Prevention Trust of Accidents Public Health England: 
Reducing unintentional injuries on the roads among children and young 
people under 25 years 

 Public Health England, Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents and 
Child Accident Prevention Trust of Accidents Preventing unintentional injuries: 
a guide for all staff working with children under 5 years 

 

Page 289



Framework Action Plan for 2017/2020 (To be reviewed again by partners at December 2017 unintentional injuries 

stakeholder workshop to move plan beyond 2018) 

Early years /Home settings  

ACTION  

Lead Timeline NICE Recommendations 

Incorporate activity into the Healthy Child 

Programme – embed into home environment 

check 

HDFT Dec 2017 NICE PH 30 recommendation 2- Working in partnership 
and recommendation 3- Coordinated delivery 

Support frontline staff and parents through the 
development of awareness & education packs on 
a universal level & intensive support for families 
identified as vulnerable 

DCC public 
health 

April 2018 NICE PH 30 recommendation 1 -Prioritising households 
at greatest risk and recommendation 4 -Follow-up on 
home safety assessments and interventions 

Improve awareness and skills of parents through 
the use of new technology ; e.g. baby buddy app 

HDFT/DCC 
public 
health 

July 2018 NICE PH 30 recommendation 4 -Follow-up on home 
safety assessments and interventions 

Targeted activity on priority areas and families 
through the vulnerable parent pathway  

HDFT/DCC 
public 
health 

ongoing NICE PH 30 recommendation 1 -Prioritising households 
at greatest risk and recommendation 5 Integrating home 
safety into other home visits 

The development and assessment of a safer 
home environment to improve awareness & 
safety in social housing & private rented 
accommodation 

DCC Public 
Health/  
Strategic 
housing 

July 2018 NICE PH 30 recommendation 2 -Working in partnership 
and recommendation 5 -Integrating home safety into 
other home visits 

Develop local solutions to home safety 
environment & equipment via community 
development activities 

HDFT/DCC 
public 
health/ CPP 

July 2018 NICE PH 30 recommendation 2 -Working in partnership 
and recommendation 5 -Integrating home safety into 
other home visits 

 

 

 

 

P
age 290



EARLY YEARS/ EDUCATION SETTINGS  

ACTION  

Lead Timeline NICE Recommendations 

Audit and feedback to providers on priorities DCC – 

public 

health 

Sept 2018 NICE PH 29 recommendation 6 - Providing the wider 
childcare workforce with access to injury prevention 
training 
 

Audit child casualties across the County to 
identify and establish priorities 

DCC- Road 

safety 

May 2018  

Deliver the Safety Carousel using a multi-agency 

approach to provide safety messages to all Year 

6 children in Durham 

Fire and 

Rescue 

Annual  NICE PH 29 recommendation 2 - Coordinating 

unintentional injury prevention activities 

Deliver targeted road safety education and 
training in schools, colleges, children’s centres 
and nurseries 

DCC – 
Road 
Safety 

Annual NICE PH 31 recommendation 1 - Incorporating 
unintentional injury prevention within local and national 
plans and strategies for children and young people's 
health and wellbeing and recommendation 3 - Identifying 
and responding to attendances at emergency 
departments and minor injuries units 
 

Deliver a Practical Child Pedestrian Training 
Scheme to Year 3 pupils 

DCC – 
Road 
Safety 

Annual NICE PH 31 recommendation 1 -Incorporating 
unintentional injury prevention within local and national 
plans and strategies for children and young people's 
health and wellbeing and recommendation 3 -Identifying 
and responding to attendances at emergency 
departments and minor injuries units 
 

Deliver Bikeability Level 1, 2 & 3 cyclist training to 
school children. 
 

DCC – 
Road 
Safety 

Annual NICE PH 31 recommendation  - Incorporating 
unintentional injury prevention within local and national 
plans and strategies for children and young people's 
health and wellbeing and recommendation 3 - Identifying 
and responding to attendances at emergency 
departments and minor injuries units 
 P

age 291



Develop First Aid training and response for 
teachers and pupils 

TBC TBC NICE PH 29 recommendation 4 - Developing 
professional standards for injury prevention 

Explore opportunities for a “dedicated session” on 
preventing accidental injuries in the home as part 
of the safety carousel 

Fire and 
rescue 

March 
2018 

NICE PH 31 recommendation 3 -Identifying and 
responding to attendances at emergency departments 
and minor injuries units 

 

Community Settings  

ACTION  

Lead Timeline NICE Recommendations 

Review design of open public space and play 
areas to consider safety 

DCC culture 

and sport 

Sept 

2018 

NICE PH 29 recommendation 12 - Developing policies 

for public outdoor play and leisure 

Safety checks and maintenance of play areas DCC culture 
and sport 

Annual NICE PH 29 recommendation 12- Developing policies for 
public outdoor play and leisure 

Fire safety  - explore admissions related to 
‘fireworks’ and develop appropriate response 

Fire and 
rescue 

June 
2018 

NICE PH 29 recommendation 16 - Conducting local 
firework safety campaigns 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 292



Road Safety 

ACTION  

Lead Timeline NICE Recommendations 

Improve education and raise awareness of road 
safety – deliver EXCELerate ,SAGE and 
BIKEsafe driver programmes 

DCC road 

safety 

Annual NICE PH 31 recommendation 1 - Health advocacy and 

engagement  

Improve health and wellbeing of communities 
through road casualty reduction campaigns such 

as Brake Road Safety Week Project EDWARD, 
Child Safety week 

DCC road 
safety, Fire 
and Rescue 

Area 
specific 
timelines 

NICE PH 31 recommendation 1 – Health advocacy and 
engagement and NICE PH 29 recommendation 19 - 
Aligning local child road safety policies 
 

Develop a safer road environment – deliver 
community speed watch, 20mph programmes 
community based road safety interventions 

DCC road 
safety 

Ongoing NICE PH 31 recommendation 3 -Measure to reduce 
speed and NICE PH 29 recommendation 20 -Promoting 
and enforcing speed reduction recommendation  
 

Develop and deliver a programme of targeted 
enforcement regarding speed reduction 

Durham 
Constabulary 

March 
2018 

NICE PH 31 recommendation 3 -Measure to reduce 
speed and NICE PH 29 recommendation 20 -Promoting 
and enforcing speed reduction recommendation  
 

 

Water Safety 

ACTION  

Lead Timeline NICE Recommendations 

Safety carousels  as above Fire and 

rescue 

Annual NICE PH 29 Recommendation 13 - Providing education 
and advice on water safety 

Multi agency programmes for specific ‘at risk’ 
groups 

Fire and 
rescue and 
DCC 

Group 
specific  

NICE PH 29 Recommendation 14 - Water safety advice 
for leisure providers 
 

To improve swimming ability of young people Leisure & 
DCC 
education 

Annual NICE PH 31 recommendation 1 - Incorporating 
unintentional injury prevention within local and national 
plans and strategies for children and young people's 
health and wellbeing 

 P
age 293



Analysis 

ACTION  

Lead Timeline NICE Recommendations 

Explore the development of a CCG injury report Public 

Health 

Intelligence 

June 2018 NICE PH 29 Recommendation 8 - Gathering high quality 
injury data from emergency departments 

P
age 294



 

Draft Framework Appendix 1 

Unintentional Injuries  
 
Prevention is recognised as one of the six high impact areas for early years in national 
Public Health policy for improving outcomes in the early years, and are established as 
an intervention focus within the delivery of the Healthy Child Programme through the 
County Durham 0-19 Service (health visitors and school nurses). Opportunities to 
strengthen the focus on accident prevention will be progressed through the home 
environment risk assessment at the universal level and also more targeted work with 
higher risk families within the Vulnerable Parent Pathway 
 

 Significant fatalities and injuries occur in or near the home. These may occur 

through suffocation and ingestion of foreign bodies, fire and flames, drowning 

and submersion, falls or poisoning.  

 
Home Settings 
 
This setting is particularly important for reducing injuries among children 0-4 years old, 
as this is the context where the most injuries occur for this age group. 
 
The evidence from NICE and other relevant reports points to a number of areas that 
relate to prevention of unintentional injuries in this setting: 
 

 Home risk assessments, safety checks and escape plans(leading to injury 

reduction); 

 Prevention of poisoning - child resistant packaging (leading to injury 

reduction); 

 General safety devices; i.e. Window bars (leading to injury reduction); 

 Parent education on hazard reduction (leading to behaviour change) and 

targeting deprived groups, particularly children in privately rented and 

temporary accommodation and households in which people smoke. 

 
Education Settings 
 

 Risk and safety education in schools is delivered through a variety of 

programme interventions by Fire and Rescue and DCC road safety. 

 
Community Settings 
 

 Smoke and carbon monoxide detector programmes (leading to injury reduction 

and behaviour change); 

 

To maximize safety for outdoor play there is evidence for: 

 Promote safer road use through targeted community interventions 

 Increasing the number of children undertaking training and wearing cycle 

helmets; 

Page 295



 

 Producing guidelines for safety in children’s sports and outdoor activities. 

 
Road Safety  
 
On the road there is good evidence for: 

 20mph zones (leading to injury reduction and behaviour change); 

 Cycle helmet education campaigns (leading to behaviour change); 

 Cycle safety campaigns that encourage and promote safer cycling 

 Child restraint legislation (leading to behaviour change and injury 

reduction); 

 Area wide urban safety measures and localised safety schemes (leading to 

injury reduction); 

 Education aimed at parents about pedestrian injuries (leading to behaviour 

change); 

 Cycle training (leading to behaviour change); 

 Cycle Helmet legislation (leading to injury reduction); 

 Child restraint education campaigns (leading to behaviour change) and 

 Seat belt education campaigns (leading to behaviour change) 

Casualty mapping to inform decisions with regard to targeted and training schemes in 
communities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 296



 

Appendix 2 Plan on a Page 

 

P
age 297



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 
eXtreme Group - Children and Young 
People’s SEND ‘Promise’ for County 
Durham 
 

 

 
 

Report of Paul Shadforth, Strategic Manager, SEND and Inclusion, 
Children and Young People’s Services, Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with 
an overview of the content and recommendations for the Children and Young 
People’s SEND (Special Education Needs and Disability) ‘Promise’ developed 
by the eXtreme Group. 

 
2 To request a commitment from the Health and Wellbeing Board and its 

partners to adopt the principles set out in the SEND ‘promise’. 
 
Background 

3 The eXtreme Group is recognised by the SEND Strategy and Accountability 
group as a representative voice for children and young people with SEND 
living in County Durham. Facilitated by Investing in Children the group is 
made up of Children and Young People with a range of primary SEND needs 
throughout all learning age phases. The group work together to share their 
views and to identify how services can make positive changes based on the 
experiences of children and young people with SEND. 

 
4 The eXtreme Group completed their own independent review to identify what 

is important to children and young people with SEND living in County Durham.  
As a group the young people came together to look at key themes that they 
would like to see prioritised. 

 
5 The eXtreme Group have subsequently developed a young people’s charter 

the Children and Young People’s SEND ‘Promise’. This is a revision of the 
two existing charters previously in place with the Local Authority and the 
former Primary Care Trusts providing one document for all organisations and 
services within the local area for children and young people with SEND.  

 
6 The SEND Strategy and Accountability group have provided feedback on draft 

versions of the ‘Promise’ and have since approved the content of the as seen 
in the final version Children and Young People with SEND promise with Local 
Offer links.  

 
 

Page 299

Agenda Item 12



 
 

 

Content 

7 The ‘Promise’ includes the following themes:  

 

 Education  

 Health  

 Activities/Leisure Provision  

 Respite Opportunities  

 Transport  

 Children in Care  

 Employment  

 Access to information  

 Having a Voice  

Full details of the promise can be found in appendix 2 

Proposals 

8 The ‘Promise’ supports stakeholders deliver the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
objectives by providing practical guidance on what matters most to Children and 
Young People with SEND when reviewing or developing services.  The Joint 
Health and Wellbeing objectives most pertinent to the ‘Promise’ are: 

 Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best 
start in life  

 Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for 
people with long term conditions  

 Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population 

9 The Promise will underpin all commissioned work as outlined in the County 
Durham Joint Commissioning Plan (SEND), providing further detail to the desired 
outcomes of Children and Young People with Education, Health and Care Plans.  
In addition all commissioned SEND contracts will include a pledge from providers 
to agree to the promises set out in the ‘Promise’.  

10 The promise will be monitored via the SEND Strategy and Accountability Group.  
Governance will be provided through the Healthy Child Programme Board via the 
Joint Commissioning Partnership. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 300



 
 

 

Recommendations and reasons 
 
11 It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:  
 

a) recognise the Children and Young People’s SEND ‘Promise’ as the 
children and young people with SEND charter for the Local Area 

b) approve the ‘Promise’ as it relates to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and its partners 

c) cascade the ‘Promise’ throughout the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
its partners 
 

Contact:  Paul Shadforth, Strategic Manager, SEND and Inclusion, Durham 
County Council   
Tel:       03000 261684  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 301



 
 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance – N/A 

 

Staffing – N/A 

 

Risk – N/A 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – The Local Authority under 
Equalities Legislation and the Children’s Act have a duty to provide access to 
services for Children and Young People with SEND. 

 

Accommodation – N/A 

 

Crime and Disorder – N/A 

 

Human Rights – N/A 

 

Consultation – N/A 

 

Procurement – N/A 

 

Disability Issues – The ‘promise’ will help to inform service adaptation to best meet 
the needs of children and young people with SEND across County Durham. 

 

Legal Implications – N/A 

 
 
 

Page 302



Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Education
We promise to provide a high standard of education 
that is fun and engaging in a safe learning environment.

We promise to provide the best support from qualified 
staff so that young people can succeed in education.

We promise  that all young people are fully involved and 
prepared during transitions in education e.g. moving from 
secondary school at the end of year 11  to college or an 
apprenticeship.

We promise   to provide young people with choices 
within education to support the goals and aspirations of 
children and young people.

We promise  to provide young people with choices to 
take part in fun and challenging sports and activities 
within education.

EDUCATION

Page 303

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=1


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Health
We promise  to treat all children and young people with 
respect and to listen to the needs of the individual.

We promise  to provide training to staff to support 
children and young people with SEND, so they can access 
the best possible health care, including providing children 
and their families with information on the best place to go 
to meet their needs.

We promise to fully involve and prepare children and 
young people during the transition from children and 
young people’s health care services to adult health care 
services. 

HEALTH

Page 304

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=5


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Activities/Leisure Provision
We promise to provide quality leisure provision with 
qualified, experienced support staff to meet the individual 
needs of children and young people in County Durham.

We promise to offer children and young people the 
opportunity to choose activities that they would like to 
engage in.

We promise to fully involve children and young people 
in the planning and reviewing of leisure activities in 
County Durham. 

We promise to provide leisure activities that are 
accessible and affordable to all children and young people 
in County Durham.

THINGS TO DO YOUTH OFFER

Page 305

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=7
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page?localofferchannel=10


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Respite Opportunities
We promise to involve young people in making 
decisions about their respite care.

We promise to support young people to achieve their 
personal goals and to develop a greater level of 
independence. 

We promise to provide an environment that is safe, 
challenging, stimulating and fun for all young people that 
access respite care.

We promise to give young people a choice of who they 
would like to work with, either one to one, or the 
organisation that provides their respite.

SOCIAL 
CARE

INDEPENDENT
LIVING

Page 306

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=3
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=2


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Transport
We promise to discuss home to school transport options 
with families to help support children and young people 
to access education.

We promise to support children and young people to 
become more independent by providing training for them 
to travel on their own, to their education and leisure 
activities.

GETTING
AROUND

Page 307

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=4


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Children in Care
We promise  to fully involve children in care, with the 
opportunities to make decisions that affect their lives in 
line with the Local Authority ‘Our Promise to You’ 
document which includes: 
     

- to treat you with respect and as an individual.
   

- to find you the best available home where you feel safe, 
cared about and treated well, for as long as needed.
      

- to help you stay in touch with friends and family like   
other young people not in care.
  

- to take what you say seriously by listening to you   
 and trying to act on what you say.
   

- to involve you in any decision, plans and changes that                  
affect you and your future, and your Social Worker and       
Independent Reviewing Officer and Carers will make sure 
that this happens.

SOCIAL 
CARE

Page 308

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=3


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Employment
We promise to provide education, training and work 
experience to prepare young people so they are ready for 
employment.

We promise to support young people to achieve their 
aspirations by providing access meaningful employment 
opportunities.

We promise to provide an accessible work environment 
inclusive to young people with SEND.

CAREERS 
AND TRAINING

Page 309

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=6


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Access to Information
We promise to fully involve children and young people   
in the development and review of all Education Health 
and Care Plans or Support Plans. 

We promise to make information and advice accessible 
and available to all children and young people and their 
parent/carers.  

We promise to work in partnership to enable children 
and young people and their families to access services 
without having to retell their story time and time again.

i

ADVICE AND
GUIDANCE

Page 310

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/results.page?localofferchannel=8


Children and Young People’s SEND 
Promise for County Durham

Having a Voice
We promise, within any service, to listen to the voices of 
children and young people ensuring services continue to 
make improvements based on the experiences of children 
and young people.

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 
Oral Health Update 

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council 

 

Purpose of the report 

 
1 The purpose of this report is to update Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) on 

the possibility of implementing water fluoridation in response to the poor levels 
of oral health and associated harms locally.  The exploration of the expansion 
of the community fluoridation scheme is referenced in the County Durham oral 
health strategy and is a recommendation by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
The preferred option identified at paragraph 1 of the report would also benefit 
residents in Sunderland and South Tyneside and would therefore require 
agreement and joint working.  

 
Background 
 
2 Oral health is important for general health and wellbeing.  Poor oral health can 

affect someone’s ability to eat, speak, smile and socialise normally, for 
example due to pain or social embarrassment. Tooth decay is the most 
common oral disease affecting children and young people in England, yet it is 
largely preventable.  While children’s oral health has improved over the last 
twenty years, almost a third (27.9%) of five year olds still had tooth decay in 
2012. Tooth decay was the most common reason for hospital admissions in 
children aged five to nine years old in 2012 – 13.   

 
3 Data from the last large scale dental survey (2012) of five year old children’s 

oral health in County Durham shows wide variations in dental disease 
experience between different wards, from 61% of children having had decay 
experience in Woodhouse Close (Bishop Auckland) to just 6% in Chester-Le-
Street South. This highlights a need to narrow the gap in oral health 
inequalities. 

 
4 Further details in relation to oral health can be found in the Integrated Needs 

Assessment Oral Health factsheet 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/23002/Oral-Health-in-
County-Durham/pdf/Oral_Health_HSCW022.pdf 
 

5 The Oral Health Strategy went to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 31st 
January 2017 and Cabinet on 15th March 2017.  Within the strategy is an 
ambition to reduce oral health inequalities using the most up to date evidence 
based interventions. 

Page 313

Agenda Item 13

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/23002/Oral-Health-in-County-Durham/pdf/Oral_Health_HSCW022.pdf
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/23002/Oral-Health-in-County-Durham/pdf/Oral_Health_HSCW022.pdf


 
 

Fluoride 

5 Fluoride is widely present in the environment and it occurs naturally in virtually 
all water. The concentration of fluoride in water is normally expressed as 
milligrams of fluoride per one litre of water (mg/l) or in parts fluoride per million 
parts of water (ppm). 

6 In the UK, the naturally occurring level of fluoride in water is typically around 
0.1 to 0.2 mg/l, although in some localities (for example Hartlepool) it is about 
1.0mg/l. 

7 The most advantageous level of fluoride in water, in temperate climates, is 
1mg fluoride per litre of water (1mg/l). At this level the benefits of fluoride in 
reducing decay are optimal. 

8 Community water fluoridation (CWF) ensures that, where the natural fluoride 
concentration is too low to provide dental health benefits, it is raised to and 
maintained at the optimum level (1mg/litre). 

9 At 1 January 2016, 26 local authorities had community water fluoridation 
schemes covering the whole or parts of their area with some six million people 
in England receiving a fluoridated water supply, principally in the North-East 
(Consett, Gateshead, Hexham, Newcastle, Whitley Bay) and in the West and 
East Midlands. 

10 The Derwentside area of County Durham has had a community fluoridation 
scheme in place since the mid-1960s.  The scheme is currently funded from 
the Public Health grant and the average annual charge is approximately 
£50,000 per annum. 

The benefits of fluoridation 

11 “Water fluoridation which has both topical and systemic effects is particularly 
beneficial for individuals and communities at increased risk of tooth decay, 
such as those from more deprived backgrounds and other vulnerable groups.” 
Public Health England (PHE) 2016. 

12 There is a significant amount of evidence for the effectiveness and safety of 
water fluoridation in improving oral health.  PHE state “that fluoridation is an 
effective, safe public health measure suitable for consideration in localities 
where tooth decay levels are of concern”. Appendix two highlights the findings 
from PHE’s evidence review answering concerns which have been raised 
about alleged adverse side effects.  

13  On average, five-year olds in fluoridated areas are 15% less likely to have had 
tooth decay than those in non-fluoridated areas.  When deprivation and 
ethnicity (important factors for dental health) are taken into account, five-year 
olds in fluoridated areas are 28% less likely to have had tooth decay than 
those in non-fluoridated areas (PHE, 2014). Children in fluoridated 
communities having fewer decayed, missing and filled teeth than children in 
non-fluoridated communities e.g. 2.25 fewer decayed, missing and filled teeth 
among 5-15 year olds across a range of countries. 

Page 314



 
 

14  Reviews of clinical effectiveness by NICE (PH55) and PHE (Commissioning 
Better Oral Health for Children and Young People, 2014) have found that the 
return on investment for water fluoridation for £1 spent is £12.71 after five 
years and £21.98 after 10 years, this compares favourably with £3.06 and 
£3.66 for a targeted tooth brushing scheme over the same time frames.  
 

15 The current dental extraction costs alone for 2016 total: 

 County Durham £276,131 per annum 

 Sunderland £ 173,076 per annum 

 South Tyneside £105,878 per annum 

16 Appendix two highlights the evidence review demonstrating there are no 
known health risks to fluoridating water if delivered at the appropriate levels as 
specified in paragraph six. 

Process for implementing a community fluoridation scheme 

17 Parliament has given its express consent to the deployment of water 
fluoridation as a public health measure, by passing legislation to that end. 
However, parliament has also decreed that decisions about particular water 
fluoridation schemes should be made locally, not nationally, and only through 
a rigorous process defined in legislation.  The legislation as it stands 
prescribes specific roles for and duties of various actors in all aspects of water 
fluoridation.  

18 Upper tier and unitary local authorities propose and make decisions to 
implement new schemes and work jointly with other local authorities affected 
by any proposed/agreed scheme.  
 

19 Water companies advise on the technical feasibility of schemes and, when 
requested to do so implement and operate them in accordance with the 
legislation and regulations. 
 

20  The Secretary of State for health determines whether the arrangements which 
would result from a local authority’s initial proposal for a fluoridation scheme 
would be operable and efficient. The Secretary of State currently also 
provides the capital funds for new schemes. 

 
Local progress  

21 Within County Durham the preliminary scoping phase has been completed. 
The County Durham Oral Health Strategy included an assessment of need 
across County Durham as well as detailing an action plan to tackle the health 
inequalities. The action plan included exploring the feasibility of water 
fluoridation in County Durham. This is the first phase of the process as 
defined by the Public Health England guidance. Public Health England 
colleagues support the process to provide expert guidance on the procedures 
to be followed. If the technical appraisal confirms the viability of the project the 
Council will need to submit a formal Fluoridation proposal to Public Health 
England. Since the proposal would affect residents of Sunderland and South 
Tyneside those two Councils would need to be formally consulted at that 

Page 315



 
 

stage. The three Councils would form a Joint Committee to take the project 
forward to public consultation and make a decision whether to proceed after 
considering the results of public consultation.   Appendix three provides a brief 
overview of the statutory process.  

Initial feasibility study and options for implementation 
 
22 Water companies operating boundaries are defined by water distribution 

systems, not by administrative boundaries so water fluoridation schemes 
usually extend beyond the boundary of a single local authority.  County 
Durham is within the ‘central supply area’ as are Sunderland and South 
Tyneside local authorities. 

 
23 The desktop initial feasibility study indicated that it is technically feasible to 

fluoridate parts of, or the whole of County Durham. There are three main 
options. 

 

 Option 1. According to Northumbrian Water the simplest and most 
economic method of fluoridating a water supply is to construct the 
fluoridation plant at all the water treatments works supplying County 
Durham.  These Water Treatment Works also supply water to properties 
within Sunderland and South Tyneside Council boundaries . The capital 
cost is approximately £1,200,000.  

 

 Option 2. An alternative approach is to fluoridate specific water quality 
zones in County Durham with the highest levels of decay experience. 
These water quality zones cover the majority of South West Durham and 
the Easington area. This would allow the fluoridated water to remain within 
County Durham’s administrative boundaries however new water mains 
and water pumping stations would need to be built. The capital costs are 
estimated at £1,500,000, but it must be noted that this would not provide 
complete coverage for County Durham as some areas would not receive 
fluoridated water. 

 

 Option 3. This approach involves the development of water fluoridation 
plants to deliver to specified water quality zones. This would allow the 
targeted zones to receive fluoridated water, but without the development of 
a new mains system. Fluoridated water would still leave County Durham 
into the neighbouring local authorities but as they would only receive 
fluoridated water from one water treatment works, then the rest of their 
supply would not be fluoridated. Therefore the levels of fluoride within the 
neighbouring authorities would be changeable and potentially unlikely to 
reach the desired levels of fluoride where the chances of reducing decay 
are optimal. Costs have not been provided for this option as it is not a 
viable option to explore going forward. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 316



 
 

Financial impact of options  
 
Technical appraisal 
 
24 There are costs associated with the technical appraisal which Northumbrian 

Water would provide on instruction. NHS England agreed to jointly fund the 
initial feasibility study and are committed to support the technical appraisal 
fees.  South Tyneside and Sunderland will also contribute to the costs of the 
technical appraisal.  As an indicative cost Hull Local Authority who have 
progressed to a technical appraisal were charged £50,000.00 for their 
technical appraisal. 

 
Capital investment 
 
25 There are capital costs associated with establishing CWF schemes, however 

these are anticipated to be met by Public Health England who have capital 
available specifically for the establishment of schemes.  

 
26  Northumbrian Water has estimated the capital costs per property to 

understand the difference in cost effectiveness of the two costed options.  
 

 Option 1: Fluoridation at the water treatments works would produce 
estimated capital costs of £3.85 per property.  
 

 Option 2: The targeted approach to fluoridation would generate costs of 
between £100 and £114 per property.  

 
27 When the Secretary of State reviews a proposal for water fluoridation they 

would consider the proposed costs and consider whether they are “operable 
and efficient”.  

 
Indicative revenue / operating costs (to be funded from local system e.g. LA, NHS 
England) 
 
28 The operating costs for the current delivery of a community water fluoridation 

scheme in Derwentside is approximately £50,000 per year. The costs above 
would therefore be based on an expansion of the current scheme operating in 
County Durham. 
 

29 The approximate operating costs are based on the PHE’s estimate of 50p per 
head of population benefitting within County Durham.   

 

 Option 1: To provide a community water fluoridation scheme for the whole 
of County Durham an approximate total would be £156,000 per annum.   
 

 Option 2: The geographically targeted options, based around specific 
areas of County Durham, would have reduced costs in line with a reduced 
number of properties.  

 

Page 317



 
 

30 Final costs would be assessed during a more detailed appraisal and may 
change with the involvement of other authorities. International evidence 
suggests that the cost-benefit ratio increased with the size of the population 
served. 

 
Partnership working 

31 It is clear that a combined approach with Sunderland and South Tyneside 
would bring the most effective improvement to the largest number of 
residents. Discussions have therefore taken place with both Councils seeking 
their support to explore the feasibility of the recommended proposal.    

32 All formal consideration of proposals for fluoridation arrangements covering 
more than one authority has to involve each of the affected local authorities. If 
unanimity cannot be achieved the proposal needs 67% support to be 
implemented. Voting power is based on the number of residents affected 
within each local authority area.   

 
33 South Tyneside H&WBB have agreed to move forward with a technical 

appraisal and Sunderland are having informal discussions which are looking 
positive. Should full support be achieved the legislation defines the 
appropriate decision making structure of an inter-authority joint committee.  

 
Consultation and engagement 

34 The requirements for public consultation and engagement are clearly 
stipulated within the statutory process, a summary of which is in appendix 
three. The immediate next steps are laid out below.  

Next steps 

35 County Durham public health team continue to offer to assist the other two 
local authorities, with guidance from Public Health England, on the process 
and the evidence base for water fluoridation. South Tyneside have confirmed 
commitment to progress to technical appraisal and it is anticipated that 
Sunderland will also agree. 

36 Should approval be granted then the work will progress to a complete a full 
technical appraisal by Northumbrian Water. This more detailed and specialist 
approach will provide a greater clarity on the engineering requirements and 
associated costs to deliver a scheme. This is required to allow all partners to 
reach agreement to progress towards an initial proposal to the Secretary of 
State and the commencement of the statutory process which would include a 
comprehensive public consultation. 

Outcomes 

37 Giving every child the best start in life is an ambition throughout Durham 
County Council and all partnership agendas.  Impact will be seen on public 
health outcomes framework 4.02 - proportion of five year old children free 
from dental decay. 

Page 318



 
 

Recommendations 

38 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(a)  agree that  option 1 involving the construction of a fluoridation plant at all 
water treatment works in County Durham be adopted as the preferred 
option 

(b) agree the progression to a full technical appraisal of fluoridation of 
County Durham (the central supply area).  

 
(c)    note that a further report will be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board following completion of the technical appraisal.  
 

  

Contact:    Gill O’Neill, Consultant in Public Health 
Tel:            03000 267 696 gill.o’neill@durham.gov.uk 

Page 319



 
 

Appendix 1 

 
Finance – Operating costs required for scheme. Initial estimates of 50p per head of 
population. 
 
Staffing – a board multi-agency board will be coordinated and led by public health 
 
Risk –The preferred option will require support from Sunderland and South Tyneside 
Councils. The legislation requires public consultation as part of the process. 
Fluoridation can be a sensitive issue.  
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - Public health aims to 
reduce inequalities and improve health outcomes by reviewing PH outcomes data 
and developing relevant policies, strategies and intentions as appropriate.  
 
Accommodation - N/A 
 
Crime and Disorder - N/A 
 
Human Rights - N/A 
 
Consultation – a full and comprehensive consultation would be undertaken 
following completion of the technical appraisal and endorsement to progress by all 
relevant chief officers and boards 
 
Procurement – A technical appraisal will be required from Northumbrian Water.   
 
Disability Issues - None    
 
Legal Implications – The process of making a fluoridation scheme is regulated by 
the Water Industry Act 1991. Since water areas do not correlate to local government 
areas it requires a Joint Committee incorporating the councils affected by proposals 
which impact outside County Durham. A 67% majority based on population size is 
requires to implement any proposal which is not unanimously supported by the 
constituent councils.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 320



 
 

Appendix 2: Summary of PHE evidence demonstrating the proposed risks to health 
are not upheld in evidence 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 321



 
 

Appendix 3: Summary of decision making process   

PHE Water Fluoridation Briefing note 5 
 

Decision-making on Water Fluoridation 
 

 
Decisions about fluoridation always made at a local level 
 
Decisions on whether to introduce water fluoridation have always been made at a local level 
in England by the statutory bodies with responsibility for public health.  
 
Up to March 1974, fluoridation decisions were made by local authorities.  Between April 
1974 and March 2013, they were made by health authorities.  Since April 2013, those 
decisions have once again become the responsibility of local authorities, specifically upper 
tier councils including county councils, metropolitan boroughs, London boroughs and 
unitary authorities. 
 
Schemes introduced by local authorities and health authorities  
between 1964 and 1996  
 
Some existing fluoridation schemes are the result of decisions made by local authorities 
prior to 1974, the first one having been introduced in 1964 to serve Birmingham and parts 
of neighbouring Solihull.   
 
Some schemes were introduced between 1974 and 2013 while health authorities were 
responsible for public health, the most recent one having come into operation in 1996 in 
parts of Wolverhampton, Walsall, south Staffordshire and Shropshire. 
 
Around six million people now benefiting 
 
Overall, fluoridation schemes in this country now serve a population of around six million 
people living in the North East, North West, Humberside, West Midlands, East Midlands and 
Bedfordshire.    
 
The West Midlands is the most extensively fluoridated region of the country, with around 4 
million people benefiting from this public health initiative.  The second most extensively 
fluoridated area is the North East, with schemes serving over 800,000 people. 
 
Schemes serving 26 upper tier local authorities 
 
Currently, a total of 26 upper tier local authorities have water fluoridation schemes in place 
across all or part of the geographical areas they cover.  Seven of these authorities are 
counties in which there are 26 ‘lower tier’ borough and district councils served by those 
schemes.  
 

Page 322



 
 

Legislation on water fluoridation 
 
Over the past thirty years, legislation on water fluoridation has included: 
 
* The Water Fluoridation Act 1985 
 
* The Water Industry Act 1991 
 
* The Water Act 2003 
 
* The Health and Social Care Act 2012 
 
Current statutory basis for water fluoridation in England 
 
The Water Industry Act 1991, as amended by the Water Act 2003 and the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012, provides the statutory basis for water fluoridation in England today.   
 
A vital change of wording in the Water Act 2003 
 
The Water Act 2003 was significant for a key change in the wording of previous fluoridation 
legislation.   
 
Clearly, health authorities at that time relied – as local authorities do now – on water 
companies to implement their decision to introduce a water fluoridation scheme.  However, 
the wording of the Water Industry Act 1991 had given discretion to water companies as to 
whether or not they complied with a health authority’s formal request.  That Act said that if 
requested to do so, water companies ‘may’ increase the fluoride content of the water 
specified. 
 
In practice, this frustrated the attempts of health authorities in many parts of the country to 
introduce fluoridation in their areas.  Schemes might otherwise have gone ahead in the 
1990s to serve many communities in the North West and North East, as well as in 
Southampton and neighbouring areas of south west Hampshire. 
 
To remove this ‘blockage’ to future water fluoridation schemes, the Water Act 2003 
changed the word ‘may’ to ‘shall’, thus clarifying that the final decision about fluoridation 
rested with health authorities, not water companies.   
 
Obviously, schemes had to be technically feasible for the water company to be able to 
implement them.  But, subject to that important practical proviso, the decision belonged 
unambiguously to the health authority (or health authorities) whose populations stood to 
benefit from fluoridation, not with the company that would install and operate the plant 
and equipment on their behalf.   
 
 

Page 323

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/63/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/37/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted


 
 

Transfer of decision-making responsibilities to local authorities in the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 
 
The Health and Social Care Act which followed in 2012 was significant for transferring 
responsibilities for public health in England, including water fluoridation,  from health 
authorities to upper tier local authorities.  Decisions about water fluoridation therefore now 
rest with them. 
 

Public Health England’s specific tasks in relation to fluoridation 
 
In addition, the 2012 Act created Public Health England (PHE), an executive agency of the 
Department of Health which, in the context of fluoridation, discharges the statutory duties 
of the Secretary of State for Health.  In practice, Public Health England’s fluoridation-related 
tasks include: 
 
* advising local authorities whether fluoridation schemes they are proposing would  
   be ‘operable and efficient’;  
 
* providing information and expertise on fluoridation matters;  
 
* entering into a legal agreement with the relevant water company when, following  
   public consultation, a local authority or group of local authorities formally request  
   the Secretary of State to implement a new fluoridation scheme or extend an  
   existing one;  
 
* working with water companies to ensure the safe and efficient operation of all  
   fluoridation schemes in England.    
 

Regulations for local authorities on conducting public consultations  
 
Previous and current Acts of Parliament pertaining to water fluoridation have included 
requirements for public consultations to be conducted about proposals for schemes.  The 
full details of those requirements are set out in secondary legislation known as ‘consultation 
regulations’.   
 
The  currently applicable regulations are contained in the Water Fluoridation (Proposals and 
Consultation) (England) Regulations 2013, which set out the steps that a local authority, or 
group of local authorities, should take in putting forward, consulting on and making 
decisions about proposals to introduce, vary or terminate water fluoridation schemes. 
 
First steps in the process 
 
Important early steps in the process are for a local authority to check with Public Health 
England on whether the proposals are ‘operable and efficient’, and to make contact with all 
the other local authorities that would be affected and therefore be entitled to have a say. 
 

Page 324



 
 

Setting up a joint committee 
 
Where a number of local authorities are affected, the regulations lay down a series of 
options for establishing a joint committee to oversee the process, undertake a public 
consultation and come to a decision.   As most local authorities share their water supplies 
with one or more other authorities, a joint committee is likely to be needed more often than 
not when fluoridation proposals are being discussed. 
 
Population-weighted voting on the joint committee 
 
If the local authorities involved cannot come to a consensus, the regulations lay down a 
system of population-weighted voting for the local authority representatives on the joint 
committee.  It means, for example, that the representatives of a local authority with 25% of 
the population directly affected by the proposal have 25% of the voting power on the joint 
committee.  For a proposal to go ahead to the next stage (whether that is to public 
consultation and, following consultation, to a decision being made) , it must attract at least 
67% of the population-weighted votes. 
 
Information to be published for public consultation 
 
The regulations require that the following details should be included in whatever 
information is published for the purposes of the consultation: 
 
*  the nature of the steps that the local authorities concerned are proposing to take; 
 
*  the reasons for the fluoridation proposal; 
 
*  the area affected by the proposal; 
 
*  the period within which representations by individuals and organisations can be  
    made (which must be at least three months from the date on which the details are  
    first published). 
 
The regulations do not go into any more detail than this.  But as far as the reasons for the 
fluoridation proposal are concerned they could, for example, include the need: 
 
* to reduce levels of tooth decay;  
 
* to reduce dental health inequalities between areas or between different social  
   groups;  
 
* to achieve population-wide improvements in dental health as cost-effectively as  
   possible. 
 
 
 

Page 325



 
 

Sources of expertise 
 
Local directors of public health and consultants in dental public health are well placed to be 
able advise on: 
 
* the most relevant and accurate information to include in the consultation  
   materials;  
 
* the most effective techniques available for ascertaining public opinion on the  
   proposal.   
 
Public Health England, which has specific expertise on water fluoridation, could also supply 
information and ideas.  The public health departments of local authorities with existing 
fluoridation schemes may be a further source of help and advice. 
 

Factors that need to be taken into account when post-consultation decisions 
are made 
 
The regulations lay down a decision-making process to be followed by the joint committee 
after the consultation period has ended.  The joint committee is required to have regard to 
any representations made in relation to the fluoridation proposal with a view to assessing: 
 
*  the extent of support for the proposal; 
 
*  the strength of any scientific evidence or ethical arguments advanced in relation  
    to the proposal; 
 
*  any assessment of relevant health needs in the areas affected by the fluoridation  
    proposal that may have been published in the each of the local authorities’ joint  
    strategic needs assessments and joint health and wellbeing strategies. 
 
In addition, the joint committee is required to consider: 
 
*  the capital and operating costs likely to be incurred in going ahead with the  
    proposed fluoridation scheme; 
 
*  any other scientific evidence in relation to the proposal, including any evidence of  
    benefit to the health and wellbeing of individuals affected. 
 
In practice, it will be Public Health England (an executive agency of the Department of 
Health) that takes the scheme forward after the local authorities involved have notified the 
Secretary of State.   
 
Public Health England will enter into a contract with the relevant water supplier(s) to install 
and operate fluoridation plant and equipment in accordance with the necessary codes of 
practice laid down by the Drinking Water Inspectorate.   

Page 326



 
 

PHE will also negotiate with the water suppliers on both capital and running costs and will 
oversee the operation of the scheme. 
 

EU Law 
 
An EU Drinking Water Directive (Council Directive 98/83/EC, November 1998) governs the 
supply of ‘wholesome and clean’ drinking water for human consumption and sets standards 
for the maximum concentration of a number of substances in water, including fluoride.  In 
line with WHO guidance, the Directive stipulates that the fluoride concentration in water 
should not exceed 1.5 parts of fluoride per million parts of water. 
 
The EU Drinking Water Directive has been adopted in the UK, which means that no water 
supply should contain more than 1.5 ppm of fluoride.  In practice, the target level for 
intentional water fluoridation schemes (i.e., where the naturally occurring level has been 
raised) is 1 ppm, which is well within the maximum set by the Directive. 
 
There is no EU-wide obligation to add fluoride to any product, including water, consumed by 
humans.  Nor is there an EU-wide obligation not to add fluoride to water or to any other 
product.  The discretion to add or not to add fluoride lies with the government of each 
Member State. 
 

Three EU countries currently practise water fluoridation: 
 

* the UK (with schemes serving around 6 million people) 
 

* Spain (with schemes serving around 4 million people in the Basque Country in the  
   north of the country, Andalusia in the south and south east, and Catalonia in the  
   north east);  
 

* the Irish Republic (where fluoridation of all public water supplies has been  
   mandatory since the mid-1960s and  where approximately 3.3 million people are  
   currently receiving fluoridated water).  
 

Several EU countries, including France, Germany, Austria, Belgium, the Czech Republic and 
Slovakia, practise salt fluoridation.   
 

 

Page 327

https://www.fsai.ie/uploadedFiles/Legislation/Food_Legisation_Links/Water/EU_Directive_98_83_EC.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 

Integration Update 
 

 

 
 

Report of Lesley Jeavons, Director of Integration, North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham County Council 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board on developments in relation to the integration of health and social care 
which includes the following areas: 

 Developments within the Accountable Care Network, Primary Care 
Home and Teams Around Patients 

 An overview of the new approach being taken to the delivery of 
community services across County Durham as well as work currently 
taking place with Price Waterhouse Coopers on developing a Health 
and Care plan for County Durham  

 Our approach to Prevention 

 The North East and Cumbria Learning Disability Transformation 
Programme including the development of an Accountable Care 
Partnership. 

 Better Care Fund and the Improved Better Care Fund  
 

Background  
 
2 The Five Year Forward View and the Care Act 2014 outlined the need to 

design and implement services around individuals and their communities to 
further enhance pathways and joint service provision across health and social 
care. 
 

3 Sustainability and Transformation Plans support the development of services 
outside of acute settings with a view to preventing admissions and facilitating 
effective discharge. 
 

4 Many adult health outcome measures within County Durham fall significantly 
below the national average presenting a challenge to the local health care 
system.  There are a rising number of people with multiple long-term 
conditions including respiratory, cardiovascular disease and diabetes.  
Demographic pressures also place emphasis on the need to manage demand 
for social care more effectively. 
 

5 At present, distribution of spend is very focussed on the acute and there is a 
need to move away from using existing organisations spend in secondary 
care as the basis of determining spend patterns in community services.  

Page 329

Agenda Item 14



 

Health and Care organisations need to review how they can redistribute 
resources appropriately at a community level in response to local population 
needs to ensure best use of the “public pound”.  Continuing with current 
patterns of funding and delivery is not an option. 
 

6 Further details in relation to national policy can be found in Appendix 2. 
 

7 The Health and Wellbeing Board has received regular updates in relation to 
integration.  The last update were received at the meetings on 16 March 2017 
and 22 June 2017. 

 
County Durham Accountable Care Network (ACN) 
 
8 Integration of health and social care services is a key consideration for County 

Durham and work is being undertaken in conjunction with NHS partners, 
facilitated through the joint appointment of the Director of Integration. Our vision 
for integrated care is to bring together health, social care and voluntary 
organisations to achieve improved health and wellbeing for the people of 
County Durham. 

 
9 In County Durham agreement has been reached that the new integrated 

models of care will progress as part of an Accountable Care Network 
arrangement.  An Accountable Care Network is a group of organisations which 
are not formally enshrined, but work as a network to deliver joined up care. Its 
work, including progressing opportunities for further integration is overseen by 
the Integration Board which provides strategic leadership to the integration of 
health and social care for County Durham.  

 
10 A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for the County Durham ACN has been 

agreed by the Integration Board and an update provided to the HWB. The 
Memorandum of Understanding establishes a framework for collaboration 
between the following organisations with regard to integrated care in County 
Durham: 

 

 Durham County Council (DCC) 

 North Durham NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (ND CCG) 

 Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG (DDES CCG) 

 County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) 
 

11 Organisations within the ACN will work together to ensure the delivery of 
efficient, high quality care which meets the needs of the population. These 
organisations retain their own governance arrangements, but work as a 
network to improve flow into Primary Care Home (PCH) and deliver joined up 
care into Primary Care Home and Teams Around Patients (TAPs). 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 330



 

Primary Care Home (PCH) 
 

12 PCH encompasses Teams Around Patients. It has a focus on all activity, both 
elective and non-elective, across primary care. DDES CCG has modelled its 
clinical leadership in line with PCH and a launch event took place in May 
2017.   

 

13 In the DDES area support of the PCH TAP model, an MDT approach is being 
applied across three levels: 

 

 GP practice-based MDT (micro level) 

 TAP level MDT (intermediate level) 

 Primary Care Home meeting (macro level) 
 

14 North Durham CCG will consider PCH in due course but have expressed a 
view that their preference is to ensure TAPS are fully operational and working 
effectively in the first instance.   

 
Teams Around Patients (TAPs)   
 
15 An approach which promotes a total of 13 Teams Around Patients, covering 

69 GP practices is currently being rolled out across County Durham.  Five 
TAPs are in the North Durham area with the other eight across the Durham 
Dales, Easington & Sedgefield area. Team configurations and staff alignment 
have been confirmed.  

 
16 Given the different size and scale of TAPs across County Durham it has been 

easier for some areas to mobilise more quickly than others.   
 

17 Development sessions have been held across DDES and North Durham, in 
recognition of the need for colleagues in primary care to have an opportunity 
to shape the operational delivery of a multi disciplinary approach. 

 
18 The core workforce elements of TAPs consist of GPs, Community Nurses, 

Vulnerable Adults Wrap Around Services Nurses (VAWAS), Community 
Matrons, Social Work, Therapy Services, Voluntary and Community Services 
which provide a wide range of care, from supporting patients to manage long-
term conditions, to treating those who are seriously ill with complex conditions. 
Most of this community healthcare takes place in people’s homes or in 
community clinics or health centres. 
 

19 TAPs will: 
 

 Focus on people who are frail/have complex long term health 
conditions who are at risk of emergency admission to hospital. 

 Deliver more care in a community setting/persons own home. 

 Strengthen care delivery at GP practice level (named care coordinator). 

 Take responsibility for coordinating care over a longer timeframe 
regardless of the number of episodes of ill health. 

 Deliver stronger joined up working and collaboration across people and 

Page 331



 

organisations. 
 

20 Both DDES and ND CCG’s have recognised the importance of clinical 
leadership in supporting the development of TAPS and have appointed GPs 
to champion the model and liaise with colleagues in primary care to ensure 
that implementation is timely and effective. 

 
21 The TAPs model will directly contribute to improving the following outcomes: 

   

System Outcomes Person Centred Outcomes 

Effective use of Discharge 
to Assess approach 

People who use services have positive 
experiences of care. 

Less presentation at 
Accident & Emergency 
(A&E) 

Maintaining or improving the quality of life for 
people. 

Improved Primary Care 
access 
 

People with disabilities or long-term conditions 
are supported to live at home for as long as 
possible. 

Reduced admissions and 
readmissions to hospital 
 

People are helped to look after and improve 
their own health and wellbeing. 

Reduction in hospital bed 
days 

People who use services are treated with 
dignity and are safe from harm. 

Less people in residential 
and nursing care 
 

Helping people to recover from episodes of ill 
health or injury. 

Prevention through risk 
stratification 

People who provide unpaid care are supported 
to look after their own health and wellbeing. 

 
22 The TAP toolkit which includes a statement of common purpose, operating 

principles, terms of reference, clinical scenarios, agenda templates, staffing 
lists, multi-disciplinary team levels and frequently asked questions will be 
reviewed and updated to meet the needs of all partner agencies  

 
23 In order to ensure that the voluntary and community sector (VCS) are 

engaged in the development of the TAPs, a VCS Delivery Plan is being 
implemented. Priorities include supporting the VCS in influencing 
commissioning decisions on a locality basis and identifying commissioning 
issues for consideration by TAPs, with a specific focus on frail elderly people 
and those with long term conditions. 

 
24 Through the Advice in County Durham Partnership, the Advice Referral Portal 

will be tested to ensure a ‘no wrong door’ policy for clients.  In effect this will 
simplify referral routes for front line health and social care practitioners into 
the voluntary sector, making the best use of partnerships and networks. 

 
25 To help familiarise health and social care professionals with the work of the 

VCS across County Durham and to introduce them to the Advice Partnership 
network four workshops were held over summer 2017. More detailed 
consultations will be held with the TAPs during the autumn to help inform and 

Page 332



 

shape engagement between VCS providers and health and social care 
professionals. 

 

Community Integrated Service Model 
 

26 It is recognised that a new approach is needed to bring positive benefits in 
terms of improving people’s health, wellbeing and experience of care, 
particularly delivering services in partnership by wrapping services around 
people’s needs and shifting the focus to keeping people well and happy at 
home with reduced demand for hospital and other health and care services.  
NHS Commissioners have been clear on the revised service requirements 
and as a consequence intend to procure a new service, through a formal 
process, in line with the principles referenced above.  A new specification for 
the NHS community services contract has been developed and views on 
service delivery have been sought to identify improvements to be made.  

 
27 The development of a Community Integrated Service model across County 

Durham supports a shared commissioning vision to improve access, 
continuity and coordination of community-based health care services for the 
local population. 

 

28 These improvements as such would not constitute significant changes to 
service delivery, but aim to reduce duplication, improve patient experience 
and to ensure services operate at maximum efficiency, which will help to 
enable the service to be sustainable in future years. Currently community 
services are delivered by a number of different providers which in some cases 
leads to fragmentation of care.   
 

29 As part of this process the CCGs and DCC have been working together to 
ensure that governance arrangements for community services will support the 
future integration of health and social care services. Given the important role 
that community services play in avoiding admission and supporting discharge 
from hospital at as early a point as possible, the inclusion of integrated 
community services in any model of health and social care will be vital. 
 

30 Building on the integration work to date we want to further develop the 
strategic direction for the future of integrated services and in doing so develop 
a Health and Care Plan for County Durham.   
 

31 To facilitate this work, Price Waterhouse Cooper (PwC) have been engaged 
to considered three areas of work as follows: 
 

 Stage 1 – Undertaking a current stage review to assess the maturity of 
our plans for health and social care integration taking into account what 
they have seen work well elsewhere in the country. 

 Stage 2 – Developing options for an integrated strategic commissioning 
function. Bringing together elements of the CCG and local authority 
commissioning functions would be an important step in the journey 
towards an Accountable Care System. Joint commissioning functions 

Page 333



 

are better placed to deliver better health and wellbeing outcomes for 
the local population. 

 Stage 3 – Developing a governance framework for future integrated 
services in County Durham.  Having clear processes and governance 
in place would help partners to progress with this transition at pace.  

 
32 The findings from this work will be brought back to a future meeting. 
 
Prevention 

 

33 The County Durham Partnership (CDP) has agreed to develop a more 
proactive approach to prevention across the Partnership and drive a decisive 
shift in all parts of the system through a Prevention Steering Group and three 
workstreams: 
 

 Building on Best Practice 

 Maximising Funding 

 Preventing Demand for Services 
 

34 In addition, the County Durham Partnership Forum and Thematic Partnerships 
have held discussions in relation to identifying three or four areas for focused 
prevention work.  
 

35 The Local Government Association (LGA) Prevention at Scale offer provides 
20 days of a Support Manager and expert advice and support focused on 
supporting a local area to deliver at scale a preventative approach for a 
particular condition or risk factor that will have a significant impact on health 
improvement for the local population and add value to existing interventions. 
 

36 Timescales for the LGA project are from September 2017 – September 2018.  
There are 10-15 sites chosen for this prevention at scale work and it is an 
opportunity for Durham to share best practice with other areas, following 
completion of the project. 
 

37 The chosen prevention area will be evaluated to see what impact on health 
outcomes there has been and will be required to produce two outputs: 
 

 A report on the effectiveness of the logic model to deliver prevention at 
scale, (effective logic models make an explicit statement of the 
activities that will bring about change and the results expected for the 
community and residents).   

 Case studies providing a commentary if there has been any 
measurable impact on outcomes and any financial benefit, as well as 
capture any other social and economic impact. 

 

38 An outline planning form was submitted to the LGA in relation to mental health 
as a key prevention priority that cuts across a number of partnerships. The 
project sponsor for this work is the Director of Adult and Health Services as 
chair of the Prevention Steering Group. 
 

Page 334



 

39 The Health and Wellbeing Board leads the work on mental health and 
wellbeing, as a priority within the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and 
regular updates on progress on the prevention at scale work will be reported 
to the Mental Health Partnership Board through to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 
 

40 The LGA attended the Prevention Steering Group on 19 October 2017 to 
discuss the prevention offer in further detail.   
 

North East and Cumbria Learning Disability Transformation Programme 
 
41 Nationally the Learning Disabilities Transforming Care Programme aims to 

reshape services for people with learning disabilities and/or autism with a 
mental health problem or challenging behaviour, to ensure that more services 
are provided in the community and closer to home rather than in hospital 
settings.  The programme arose as a result of Sir Stephen Bubb’s review of 
the Winterbourne View concordat. 

 
42 North East and Cumbria is one of five fast track sites selected because of high 

numbers of people with learning disabilities in hospital settings.  Fast track 
areas have access to a share of a £8.2 million transformation fund to 
accelerate service redesign. An overarching North East & Cumbria (NE&C) 
plan was submitted with each of the 13 Local Authority areas presenting their 
own plans alongside it, which outline local initiatives that reduce the need for 
admission to hospital.  

43 Representations have been made regarding the financial barriers to delivering 
the new Transforming Care Programme, particularly from the North East 
Region, led by Adult Social Care in County Durham. Limited capital funds 
have been made available and a bid for £1.2m Transformation Funding for 
2017/18 and 2018/19 has been submitted for the North East Region. Regional 
representatives are currently in discussion regarding the affordability of the 
overall programme including the level available for individual care dowry 
payments. An interim dowry proposal has been identified and is currently 
being reviewed and considered via the relevant approval streams within each 
partner authority. 

44 Across the North East and Cumbria there are a number of different 
commissioning arrangements that are being reviewed with the aim of 
establishing further pooled budget arrangements, joint contracts and 
alternative commissioning models to support delivery of this transformation 
plan.  

Accountable Care Partnership (ACP) for Health Funded Learning Disability 
Services across Durham and Teesside 

45 An Accountable Care Partnership (ACP) is being developed between CCG’s 
in the region and Tees, Esk and Wear Valley Foundation Trust for NHS 
funded learning and disability services across County Durham and Teesside 
to improve the lives of people living with learning disabilities.   

Page 335



 

46 The Partnership brings together expertise from providers and commissioners 
with the aim of enhancing the quality of care packages and services, 
maximising and controlling spend on these packages and services and 
delivering the Transforming Care agenda. This will be delivered through a 
phased development of the ACP for learning disabilities across Durham, 
Darlington and Teesside Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) allowing 
greater ability to influence and manage the specialist learning disability 
hospital bed configuration and deliver better quality outcomes. 

47 The phased introduction of an ACP model will initially include services and 
packages delivered through Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust (TEWV), Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust (NTW) 
and specialist packages in the Independent Sector, expanding to all other 
learning disability services provided for people within the CCGs’ responsibility. 

48 There is an option for further expansion with CCGs including Mental Health 
Services into the ACP project, while there are benefits for this to be across the 
full Durham/Tees areas it could be delivered on a different footprint. 
 

49 The development of the ACP will be undertaken through a series of key 
stages delivered over the course of 2017/18, essentially a soft launch that will 
demonstrate that new ways of working are in place and this will lead to full 
development of the ACP by March 2018. 

 
50 Throughout 2017/18 the intention will be to look to expand the scope to 

include Continuing Health Care (CHC), joint funded packages, Section 117 
(After Care) agreements and mental health services in general; the range of 
this development will be dependent upon the size of the geographical footprint 
based on the number of CCGs included. Engagement with local authorities is 
a critical factor in this expansion of scope and this has already begun. 
 

51 The Accountable Care Network will oversee the work of the ACP for County 
Durham residents. 

 
Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan 2017/19 / Improved Better Care Fund 
 
52 The BCF is the only mandatory policy to facilitate integration through a pooled 

budget and provides a mechanism for joint health and social care planning 
and commissioning bring together ring fenced budgets from CCG’s and 
funding paid directly to local government. 

 
53 The BCF Plan complements the approaches taken by the ACN, PCH and 

TAP’s identifying how pooled funding will be utilised to enhance the range of 
community services the Council commission in conjunction with the NHS to 
achieve savings associated with keeping patients out of hospital. 

54 An update on the BCF Plan 2017/19 was presented to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in September 2017. 
 

Page 336



 

55 In the current year, the BCF allocations have been augmented with additional 
resources – the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) – initially announced in the 
Autumn statement last year and augmented in the March budget. The iBCF 
allocations are additional monies payable to Councils to support the adult 
social care budget.  

56 The iBCF consists of two elements – a planned allocation included in the 
Local Government Finance Settlement 2017/18 (£2.378million), and additional 
funding for adult social care announced at Budget 2017 (£13.112million) for 
2017/18.  Future year allocations for the iBCF have also been published, and 
projected income streams are set out below: 

 

£m 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Initial iBCF Allocation 2.378 13.378 23.078 

Additional iBCF Allocation – March Budget 2017 13.112 8.068 3.993 

Total iBCF Allocations 17/18 to 19/20 15.490 21.446 27.071 

 
57 Available funding for 2020/21 and beyond has not been determined. 

58 The initial planned iBCF amounts, which increase to c£23million by 2019/20, 
have already been built into the Councils Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) to support adult social care-related activity. The additional monies 
announced at Spring Budget 2017 offer further opportunities to utilise funds to 
support social care and health priorities, and defer future savings pressures. 

59 Whilst the additional iBCF allocations were announced in March, the grant 
conditions were not received until 24 April, 2017 and the detailed BCF 
planning guidance was not received until July 2017. 

60 Due to the late notification of these additional funds, received after the Council 
and the local CCG’s had set their 2017/18 budgets, and the delay in receiving 
the planning guidance, plans have only recently been finalised.  

61 This has required detailed discussions between the Council and local CCGs. 
Given the nature of this funding, which is non-recurrent, the following criteria 
has underpinned planning:  

 Whether the planned investment is one-off or recurrent; 

 Whether the investment generates savings; 

 Whether the investment is preventative and how the impact of this can 
be measured, including financial impacts within the care system; 

 Whether the investment is capital or revenue; 

 Whether the investment supports MTFP objectives 
 
62 In terms of the 2017/18 iBCF additional funding allocations, the areas 

identified for focus are outlined below as indicative figures being overseen by 
a small working group.  The intention being work will support overall health 
and social care priorities across County Durham:  

Page 337



 

iBCF Planned Spend – 2017/18 Grant Allocation 
£'000 

Supporting the Market: 
- Residential Care in Reach Service (1:1)  0.750 

 - Workforce Development in Care Sector 1.500 
 - Transitional Arrangements – Quality Band 
Assessment (QBA) Changes 1.500 

Prevention:   

 - Dementia Care Advisors Contract 0.735 

 - Social Isolation / Mental Health (AAP Allocations) 1.050 

 - Income Maximisation - Benefit Take-Up 0.375 

Alleviate NHS Pressures:   

 - Community Based Services Support  4.500 

 - Enhancing Reablement 1.500 

System Support:   

 - Deep Dive Reviews 0.084 

 - Commissioning Resource - Backfill 0.300 

 - Project Management 0.150 

 - ICT Resource (Integration) 0.150 

 - ICT Resource (e-Brokerage) 0.481 

 - Contingency 0.037 

Total 13.112 

 
63 In terms of the additional allocations for 2018/19 (c£8m) and 2019/20 (c£4m), 

these amounts have been built into MTFP and will be utilised to delay adult 
care-related MTFP savings. 

Recommendations 

64 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

a) Note the contents of this report. 
b) Agree to receive further updates in relation to Health and Social Care 
     Integration on a six monthly basis. 
 

Contact: Paul Copeland, Strategic Programme Manager – Better Care Fund 
and Integration     Tel: 0300 265190 

      

Page 338



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance 
Existing and future financial challenges facing the NHS, local government and public 
health,  increased demand for health and social care and rising costs of delivering 
services will make integration health and social care services increasingly difficult.  
The Better Health Programme framework of care will have to be implemented within 
current financial resources. 
 
Staffing 
A critical element of delivering an integrated model of care will depend upon a 
suitably trained and skilled workforce. 
 
Risk 
Failure to transform and integrate services will result in reputational damage for the 
Council and its partners.  If transformation and system wide reconfiguration is not 
achieved this will result in services aimed at improving results for patients, life 
expectancy and quality of life not being delivered efficiently and effectively.   
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Equality Impact Assessments are carried out as part of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
Accommodation 
No direct implications. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
No direct implications. 
 
Human Rights 
No direct implications. 
 
Consultation 
Proposals for integration would be the subject of consultation with stakeholders. 
 
Procurement 
A new specification for NHS community services has been developed. 
 
Disability Issues 
Addressed under Equality and Diversity 
 
Legal Implications 
There are a number of key legislative and policy developments/initiatives that have 
led the way and contributed to Adult Care Transformation and further integration with 
Health and Social Care Services.  All changes must be compliant with legal 
requirements. 
 
 
 
 

Page 339



 

Appendix 2: Policy Context 

 
Learning Disabilities Transforming Care Programme – January 2015 - The 
Learning Disabilities Transforming Care Programme aims to reshape services for 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism with a mental health problem or 
behaviour that challenges, to ensure that more services are provided in the 
community and closer to home rather than in hospital settings. It arose as a result of 
Sir Stephen Bubb’s review of the Winterbourne View concordat. The Transforming 
Care guidance highlights the importance of local partnership working between 
commissioners from local government and the NHS with an emphasis on the 
oversight and support of Health and Wellbeing Boards. 
 
Social Care – Queen’s Speech – June 2017 - The Government will consult on 
options to improve the social care system and to put it on a more secure financial 
footing, supporting people, families and communities to prepare for old age, and 
address issues related to the quality of care and variation in practice.  
 
Adult Social Care: Quality Matters – July 2017 - sets out a single view of quality 
and a commitment to improvement, an initiative which is co-led by partners from 
across the adult social care sector.  The summary action plan sets out 6 priority 
areas to make progress on improving quality in the first year: 
 
1.  Acting on feedback, concerns and compliments  
2.  Measuring, collecting and using data more effectively  
3.  Commissioning for better outcomes  
4.  Better support for improvement  
5.  Shared focus areas for improvement  
6.  Improving the profile of adult social care  
 
As the plan develops, updated versions will be published so everyone can see how 
partners are working to translate the ambition of Quality matters into real action. 
 
Your Data: Better Security, Better Choice, Better Care – July 2017 - is the 
Government’s response to the National Data Guardian for Health and Care’s Review 
of Data Security, Consent and Opt-Outs and the Care Quality Commission’s Review 
‘Safe Data, Safe Care’.  A response to the National Data Guardian Review was 
submitted by Adult and Health Services in December 2015. 
 
The Government accepts the recommendations in both the National Data Guardian 
Review and the Care Quality Commission Review. The commitments made by the 
Department of Health and its partners to ensure the health and social care system in 
England realises the full benefits of sharing data in a safe, secure and legal way, 
and, that complements the existing Caldicott principles include: 

 
1 Protect information through system security and standards: 

  The Government agrees to adopt and promote the 10 data security 
standards, as proposed by the NDG’s review. 

  The Government also agrees to adopt the CQC’s recommendations on 
data security. 

Page 340

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-data-security-consent-and-opt-outs
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-data-security-consent-and-opt-outs
https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-work/safe-data-safe-care


 

  Boost investment in data and cyber security above the £50 million 
identified in the Spending Review to address key structural weaknesses, 
such as unsupported systems. The Government will target an initial £21 
million of capital funding to increase the cyber resilience of major trauma 
sites as an immediate priority, and improve NHS Digital’s national 
monitoring and response capabilities. 

  The NHS Standard Contract 2017/18 requires organisations to implement 
the NDG review recommendations on data security. 

 
2 CQC will enable informed individual choice on opt-outs: 

 By December 2018, people will be able to access a digital service to help 
them understand who has accessed their summary care record. By March 
2020, people will be able to use online services to see how their personal 
confidential data collected by NHS Digital has been used for purposes 
other than their direct care. 

 NHS Digital will develop and implement a mechanism to de-identify data 
on collection from GP practices by September 2019. 

 Give people the choice to opt out of sharing their data beyond their direct 
care, which will be applied across the health and social care system. 

 In moving to the national opt-out, honour existing type 1 opt-outs (the 
option for a patient to register an objection with their General Practitioner, 
to prevent their identifiable data being released outside of the GP practice 
for purposes beyond their direct care) until 2020 and consult with the NDG 
before confirming their removal. 

 
3 CQC will apply meaningful sanctions against criminal and reckless 

behaviour: 

  Implement the UK data protection legislation in May 2018, which will 
provide a framework to protect personal data and also impose more 
severe penalties for data breaches and reckless or deliberate misuse of 
information. 

 
4 CQC will protect the public interest by ensuring legal best practice and 

oversight: 

  Put the National Data Guardian role and functions on a statutory footing. 

  The Information Governance Alliance (IGA) will publish anonymisation 
guidance based on the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) Code of 
Practice on Anonymisation in 2018. 

  Clarify the legal framework by working with the Confidentiality Advisory 
Group (CAG) to ensure its approvals process under Section 251 of the 
NHS Act 2006 enables organisations to access the information they need, 
for example for invoice validation. 

 
Shaping the Future – Care Quality Commission’s Strategy for 2016 to 2021 - 
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) recently published two consultations on its 
future strategy for 2016 to 2021. Responses to these consultation were submitted by 
Adult and Health Service in March 2016 and August 2017. These follow a series of 
consultations on Shaping the Future (March 2015) and Building on Strong 

Page 341



 

Foundations (October 2015), in which CQC asked for views on their approach to the 
quality and regulation of health and social care services.  
 
The focus of CQC’s strategy 2016 to 2021 is to build on the current regulatory 
approach and further improve efficiency while adapting to changes in the health and 
care sectors. CQC’s ambition for the next 5 years is to deliver a more targeted, 
responsive and collaborative approach to regulation, so more people receive high 
quality care. CQC will achieve this by focusing on four priorities: 

 

 Priority 1: encourage improvement, innovation and sustainability in care - 
work with providers to support improvement. 

 Priority 2: deliver an intelligent driven approach to regulation - use 
intelligence and information to more effectively target resources to where the 
risk to the quality of care provided is the greatest. 

 Priority 3: promote a single shared view of quality - work with organisations 
to agree a consistent approach to defining and measuring quality. 

 Priority 4: improve efficiency and effectiveness - achieve savings each year 
while improving the quality of service to the public and providers by working 
more efficiently. 

 
Registered services will still be required to meet the fundamental standards of quality 
and safety which will be achieved through CQC’s registration, monitoring, inspection 
and rating of services. CQC will also continue to work with the public to understand 
and focus on what matters most to them and will continue to use a full range of 
enforcement powers, such as restrictions or closure of services, fixed penalty notices 
or prosecution where poor care below the fundamental standards is found. CQC’s 
role in protecting and promoting equality and human rights, including for people 
being cared for under the Mental Health Act or the Mental Capacity Act Deprivation 
of Liberty standards will also remain. 

 
CQC will: 

 Improve information and analysis of local services to inform inspection, 
including self-evaluation by providers and encouraging more people to share 
their experiences of care. 

 Respond to risk and improvements in quality through timely inspection which 
will be determined by the rating of the service and the likelihood of quality 
having changed: 
o  newly registered locations inspected within 12 months; 
o  services rated as inadequate inspected every 6 months; 
o  services rated as requires improvement inspected annually; 
o  over time CQC will move to longer intervals between inspections for 

services rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ as CQC develop better access to 
intelligence and information; and 

o  during 2016-17 CQC will work with partners and people who use services 
to agree appropriate timescales for inspections. 

 Update ratings on the basis of inspection, and clarify where services are ‘good’ 
with ‘outstanding’ features and where services that ‘require improvement’ are 
not meeting fundamental standards.  

Page 342



 

 Work with local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups to develop more 
consistent quality frameworks and expectations on providers, based on the five 
key questions. 

 Improve understanding of the quality of services delivered in people’s own 
homes by requiring providers to share their call monitoring data, in particular, 
numbers of missed or late visits, lengths of stay and how many different carers 
are visiting individuals. 

 Inspection reports will be shorter and produced and published more quickly. 

 For corporate providers, improve local activity by better understanding the head 
office leadership and how this impacts on quality through culture and policies.  

 
Local system reviews of health and social care – July 2017 - The Secretaries of 
State for Health and Communities for Local Government have asked CQC to 
undertake a programme of local system reviews of health and social care in 20 local 
authority areas. These reviews, exercised under the Secretaries of State's Section 
48 powers, will include a review of commissioning across the interface of health and 
social care and an assessment of the governance in place for the management of 
resources. 
 
CQC will look specifically at how people move between health and social care, 
including delayed transfers of care, with a particular focus on people over 65 years 
old. This is a review of the interface across the whole system with all partner 
organisations, primary and secondary health care, CCGs, and the local authority in 
an area involved. The reviews will not include mental health services or specialist 
commissioning but, through case tracking, will look at the experiences of people 
living with dementia as they move through the system. 
 
The purpose of the reviews is to provide a bespoke response to support those areas 
facing the greatest challenges to secure improvement. On completion of the review 
CQC’s findings will be reported to each local authority area’s Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 
 
The first tranche of reviews includes the 12 local authority areas of: Birmingham, 
Bracknell Forest, Coventry, East Sussex, Halton, Hartlepool, Manchester, 
Oxfordshire, Plymouth, Stoke, Trafford, York, and are expected to be completed by 
December 2017. The first local authority area under review is Halton. These areas 
have been chosen from a ranked list and determined through a 'dashboard' set of 
Department of Health metrics. The remaining 8 areas, which have yet to be 
announced, are scheduled to be completed by April 2018.   
 
Whilst the metrics that have been used to populate the dashboard and draw up the 
list are more narrowly focused, in the lead up to CQC undertaking the reviews a 
much broader set of metrics from the geographical area subject to the review (as 
part of the 6 week lead in time) will be gathered. This is to support the focus areas 
of; people being maintained in their usual place of residence, crisis management 
(admission to hospital or alternative response), and, return to usual residence and 
the interface between those areas, for example, access to GP, ambulance transfers, 
discharge planning. Relationships across the system will also be 'measured'.  
Once all 20 reviews have been completed CQC will publish a national report of their 
key findings and recommendations. 

Page 343



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
27 November 2017 
 
Refreshing Durham's Mental Health and the 
Work of the Mental Health Partnership 
Board 
 

 

 
 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1 To present the agreed draft priorities for mental health into a single plan on a page 

for the Health and Wellbeing Board to agree for wider consultation. 
 

2 The report also highlights a number of crosscutting themes, and provides an update 
on the current governance arrangements. 

 
3 This plan on a page is a draft for comment and a timeline for consultation is 

included in appendix three. 
 
Introduction  
 
4 Durham County Council (DCC) has recently conducted a strategic review of 

community mental health, public mental health and preventative services with the 
CCGs and partners.  This review has led to the development of a new preventative 
mental health and wellbeing model and refreshed work programs for the sub groups 
of the Mental Health Partnership Board. 
  

5 This review has highlighted some areas of good practice across the partnership as 

well as across the life course including: 

 

 Resilience nurses within schools as part of DCCs 0-19 service,  

 Wellbeing for Life,  

 Dementia friendly communities,  

 Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust going smoke free for 
mental health,  

 DPH report focusing on Work and Health including mental health and 
wellbeing,  

 Capacity building for mental health first aid,  

 Area Action Partnerships across County Durham many of which focus on 
mental health and wellbeing 

 Men’s Sheds networks 

 Suicide early alert system 
 

Page 345

Agenda Item 15



 

2 
 

Local Government Association, prevention at scale support  
 
6 The County Durham Partnership is working with the Local Government Association 

on the mental health prevention at scale programme. The wider County Durham 
Partnership have recently undertaken an exercise to identify shared areas for 
system focus. Mental health has emerged as the key priority that partners across 
NHS, Police and community sector wish to address collectively. 

 
7 County Durham has a long history of work in supporting people with mental health 

needs.  This has been overseen by the Mental Health Partnership Board (MHPB) 
which provided the leadership for the development and implementation of the 
County Durham “No Health Without Mental Health” Implementation Plan 2013-17. 

 
8 Reporting to the MHPB, are five multi-agency working groups (as outlined below), 

each with a detailed work programme that underpins the groups addressing key 
areas of need: 

 

 children and young people 

 adults 

 suicide and self-harm 

 dementia 

 crisis care 
 
9 The work arising from these five groups has been summarised in a single mental 

health plan on a page (Appendix 2). This highlights each group’s overarching 
objectives, their key areas of focus to support delivery of those objectives and a 
summary of key performance indicators to measure progress.  

 
Key Priorities  
 
10 There are 17 priority areas, underpinned by key areas of focus/ interventions.  

These are derived from national guidance and best practice set against local need 
as determined from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  

 
11 Work will be focused within each of the sub-groups to take forward these priorities 

with regular updates on progress being shared with the MHPB, HWB and partners, 
however, it should be noted that these priorities do not represent the totality of work 
being overseen by the sub-groups, but are a subset of the more detailed work 
programme being undertaken by the sub groups and partners. 

 
Monitoring Progress  
 
12 Following agreement of a robust performance framework, progress will be 

monitored through both longer term outcomes framework indicators and short term 
output indicators derived from the interventions and programme of work that are 
currently in place to take these objectives forward. For example, in the case of the 
Dementia sub group, the Public Health Outcomes Framework will be used to 
monitor the estimated dementia diagnosis that is reported through the public health 
outcomes framework on an annual basis, but in the short term, we will also 
measure outputs from the work of the subgroup such as the number of dementia 
champions recruited and dementia cafes opened. This approach has been agreed 

Page 346



 

3 
 

with the sub group leads and progress will be monitored through the Mental Health 
Partnership Board. 

 
Crosscutting Themes  

 
13 Five cross-cutting themes have emerged from the detailed work programmes of the 

five sub groups, and consideration should be given to co-ordinating these across 
the groups in a single plan for to avoid duplication and ensure economies of scale.  

 
Workforce 
  
14 The importance of workforce development is highlighted in four of the five sub-

groups and it is important to ensure that staff have the right knowledge, skills and 
competencies to respond to the needs of mental health services users and their 
families. This includes enabling staff to participate in training courses such as 
mental health first aid, dementia awareness, suicide prevention training and the 
Children and Young People’s (CYP) Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 
(IAPT) workforce capability programme.   

 
15 In order to better co-ordinate such training programmes across the 5 groups, a 

proposal is being put to the MHPB to work with local partners (including STPs and 
Health Education England), to develop a multi-agency workforce plan. This would 
complement the work being taken forward to support the national mental health 
workforce plan for England published by Health Education England (HEE) in July 
20171.  
 

Engagement and Communications  
 
16 Three of the sub groups identified the importance of engagement and 

communications.  However, meaningful engagement of users, parents and 
carers/families as well as developing effective communication with stakeholders 
and the media is important for all of the groups, as well as the MHPB.  

 
17 Communication, especially around media campaigns where key messages are 

delivered with the aim of reducing stigma and discrimination, is more effective when 
it is targeted appropriately, is consistent, and when the principle of “one message, 
many messengers” is adopted. To do otherwise, has the danger of appearing 
fragmented and diluting the impact of the message.   

 
18 A proposal is therefore being taken to the MHPB to develop an engagement and 

communications plan that will, amongst other things continue to raise public 
awareness and understanding about mental health and dementia, continue to 
support the Time to Change campaign, and promote local positive role models.  
The plan could also consider work to review information provided by agencies and 
encourage help seeking behaviour leading to earlier interventions.  
 
 
 
 

                                                           
1 https://www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CCS0717505185-

1_FYFV%20Mental%20health%20workforce%20plan%20for%20England_v5%283%29.pdf  

Page 347

https://www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CCS0717505185-1_FYFV%20Mental%20health%20workforce%20plan%20for%20England_v5%283%29.pdf
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CCS0717505185-1_FYFV%20Mental%20health%20workforce%20plan%20for%20England_v5%283%29.pdf


 

4 
 

Evidence Led 
 
19 Like the original County Durham Public Mental Health Strategy, the future work of 

the MHPB and its sub groups should be underpinned by the best possible evidence 
and intelligence drawn from the mental health and dementia Integrated Needs 
Assessment, as well as national policy.   

 
20 As the lifespan for the current County Durham “No Health Without Mental Health” 

Implementation Plan 2013-17draws to a close, it seems an appropriate time to take 
stock of the work across the partnership and to consider whether it is necessary to 
set out new priorities for future work, informed by our Integrated Needs Assessment 
(March 2017) as well as recent national guidance published in June2 and August 
20173 4 5 6.   

 
21 A proposal is therefore being taken to the MHPB, for a development day, allowing 

for members to consider the latest evidence, and enabling the opportunity to reflect 
on progress and to reaffirm future priorities through the sub-groups. All of this will 
be following the agreement of robust performance measures.  These can be 
reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the plan on a page remains up to date, 
based on best practice and is responsive to local need. A report on progress over 
the previous 12 months should also be made to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 

Good Governance 
 
22 Overall, for these mental health programmes to work, good governance is needed, 

holding people to account for what they promise to deliver and monitoring progress 
on a regular basis. 

   
23 The plan on a page sets out 17 key priorities across the five mental health sub 

groups, along with a set of indicators and the means by which progress can be 
measured on a regular basis. 

  
24 Whilst there are clear lines of accountability between the sub groups, MHPB and 

the HWB, there has only recently been the appointment of a new chair for the 
MHPB, Dr Helen Cook, Clinical Mental Health lead, North Durham CCG.  
Appropriate partnership support also needs to be considered as part of the 
governance arrangements. 

 
25  Governance arrangements will be considered as part of the development of the 

strategic mental health plan on a page. 
 
Think Family 
 
26 All sub groups need to consider the impact of their work on the family unit. 
 
 

                                                           
2 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.6_Being%20mindful%20of%20mental%20health_08_web2.pdf  
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dementia-applying-all-our-health/dementia-applying-all-our-health  
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wellbeing-in-mental-health-applying-all-our-health/wellbeing-in-mental-health-applying-all-our-
health 
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-planning-resource  
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-cost-effective-commissioning  

Page 348

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.6_Being%20mindful%20of%20mental%20health_08_web2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dementia-applying-all-our-health/dementia-applying-all-our-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wellbeing-in-mental-health-applying-all-our-health/wellbeing-in-mental-health-applying-all-our-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wellbeing-in-mental-health-applying-all-our-health/wellbeing-in-mental-health-applying-all-our-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-planning-resource
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-services-cost-effective-commissioning


 

5 
 

Conclusion and next steps 
 
27 This paper has set out a simplified set of priorities and objectives in a single ‘plan 

on a page’ for mental health, along with a set of underpinning indicators that will 
measure progress over time.   

 
28 In addition, the paper identifies some crosscutting themes and governance 

arrangements, the management of which it is proposed to discuss and take forward 
with the MHPB.   

 
29 A robust analysis on the performance framework will take place to ensure that 

outcomes and outputs are measureable  
 
30 This strategic mental health plan on a page is to go out for wider consultation and 

feedback with a timeline for engagement listed in Appendix 3.  
 
Recommendations 

 
31      The Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:  
 

(a) Agree the draft strategic mental health plan (Appendix 2) on a page for wider 
consultation 

(b) Note the consultation timeline for agreement of the strategic mental health 
plan on a page in March 2018. 

 

Contact:  Graeme Greig, Senior Public Health Specialist       Tel:  03000 267682 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 349



 

6 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Finance  

Significant pressures exist for all partners therefore more coordinated and joined up 
approaches are essential.  The value in developing crosscutting programmes of work will 
be considered by all partners.  
 
Staffing 
There are long-term issues about developing and equipping the workforce to be able to 
develop specialist and population level interventions; this will be considered by all 
partners. 
 
Risk 
Partnership support is required for the mental health agenda and failure to identify 
appropriate support may result in a risk to performance and to the monitoring of activities 
relating to vulnerable groups. 

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  
All partners will meet their statutory duties 
 
Accommodation  
N/A 
 
Crime and Disorder  
The implications are described in the fuller plans being developed by the MHPB sub 
groups. 
 
Human Rights  
N/A 
 
Consultation  
Consultation will be through the mental health user and consultation forums along with 
other key stakeholders including schools 
 
Procurement  
N/A 
 
Disability Issues  
The implications are described in the cover paper as parity of esteem 
 
Legal Implications  
There are mandated requirements for the MHPB that require oversight, for example the 
care crisis concordat.

Page 350



 

7 
 

Appendix 2:  Mental Health Plan on a Page 
 
 
Attached as a separate document

P
age 351



 

8 
 

Appendix 3 
 
Timeline for County Durham Strategic Mental Health plan on a page 
 
 

Meeting Date Purpose 

Health and Wellbeing Board  27th November 
2017 

Agree consultation 
draft for wider 
consultation 

Children and Families 
Partnership 

From 28th 
November 2017 
 

Consultation 

Safe Durham Partnership From 28th 
November 2017 
 

Consultation 

Local Safeguarding 
Children Board 

From 28th 
November 2017 
 

Consultation 

Local Safeguarding Adults 
Board 

From 28th 
November 2017 
 

Consultation 

Wider stakeholders TBC 
including schools, mental 
health stakeholders 

From 28th 
November 2017 
 

Consultation 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

20th March 2018 Formal Agreement 
of MHS 

Cabinet  
 

16th May 2018 Endorsement of 
MHS 

 
 

Page 352



 

Priorities/objectives 
agreed with chairs of each 

sub-group

Key areas of 
focus/interventions

Outcome indicators

Output measures

Cross cutting themes

Mental Health and Well Being Strategic Plan 2017 - 20

Individuals, Families and Communities in County Durham are supported to acheive their optimum 
mental wellbeing

Children and 
Young People

1. Promoting resilience, prevention and early 
intervention.

2. Improving access to effective support

3. Caring for the most vulnerable

Deliver YAM in 10 schools in 17/18 and 20 
schools in 18/19

Introduce pathway for single point  of 
assessment, self help and support (scope by 

03/18, implement by 18/19)

Design perinatal pathway by 03/18

Pilot intensive home treatment in 18/19

Extend multi-agency IAPT service by 09/18

Wellbeing scores for 15 year olds

CAMHS waiting time less than 9 weeks

Target no. of schools receiving YAM

Pathway, SOP and protocols in place 
and audited for quality metrics

Perinatal pathway in place and 
audited for quality of service

Pilot report for intensive home 
treatment produced and baseline 
established for potential roll out

IAPT workforce audit completed and 
reduction of waiting lists

Suicide and self-
harm

1. Targeted work with high risk groups

2. Improving access to effective support

3. Continuing to learn from the self harm and 
suicide audit

4. Supporting those bereaved by suicide

Develop suicide prevention plan by 03/18 as 
part of mental health strategy refresh

Reduce risk of suicide in key high-risk groups 
through better information and community 
support work with AAPs. VCS, Wellbeing for 

Life and Men's Sheds

Develop and implement a Suicide alliance for 
County Durham by 04/18

Produce an annual suicide audit by 05/18

Review the suicide early alert systems and 
post-vention support by 02/18

Suicide rate

Hospital admissions for self-harm

New prevention plan with indicators 
developed

Suicide alliance developed

Early alert system and post-vention 
support implemented

Audit produced

Crisis Care 
Concordat

1.Ensuring that those detained under the 
Mental Health Act are taken to hospital in a 

timely manner

2. Supporting frequent users of emergency 
services

3. Developing a Single Point of Access

4. Implementing applicable sections of the 
Policing and Crime Act 2017

Develop a solution to conveying detained 
patients to hospital by 03/18

Develop our understanding of individuals 
using service frequently and improve our 

response by 03/18

Develop our understanding of individuals 
using services frequently and improve our 

response by 03/18

Map current pathway for patients in crisis to 
highlight and reduce gaps and pressure areas 

by 03/18

Emergency hospital admissions for intentional 
self-harm

Solution developed and in place by 
March 2018

Audit completed and actions 
developed and under delivery

Pathway agreed and implemented by 
partners

Dementia

1. Improving public and professional 
awareness and understanding of dementia

2. Ensuring early diagnosis and intervention for 
all.

3. Providing good quality information for those 
with diagnosed dementia and their carers

4. Living well with dementia at home

Develop a communication plan with all 
stakeholders by 03/18

Re-commission the local Dementia Adviser 
service by 02/18

Dementia diagnosis rates to stay above the 
national target of 69.7%

Increase Dementia Friendly communities by 5 
by 2020

Registered dementia prevalence 

Ratio of inpatient service use to recorded 
diagnoses

Communication plan completed

All diagnosis rates remain consistently 
above the national average

Number of dementia friendly 
communities increased

Adults and 
wellbeing

1. Implementation of the community mental 
mental health and wellbeing model

2. Development of the Talking Changes service

3. Consolidation of recovery approach in TEWV 
and wider health and social care

Develop and implement the Well Being for 
Life Service (by  April 2018) and wider mental 

health prevantative network in 2018/19

Improve outcomes for the Talking Changes 
Service Increase the range of individuals 

Talking Changes is able to treat 

Development of Accountable Care 
Partnership with TEWV

Wellbeing scores for adults

Outcomes delivered by Wellbeing for Life and 
remodelled mental health services

Communications and 

Engagement  

Meaningful engagement and 

information to support choice, 

reduce stigma and foster early 

intervention 

New indicators developed within 

remodelled specifications e.g. 

improved access, sign posting and 

support. 

Good Governance 

Being accountable for what we 

promised to deliver  

Workforce 

Ensuring staff have the right 

knowledge skills and 

competencies 

Evidence Based and 

Intelligence Lead 

Using the best evidence to 

address local needs 

Think Family  

Consider impact on family  

P
age 353



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 355

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2017
	5 Membership of Health and Wellbeing Board - Report of Strategic Manager Policy, Planning and Partnerships, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Counci
	7 Children and Young People's Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Local Transformation Plan - Report of Chief Operating Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups and Chief Clinical Officer, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group
	Agenda Item 7 - Appendix 2 - Children and Young people’s mental health

	8 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 Performance Report - Report of Corporate Scrutiny & Performance Manager, Durham County Council
	Q2 2017-18 JHWS Performance Report.pdf (p.1-24)
	Q2 2017-18 JHWS Scorecard.pdf (p.25-32)

	9 Draft Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018 - Consultation Document - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 9 - Appendix 2 - Draft Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2018-21pdf

	10 Public Health England Child Health and Health Profiles 2017 for County Durham - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	11 County Durham Prevention of Unintentional Injuries Framework (0-19 years) 2017-2020 - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	12 eXtreme Group - Children's and Young People's SEND 'Promise' for County Durham - Report of Strategic Manager SEND and Inclusion, Children and Young People's Services, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 12 - Appendix 2 - Children and Young People with SEND Promise with Local Offer links

	13 Oral Health Update - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	14 Integration Update - Report of Director of Integration, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group, Durham County Council
	15 Refreshing Durham's Mental Health and the Work of the Mental Health Partnership Board - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	Agenda Item 15 - Appendix 2 - Plan On a Page

	18 Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services Regulations 2013 - Report of Director of Public Health County Durham, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council,



